
 
CITY OF LAKE WORTH 

1900 2nd Ave N · Lake Worth, Florida 33461 · Phone: 561-586-1687 
 
 
 

Agenda 
Regular Meeting 

City of Lake Worth 
Historic Resources Preservation Board 

City Hall Commission Room  
7 North Dixie Hwy; Lake Worth, FL 

 
 

WEDNESDAY, MAY 11, 2016 6:00 PM 
 

1. Roll Call and Recording of Absences 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Additions/Deletions/Reordering and Approval of the Agenda  
 

4. Approval of Minutes 
 
A. February 17, 2016 Special Meeting 
 
B. March 9, 2016 Regular Meeting 
 
C. April 13, 2016 Regular Meeting 
 

5. Cases 
 
A. Swearing in of Staff and Applicants 
 
B. Proof of Publication 
 
C. Withdrawals/Postponements 
 
D. Consent 
 
E. Public Hearings 
 

1. Board Disclosure 
 

2. HRPB Project Number 16-00100082 and 16-01500006: Consideration of a Certificate 
of Appropriateness (COA) for new construction of an addition, a historic waiver for 
stairs in the front setback, a variance to allow a building lot coverage above the Code 
allowance, and pre-construction approval for a historic preservation ad valorem tax 
exemption, for the existing single-family structure located at 226 South L Street; PCN# 



May 11, 2016 Regular Meeting - REVISED 
 

 

 

38434421150910040.  The subject property was constructed c.1925 and is a 
contributing resource within the Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
3. HRPB Project Number 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for new construction of an addition to the existing structure at 812 South 
Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  The subject property was 
constructed in 1942 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local 
Historic District. 

 
F. Unfinished Business 
 
G. New Business 
 

1. HRPB Project Number 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for exterior alterations including roof, window, and door replacement for the 
single-family structure located at 402 North Lakeside Drive; PCN# 
38434421154280 010.  The subject property was constructed in 1958 and is a non-
contributing resource within the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
2. HRPB Project Number 16-00100078: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for exterior alterations for all 12 units in the multi-family structure located at 208 
South Lakeside Drive; PCN#'s: 38434427180005130, 38434427180004030, 
38434427180004020, 38434427180004010, 38434427180003030, 
38434427180003020, 38434427180003010, 38434427180002030, 
38434427180002020, 38434427180002010, 38434427180001030, 
38434427180001020, 38434427180001010, and 38-43-44-27-01-059-0010.  
The subject property was constructed in 1971 and is a non-contributing resource within 
the South Palm Park Local Historic District. 

 
3. HRPB Project Number 16-00100079: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for roof replacement to the subject property located at 817 South Palmway, 
PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-022-0120.  The subject building was constructed in 1940 and the 
property is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local Historic District. 

 
4. HRPB Project Number 16-00100049: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for roof replacement to the subject property located at 922 North O Street, 
PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-290-0060.  The subject building was constructed in 1952 and the 
property is a non-contributing resource within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 

 
5. HRPB Project Number 16-00100075: Consideration of a Retroactive Certificate of 

Appropriateness (COA) for gate installation for the single-family structure located at 
331 Cornell Drive; PCN# 38434415060051770. The subject property was 
constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the College Park Local Historic 
District. 

 
6. Conceptual Review - HRPB Project Number 16-00100107: Consideration of a 

Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for exterior alterations for the subject property 
located at 1019 North K Street, PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-308-0120.  The subject building 



May 11, 2016 Regular Meeting - REVISED 
 

 

 

was constructed c.1930 and the property is a non-contributing resource within the 
Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
6. Planning Issues 

 
7. Public Comments (3 minute limit) 

 
8. Departmental Reports 

 
9. Board Member Comments 

 
10. Adjournment 

 
11. If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the board, agency or commission with 

respect to any matter considered at such meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the 
proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of 
the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the 
appeal is to be based. (F.S. 286.0105) 
 
NOTE: ALL CITY BOARDS ARE AUTHORIZED TO CONVERT ANY PUBLICLY 
NOTICED MEETING INTO A WORKSHOP SESSION WHEN A QUORUM IS NOT 
REACHED. THE DECISION TO CONVERT THE MEETING INTO A WORKSHOP 
SESSION SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE CHAIR OR THE CHAIR'S DESIGNEE, 
WHO IS PRESENT AT THE MEETING. NO OFFICIAL ACTION SHALL BE TAKEN 
AT THE WORKSHOP SESSION, AND THE MEMBERS PRESENT SHOULD LIMIT 
THEIR DISCUSSION TO THE ITEMS ON THE AGENDA FOR THE PUBLICLY 
NOTICED MEETING. (Sec. 2-12 Lake Worth Code of Ordinances) 
 
Note:   One or more members of any Board, Authority or Commission may attend and speak at 
any meeting of another City Board, Authority or Commission.    
 
All project-related back-up materials, including full plan sets, are available for review by the 
public in the Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division located at 1900 2nd Avenue 
North. 
 



CITY OF LAKE WORTH 
1900 2nd Ave N · Lake Worth, Florida 33461 · Phone: 561-586-1687 

Agenda 
Special Meeting 

City of Lake Worth 
Historic Resources Preservation Board 

City Hall Commission Room  
7 North Dixie Hwy; Lake Worth, FL 

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 17, 2016 6:00 PM 

1. Roll Call and Recording of Absences 
The meeting was called to order at: 6:00 pm
Present were: Chairman Herman Robinson, Vice-Chair Darrin Engel, Judith Just, Tom Norris, 
Jimmy Zoellner.
Erin Fitzhugh Sita arrived at 6:01PM
Also present were: Maxime Ducoste, Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Manager, Curt 
Thompson, Community Planner; Aimee Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator; William 
Waters, Director of Community Sustainability; Carolyn Ansay Board Attorney; Board Secretary 
Sherie Coale.

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Additions/Deletions/Reordering and Approval of the Agenda  
None
Motion to approve: T. Norris; J. Zoellner 2nd Ayes all/ unanimous.

4. Approval of Minutes 
None

5. Cases 

A. Swearing in of Staff and Applicants 
Board Secretary swore in Staff & Applicants

B. Proof of Publication 
Motion to accept & approve proof:
Ayes: all,  unanimous.

C. Withdrawals/Postponements 
None

D. Consent 
None



E. Public Hearings 

1. Board Disclosure – Ex Parte communications
E. Fitzhugh Sita- had no communication or contact.
D. Engel recused himself due to employment with REG Architects. His attendance was 
duly noted.
J. Just – received a message and did not respond.
H. Robinson spoke with John Szerdi, Jim Tebbe, Wes Blackman, Charles Celi, Ed Grimm
T. Norris-had a call from an Architect and did not respond to him.
J Zoellner- had a call from John Szerdi and did not respond to him.

F. Unfinished Business 
None

G. New Business 

1. HRPB Project# 15-01400009 Major Site Plan to renovate and redevelop the Historic 
Gulfstream Hotel and related properties, including an application for the Sustainable Bonus 
Incentive Program. The subject site is +/- 79,304 square feet located at 1 Lake Avenue, 11 
Lake Avenue, and 12, 14, 20, 22, and 24 South Lakeside Drive. 

2. HRPB Project# 15-00500013 Conditional Use Permit to allow for the renovation and 
redevelopment and expansion of the historic Gulfstream Hotel and accessory uses within 
the Downtown (DT) Zoning District. 

3. HRPB Project# 16-01500001 Setback Variance for the location of an electric utility 
transformer. 

4. HRPB Project# 15-00100217 Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for Exterior 
Alterations to the existing historic Gulfstream Hotel. 

5. HRPB Project# 15-00100216 Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an Addition to the 
existing historic Gulfstream Hotel, including a Historic Waiver. 

6. HRPB Project# 15-00100215  Certificate of Appropriateness (COA), for New 
Construction of a new hotel structure and parking garage, including a Historic Waiver. 

7. HRPB Project# 15-00100214 - Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) to allow the 
demolition of two buildings located at 14 S Lakeside Drive.

Staff: William Waters, Community Sustainability Director began the presentation and 
acknowledged the opportunity for public speaking at the end of the meeting. The record will include
all staff reports, powerpoint presentations, and back up documents submitted by the applicant on 
four (4) different occasions as well as justification statements. By providing a summarization of the 
projects, William indicates this is the highest value, most complicated and largest project Lake Worth 
has ever had to come before a board.  The Board will function as a Planning and Zoning Board for 
three (3) cases and the balance of the cases (4) as the HRPB Board, he will assist with the different 



code portions required for the different review criteria. Director details the parking, setbacks for 
the Downtown district.

Applicant: Ms. Bonnie Miskel requests to give a full presentation rather than case by case. 

Director discusses the historic significance and how it can achieve sustainability, points out two
other Palm Beach County hotels (Breakers and Boca Raton Resort & Hotel) and how they have 
successfully sustained the historical aspects of the hotels in light of preservation as well as 
economics.

Tim Bravis, JRA architect, historic planner (for the applicant), discusses harmonious tendencies.  
Discusses massing, features.

Board: E. Fitzhugh Sits expresses interest in hearing about not meeting setbacks.

J. Just asks about meeting space.

Applicant discusses floor space of the annex and original building. Primary valet is through 
historic hotel and transfer to annex, but there also exists a secondary valet at the annex. Second 
floor original beginning of the rooms. The pool surround (2nd Level) reaches over the alley. 

Board asks about the lack of shade trees.

Don Skowron Landscape Architect - They are able to save (relocate) 2 oak 12-15 caliper 3 anchor 
points. 2nd floor green is not illustrated on these plans, but indicates there is substantial green on 
the 2nd floor. 

Tim Bravis indicates the self-parking is first floor only, balance of parking garage will be valet, 
indicates the parking requirements have exceeded code requirements.  

Staff indicates FDOT will dictate the valet parking on Fed. Hwy. 

Board: concurs that parking on 1st Avenue is an issue (routing all traffic south). H. Robinson
inquires about greenspace between parking and annex and inaccessibility.  J. Just asks about 
parking for employees. Discusses ensures regarding the use of a fence for security (CPTED) 
(crime prevention through environmental design). T. Norris asks about moving the transformer,
he is not comfortable with the building to the extent the code allows placing amenities on 
rooftops. 

Ms. Miskel - The shifting of the annex forward on the lot would remove the benefit (highlight) as 
moving east along Lake Ave. By shifting the “H” shape south the vistas are better from each 
building. Bonnie continues with variance criteria review. The second waiver request is for an 
addition and wraparound to tie it in to the old structure so that addition appears planned.

Board: T. Norris concurs it looks good.  H. Robinson would like the dumpster under cover to be 
watertight since dumpster is a rollout and will be moved over sidewalk to the truck. 

Ms. Miskel indicates the two (2) buildings occupying the site have been vacant for quite sometime. 
Staff mentioned relocation of one structure, the other structure does not have sufficient structural 
integrity to be moved.  

Presentation redirected back to the variance.

Conditions of Approval – Tim Bravis discusses original structure and National Park Service 
guidelines. Preserve, restore, replace is the last resort.

Board: E. Fitzhugh Sita asks for hardship summary. Ms. Miskel said it could have been broken 
into 2 but it would still necessitate a variance request. And really had no other place to put it with 
the addition. Variance request is for nine (9) feet. Added extensive lushly landscaped buffer/ 
screening. Erin asks about the length of the variance, not the entire length. Ms. Miskel can be 
very restrictive and ask for only the minimum required 5 foot variance be provided exclusively for 
the transformer.  In conformance with the plan.   Essential service, mechanical equipment.  Staff 
guided as this is for an essential service.



Public Comment:

Jim Tebbe (15 S Golfview Rd #701) In favor of project being built. Parking is an issue.

Mary Ann Polizzi (1529 S Palmway) Loved the old Gulfstream, spoke of Finnish population. 
Events with no hotel.  In favor and believes those against the project are against Lake Worth.

Lynn Anderson (2204 Lake Osborne Dr) In favor of the hotel.  Would like height restricted to 45 
feet. Go back to charter height.

Charles Celi (501 S Golfview #501) would like transformer moved as he would see it every day. 
Would like a redesign of parking garage. 

James Walker (818 N Golfview Rd) would like project to move forward, other previous 
developers have not followed through.

Michael Fox (1609 North D St) Hotel needs revitalization questions how long can “we” hang on 
to “our little town” Fix the hotel and move forward.

Mary Watson (1817 Montague St) voted for the charter and would like the height restrictions held.

Gael Silverblatt (414 North O Street) would like to know percentage of shade to palm trees, 
security issues, believes the annex looks too plain.

Rick Gonzales REG Architects speaking on behalf of Hudson Holdings states many cities are in a 
renaissance mode and sustainability.  Bring back economic vitality. References the recently opened 
Hilton in downtown West Palm Beach.

Tammy Panza (160 North L Street) would like the parking at Bryant Park to be preserved.  Very 
happy to see this move forward. Height is ok and says the applicant has not gone to the full extent 
of the possible height. Stop chasing off investors.

Teresa Miller (829 N Lakeside) quotes a PB Post editorial. End the race to the bottom.

Martin Welfeld (829 N Lakeside) approves of the project.

Rosanne Malakates (101 S Lakeside Dr) Scale and density. Did not speak to the original building. 
Work with what is there. Parking would not be an issue or other issues if the there was no 
addition or second hotel. Enters document into the record, given to Chair.

Wes Blackman (241 Columbia Dr) Gives some history of hotel, that it is an obsolete property, 
does not meet current marketplace demands/desires, in favor of project.

Neily Buff (819 N Lakeside Drive) It is only data that matters, people speak from the heart but 
this is a business. A heart decision vs a business decision. That the extra floor is needed, is a viable 
business decision 

Greg Rice (511 Lucerne Ave) echoes the sentiment of being happy Hudson Holdings are in FL 
Speaks to the height of 3 bldgs in Lake Worth over 50 feet, no need to worry about becoming 
Miami. City populace needs to get in the lifeboat. This is a Historic precedent about to be set.

Laurel Robinson (114 Oceanbreeze) egress dumpster and crime prevention needs a good review. 
Support the hotel and setback. Keep the palms.

Linda Mahoney (131 N Golfview) violates City charter. Traffic and height are issues. Lighting will 
diminish quality of life and noise violations will occur. Retail will make it less friendly pedestrian 
wise. Against this plan as presented.

Joann Golden (502 N Palmway) Flooding, trains, traffic, climate change, lack of pedestrian safety. 
Developers bring plans fast and furious.. Stick to charter.

Richard Dersey (720 S Palmway) glad the applicant filed suit against City.  Can fill shops and 
rooms.

H. Robinson read letter into record.



Anthony Marotta (327 N Lakeside) In favor of project, can only get married at the newly 
renovated Gulfstream.

William Waters read email into record (728 N Lakeside) Fredericke Mittner- 18 years as a Lake 
Worth resident and Historic Planner in favor.

Public Comment Complete

Recess called by the chairman at 8:51 pm

Reconvened at 9:00 pm

Staff: William Waters: code requires bedchambers below the 4th floor must have windows and 
there are existing rooms on the floor plan as such.  Keep this in mind as it may have some effect 
on the appearance. M. Miskel states it will be refined. William Waters indicates it may arise as an 
issue.

Board: J. Just mentions staff parking and traffic. Ms. Miskel responds currently there is no “flag” 
so they have designed it to attract a flag which no flag would come without sufficient parking. The 
applicant is not designing for failure. 

Parking ratio William states LW parking code, since it is historic it is vested. Requested a traffic 
management plan for the location, as a traffic statement not required. Ms. Miskel indicates no 
issue with the traffic management plan, clarifies the flag is Curio by Hilton

Steve Michael: franchisee reservation and HiltonHonors system only, Signage will be Gulfstream.  

Board: E. Fitzhugh Sita: one of the downsides of the developmental progress is traffic increases
and that should be expected. Not just here but anywhere. We need to tell them now if Board 
wants another floor.

T. Norris questions whether the Traffic Management Plan should be provided prior to approving 
the extra floor. 

Applicant: Ms. Bonnie Miskel, speaking as an attorney, indicates applicant has met code, the law 
is the law, could pro-offer then renegotiate at a later date. We cannot require them to provide 
above code.

Staff would review TMP and administratively approve.

Board: H. Robinson would like to discuss trailer parking.

E. Fitzhugh Sita asks about more room for 1st avenue.

3:08:03

William Waters indicates the balance of the street is the real issue.

T. Norris wants to put the planning on hold tonight and listen to Historic presentation. Would 
like to hear from A. Sunny, Historic Planning Coordinator.

Rick Gonzalez speaks about tax credits and deal breakers. Belle Glade city hall almost lost their 
tax credits due to something as simple as mullions. Disputes the need for handicap access at 
center.

H. Robinson dislikes the retail location, Ms. Miskel concurs and would gladly remove.  William
Waters addresses retail activity. Discussion by Board and applicant to remove retail from garage.

3:44:19

Applicant: Retail in the garage was not the preference.

Board: Would like the retail relocated to the front façade of the 1st floor of the annex. The best 
place would be on the street frontage on Lake. 



Applicant would agree to move retail moved to the annex 1st floor and confined to a corner.
Would be more comfortable with approximately 1,000 square footage of retail. Both parties agree
to 17 foot setback instead of 22. William Waters asks for symmetrical expansion of newly 
relocated retail space. However the balance of the building is almost 50 feet from the street. 
Bonnie indicates moving the mass of the building forward it is in conflict with their attempt to 
showcase the side of the historic Gulfstream Hotel.

Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita #15 01400009 with staff conditions as proposed plus 1K sq feet retail in 
annex #5 landscape 2 relocated shade trees; staff reveiew landscape plan between parking garage 
and annex CPTED landscaping. Require annex building to go to 17 ft setback, remove retail wrap 
from garage.   T. Norris 2nd.  Ms. Miskel asks for clarification about conditions.  Was the 
sustainable bonus overlooked and 111k performance bond. 

Motion amended E. Fitzhugh Site to include, T. Norris 2nd concurs.  And amends again motion 
Vote: All Ayes. /unanimous.

Conditional Use: HRPB 15-00500013 amend condition #2 which refers to PZB rather than 
HRPB

E. Fitzhugh Sita asks about Traffic Management Plan.

J Zoellner asks about traffic as it is a huge concern.

T Norris: all buildings on grade, not ½ below grade.

Public comment: Linda Mahoney 10 pm end of events in Bryant Park.

Wes Blackman - no baseline for decibels due to hotel not open at all.

Joann Golden- rooftop appurtenances.

Greg Rice- General Manager will not allow noise, they are self-regulating.

Bonnie indicates the code protects the citizens.

Public hearing closed. 11:03 PM.

Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions to approve with traffic management plan and traffic study not 
earlier than 6 months after, upon Certificate of Occupancy for the annex. Condition requested by 
Chair regarding full dumpster door, waterproof and plan on utilization. Valet on upper levels. 

J. Zoellner 2nd motion. 

Vote: Ayes all unanimous.

Caroyln Ansay, Board attorney reiterates that staff and applicant previous presentations stand for 
the record.

Motion: #16-1500001 setback E. Fitzhugh Sita amended to proposed setback be only for 
essential electrical service equipment, electric service utility, including screening. J. Just 2nd

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

#15-00100217 exterior alterations William Waters clarifies conditions and not enough detail, if 
Board would like to transfer that authority to staff however keep in mind far simpler projects have 
been required to be reviewed by Board. 

Other items cannot be heard without approval of HRPB#15-00100217.

Board Attorney advises that we should have a conversation with applicant regarding a 
continuance.  Ms. Miskel allows that March 9 would be a workable date.  No further noticing 
required since it is a continuance.



Public comment: none 

Motion: T. Norris continue to date certain HRPB 217 (March 9 6:00 PM) E. Fitzhugh Sita 2nd

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita continue to date certain  HRPB 216 J. Just 2nd

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

#15-00100215 discussion William Waters indicates it is desirable to go with Art Deco look as 
opposed to Spanish Revival.   T. Norris remarks about the idea of transitioning to Art Moderne. No 
brown color.

Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita to continue to date certain HRPB #15-00100215 J. Just 2nd

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

Public comment: none

Motion: J. Just to continue to date certain HRPB # 15-00100214 to March 9 T. Norris 2nd

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 

Public comment: none

6. Planning Issues 
None

7. Public Comments (3 minute limit) 
None

8. Departmental Reports 
None

9. Board Member Comments 
None

10. Adjournment
Motion to adjourn: H. Robinson, 2nd by E Fitzhugh Sita.
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous
Meeting adjourned: 11:35 PM

Attest: __________________________
Herman Robinson, Chairman

Submitted By: __________________________
Sherie Coale, Board Secretary

Minutes Approved: ___________________________
Date



CITY OF LAKE WORTH 
1900 2nd Ave N · Lake Worth, Florida 33461 · Phone: 561-

586-1687 

Agenda 
Regular Meeting 

City of Lake Worth 
Historic Resources Preservation Board 

City Hall Commission Room  
7 North Dixie Hwy; Lake Worth, FL 

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 09, 2016 6:00 PM 

1. Roll Call and Recording of Absences 
Present: Chairman Herman Robinson Jimmy Zoellner, Tom Norris, Judith Just, and Vice-Chair 
Darrin Engel.
Also present were: William Waters, Director for Community Sustainability; Maxime Ducoste, 
Planning Zoning Preservation Manager; Aimee Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator; Curt 
Thompson, Community Planner; Sherie Coale, Board Secretary.

Erin Fitzhugh Sita arrived at 6:12 pm.

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
Led by the Chairperson

3. Additions/Deletions/Reordering and Approval of the Agenda  
520 S. Palmway to continue to April 13, 2016 meeting.
Motion: by J. Just, 2nd D. Engel to date certain. 
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.
Reorder G.1. -  22 S M Street to be heard prior to unfinished business.
Motion: to re-order J. Just 2nd . Norris. 
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

4. Approval of Minutes 

A. October 2015 Meeting Minutes 
Motion: to approve D. Engel, 2nd J. Zoellner 

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

B. November 2015 Meeting Minutes 
Motion: to approve D. Engel, 2nd J. Zoellner

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

C. December 2015 Meeting Minutes 
D.Engel suggests the following corrections: Marian Cone comments should be indicated as
part of public comment, clarify Marian Cone as National Historic Preservationist, D. Engel
states he did not say that “5V crimp is not the longest lasting”.



Motion: to change and approve D. Engel, 2nd J. Zoellner

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

D. December 2015 Joint Workshop Minutes 
Tabled to next month

E. January 2016 Meeting Minutes 
Motion: to approve: D. Engel, 2nd J. Zoellner 
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

5. Cases 

A. Swearing in of Staff and Applicants 
All those present who expressed a desire to speak were sworn in by Board Secretary.

B. Proof of Publication 

1. Lake Worth Herald 

2. Palm Beach Post 

C. Withdrawals/Postponements : None

D. Consent : None

E. Public Hearings 

1. Board Disclosure 

a. Form 8B 
b. D. Engel recuses himself due to his employment with REG Architects working on F. 

1,2,3,4.
c. H. Robinson spoke with John Szerdi and does not believe it will impede nor 

influence his objectivity.

Item G.1 (reordered and heard at this time).

F. Unfinished Business 

1. HRPB Project # 15-00100217 Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for Exterior 
Alterations to the historic Gulfstream Hotel. 

Staff Presentation: William Waters, Director of Community Sustainability Department 
reviews/refreshes Board and public with respect to previous approvals and items to be heard at 
this time. The Director enters all staff reports, powerpoint presentations and materials provided 
at the February 17th meeting and at this meeting as part of the official record for this meeting.
Indicates the applicant and staff have worked very diligently, cooperatively and expeditiously to 
bring forth the revised plans for this meeting. Changes include the streetscape, the annex façade
with art deco inspiration more definitive, would not qualify for the historic waiver, on its own 



merits.  LDR guidelines and downtown thoroughfares, the intent is to have two (2) story 
facades on Lake Avenue. The crossover bridge continues to need work. The overall height of 
the garage is lowered, with 50 additional parking spaces provided with an added floor. The 
parking garage is shown with the retail element eliminated. Greenspace removed, and building 
moved closer to the street.

Board Comment: E. Fitzhugh Sita asks about the number of wood windows vs aluminum 
windows. Director William Waters indicated the architect was helpful in identifying the wood 
windows set for preservation. T. Norris asks about what was in the rear of the hotel when built, 
pool or garden? Improvements made in 50’s. Not a lot of documentation and many buildings 
are no longer there in the vicinity that were part of the Gulfstream; also likes open space 
concept of gardens and at-grade pool, cites the other “era” type hotels Chesterfield and 
Brazilian Court.

H. Robinson dislikes the garbage dumpster location, has no appreciation of the ADA feature in 
the front of the project. Director William Waters reminds Board the site plan was previously 
approved and the Old hotel will most likely be open and operational prior to the annex being 
constructed.

Applicant: Tim Gravis architect- indicates the applicant is in agreement with location and has 
been working with staff since last meeting. It is in the most logical space and keeping within 
ADA compliance requirements. Director William Waters indicates this was part of the approval 
of the site plan at the previous HRPB meeting. H. Robinson asks about measurement of 
exhaust, staff indicates there are performance specs for odors and noise being emitted from the 
site.

Applicant presentation: Nothing additional to add. Ms. Bonnie Miskel indicates willingness 
to work with staff to attempt to relocate the lift as far west as possible without violating ADA 
requirements.

Board: J. Just asks whether consideration has been given to the bas relief or terra cotta element 
of rooftop façade. Director William Waters indicates if sufficient photo   documentation can be 
acquired regarding detail, it could be restored. Board members generally comment on mosaics 
and railing detail being provided.

E. Fitzhugh asks about Tax credit.  Steve Michael (previously sworn in). Submitted application 
for tax credit for historic credits by Park Service

Public comments: 

Lynda Mahoney (131 N Golfview Rd) objects to all projects. Believes the rooftop usage will 
increase a non-conformity. Provides some history with regard to the pool location putting 
greens, and other structures co-owned by the condos and hotel.

Joann Golden (502 N Palmway): objects to height due to charter amendment, disagrees with a 
“canyon effect’ of downtown created by large buildings; questions “energy star” approval
(believes it concerns appliances), the project seems to be short on sustainability, long on 
profitability; worries about climate change, sea level rise.

Teresa Miller (829 N Lakeside): Is in favor, bring on the jobs, get it on the tax rolls. Appreciates
the detailed work, integrity of Staff and Board to bring this project forward.

Applicant comments: Ms. Bonnie Miskel comments the rooftop uses vs structure. Uses have 
existed, vested and conforming for decades, there is flooring on the roof. Height of elements
which extend above the rooftop is structure, not a non-conformity. Umbrellas etc. are simply 
portable amenities that can be moved and are within the normal use within the scope of a hotel 
operation.

Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions to approve with the following conditions:



1) All decorative railings, parapets, pent roofs, medallions, and other decorative details shall be 
designed to be compatible with the Mission Revival style of architecture, and shall be subject 
to Staff review and approval prior to permitting. 

2) The specific design, configuration, and location of the accessible lift shall be subject to Staff 
review and approval prior to permitting. If the location of the lift is required to be as it is 
shown on these drawings, then the proposed lift design shall emulate, to the extent possible, 
the current configuration of a low knee wall with a balustrade, in order to preserve the 
symmetry and integrity of the central 5 bays on the North elevation.

3) All existing wood windows and doors shall be repaired and restored. 
4) All new windows and doors shall use exterior raised applied “putty” or “ogee” style muntins. 

No flat or internal muntins shall be permitted. No reflective mirrored glass shall be permitted. 
5) All intermediary walls in the guest rooms shall line up with a window mullion, a door mullion, 

or a wall. These walls shall not be located in the middle of windows, as this would adversely 
affect the exterior appearance of the historic structure. The reconfiguration shall be subject 
to Staff review and approval prior to permitting. 

6) The clerestory windows in the existing hotel lobby shall remain and be incorporated into the 
lobby design, subject to Staff review and approval prior to permitting. 

7) All balustrades, planter boxes, decorative medallions, parapets, window and door trim, and 
other decorative elements shall be preserved and restored. 

8) The Applicant shall finance and install an official State Historic Marker for the historic 
Gulfstream Hotel. Staff will coordinate with the Applicant regarding the text for the sign and 
the State Historic Marker review program, as well as determine the most appropriate location 
for the sign installation within the site plan. 

2nd by J. Zoellner

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

2. HRPB Project # 15-00100216 Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an Addition to 
the existing historic Gulfstream Hotel, including a Historic Waiver. 
Staff Presentation: Director William Waters presents detail changes to additions (bridge 
and pool) on hotel 1, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 windows. South elevation continues to need additional 
refinement such as tiles or mosaics. Refining, preservation of clerestory windows, the 
bridge element is much improved but continues to need additional refinement leading to 
a more delicate nature (lighter). The pool deck is not visible from street. 
J. Just asks about lighting (sconces) on front of annex.
Applicant Presentation: Tim Gravis answers questions regarding arch detail, mosaics 
and B. Miskel considers soliciting from community. CRA has already vetted with the 
LULA project. Applicant may want to contact the CRA. 
Board: T. Norris views the lack of walkway through this building to Bryant Park as a
shortcoming, lost opportunity.
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motion with the following conditions:

1) All decorative railings, parapets, pent roofs, medallions, and other decorative details shall be 
designed to be compatible with the Mission Revival style of architecture, and shall be subject 
to Staff review and approval prior to permitting. 

2) All new windows and doors shall use exterior raised applied “putty” or “ogee” style muntins. 
No flat or internal muntins shall be permitted. No reflective mirrored glass shall be permitted. 

3) The clerestory windows in the existing hotel lobby shall remain and be incorporated into the 
lobby design, subject to Staff review and approval prior to permitting. 

4) The south elevation could be further refined to provide enhanced decorative features 
including murals, mosaics, fountains, or a dog bar, subject to Staff review and approval prior 
to permitting. The Applicant shall collaborate with the Community Redevelopment Agency’s 
LULA program with regards to murals and other artwork.



5) The sky bridge structure could receive additional decorative details and brackets to support 
the structure, subject to Staff review and approval prior to permitting. 

6) All balustrades, planter boxes, decorative medallions, parapets, window and door trim, and 
other decorative elements shall be preserved and restored. 

J. Zoellner 2nd.  
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.
Public comment: None
.

3. HRPB Project# 15-00100215 Certificate of Appropriateness (COA), for New 
Construction of a new hotel structure and parking garage, including a Historic Waiver. 
Staff Presentation: Director William Waters presents: Bas Reliefs presented, would like
to better refine the medallions, fretwork over the entrance needs to be lightened up (not 
so heavy) and not be in conflict with the signage. Elevation on S Lakeside has been greatly 
simplified. Architect will continue to resolve FL Building Code issues with respect zero 
exterior egress (window) for some of the guest rooms. Lake Avenue elevations 
complimentary and harmonious with a pinkish coloration with different shades. 
Sustainable Bonus, provided documentation by applicant and how Energy Star can be 
applied. Asking to post a performance bond commensurate to an amount equal to the 
balance of the sustainable bonus amount with ½ already being met.   Solar panels are not 
seen and there are green roof elements for water retention. Ground floor to be built one
foot above FEMA standard. Anticipates the existing hotel drainage issues will be 
improved upon by applicant.
Applicant Presentation: Tim Gravis agrees the bridge detail will continue to experience 
improvement. Discussion regarding the 2nd floor “patio” outside of the 4 suites. Ms. 
Miskel speaks to segregating the area immediately off the stairwell with maximum vistas, 
emphasizing the need for expectation of privacy outside the suite areas. Applicant is not 
adverse to a 2nd floor colonnade provided it does not impede the client ability to acquire 
Energy Star, tax credit nor impede the Historic tax credit application. Staff proposes a 2nd

floor stepback colonnade which would allow the 3rd floor a larger balcony as well.
T. Norris: empathizes with applicant that you must show deference to the historic aspects.
J. Just questions number of egresses off balcony. Lakeside facing north detail.
J. Zoellner questions retail space not fronting on Lake Ave. Delivery truck space. J. Just
asks about lighting, staff mentions the upcoming LDR changes with respect to accent 
lighting. J. Zoellner asks about the 2nd floor access to the pool (elevated walkover).
Director William Waters described changes to garage such as additional floor added with 
overall height lower than the allowed height, perhaps some added grill work to alleviate 
the appearance of a garage.
H. Robinson asks about sound dampening for elevated auto ramps. Ms. Miskel reminds 
all of the previous meeting with the condition that a traffic management study be provided 
at the six (6) month period. If the need was demonstrated at that point in time, they will 
address the need but the project it is not currently parking deficient.
H .Robinson asks about whether laundry is outsourced or in-house.  Tim Gravis indicates 
there will be a small in-house laundry in the annex.  Kitchen exhaust is an ongoing review 
by applicant at this time. Director William Waters states that all mechanical must be 
screened.  Intent is not to vent any exhaust toward condominium building.
Public Comment:  Marian Cone, historic preservationist, cautions that the second 
building needs to take a backseat to the Historic Hotel, there is too much agrandissement 
with the annex.



Richard Stowe 414 N Federal Highway- has concerns with height, bulk and scale, 
unbalanced on property has a canyon effect. Fails the test of a world-class hotel.
Peggy Fisher 508 North A Street- in favor, private parking garage, not for public 
comment.
Public comments closed. 
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita 2nd by J. Just with the following conditions:

1) All decorative detailing including mouldings, trim, spandrel panels, transoms, bas relief, 
medallions, railings, balcony brackets, and other decorative elements on the hotel annex and 
the parking garage structures shall be further refined to reflect the richness and exuberance 
of the Art Deco architectural style. The design and detailing shall reflect of hierarchy and 
differentiation of spaces, and the existing “sunburst” designs shall be adjusted accordingly. 
Additional decorative elements including applied brick, cast stone, mosaic tiles, or 
polychrome elements could be added to the structure. All decorative detailing shall be subject 
to Staff review and approval prior to permitting. 

2) The detailing of the entrance on Lake Avenue could be further defined and enhanced in order 
to further define this as a primary building entrance. Specific details for this entrance have 
not yet been provided, and shall be subject to Staff review and approval prior to permitting. 

3) The colonnade facing Lake Avenue shall be revised so that each group of four openings shall 
be symmetrical around a central axis, the end piers shall have equal or greater width than the 
interior piers, and additional decorative elements, such as bas reliefs, shall be added above the 
colonnade openings where space allows, subject to Staff review and approval prior to 
permitting. 

4) The size and specific location of the proposed 1/1 windows and French doors may be 
adjusted as needed to meet building code requirements. French doors shall not be installed in 
an inoperable or fixed condition, instead the design shall be adjusted as needed to incorporate 
windows or add balconies. All window and door alterations shall be subject to Staff review 
and approval prior to permitting. 

5) The windows and doors shall not have reflective mirrored glass. 
6) The parking garage structure openings shall be further refined to incorporate decorative 

screening, masonry units, or other decorative feature in order to provide a visual barrier 
between the parked cars and pedestrian traffic on South Lakeside Drive and 1st Avenue 
South, subject to Staff review and approval prior to permitting. 

7) The asymmetrical design of the parking garage west elevation may be adjusted as needed to 
resolve the enhanced decorative openings or create an axis with the properties across South 
Lakeside Drive, subject to Staff review and approval prior to permitting.

8) If feasible, public access applicable to appropriate codes shall be provided at the Northeast 
corner of the second floor deck.

9) If feasible, per the Federal Income Tax Credit Application, study of additions of a second 
floor colonnade shall be provided.

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous
Applicant Comments: Ms. Bonnie Miskel requests that the minutes, applicant 
submittals, and testimony from the February 17th meeting be included in this testimony
and entered into the record.

4. HRPB Project # 15-00100214 Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) to allow the 
demolition of two buildings located at 14 S Lakeside Drive
Staff Presentation, Board Comments and Applicant presentation: Director William 
Waters recommends demolition of one building but would like to see the other building 
relocated. Proposed a condition (suggestion only) that the applicant attempt to move one 
building. J. Just questions why no one has previously come forward.  Director William 



Waters indicates there were previously two (2) interested parties but the property was not 
available for purchase, now there are three (3) interested parties, and the property is 
available. H. Robinson would like to limit advertising time. Director William Waters 
indicates it is four (4) weeks. Ms. Miskel requests a condition requiring relocation fees be 
capped at equivalent cost of demolition and would limit the time span to 4 months from 
end of four (4) week advertising period. Director William Waters indicates it a high 
possibility of coming before HRPB again due to the probability of being relocated to 
HRPB area. J. Zoellner asks applicant about time line for phases.  Steve Michael indicates 
the Historic property will open and operate on its own while annex is under construction 
and estimates late 2017 for the Historic Gulfstream.

  Public Comment: None

Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita 2nd J.Just  with the following conditions:

1) The building permit for demolition of the two structures shall not be issued until the COA for new 
construction and redevelopment of this site has been approved. 

2) The building permit for demolition shall not be issued until the two-story Art Moderne building has been 
properly advertised for relocation. The Applicant shall advertise that the building is available for relocation in 
a local newspaper of general circulation for a minimum of four consecutive weeks.

3) A portion of the relocation fees, not to exceed the cost of demolition, shall be provided by the Applicant. The 
Applicant shall consider offers from interested parties, who can demonstrate a feasible plan for relocation, 
including a proposed site location, plans for relocation, and plans for rehabilitation of the property once moved. 
The applicant shall inform the Department for Community Sustainability and the Board of any such offers 
for relocation at the end of the advertisement period. If an interested party is selected to relocate the two-story 
Art Moderne building, the interested party shall be required to complete the relocation within four months of 
the close of the advertising period. 
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous demolition can be concurrent. 

5. HRPB Project # 15-00100231 Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for roof 
replacement to the subject property located at 520 North Palmway PCN#38-43-44-2115-
164-0050. The subject building was constructed in 1939 and the property is a contributing 
resource within the Old Lucerne Local Historic District.
 Postponed to April HRPB meeting.

G. New Business 
Re-ordered and heard first. This item was heard prior to Unfinished Business.

1. HRPB Project Number 16-00100034: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for exterior alterations for the single-family residence located at 22 South M Street; 
PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-025-0030.  The subject property was constructed c.1925 and is a 
contributing resource within the Old Town Local Historic District. 

Staff presentation: A.Sunny staff report; in support of 1,3,4,5,8,15,16,17,18 openings single 
hung aluminum 6/1 divided light windows, supports reconfiguration of rear porch area, exterior 
raised muntions, supports the repair of the front door, but not replacement to a French door.  
Does not support the 3 large windows, [(the paired windows are typical of frame vernacular) 
suggestion of 2 pairs of French doors].

Applicant presentation: Gissela Torrella and David Torrella want 3 windows and states the 
French door configuration would impede the garden view.  The proposed windows are impact
windows to help curb the noise since they are in a downtown area.



William indicates that the conversion from residential to commercial use could possibly bring 
this back to Board review, the change in use subjects the building to review of the Florida 
Building Code.

Board comments: T. Norris reiterates the value of the building, it is a contributing structure. 
Applicant provides a revised drawing for consideration.

Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita windows 15, 16, 17, 18 to allow lower sill height, #5 window 
conversion to French doors and remaining conditions intact. D. Engel 2nd .

Vote: Ayes, all. unanimous.

Public Comment: none

6. Planning Issues: 
D. Engel returns to dais at 9:05pm. Maxime Ducoste indicates LDR’s will be heard by City 
Commission. A. Sunny indicates staff will be providing an insert for the May utility bills re: historic 
preservation. During the previous week, two (2) workshop sessions addressing statewide 
comprehensive planning and historic preservation was held. Director William Waters addresses 
the disconnect between the citizenry (what they want) vs. what staff can statutorily approve. There 
is a need to discover what is important to the town. The goal is to have a workshop during 
Preservation month.

7. Public Comments (3 minute limit): None

8. Departmental Reports :
Director William Waters indicates time approaching for EAR based amendments and Fiscal Year 
projections to be made.
This has been one of the busiest quarters. He has provided updates to Palm Beach County. The 
City of Lake Worth has the fastest approval process due to an aggressive code which gives much 
appreciated predictability and expediency to developers. The review model has caught the 
attention of many municipalities including Coral Gables. Mention of the Holiday Inn coming to 
the Boutwell Road area. The Director encourages everyone to visit this area to see the 
progress/forward strides the City is making with development.

9. Board Member Comments: E. Fitzhugh Sita meets with a Land Use professional group.
D. Engel: 25% tax credit is huge. High cost of insurance is detrimental to the state’s progressive 
growth. Remind people to remove COA signs. 
J. Just: questions Lake Worth approved money for the Boutwell Road area. Director clarifies that 
it is economic stimulus development money in the form of tax credit. J. Just also believes that 
metal roofs need to be considered as possibilities in the Historic districts due to insurance 
benefits.
T. Norris comments on the speed of the approval process, and perceived to have been dropped 
into the middle of a whirlwind.
J. Zoellner comments on the speed by which revisions were made to the presented plans.
H. Robinson: hopes the workshop is sooner rather than later. 

Public comment: Loretta Sharpe memorial service to be held at Sacred Heart on Saturday.

10. Adjournment 
Motion: to adjourn: 9:40 pm 2nd all,
Vote: ayes all, unanimous.



Attest: __________________________
Herman Robinson, Chairman

Submitted By: __________________________
Sherie Coale, Board Secretary

Minutes Approved: ___________________________
Date



CITY OF LAKE WORTH
1900 2nd Ave N · Lake Worth, Florida 33461 · Phone: 561-586-1687

Agenda
Regular Meeting

City of Lake Worth
Historic Resources Preservation Board

City Hall Commission Room 
7 North Dixie Hwy; Lake Worth, FL

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 13, 2016 6:00 PM

1. Roll Call and Recording of Absences
2. Meeting was called to order at 6:04p.m..

Present were: Herman Robinson, Tom Norris, Jimmy Zoellner, Madeleine Burnside, Judith Just 
Darrin Engel, Erin Fitzhugh Sita.
Also present were Maxime Ducoste, Assistant Director Planning and Preservation; Aimee 
Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator; Carolyn Ansay, Board Attorney; Sherie Coale, Board 
Secretary.

3. Pledge of Allegiance

4. Additions/Deletions/Reordering and Approval of the Agenda 
March 9, 2016 minutes to be provided at next meeting,
Agenda approved.

5. Approval of Minutes

A. December 16, 2015 PZB/HRPB Joint Workshop
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita 2nd D. Engel
Vote: Ayes, all unanimous

B. February 10, 2016 RM
Motion: D. Engel 2nd T. Norris
Vote: Ayes, all unanimous

C. February 17, 2016 Special Meeting
E Fitzhugh Sita would like to see the setback of the new building and removal of the 
commercial off the parking garage, 1000 square foot retail discussion expanded.
John Szerdi and Don Skowron spelled correctly.
To be presented next meeting along with March 9, 2016 meeting minutes.
Motion: None
Vote:

D. March 9, 2016 RM

6. Cases

A. Swearing in of Staff and Applicants



April 13, 2016 Regular Meeting

Board Secretary swore in all persons speaking tonight.
B. Proof of Publication

1 advertised item
C. Withdrawals/Postponements

D. Consent
None

E. Public Hearings

1. Board Disclosure
H. Robinson spoke to applicants from North K Street just prior to the meeting and it 
will not affect his judgement on the case.

a. Form 8B Recusal

F. Unfinished Business

1. HRPB Project Number 15-00100231: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for roof replacement to the subject property located at 520 North Palmway, 
PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-164-0050.  The subject building was constructed in 1939 and the 
property is a contributing resource within the Old Lucerne Local Historic District.

Staff: Continuance granted at March meeting. Additional information and 3 quotes
from applicant was requested by Board at the February 10 meeting; 3 have since been 
provided.
Staff has located 3 products of metal shingles that could be utilized for the said roof 
replacement, provided with staff report. Applicant has requested to replace roof with a 
standing seam roof. Staff has reviewed the plan according to the Standards from 
National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior Standards and City Ordinances. 
Based upon the review, staff does not support the change. The response from the State 
Senior Preservation Architect indicates the standing seam would not be an acceptable 
replacement for a historic structure. Metal shingle would most closely replicate the 
original roof. Recommendation for either metal shingles or a compatible product grey 
asphalt shingle roof, with grey being the closest in color and texture if metal shingles are 
not chosen.                              
Board: J. Just questioned why we have defined the color of material. A. Sunny indicates 
because it is an intrinsic quality/standard being applied. H. Robinson indicates this is 
type of application that makes this job difficult, based on value and neighborhood of 
similar standing seam roofs. Finds it difficult to disagree with staff and also not to 
maintain historic standards. Likes the distinctive, attractive quality of the Key West 
shingle. Board must move forward with a decision
J. Just: asks about cost comparison.   
Applicant: Dana McLaughlin, Shane O’Mara- Metal tiles suggested readily available 
does not mean locally available. Cost escalates from 9K to 15 K roof. Does not 
understand how Board can ask the applicant to spend that money.  The neighboring 
roof could have a 5 V crimp and she is not allowed a standing seam roof.



April 13, 2016 Regular Meeting

Board: E. Fitzhugh Sita asks how applicant feels about a grey shingle roof. Applicant 
indicates it is not her first preference. If the metal shingles are the recommendation, she would opt for the 
second choice of grey shingle. J. Zoellner and T. Norris have misgivings over this decision re: 
materials and both concur that the grey shingle would be their suggestion as a second 
choice over the metal shingle.  J. Zoellner does not visualize a standing seam roof on 
the house. D. Engel compliments staff member, Aimee Sunny, with her analysis of the 
structure and proposal and indicates, in his estimation, the analysis is correct.
Acknowledges there are other homes in the area with new roofs. Believes it should have 
a metal roof, but we are upholding our ordinance by not permitting the standing seam 
roof, whether he personally likes it or not.
Public: Marian Cone, preservationist, says Board member D. Engel is also correct in 
assessment. Do not replicate mistakes by mimicking the other standing seams in the 
neighborhood.
Board: E. Fitzhugh Sita questions whether a frame vernacular from the 30’s would have 
had a standing seam? Most likely not is the general consensus. D. Engel states there is 
no question as to what the original roof material is/was. At the time he worked for the 
city, there was an acceptable notion of “like material for like material” which may 
explain the reason there are many metal roofs in the neighborhood. H. Robinson brings 
up the question of utilizing metal shingles on the visible side (as a cost factor) and 
asphalt shingles on the balance. Manufacturer warranties most likely would be 
invalidated. E. Fitzhugh Sita has been before the Board personally for similar issues for 
her home in the City of Lake Worth and expresses her empathy for the homeowner.

Staff discusses option of an economic hardship application, provide a revised 
application for the metal shingles.

Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions to deny request for standing seam.  2nd by J. Zoellner.
Vote: 3 nays H. Robinson J Just M. Burnside

4 yeas, motion to deny carries.

G. New Business  39:39

1. HRPB Project Number 16-00100071: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for window and door replacement for the main single-family structure located at 
915 North K Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-280-0130.  The subject property was 
constructed in 1941 and is located within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District.

Staff: Provides overview of staff findings. Public frontage on North K to the east. Has 
undergone several changes over time. Retains a good degree of original material, setting and 
design. Impact aluminum casement and horizontal rollers windows and french doors are 
being requested. Condition of the window elements. Weather stripping should be added 
Caulk and putty should be applied, ropes and weights should be repaired. Paint failure is not 
necessarily an indication of wood rot. Double hung to aluminum casement windows, pair of 
double hung changed to horizontal roller are proposed. Applicant offered to put a muntin 
on the horizontal roller. Also there is a single double hung window to single casement 
window. French door.
Board: D. Engel inquires as to whether the structure contributing. Staff indicates although 
it cannot be found in the survey. No information found.
Applicant: Jeff Berkoff (Contractor) Owners: Phillip Staley and Robert Martin



April 13, 2016 Regular Meeting

Mr. Berkoff states he spoke to Katie and was told it was not contributing. Discussion 
regarding the egress/ingress requirement of 5.7 sq ft, which is currently not there. The 
horizontal roller, facing the fence in bedroom, could become a casement window. States the 
price point for new wood windows, such as Pella or Marvin to name a few, becomes 
prohibitive. States the windows rattle, the glass is thin, the bedroom windows are kept 
closed, and there is no putty.  
Board: D. Engel indicates there is no apparent rot of wood, he’s very experienced with 
wood windows.
Applicant: The owners want it to look historic. Indicates that interior vs exterior 
temperature is high/low, the insurance and utility bills are high. This is the reason for 
impact windows, trying to improve the house. Owner states his home is his castle and wants 
it to be his castle.
Public: Marian Cone, preservationist, questions why contractor didn’t come to the Board 
prior to purchasing windows and agrees with D. Engel’s assessment of situation.
Board attorney: Advises Board to weigh the source of the given expertise with regard to 
the decision.
Board: T. Norris asks about the front window, is it proposed to have 2 one over one single 
hung installed? E. Fitzhugh Sita will not support a change of configuration.
Contractor: States it is 2016 not 1940. Do not deny the egress/ingress, anything less than
100 % impact is not acceptable. Said they are not repairable.
Board: M. Burnside begins to ask about contributing vs. non-contributing. Staff clarifies.
Contractor: insists that it is a non-contributing structure.
Staff reminds Board that although a structure may not be a contributing structure they are 
all treated the same in the eyes of the ordinances. Confirmed with the Building official 
provided that the egress/ingress opening size does not decrease over the currently existing 
opening the type will not adversely affect the building review.  

1.11.53
1) Motion: D. Engel motions to approve with conditions as recommended by staff. With 

Condition #1 modified to read: Replacement windows shall be wood, wood-clad, or 
aluminum double-hung windows, to match the original window opening sizes and 
configuration, and have a 1/1 pattern that replicates the (10) original wood double-hung 
windows and (2) non-original aluminum windows. The new windows shall be installed at 
the same depth in the jamb as the existing windows. All decorative wood trim shall remain 
if possible and if replacement is necessary the trim shall be replicated exactly in size, shape, 
profile and configuration.
E. Fitzhugh Sita 2nd for discussion.
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous

2. Review of City Initiated Demolition at 914 North M Street

Due to deterioration issued unsafe structure.  Board may comment- Q? Why it hasn’t 
been boarded up.
William Waters, Director of Community Sustainability, indicates it is not prudent given 
the coffers of the City to board and secure and then come back and tear it down. PBSO 
has the ability to arrest for trespass.
D. Engel- would rather see it boarded, children like to play in empty houses. J. Zoellner 
says house has been like this a long time.  Director indicates unsafe structures do not 
require notification period. 3 verbal bids, asbestos and lead survey and remediation if 
necessary, takes @ one month. Unsafe structure is the key. Program allows 250K for 



April 13, 2016 Regular Meeting

Lot clearings Board & Secure and demolitions.  ½ spent on this fiscal year. Boarding 
and lot clearing take most of the $$. Money will be returned to city coffers beginning 
FY 2017. Appraisals Vacant lot in Lake Worth may has a lesser value than the same lot 
with an unsafe structure. H. Robinson states this property, with the decrepit property 
has increased in value.
Board: D. Engel and H. Robinson want house boarded and secured, tear down the 
garage. Believes the empty lot is an opportunity for even worse things. 
E. Fitzhugh Sita disagrees. J. Zoellner and J. Just would not like to live next to it and 
would want it torn down.

3. HRPB Project # 16-02900002 for Consideration of a request by Stateside Partners LLC, 
for a Text Amendment to Section 23.3-14, Downtown (DT) and Section 23.3-6, the 
Permitted Use Table and Section 23.4-13 of the City's Land Development Regulations 
(LDRs), to allow Drive Through Facilities as a Conditional Use within the Downtown 
Zoning District specifically  west of Dixie Highway.   

1:31:45

Staff:  Curt Thompson provides a synopsis of the project
Board comments: T. Norris asks if all existing drive-thrus are non-conforming, the answer is 
yes.  
E. Fitzhugh Sita would like to know what type of business would like to go at this location.  
Additional language added to requirements for drive thru. Excludes all drive thru restaurants 
restrict to west side of Dixie due to performance of properties. The east of Dixie more oriented 
to pedestrian traffic vs. west side of Dixie which is more oriented to vehicular traffic.  Staff 
recommends approval of this revision to the Land Development Regulations. Conditional use
applications will be required. 

M. Ducoste clarifies. The DT district is the only district not allowing drive thru as a conditional 
use.  Striped area will be the areas in totality that are allowed drive thru conditional use not 
restaurant.  Does not think Lake or Lucerne should be allowed.

Applicant: Jeff Iravani with Stateside Partners- Multi use commercial use development. Believes 
that pedestrian and drive thru are not incompatible.

E. Fitzhugh Sita would like to amend the text to disallow on Lake and Lucerne west of Dixie
Highway.  T. Norris agrees and believes this is a pedestrian area, near the roundabout.  

1:46:36 
Dixie Hwy seems to have a considerable amount of pedestrian traffic.

CRA: Joan Oliva- The CRA has acquired much of the land behind and the end result will be a 
very good pleasing product with underground utilities.

E. Fitzhugh Sita is not concerned about other properties that will now be open to drive thru.
Recommendation to approve to cross hatched pink area and eliminate the possibility of Lake 
and Lucerne frontage being allowed to have drive thrus.   

1:54:27
MU-East Federal Hwy allows drive thru for a small area, the balance does not.



April 13, 2016 Regular Meeting

Major thoroughfare guidelines are applied and discussion about window size minimum for 
eligible structures come into question.   2:01:04  
E. Fitzhugh Sita would like to clarify the window size opening and the location of the said drive 
thru window.  E. Fitzhugh Sita recommends striking the verbage of residential gate stacking 
distance.

2:09:20
Motion: Approve the main motion and disallow Lake and Lucerne from being included in the 
change.  D. Engel 2nd with the addition of 2 E 8 must be part of a multi-tenant or financial 
institution.

Motion dies. The seconded amendment is not accepted to the main motion.

Repeat motion. Approve the main motion with the pitched roof stricken, disallowing Lake and 
Lucerne from bring included and deleting gated entrance to residential development.

Vote: Ayes all unanimous

7. Planning Issues

A. Discussion of Historic Preservation Case Studies
Director of Community Sustainability: William Waters- Lake Worth took a very strong 
stance toward Historic Preservation without the framework. West Palm Beach, on the 
contrary, took a more gradual path with one property precipitating the inception (a B&B) of 
their program.
Lake Worth does not have specifically established criteria for the determination.   The 3rd

wed of may will be a workshop to discuss the adoption of design guidelines specific to Lake 
Worth. Lack of guidelines and misinterpretation or guidelines that do not address the 
specific issues. Director Waters discusses roof materials, and states that concrete tile roofs 
are classic Florida roofing material.  We must be consistent otherwise we are on shaky 
ground. 

2:23:43  
City Commission assesses that we are stymying investment in the City however the historic 
districts are investing at a greater rate than popular opinion allows. For a period of 7 years 
there was no any leadership in historic preservation.

E. Fitzhugh Sita offers that non-contributing should not be treated the same as contributing 
and would have differing criteria. D. Engel concurs, T. Norris believes that overall 
contributing is specific to a particular district.  Board comments on whether public 
comment should be first then Board or vice versa.  

 
8. Public Comments (3 minute limit)

9. Departmental Reports
Staff: A. Sunny & K. Jacob:  Present a slide show and will send it to Board members. 
Presentation of a sample metal roof. 2:51:54. 
July 1 money to be awarded to begin survey, the award would be @ 35 K with preliminary by 
end of year. A Fellowship for A. Sunny and 2 matching grants applied for.  50K & 30 K each.

10. Board Member Comments:



April 13, 2016 Regular Meeting

D. Engel: 3oo N Palmway completed; new house on 200 block of Princeton looks good. 209 & 
204 Fordham concrete roof beautiful white. New Book- Living in the Past- choosing a historic 
house.
J.Just believes the workshop is a great idea and good to involve neighborhood. 
T. Norris - Marvin windows sash replacement .
J. Zoellner- what is going on with building, city owned and being sold. Rehabbed and back up 
by a date certain. Foreclosure property.
M. Sideburn: comes from a museum background art and history, returning to Florida via 
Kentucky and Key West. Santa Cruz PHD.
C. Ansay advises that the Gulfstream appeal to the rezoning is underway.
H. Robinson: Greasetraps are required by Health Dept.
H. Robinson asks about the projection screen being moved for the internet public. Wm advises 
he will inquire. Asks about churches in home. 
Board attorney cautions about discussion of any application before its received.

11. Adjournment at: 9:26 pm
Motion: T. Norris  M. Sideburn 2nd

Vote: Ayes all

Attest: __________________________
Herman Robinson, Chairman

Submitted By: __________________________
Sherie Coale, Board Secretary

Minutes Approved: ___________________________

Date







City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  May 4, 2016

AGENDA DATE: May 11, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  226 South L Street

FROM: William Waters, Director for Community Sustainabilty
Maxime Ducoste,  Assistant Director for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100082 and 16-01500006: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for new construction of an addition, a historic waiver for stairs in the front setback, a variance to allow a 
building lot coverage above the Code allowance, and pre-construction approval for a historic preservation ad 
valorem tax exemption, for the existing single-family structure located at 226 South L Street; PCN#
38-43-44-21-15-091-0040.  The subject property was constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the 
Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District.

OWNER/APPLICANT: Anne Fairfax Ellett 

 455 Worth Ave #303

 Palm Beach, FL 33480

BACKGROUND: 

The single-family structure at 226 South L Street was constructed c.1925 in the Frame Vernacular style. The 
building was constructed on a 25-foot wide lot of record and has a public frontage facing South L Street to the 
west. Vernacular building traditions resulted from the builder's experience, available resources, and responses to 
the local environment.  The subject property is a simple expression of the style with few decorative architectural 
elements. Original features that define the style of the building include the rectangular floor plan, gable roof, 
open overhanging eaves with rafter tails, and shiplap siding. Features that have been altered include the window 
types and size, roof type and height of the pier foundation.  Overall, the building retains a moderate degree of 
historic integrity of location, setting, materials, and design.

In 2006 the property owner at the time applied for a building permit for a substantial remodel/rehabilitation of 
the building. The scope of work included removing and rebuilding a flat roof addition on the rear of the building, 
new windows, doors, roof and an all new interior floor plan. The plans went through several revisions with 
comments from the historic plans reviewer, though no record of an official COA was found in the property 
records. The work does not to appear to have progressed beyond the removal of the rear addition before the 
permit expired in 2009.

In July 2012, an application was submitted for a full demolition permit for the building with the City of Lake 
Worth Building Division. However, no pre-application clearance was applied for with the Division of Planning, 
Zoning and Historic Preservation and no review activity occurred on the property.  A rehabilitation proposal was 
heard and approved by the HRPB in January 2013, however no actvitiy occurred and the COA has since expired.



HRPB No. 16-00100082
HRPB No. 16-01500006

226 South L Street 
COA Application – Exterior Alterations and Addition

Page 2

2

REQUEST: 

The Applicant is requesting exterior alterations and new construction of an addition as follows:

1) Remove all existing windows and install new wood double-hung 6/6 windows in all openings; several 
opening sizes will be altered to accommodate the proposed windows.

2) Replace the non-original jalousie front door with a new 6-panel impact door.

3) Repair the projecting gabled front porch overhang if possible, or reconstruct if the level of deterioration 
is too severe.

4) Remove the existing asphalt shingles and install a new “Enviroshake” composite wood-look shake roof.

5) Remove the entire rear façade and exposed foundation in preparation for the new addition.

6) Remove approximately 3’ from the rear of the structure.

7) Remove the overhanging eaves on the front and rear of the structure.

8) Repair wood siding if possible, or replace in kind if the level of deterioration is too severe.

9) Remove an existing wooden shed in the rear yard.

10) Construct a new two-story +/- 1238 square foot addition.

11) Construct a new one-story +/- 252 square foot freestanding one-car garage.

The Applicant is requesting a Variance as follows:

1) A variance to allow a building lot coverage over the Code allowance; the Applicant is requesting a 44.3% 
building lot coverage (1,495 square feet) and the Code allowance is 40% (1,350 square feet).

The Applicant is requesting a Historic Waiver as follows:

2) A historic waiver from Code Section 23.3-8(3)A to allow construction of the front stoop and stairs in the 
required front setback.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the opinion of Staff that portions of the project, as proposed, are not consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan goals and objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is 
proposing a change that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the 
request is in conflict with these objectives:

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible.

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning



HRPB No. 16-00100082
HRPB No. 16-01500006

226 South L Street 
COA Application – Exterior Alterations and Addition

Page 3

3

The subject property is zoned Multi-Family Residential-30 (MF-30), however the Code points to the Single-Family 
Two-Family 14 (SF-TF 14) code for properties that do not meet the minimum requirements of the MF-30 zoning.  
This proposal is subject to the development standards for the SF-TF 14 in the City of Lake Worth Zoning Code.
The property is not required to meet the current minimum lot size standards for the district, as the lot is an 
original platted lot of record.

The following table includes some of the basic specifications for the proposed construction:

Dimension Required by Code Proposed

Lot size 5,000 sq. ft for single-family 3,375 sq. ft existing (25’ x 135’)

Front setback 20’-0” 12’-3” to bldg front (no change), 8’-9” to front 
of porch steps

Side setback 10% of lot width, 

minimum 3’-0”

North = 3’-0” to proposed addition; 

South = 3’-0” to proposed addition

Rear setback 5’0” 36’-9” to bldg rear, 5’-0” to garage rear

Floor Area Ratio 0.55 = 1,856.25 sq. ft 0.54 = 1,820 sq. ft

Building Lot Coverage 40% = 1,350 sq. ft 44.3% = 1,495 sq. ft

Impermeable surface 60% max. = 2,025 sq. ft 55% = 1,848 sq. ft

Parking Spaces 2 spaces 2 spaces, 1 in garage, 1 on adjacent street

The Applicant does not meet the Zoning Code requirements for the front setback and the building lot coverage.  
The Applicant has requested, and Staff is in support of, a Historic Waiver for the front building setback to allow 
construction of the front porch steps and stoop in the setback.  Historically, the stairs were located within the 
setback, and although the stairs have been presently removed, they are necessary to access the structure.

The Applicant has requested, and Staff is not in support of, a Variance to allow a building lot coverage above the 
code allowance, as demonstrated by the Staff response to the Variance criteria outlined below.

VARIANCE REQUEST

Variance Analysis:

According to Section 23.2-26 the power to grant any such variance shall be limited by and be contingent upon

documentation that all required findings are made by the appropriate board. The following addresses each of 

the required findings with respect to the applicant’s requested variances.

HRPB Project# 16-01500006: Request from Section 23.3-8 of the City’s Land Development Regulations  to allow 
a maximum lot coverage of 44% (1495 sq. ft.) instead of the required maximum lot coverage for all buildings of 
40 % (1350 sq. ft.) resulting in a variance of 4% (145 sq. ft.) for a single family residence in the SF-TF14 zoning 
district. 



HRPB No. 16-00100082
HRPB No. 16-01500006

226 South L Street 
COA Application – Exterior Alterations and Addition

Page 4

4

1. Special circumstances or conditions exist which are peculiar to the land or building for which the variance

is sought and do not apply generally to nearby lands and buildings, and that this is not the result of action

of the applicant;

Staff Response: The applicant does not complies with this standard. 
There are no circumstances or conditions unique to this site that require the applicant to request this 
variance. The applicant could reduce the size of proposed improvements/addition to meet the 
requirements of the LDRs, specifically the maximum lot coverage requirement. An undue hardship exists 
when the condition is unique to the property of the applicant. There are a number of properties in this 
area that are 25’ by 135’ in size. Thus the plight of the applicant is not due to circumstances that are 
peculiar to the land. Therefore, this variance request should not be granted.

 

2. The strict application of the provision of these LDRs would deprive the applicant of any reasonable use of

the land or building for which the variance is sought;

Staff Response: The applicant does not comply with this standard.
The concept of "reasonable use of the land or building" has been defined in very specific terms by 
Planning and Zoning experts. To prove that the property owner or the applicant, in this case, will receive 
no reasonable return without the variance, they must show that they will be deprived of all beneficial use 
of their land. What this standard means is that they must show that the land is not suitable for any use 
permitted by the zoning ordinance. The applicants have not shown how the zoning regulations deprive 
them of a reasonable use of their land. Conversely, the subject property has been improved and 
developed with a single-family home, which is allowed under the Land Development Regulations.  The 
applicant can within the regulations build the proposed improvements/addition and comply with the 
LDRs. Therefore, this variance request should not be granted.

3. That the variance proposed is the minimum variance which makes possible the reasonable use of the land

or building;  

Staff Response: The applicant does not comply with this standard.

Denial of the variance would not deprive the applicant of the ability to plan, design and build this project 

while complying with the City’s LDRs. The concept of "reasonable use of the land or building" has been 

defined in very specific terms by Planning and Zoning experts. To prove that the landowners will receive 

no reasonable return without the variance, they must show that they will be deprived of all beneficial use 

of their land. What this standard means is that they must show that the land is not suitable for any use 

permitted by the zoning ordinance. The applicant has not shown how the zoning regulations deprive them 

of a reasonable use of their land. Conversely, the subject property is already developed with a single 

family residence which is the reasonable use of the land and the proposed improvements/addition can be 

reasonably design to meet the City’s LDRs.   Therefore this variance request should not be granted.

4. That the granting of the variance will be in accordance with the spirit and purpose of this chapter, and will

not be unduly injurious to contiguous property or the surrounding neighborhood nor otherwise

detrimental to the public welfare. In deciding appeals from decisions of the development review official or



HRPB No. 16-00100082
HRPB No. 16-01500006

226 South L Street 
COA Application – Exterior Alterations and Addition

Page 5

5

in granting variances, the decision-making board is authorized and required to impose any reasonable

conditions and safeguards it deems to be necessary or desirable, and violation of such conditions or

safeguards when made a part of the terms under which a variance is granted, shall be deemed to be a

violation of these LDRs.

Staff Response: The applicant does not comply with this standard.

Although this request would not be unduly injurious to the surrounding properties, approving this 

variance request would be granting a special privilege that would not be available to other properties. The 

applicant has not demonstrated nor convinced the staff that not granting the variance would cause an 

"undue hardship." Undue hardship, in this context, means a problem created by some feature of the land 

rather than a personal issue or design preference of the applicant, such as not having as much living space 

as they would like. Conversely, the applicant’s request would represent granting of a special privilege 

specific to this property.  Therefore this variance request should not be granted.

ANALYSIS:

Historic Preservation – Exterior Alterations

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding 
replacement of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation:

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided.

Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved.

Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence.

It is the opinion of Staff that the project as proposed is not compatible with the review criteria set forth in the 
City’s Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation Ordinance, Section 23.5-4.  

The Applicant is proposing to remove a significant portion of the overhanging eaves on the front and rear of the 
structure, as well as demolish 3 feet from the rear of the existing structure.  This request is not in compliance with 
the Standards outlined above and the City’s Code.  The overhanging eaves and the original size and length of the 
structure are important, character-defining features and they should be preserved.



HRPB No. 16-00100082
HRPB No. 16-01500006

226 South L Street 
COA Application – Exterior Alterations and Addition

Page 6

6

The Applicant is also proposing to replace all of the non-original windows with double-hung 6/6 wood windows.  
The Applicant has indicated that interior framing suggests that the current configuration of most windows is not 
original to the structure, and is proposing to balance the window sizes and design.  Staff cannot confirm the 
original size and location of the windows, however the proposed size, shape, location, and configuration of the 
6/6 wood windows is consistent and compatible with the time period and the frame vernacular construction.  The 
proposed 6-panel wood doors are also consistent and compatible with the architectural style of the structure.

Historic Preservation – Addition

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding additions 
to historic structures.  Specifically Standards 9 and 10 apply in this situation:

Standard 9 - New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials 
that characterize the property. The new work shall be differentiated from the old and shall be compatible with the 
massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its 
environment.

Standard 10 - New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a manner that 
if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its environment would be 
unimpaired.

The proposed addition complies with these Standards and the City’s Code concerning the compatibility of 
additions to historic structures.  The addition is compatible in height, scale, massing, and architectural detailing 
with the existing structure.  The original proposal did include wood siding on the rear two-story portion of the 
addition, to complement the wood siding on the front structure, and Staff has recommended a condition of 
approval relating to this feature. 

Staff does have some concerns over the height of the proposed addition in relation to the Code allowances, and is 
awaiting further survey and site section information from the Applicant.  Height would be measured from 12” 
above the crown of the road, which is very close to the existing grade nearest the street. The site has a significant 
slope towards the rear of the property, and the Applicant is proposing to use this slope in order to achieve the 
height allowances in the Code.  Based on future survey information, the height of the structure may need to be 
amended in order to comply with Zoning or Building Code requirements.

Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption

As part of the Tax Exemption requirements, the HRPB must approve the scope of work prior to the 
commencement of construction and all work must comply with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for 
Rehabilitation.

Pursuant to Section 23.5-5 of the historic preservation ordinance, in the review of preconstruction applications 
for the historic ad valorem tax exemption program, the HRPB is required to make findings pursuant to three 
criteria and determine the following:

1) Whether the property for which the proposed exemption is requested satisfies section 196.1997(11)(a), 
Florida Statutes.

Staff Response: The subject property is a contributing historic resource in the Southeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District, designated by local ordinance in 2002.



HRPB No. 16-00100082
HRPB No. 16-01500006

226 South L Street 
COA Application – Exterior Alterations and Addition

Page 7

7

2) Whether the proposed improvements are consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for 
Rehabilitation and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings (revised 1990), U.S. Department of the 
Interior, National Park Service, which are hereby incorporated by reference in this section, and the 
criteria specified in Chapter 1A-38, F.A.C.

Staff Response: As outlined and discussed during the review of the Certificate of Appropriateness for the 
exterior alterations and an addition, the proposal is largely compatible with the historic character of the 
building and will not have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Staff has 
recommended conditions of approval to address the non-compatible elements of the proposal.  With 
these conditions, it is the analysis of Staff that the alterations and addition meet the intent of the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and the Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings.

3) For applications submitted under the provisions of section 196.1998, Florida Statutes, whether the 
improvements meeting the criteria Rule 1A-38.001(3) and (4), F.A.C.

Staff Response: Not applicable. The building is not intended to be used for non-profit or governmental 
purposes. 

Public Comment
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project. 

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

With regards to the variance application, the decision of the Historic Resource Preservation Board will be final; 
however, the Applicant may appeal the Board’s decision to the Circuit Court of Palm Beach County.

With regards to the Certificate of Appropriateness applications for exterior alterations, new construction of an 
addition, and a historic waiver, the decision of the Historic Resource Preservation Board will be final; however, the 
Applicant may appeal the Board’s decision to the Lake Worth City Commission.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Based on the findings outlined in the analysis, staff recommends that the Historic Resource Preservation Board 
deny the variance as submitted by the applicant, given that the request does not meet the variance criteria 
outlined in Code Section 23.2-26.

Staff recommends that the Board approve the application for exterior alterations and the Historic Waiver, with 
the following conditions:

1) The existing overhanging eaves shall not be removed or shortened.
2) The rear 3 feet of the structure shall not be demolished as proposed.  The proposal shall be minimally re-

designed to account for keeping the rear 3 feet, and shall be subject to staff review at permitting.
3) The projecting gabled porch overhang shall remain and be repaired.  If repair is not feasible, the overhang 

shall be replicated in size, shape, configuration, profile, and location.
4) The new windows shall be wood double-hung 6/6 windows with true divided lights as proposed.  No 

reflective glass shall be used.  If impact protection is required, the Applicant shall utilize removable metal 
panels, removable fabric screens, or impact colonial shutters, subject to staff review at permitting. 



HRPB No. 16-00100082 
HRPB No. 16-01500006 

226 South L Street  
COA Application – Exterior Alterations and Addition 

Page 8 
 

8 

5) The roof material shall be the Enviroshake simulated wood shingle, as proposed. 
6) All wood siding shall be repaired if possible.  If repair is not feasible, the siding shall be replaced with new 

wood siding to replicate the size, shape, profile, and configuration of the existing siding. 
7) All shutters shall be equal to half the width of the window opening, in order to fully cover the window 

when closed. 
8) The requested Historic Waiver shall be granted for the constructions of stairs in the front building setback, 

as indicated on the submittal drawings. 
 
Staff recommends that the Board approve the application for new construction of an addition with the 
following conditions: 
 

1) The new addition shall comply with all provisions of the City’s Zoning Code, including setbacks, building lot 
coverage, FAR, and building height, and shall be subject to staff review at permitting and inspection 
during construction. 

2) Due to the schematic quality of the drawings with regard to building height and setback, the Applicant 
may need to revise the height of the structure in order to comply with all applicable zoning and building 
codes.  This minimal re-design shall be subject to Staff review prior to permitting and inspection during 
construction. 

3) The overhanging eaves on the rear two-story portion of the addition shall have the same overhang depth 
as the eaves on the front, historic one-story structure. 

4) The rear two-story portion of the addition shall have wood siding to match the size, shape, and 
configuration of the siding on the front, historic one-story structure. 

5) The proposed addition shall not damage the existing building.  The existing structure shall be properly 
protected during construction so as not to incur damage from the addition. 

 
Staff recommends approval of pre-construction application for a historic preservation ad valorem tax 
exemption with the following Conditions of Approval: 
 

1) All work shall be conducted per the submitted and approved COA for exterior alterations and an addition, 
including the recommend conditons of approval.  Any revisions or changes to this approval shall be 
reported to Staff and may require additional Staff or HRPB approvals. 

2) All work shall be conducted in accordance with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards. 
3) The applicant shall be responsible for fully documenting the rehabilitation process so that the Board will 

have sufficient documentation to evaluate the completed work and make a recommendation on the tax 
exemption application to the City Commission. 

 
POTENTIAL MOTIONS: 
 
Variance: 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-01500006: Consideration of a Variance from Section 23.3-8 of the City of Lake Worth 
Land Development Regulations, to allow a building lot coverage of 145 square feet above the Code allowance for 
the subject property located at 226 South L Street, because the Applicant has not established by a preponderance 
of the competent substantial evidence that the application is not in compliance with the City of Lake Worth Land 
Development Regulations Section 23.2-26. 
 



HRPB No. 16-00100082 
HRPB No. 16-01500006 

226 South L Street  
COA Application – Exterior Alterations and Addition 

Page 9 
 

9 

I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-01500006: Consideration of a Variance from Section 23.3-8 of the City of Lake 
Worth Land Development Regulations, to allow a building lot coverage of 145 square feet above the Code 
allowance for the subject property located at 226 South L Street, based upon the preponderance of competent 
substantial evidence and the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.2-26. 
 
Exterior Alterations, Addition, and Historic Waiver:   
 
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100082: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for exterior 
alterations, new construction of an addition, and a Historic Waiver for the subject proeprty located at 226 South L 
Street, with the conditions as recommended by Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial 
evidence, and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100082: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for exterior 
alterations, new construction of an addition, and a Historic Waiver for the subject proeprty located at 226 South L 
Street, because the Applicant has not established by a preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that 
the application is not in compliance with the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, 
the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan. 
 
Pre-Construction Approval for an Ad Valorem Tax Exemption Application:   
 
I MOVE TO APPROVE/DENY HRPB 16-00100082: Consideration of a Pre-Construction Approval for a Historic 
Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption at the subject property located at 226 South L Street, with the conditions 
as recommended by Staff, and subject to the Findings of Fact as outlined in this Staff report. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Decision Criteria  
2. Application Photographs and Tax Exemption Documents 
3. Justification Statements – Variance and COA 
4. Proposed Architectural Drawings 
5. Proposed Window Information 
6. Proposed Roof Information 
7. LDR Section 23.5-5 
8. Florida Statute 196.1997 and 196.1998 
9. Florida Administrative Code Ch. 1A-38 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 



HRPB No. 16-00100082
HRPB No. 16-01500006

226 South L Street 
COA Application – Exterior Alterations and Addition

Page 10

10

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: May 10, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: William Waters, Director for Community Sustainability
Maxime Ducoste,  Assistant Director for Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 16-00100082 and 16-01500006: Consideration of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for new construction of an addition, a historic waiver for stairs in the front 
setback, a variance to allow a building lot coverage above the Code allowance, and pre-
construction approval for a historic preservation ad valorem tax exemption, for the existing single-
family structure located at 226 South L Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-091-0040.  The subject 
property was constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the Southeast Lucerne 
Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: May 11, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the following criteria 
in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work is to be 
done?  

Response: It is the analysis of Staff that some of the alterations proposed on the existing structure would have 
an adverse effect on the historic appearance of the building.  The proposal also exceeds the allowable building 
lot coverage for the property.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other property in 
the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within the 
surrounding the Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District, however it will have an indirect visual effect on the 
district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, design, 
arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that changes the shape, dimension, and configuration of the original 
structure.  

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable beneficial use of 
his property? 
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially proposing 
other alterations to the structure, nor would it make the building uninhabitable.

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable time? 
Response: Yes.



F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States Secretary 
of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from time to time? The 
current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal change to 
the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed at this time.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic materials or 
alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: The Applicant is proposing to alter the shape, dimension, and configuration of the existing structure, 
which includes reducing the overhangs, a 3 foot portion of the structure, and the size of the existing structure. 

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that create a false 
sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural elements from other 
buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their own right 
shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that characterize a 
historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: The shape, dimension, and configuration of the existing structure are a distinctive feature of early 
frame vernacular architecture in Lake Worth.

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In the event 
replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in composition, design, 
color, texture, and other visual qualities. 
Response: Staff supports the rehabilitation and addition to the existing structure.  However, the decrease in 
size of the existing structure to accommodate the size of the proposed additions is not compatible with the 
review criteria set forth in the City’s Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation Ordinance, Section 
23.5-4.

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of features, 
substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs or because the 
different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be available for relocation. 
Response: The proposed replacement windows are based on the frame vernacular style of architecture in Lake 
Worth.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, shall not 
be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest means 
possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such resources 
must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials that 
characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old and shall be compatible 
with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its 
environment.  
Response: The proposed alterations to the existing structure remove the size, shape, and configuration that is 
distinctive to this structure and the style of architecture.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner that, if 
removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its environment would be 
unimpaired.  
Response: Decreasing the size of the existing structure to accommodate the size of the proposed additions will 
fundamentally alter the historic structure. 

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which served 
as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse effect on those 
elements or features?  
Response: It is the analysis of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely affected by 
the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  Decreasing the size of the existing 
structure to accommodate the size of the proposed additions will fundamentally alter the historic structure. 

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall also 
consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires minimal 
alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its originally intended 
purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed at the time.

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its environment being 
destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive architectural features shall be 
avoided whenever possible. 
Response: The distinctive shape, size, and configuration of the historic structure is being destroyed.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall permit the 
property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an increase in cost of thirty 
(30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to demonstrate to the HRPB that: 

(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and
Response:  Due to the extent of the alterations the window design is compatible with the design of the frame 
vernacular architecture, but do not replicate the existing configurations of windows.
(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in excess of 
thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Staff must defer to the applicant.



DOS Form No. HR3E101292 
Revised 09/03/00 

Historic Preservation Property Tax Exemption Application 
Part 1 – Evaluation of Property Eligibility 

 
Read the attached instructions carefully before completing this application. Your application cannot be evaluated 
unless it is complete and all required supporting materials are provided.  In the event of any discrepancy between 
the application form and other supplementary material submitted with it (such as architectural plans, drawings and 
specifications), the application form shall take precedence.  Type or print clearly in black ink. If additional space is 
needed, attach additional sheets. 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION (To be completed by all applicants) 
 
1.  Property identification and location: 
 
Property Identification Number (from tax records):_______________________ Attach legal description of property 
 
Address of property:  Street ______________________________________________________________________ 
 
City_____________________________ County_________________________ Zip Code ____________________ 
 
(  )  Individually National Register listed           (  )  Locally designated historic property or landmark* 
(  )  In a National Register district           (  )  In a locally designated district 
 
* For applications submitted to the Division of Historical Resources, attach a copy of the local designation report 
for the property and the official correspondence notifying the property owner of designation.  
 
Name of historic district _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
For locally designated historic properties or landmarks, or properties located in locally designated historic 
districts, provide the following additional information: 
 
Name of local historic preservation agency/office _____________________________________________________ 
 
Mailing Address _______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
City_____________________________ State_____________________ Zip Code __________________________ 
 
Telephone Number (_____) _________________________ 
 
2.  Type of request: 
(  )  Exemption under 196.1997, F.S. (standard exemption) 
(  )  Exemption under 196.1998, F.S. (exemption for properties occupied by non-profit organizations or  
       government agencies and regularly open to the pubic)  If applying under s. 196.1998, F.S., complete 
       Question 9 on page five. 
 
3.  Owner information:  
 
Name of individual or organization owning the property _______________________________________________ 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Mailing address _______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
City_____________________________ State_____________________ Zip code ___________________________ 
 
Daytime Telephone Number (_____) ____________________________ 
If the property is in multiple ownership, attach a list of all owners with their mailing addresses. 
 
 
 

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
226 S L Street

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Lake Worth

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Palm Beach

afair_000
Typewritten Text
33460

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
38-43-44-21-15=091-0040

afair_000
Typewritten Text
X

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Anne Fairfax Ellett

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
455 Worth Ave, #303

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Palm Beach

afair_000
Typewritten Text
FL

afair_000
Typewritten Text
33480

afair_000
Typewritten Text
646

afair_000
Typewritten Text
270-1791



DOS Form No. HR3E101292 
Revised 09/03/00 

Page Two – Historic Preservation Property Tax Exemption Application 
 
Property Identification Number __________________ 
 
Property Address ______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
4.  Owner Attestation:  I hereby attest that the information I have provided is, to the best of my knowledge, 
correct, and that I own the property described above or that I am legally the authority in charge of the property. 
Further, by submission of this Application, I agree to allow access to the property by representatives of the Division 
of Historical Resources or the Local Historic Preservation Office ,where such office exists, and appropriate 
representatives of the local government from which the exemption is being requested, for the purpose of verification 
of information provided in this Application.  I also understand that, if the requested exemption is granted, I will be 
required to enter into a Covenant with the local government granting the exemption in which I must agree to 
maintain the character of the property and the qualifying improvements for the term of the exemption. 
 
_____________________________ ___________________________________ ___________________________ 
Name                                                 Signature                                                         Date 
 
Complete the following if signing for an organization or multiple owners: 
 
_____________________________ _______________________________________________________________ 
Title                                                   Organization name 
 
EVALUATION OF PROPERTY ELIGIBILITY 
(To be completed only for properties in historic or archaeological districts): 
 
5.  Description of Physical Appearance: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date of Construction_______________ Date(s) of Alteration(s) _________________________________________ 
 
Has building been moved?  (  )Yes  (  )No   If so, when?_____________ 
 
6.  Statement of Significance: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

afair_000
Typewritten Text
38-43-44-21-15-091-0040

afair_000
Typewritten Text
226 S L St, Lake Worth, FL 33460

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Anne Fairfax Ellett

afair_000
Typewritten Text
April 4, 2016

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Building within a registered historic district: 

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
district: A one-story, gable roofed, painted wood clapboard residential building, rectilinear in shape and constructed in the1920's. The original fenestration has been replaced, date unknownand is currently a mix of aluminum or wood, awning and doublehung windows. The front door is contemporary, date unknown. The interior has been stripped of all plaster and partitions by a prior ownerand consists of exposed old growth pine studs, rafters, beamsand the back of the wood clapboard.  

afair_000
Typewritten Text
unknown

afair_000
Typewritten Text
X

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Raised, unknown date

afair_000
Typewritten Text
1920's

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Building within a registered historic district:

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
The building sits within an intact group of historic vernacular wood clapboard or stucco residential buildings which were built on small lots (25'x 135')during the 1920's. This building, althoughmodest in size and materials, is significant in that it contributes to the streetscape as a continuation of the style andscale of its neighbors and represents a period of town-buildingin Florida which is all but lost in other areas of Florida.



DOS Form No. HR3E101292 
Revised 09/03/00 

Page Three – Historic Preservation Property Tax Exemption Application 
 
Property Identification Number __________________ 
 
Property Address ______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
7.  Photographs and maps: 
     Attach photographs and maps to application. 

afair_000
Typewritten Text
38-43-44-21-15-091-0040

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
226 S L Street, Lake Worth, FL 33480

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Please refer to "TAX FORM ADDENDUM PHOTOS.pdf", included in submission packet. 



DOS Form No. HR3E101292 
Revised 09/03/00 

Page Four 
Historic Preservation Property Tax Exemption Application 

Part 2 – Description of Improvements 
(To be completed by all applicants): 
Complete the blocks below.  Include site work, new construction, alterations, etc.  
 
Property Identification Number __________________ 
 
Property Address ______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Feature 1 
Feature__________________________ 
Approx. date of feature_____________ 
 
Describe existing feature and its condition: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo no.______  Drawing no.________ 
 

Describe work and impact on existing feature: 

 
Feature 2 
Feature__________________________ 
Approx. date of feature_____________ 
 
Describe existing feature and its condition: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo no.______  Drawing no.________ 
 

Describe work and impact on existing feature: 

 
Feature 3 
Feature__________________________ 
Approx. date of feature_____________ 
 
Describe existing feature and its condition: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo no.______  Drawing no.________ 
 

Describe work and impact on existing feature: 

 

afair_000
Typewritten Text
38-43-44-21-15-091-0040

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
226 S L Street, Lake Worth, FL 33480

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Wood Clapboard

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
1920's

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Exterior painted pine clapboard,on all fours sides of the oneroom building. Some clapboards are rotted, with incompatiblecontemporary fenestration. 

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Damaged clapboards will be replacedwith new cypress,milled to match original width, thickness.

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Rear facade has been previouslyaltered, and a portion of the original building has beenremoved by a previous owner.

afair_000
Typewritten Text
A new addition will be attached to the rear facade of the existing structure, differentiatedby the use of concrete block,stucco and heavy timber framing. Wood double hung windows will beused.

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Existing site plan

afair_000
Typewritten Text
original plat

afair_000
Typewritten Text
New site work will include thebuilding of a retaining wall, which will also be a swimmingpool wall along the south side of the site. This will will retain the erosioncaused by the parking lot.

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
The original sloping site hasbeen compromised by the installationof a parking lot next door whichis level with the lowest portionof the site.

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
East facade

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Altered, date unknown

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
A1-4

afair_000
Typewritten Text
n/a

afair_000
Typewritten Text
A5

afair_000
Typewritten Text
B-5

afair_000
Typewritten Text
A6

afair_000
Typewritten Text
B-6 & 7



DOS Form No. HR3E101292 
Revised 09/03/00 

Page Five – Historic Preservation Property Tax Exemption Application 
 
Property Identification Number __________________ 
 
Property Address ______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Feature 4 
Feature__________________________ 
Approx. date of feature_____________ 
 
Describe existing feature and its condition: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo no.______  Drawing no.________ 
 

Describe work and impact on existing feature: 

 
Feature 5 
Feature__________________________ 
Approx. date of feature_____________ 
 
Describe existing feature and its condition: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo no.______  Drawing no.________ 
 

Describe work and impact on existing feature: 

 
Feature 6 
Feature__________________________ 
Approx. date of feature_____________ 
 
Describe existing feature and its condition: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo no.______  Drawing no.________ 
 

Describe work and impact on existing feature: 

 
 
 

 
 

afair_000
Typewritten Text
asphalt shingle roof 

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
contemporary

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Existing asphalt shingle roofon 1 x 6 pine substrate. Not original to the house.

afair_000
Typewritten Text
New roof shall be green asphalt shingles

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
38-43-44-21-15-091-0040

afair_000
Typewritten Text
226 S L St. Lake Worth, FL 33460

afair_000
Typewritten Text
New wood double hung, singleglazed, true divided light painted windows will replacecontemporary windows in openings.The original sizes of the openings have been compromised therefore new openings, consistent with the neighborhood standard will be restored.  

afair_000
Typewritten Text
windows

afair_000
Typewritten Text
contemporary

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Existing windows are a mixture of aluminum, awning and double hung windows, none of which can be determined as original.

afair_000
Typewritten Text
front door

afair_000
Typewritten Text
contemporary

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Wood stiles and rails withobscured glass louvers

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
New painted pine door, 6 panel solid wood.

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
N/A

afair_000
Typewritten Text
SEE MANUF. BROCHURE

afair_000
Typewritten Text
A7-8

afair_000
Typewritten Text
A-9

afair_000
Typewritten Text
B-10 



DOS Form No. HR3E101292 
Revised 09/03/00 

Page Six – Historic Preservation Property Tax Exemption Application 
 
Property Identification Number __________________ 
 
Property Address ______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Feature 7 
Feature__________________________ 
Approx. date of feature_____________ 
 
Describe existing feature and its condition: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo no.______  Drawing no.________ 
 

Describe work and impact on existing feature: 

 
Feature 8 
Feature__________________________ 
Approx. date of feature_____________ 
 
Describe existing feature and its condition: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo no.______  Drawing no.________ 
 

Describe work and impact on existing feature: 

 
Feature 9 
Feature__________________________ 
Approx. date of feature_____________ 
 
Describe existing feature and its condition: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo no.______  Drawing no.________ 
 

Describe work and impact on existing feature: 

 
 

 

afair_000
Typewritten Text
rectilinear attic vent

afair_000
Typewritten Text
original?

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Vent on front of house positioned at the top of thegable.  Wood frame, painted, with a fiberglass screen. Thevent is non-functional as theclapboards run behind it

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Vent shall be restored to functionality with a screen andopening behind it.

afair_000
Typewritten Text
overhang on front eave

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
original 

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Wood overhang on the roof, projects over the front gable.

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Reduce the overhang to 8" 

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Porch roof on brackets

afair_000
Typewritten Text
not original

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Decorative feature; added later, as it is made of contemporary wood.

afair_000
Typewritten Text
This feature shall be repaired as necessary (esp; shingle roof to be replaced) but otherwise kept as-is. 

afair_000
Typewritten Text
38-43-44-21-15-091-0040

afair_000
Typewritten Text
226 S L St. Lake Worth, FL 33460

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text

afair_000
Typewritten Text
A-10

afair_000
Typewritten Text
B-10

afair_000
Typewritten Text
A-12

afair_000
Typewritten Text
B-9

afair_000
Typewritten Text
A-11

afair_000
Typewritten Text
B-10



DOS Form No. HR3E101292 
Revised 09/03/00 

Page Seven – Historic Preservation Property Tax Exemption Application 
 
Property Identification Number __________________ 
 
Property Address ______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Property Use (To be completed by all applicants): 
 
1.  Use(s) before improvement: __________________________________________________________________ 
 
2.  Proposed use(s) after improvement: ___________________________________________________________ 
 

Special Exemption (Complete only if applying for exemption under s. 196.1998, F.S. (property occupied 
by non-profit organization or government agency and regularly open to the public): 
NOTE:  Applicants should check with local officials to determine whether or not the exemption program offered by 
their municipal government and/or county allows the special exemption provided by s. 196.1998, F.S. 
 
1.  Identify the governmental agency or non-profit organization that occupies the building or archaeological site: 
 
 
2.  How often does this organization or agency use the building or archaeological site? _______________________ 
 
3.  For buildings, indicate the total useable area of the building in square feet.  (For archaeological sites, indicate the 
total area of the upland component in acres)__________________square feet(  )  acres(  )     
 
4.  How much area does the organization or agency use?__________________square feet(  )  acres(  )      
 
5.  What percentage of the usable area does the organization or agency use?____________% 
 
6.  Is the property open to the public  (  )Yes  (  )No   If so, when? ________________________________________ 
 
7.  Are there regular hours?  (  )Yes  (  )No   If so, what are they? ________________________________________ 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
8.  Is the property also open by appointment?  (  )Yes  (  )No  
 
9.  Is the property open only by appointment?  (  )Yes  (  )No 

afair_000
Typewritten Text
226 S L St. Lake Worth, FL 33460

afair_000
Typewritten Text
38-43-44-21-15-091-0040

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Residence, single family

afair_000
Typewritten Text
Residence, single family



Feature 1 Wood Clapboard 

All Facades 

  PHOTO A‐1  WEST FAÇADE 

  PHOTO A‐2 SOUTH FAÇADE 



  PHOTO A‐3 EAST FAÇADE 

   PHOTO A‐4 NORTH FAÇADE 



 

Feature 2  East façade 

   

PHOTO A‐5     SHOWING PREVIOUS ALTERATION OF EAST END OF STRUCTURE 

 



 

DRAWING B‐5     SHOWING NEW ADDITION TO STRUCTURE 

 

Feature 3  Site Plan 

 

 



PHOTO A‐6  VIEW FROM PARKING LOT SHOWING GRADE CHANGE 

 

DRAWING B‐6  SHOWING RETAINING WALL AT SOUTH LOT LINE TO ACCOMMODATE GRADE CHANGE 

 

DRAWING B‐7  SHOWING SOUTH ELEVATION WITH RETAINING WALL  TO ACCOMMODATE GRADE 

CHANGE 

 

Feature 4  Shingle Roof 

SEE ATTACHED PRODUCT INFO  Enviroshake Brochure May 25, 2015 



 

Feature 5  Windows 

  PHOTO A‐7 CLOSEUP OF FRONT WINDOW (ALUMINUM) 

 

PHOTO A‐7 CLOSEUP OF SIDE WINDOWS  (WOOD, DOUBLE‐HUNG,  VARIOUS ORIENTATIONS) 

 

SEE ATTACHED PRODUCT INFO “BROSCO Window Literature” 

 



 

 

 

Feature 6   Front Door 

  PHOTO A‐9  CLOSEUP OF FRONT DOOR 



 

 DRAWING B‐10  SHOWING FRONT EXTERIOR SOLID WOOD DOOR 

 

Feature 7 Attic Vent 

   

PHOTO A‐10  CLOSE‐UP OF NON‐FUCTIONAL ATTIC VENT 



   

PHOTO B‐10  NEW WEST FAÇADE WITH REFURBISHED ATTIC  VENT 

 

 

Feature 8   Eave Overhang 

  PHOTO A‐12  GABLE‐END EAVE 

 



 

DRAWING B‐9 FRONT RENDERING SHOWING EAVE OVERHANG 

 

 

 

 

 

Feature 9   Front Porch Shelter 

   PHOTO A‐11  PORCH SHELTER OVERHANG 

 



 

  PHOTO B‐10  NEW WEST FAÇADE WITH DOUBLE STAIRS AND PORCH SHELTER OVERHANG 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

Additional Photos of Interior Space of Existing Structure: 

  PHOTO A‐13  EXISTING INTERIOR 



  PHOTO A‐14 EXISTING INTERIOR 

 



  PHOTO A‐14 EXISTING INTERIOR 

 

  

  

 



226 S L Street, restoration, addition and new accessory building 

 

A. What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work is to 

be done? The restoration on the existing structure will restore the building close to its original appearance to 

the extent that it is known. As there is no documentary evidence of the original appearance of the house 

itself, we are using the neighborhood architecture as a model for the design of the restoration as this house 

does not differ from the standard vernacular cottage of its immediate neighbors.  The current appearance of 

the house is marred by the installation of a mix of inappropriate aluminum and salvaged windows and doors. 

The new proposed windows are to be true-divided light, single-glazed, painted wood with casements on the 

front façade, and double hung on the side and rear.  Painted wood shutters are proposed for all of the 

fenestration on the east, west and south facades. The new proposed door is painted solid wood, with 6 

panels, replacing a modern one.  The current overhang on the front façade is proposed to be removed as it is 

a modern addition.  

The house was raised sometime in its past, and it has no front stoop. A new painted cmu and stucco stoop 

with a painted wood rail will be installed at the front of the house.  The new cmu addition in the rear will be 

set back by 6” from the side as to differentiate itself from the original cottage.  The addition will share the 

characteristics of the original cottage of a gable roof, double hung windows, similar massing, scale and color, 

but will be constructed of cmu and stucco to further differentiate if from the historic structure. A 

freestanding accessory single-story, single-car garage building will also be constructed of cmu and stucco. The 

new roofs on both the historic cottage, its new addition and the garage will be a composite “Eniviroshingle” 

which besides being an approved Miami Dade product often used in the Bahamas, resembles the original 

wood shake that would have originally been found on the historic cottages in Lake Worth.  

B. What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 

property in the historic district?  

The original site, on the east side of south L Street between 2nd and 3rd Avenues, measuring 25’ x 135, backs 

up to an alley.  It has an approximate 2’ downward slope to the east. At one point in time the property next 

door to the south became a flat parking lot, creating a situation whereby the soil on our property is eroding 

and falling into the lot next door because the parking lot was improperly installed without a retaining wall. 

This will be rectified with a new retaining wall, which will also be a pool wall for a proposed new pool.  To 

the north of the site, the new addition will be within the proper setback.   

 

C. To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 

design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?  

The existing cottage has already been tampered with by the prior owners to a great extent.  The arrangement 

of the windows are not in their original positions so we propose to install them consistent with the design and 

arrangement of other similar cottages in the district.   We propose to remove several feet of the rear façade 

which is not original to the cottage as there was an addition removed at some point in time.  The new 

addition will start at the rear of the cottage.  The appearance of the original historic character of the cottage 

will be restored, and new wood clapboard will be milled to match that of the existing façade material in size 

and thickness on all four sides.  The architectural style will remain that of a traditional vernacular wood 

cottage, typical of the district.  The scale, height, window and door arrangement, roof-line, will all be 

consistent with its near and immediate neighbors. 



 

D. Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable beneficial 

use of his property?  

The current cottage has been stripped of all materials inside and as such is not a viable residence. There is no 

kitchen, bathroom, or bedroom.  Measuring just 18” x 22”, it in itself is too small to be a worthwhile 

residence.  The addition, the restoration of the cottage itself, and the garage accessory building will allow the 

property to become a proper residence and will restore use of the property to its original use. Without 

approval the current property will be unoccupiable and as such will remain the eyesore that it is today. 

E. Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 

time?  

The applicant owner is a licensed architect and has had a 25 year career in residential design so it is reasonable 

to assume that this small property will be able to be brought to fruition within a reasonable time frame. 

 

 F. Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 

Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 

time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:  

(1) A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 

change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  

The property use will not change. 

 

(2) This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 

materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  

The historic character will be retained and preserved through the restoration of the cottage. Historic material 

will be retained wherever possible and no alterations will occur which will change the general shape of the 

structure. 

(3) Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that create 

a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural elements 

from other buildings, shall not be undertaken.   

There will be no added conjectural features other than the new windows and door which will be replacing 

modern ones which have been inappropriately installed by previous owners. As previously outlined, the new 

windows and doors will be of the same size, and type found in the immediate vicinity and will be in keeping 

with the historic character of the district. 

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 

own right shall be retained and preserved.  

The only changes which has happened on this small cottage are the installation of inappropriate windows and 

doors.  There is no historical significance attached to these modern interventions. 

 



(5) Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 

characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  

To the extent that it can be achieved, the historic wood clapboard will be preserved in situ, repaired and 

restored as possible. Decayed or rotted wood will have to be replaced. 

(6) Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. It is 
the intention that deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. 

7) In the event replacement is necessary, the new material will match the material being replaced in 

composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. Repair or replacement of missing 

architectural features will be based on accurate duplications of features, substantiated by historical, 

physical, or pictorial evidence when available, rather than on conjectural designs or because the different 

architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be available for relocation.  

 (8) Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, shall 

not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest 

means least likely.  

(9) Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 

resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures will be undertaken.  

(10) New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction will not destroy historic materials 

that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old by use of new 

construction materials, ie cmu and stucco and will be compatible with the massing, size, scale and 

architectural features intended to protect the historic integrity of the property and its environment.  

G. What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 

served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 

effect on those elements or features?  

The effects of the requested change on the building, most notably the addition of new windows and a new 

door will not effect the basis for designation as the door and windows were modern at the time of 

designation and not part of the notable features of the structure. Rather the cottage is part of an ensemble 

of similar small scaled, three bay wood vernacular residences which make up the district. The restoration 

of the façade will not effect the bay system or placement of the windows. 

H. Such other supplemental guidelines for restoration and rehabilitation of historic properties which the 

HRPB may from time to time adopt 

 



A variance is sought for new construction at 226 S L Street, Lake Worth. The house and garage as 
designed has a lot coverage of 1492.93 square feet, and the maximum allowable is 1,350Thus we are 
over the allowable lot coverage by 142.93 square feet. The proposed structures are in compliance with all 
other zoning requirements ie permeability ratio, floor area ratio, height, wall height, and setbacks. 
 
 
1. Special circumstances or conditions exist which are peculiar to the land or building for which the 
variance is sought and do not apply generally to nearby lands and buildings, and that this is not 
the result of action of the applicant; 
1) A special condition exists whereby the current structure on the site is in derelict shape, structurally 
unsound and consisting of decayed and rotted wood.  The previous owner allowed the building to get to 
this current state and as such, it is very onerous to restore and rehabilitate.  The applicant is willing to 
restore the structure, rather than apply for demolition but asks that they be allowed to build 150 more 
square feet than currently allowed by zoning.   This extra square footage will allow the applicant a simple 
one-car garage in the rear of the lot, accessible by the alley which meets all other requirements.  
 
2. The strict application of the provision of these LDRs would deprive the applicant of any 
reasonable use of the land or building for which the variance is sought; 
2) By applying the strict application of the zoning provisions, the applicant would be denied the ability to 
build a garage on the site, and therefore would be forced to seek a demolition permit for the current 
structure on the site in order to alter the design to comply with the lot coverage requirements. 
 
3. That the variance proposed is the minimum variance which makes possible the reasonable use 
of the land or building; and 
3) By designing a small one-car garage, the applicant is proposing the most minimal of requirements for a 
reasonable use of the land and building. 
 
4. That the granting of the variance will be in accordance with the spirit and purpose of this 
chapter, and will not be unduly injurious to contiguous property or the surrounding neighborhood 
nor otherwise detrimental to the public welfare. In deciding appeals from decisions of the 
development review official or in granting variances, the decisionmaking board is authorized 
and required to impose any reasonable conditions and safeguards it deems to be necessary or 
desirable, and violation of such conditions or safeguards when made a part of the terms under 
which a variance is granted, shall be deemed to be a violation of these LDRs. 
4) The granting of the variance of 142.93 square feet is a negligible amount, and will not have a 
deleterious effect on the contiguous properties.  The lot to the south is a parking lot for the adjacent 
nursing home, and the lot to the south has its own storage structure at the rear.  
 

 



226 SOUTH L 228 & 230 SOUTH L  (PARKING LOT;
-2'-0" BELOW GRADE AT L STREET)

232 SOUTH L224 SOUTH L222 SOUTH L

STREETSCAPE

EXISTING ELEVATIONS & PLAN

A-0013/16"=1'-0"

JLP

1
EXISTING FIRST FLOOR PLAN
3/16"= 1'-0"

2
EXISTING NORTH ELEVATION
3/16"= 1'-0"

3
EXISTING WEST ELEVATION
3/16"= 1'-0"

4
EXISTING SOUTH ELEVATION
3/16"= 1'-0"

5
EXISTING EAST ELEVATION
3/16"= 1'-0"

100
LIVING ROOM

 

3
'-
45

8"

+2'-9" LIVING RM

FINISHED FLOOR

12'-3"

1
8
'-
25

8"
3
'-
45

8
"

S
ID

E
S
E

T
B

A
C

K

FRONT SETBACK

20'-0"
STANDARD FRONT SETBACK

TEMPORARY
WOODEN SHED

101
REAR DECK

 

135'-0"

2
5
'-
0
"

+16'-8 1/4"T.O. PEAK

 

S
ID

E
S
E

T
B

A
C

K

EAVE OVERHANG

CONCRETE FOOTERS
AND COLUMNS

ROOF PEAK

6'-71
4"21'-2"

P
L

P
L

94'-113
4"

1
'-
81

4
"

1
0
'-
41

2
"

18'-25
8" 21'-2" 6'-71

4"

4
'-
1
15

8
"

CONC. RETAINING WALL (8" ABOVE GRADE) ON
NEIGHBORING PROPERTY AT PROPERTY LINE

Drawings, specifications and other documents prepared by

the architect are the instruments of the architect's service

and shall remain the property of the architect, whether or

not the project for which  they are intended is constructed

or not.  The architect's drawings, specifications and other

documents  will not be used on any other projects for

additions to this project and/or for completion of this

project by others, except by agreement in writing and with

appropriate compensation to the architect.

© 2014  fairfax & sammons architects pc

ADDITION
226 SOUTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA

29 APR. 2016



 

 

SURVEY1"=20'

 

Drawings, specifications and other documents prepared by

the architect are the instruments of the architect's service

and shall remain the property of the architect, whether or

not the project for which  they are intended is constructed

or not.  The architect's drawings, specifications and other

documents  will not be used on any other projects for

additions to this project and/or for completion of this

project by others, except by agreement in writing and with

appropriate compensation to the architect.

© 2014  fairfax & sammons architects pc

ADDITION
226 SOUTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA

29 APR. 2016



 

DEMO PLAN

A-0023/16"=1'-0"

JLP

1
DEMO FIRST FLOOR PLAN
3/16"= 1'-0"

2
DEMO NORTH ELEVATION
3/16"= 1'-0"

3
DEMO WEST ELEVATION
3/16"= 1'-0"

4
DEMO SOUTH ELEVATION
3/16"= 1'-0"

5
DEMO EAST ELEVATION
3/16"= 1'-0"

100
LIVING ROOM

 

+2'-9"LIVING RM

FINISHED FLOOR

TEMPORARY
WOODEN SHED

101
REAR DECK

 

135'-0"

2
5
'-
0
"

+16'-8 1/4"T.O. PEAK

 

REMOVE PORTION OF EAVE OVERHANG

STORAGE SHED TO BE
REMOVED (NOT PART OF
HISTORIC STRUCTURE)

9'-65
8"18'-25

8"

P
L

P
L

1
'-
81

4
"

1
0
'-
41

2
"

18'-25
8" 18'-25

8" 9'-65
8"

4
'-
1
15

8"

101
8"

4'-53
8"

REMOVE DECK, SEGMENT OF ROOF, AND
REAR OF STRUCTURE TO ALLOW FOR NEW
ADDITION

REMOVE ASPHALT
SHINGLES

REPAIR PORCH
SHELTER AS NEEDED:

MATCH EXISTING

REMOVE ALL
WINDOWS

REMOVE CONTEMPORARY
LOUVERED DOOR

REMOVE & REPLACE
SIDING WHERE

DAMAGED; MATCH
EXISTING

2'-113
4"

REMOVE, SAVE, AND
REINSTALL SIDING ONTO

NEW REAR WALL OF
STRUCTURE

REMOVE REAR DECK

REMOVE PORTION OF EAVES AND ALL
ASPHALT SHINGLES

REMOVE REAR PORTION
OF STRUCTURE AND ROOF

TO ALLOW FOR NEW
ADDITION

REMOVE REAR DOORS

REPAIR PORCH
SHELTER AS NEEDED:
MATCH EXISTING

EXISTING CONCRETE RETAINING WALL (8" ABOVE
GRADE) ON NEIGHBORING PROPERTY AT
PROPERTY LINE

Drawings, specifications and other documents prepared by

the architect are the instruments of the architect's service

and shall remain the property of the architect, whether or

not the project for which  they are intended is constructed

or not.  The architect's drawings, specifications and other

documents  will not be used on any other projects for

additions to this project and/or for completion of this

project by others, except by agreement in writing and with

appropriate compensation to the architect.

© 2014  fairfax & sammons architects pc

ADDITION
226 SOUTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA

29 APR. 2016



D
N

DN

D
N

DN

DN

DN

D
N

SITE PLAN

LANDSCAPE PLAN

A-1003/16"=1'-0"

JLP

1
SITE PLAN
3/16"= 1'-0"

3
'-
0
"

27'-111
8"

2
LANDSCAPE PLAN
3/16"= 1'-0"

P
L

P
L

S
ID

E
S
E

T
B

A
C

K

SITE DATA TABLE

LOT SIZE

EXISTING PROPOSED

3375 SQ FT

F.A.R. .11 .55

LOT COVERAGE 385.63 SQ FT 1494.81 SQ FT

IMPERMEABLE SURFACE 705.78 SQ FT (21%) 1847.94 SQ FT (55%)

SETBACKS; FRONT 12'-3" 12'-3"

MAX. ALLOWED

.55

1350 SQ FT

2025 SQ FT (60%)

20'-0" (MIN.)

HEIGHT FROM BASE PLANE

16'-8 14" 19'-5 12" 24'-0"

SIDE 3'-4 11
16" 3'-0" (MIN.)

REAR 94.98' MAIN BLDG

41'-5 7
16" ACCESSORY BLDG

36.82' MAIN BLDG
5' ACCESSORY BLDG

13.5' MAIN BLDG (MIN.)
5' ACCESSORY BLDG

36'-97
8"

ROOF

11'-10 14" 14'-0" 14'-0"WALL @ SIDE SETBACK

3'-4 11
16"

6' PTD. WOOD FENCE, TYP.

3' PTD. WOOD FENCE, TYP.

3' WOOD FENCE

6' PTD. WOOD FENCE

RAILROAD TIE RETAINING
WALL AS NEEDED
(RE: STRUCTURAL)

2X2 CONCRETE PAVERS
ARICA PALM (9)

ARICA PALM (4)

DATE PALM (6)

BOUGANVILLA (1)

BOUGANVILLA (1)

GROUNDCOVER:
JASMINE MINIMA

GROUNDCOVER:
JASMINE MINIMA

3' PTD. WOOD GATE

3' PTD. WOOD FENCE, TYP.

9
'-
0
"

S
ID

E
S
E

T
B

A
C

K

5'-0"

REAR
SETBACK

12'-3"
FRONT SETBACK (EXISTING)

PTD. WOOD TRELLIS

CMU RETAINING WALL
(RE: STRUCTURAL)

REPLACE EXISTING
WITH GREEN ASPHALT

SHINGLE ROOF

NEW GREEN
ASPHALT SHINGLE

ROOF

GREEN ASPHALT SHINGLE ROOF

2X2 CONCRETE PAVER, TYP.

6' PTD. WOOD GATE

3X3 POURED
CONCRETE PAD

POURED
CONCRETE PAD

10" RAILROAD TIE STAIRS

POURED CONCRETE
EQUIPMENT PAD

19'-10"

8'-9"

CONCRETE STAIR
AND STOOP

3X3 POURED
CONCRETE PAD

1
2
'-
81

8
"

3'-6"

6' PTD. WOOD GATE

6' PTD.
WOOD
GATE

P
L

P
L

18'-25
8"48'-97

8"19'-65
8"

1
8
'-
25

8
"

1
3
'-
0
"

1
'-
6
"

E
A

V
E

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

1
'-
6
"

E
A

V
E

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

1
'-
6
"

E
A

V
E

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

1
'-
6
"

E
A

V
E

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

1
'-
6
"

E
A

V
E

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

1
'-
6
"

E
A

V
E

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

1
1
'-
85

8
"

1
'-
6
"

E
A

V
E

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

WALL OF GARAGE BELOWWALL OF HOUSE BELOW

WALL OF HOUSE BELOW CMU RETAINING WALL
(RE: STRUCTURAL)

8"
GABLE END
OVERHANG

GUTTER ABOVE TRELLIS

CMU RETAINING WALL
(RE: STRUCTURAL)

SIDE DECK

4
'-
0
"

9'-0"

RAILROAD TIE RETAINING WALL AS NEEDED
(RE: STRUCTURAL)

POURED
CONCRETE PAD

10" RAILROAD TIE STAIRS

GROUNDCOVER:
JASMINE MINIMA

GROUNDCOVER:
SOD

APRON:
SAND

Drawings, specifications and other documents prepared by

the architect are the instruments of the architect's service

and shall remain the property of the architect, whether or

not the project for which  they are intended is constructed

or not.  The architect's drawings, specifications and other

documents  will not be used on any other projects for

additions to this project and/or for completion of this

project by others, except by agreement in writing and with

appropriate compensation to the architect.

© 2014  fairfax & sammons architects pc

ADDITION
226 SOUTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA

29 APR. 2016



D
N

D
N

D
N

D
N

DN

DN

DN

DN

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

SECOND FLOOR PLAN

A-1013/16"=1'-0"

JLP

1
PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN
3/16"= 1'-0"

1
0
'-
01

4
"

1
7
'-
35

8"

2
PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN
3/16"= 1'-0"

CONSTRUCTION KEY:

EXISTING WALL TO REMAIN

PROPOSED NEW WALL

100
LIVING ROOM

 

102
PWDR

RM

101
VESTIBULE

 

105
LOGGIA

 

104
POOL

 

108
BEDROOM

ONE

109
BATH

 
106

STAIRS
 

101A
DECK

 

107
CLOS.

 

110
ONE-CAR GARAGE

 

208
BEDROOM

TWO

209
BATH

 

206
STAIRS

 

207
CLOS.

 

111
EQUIPMENT PAD

 

A

A A

AA

A

B B

B

B

B B

B

B

B

C C C C
C C

C C

A-1

A-1

A-1

A-1

B-1

B-2

B-2

B-3

B-3

B-1

B-2

DOOR AND WINDOW SCHEDULE

A-1

TYPE COMMENTS

EXTERIOR

INTERIOR THUMB LOCKS

B-1 INTERIOR THUMB LOCKS

WINDOW TYPE

BI-FOLD CLOSET

A

FINISH

PAINTED

C

B

DOOR TYPE

B-2

B-3

DIMENSIONS

36X80

30X80

30X78

(2 PR)16X72

PAINTED

PAINTED

KEYED TO MATCH

CASEMENT/TRANSOM 30X61

DOUBLE HUNG 36X69

FIXED 30X32

PAINTEDLOUVERED

TEMPERED GLASS

PAINTED

PAINTED

PAINTED

SH 43" SH 43"

17'-47
8"

3
'-
31

4
"

18'-11
8"

SH

19" AFF

18" AFF

48" AFF

TEMPERED GLASS

6'-03
8"

6'-65
8"

6
'-
77

8"

3
'-
23

8
"

3
'-
03

4
"

4'-53
8"

5
'-
23

8"

16'-10"

3
'-
13

4
"

4'-81
2"

8'X10' OVERHEAD
GARAGE DOOR

A-1

A-1

8"x8" CONCRETE BLOCK COLUMNS
CENTERED ON POOL WALL (STUCCO FINISH)

CLG. BEAMS
OVERHEAD

51
2"31

2"

4'-61
8" 9'-13

4" 4'-57
8" 11'-25

8" 8'-43
4" 8'-43

4" 8'-43
4" 11'-11

2" 4'-97
8" 8'-51

4" 4'-97
8"

5
'-
57

8
"

5
'-
57

8
"

3
'-
1
01

4
"

1
8
'-
11

8
"

2'-1"

5
'-
23

8"

4'-87
8" 8'-61

4" 4'-97
8"

3
'-
31

4
"

5
'-
57

8"
5
'-
57

8
"

3
'-
1
01

4
"

1
8
'-
11

8
"

4'-97
8"8'-51

4"4'-97
8"

31
2
"

1
1
'-
4
"

16'-97
8"

75
8"

19'-81
2"

1
2
'-
1
01

2
"

1
0
'-
71

4
"

2
'-
31

4
"

6
'-
51

4
"

6
'-
51

4
"

1
8
'-
25

8"

3
'-
95

8
"

3
'-
95

8"
5
'-
35

8
"

5
'-
35

8
"

75
8"

75
8
"

7'-53
4"

1
'-
0
"

5
'-
0
"

1
'-
0
"

75
8
"

6
'-
1
11

2
"

3'-111
2"

3'-11
2"

31
2"

5'-75
8"

31
2"

75
8
"

31
2
"

51
2
"

51
2
"

4'-113
4" 8'-31

4" 4'-107
8"

18'-17
8"

(CMU) RETAINING WALL
RE: STRUCTURAL

43'-0"

4'-97
8"8'-51

4"4'-97
8"

18'-11
8"

(CMU) RETAINING WALL
RE: STRUCTURAL

7'-53
4"

31
2
"

1
1
'-
4
"

3'-11
2"

31
2"

5'-75
8"

31
2"

(RAILROAD TIE) RETAINING WALL AS NEEDED
RE: STRUCTURAL

CMU EXTERIOR WALL (STUCCO)
EXST. 2X4 EXTERIOR WALL (SIDING)

NEW 2X4 EXTERIOR WALL
TO MATCH EXST. (SIDING)

CMU EXTERIOR
WALL (STUCCO)

CMU EXTERIOR WALL
(STUCCO FINISH)

CMU EXTERIOR WALL
(STUCCO FINISH)

2X4 INT.
WALL

2X4 INT.  WALL

2X4 INT.
WALL

2X6 EXT.  WALL

2X4 INT.  WALL

POOL WALL

EQEQEQEQEQ6'-57
8" O.C.

CL CMU EXTERIOR WALL
(STUCCO)

2X4 EXTERIOR
WALL (SIDING)

CMU EXTERIOR WALL
(STUCCO)

B-2

3
'-
61

4
"

3
'-
03

4
"

31
2
"

B-2

9
'-
75

8"

207
CLOS.

 

3
'-
3
"

1
301

1
301

2
3
0
1

2
3
0
1

3'-81
4"

B-4

BI-FOLD CLOSETB-4 (1 PR)15X60 PAINTEDLOUVERED

NOTE:  ALL WINDOWS WILL HAVE ARMOR SCREEN FABRIC SHUTTERS

3
3
0
1

3
3
0
1

1
301

1
301

2
3
0
1

2
3
0
1

3
3
0
1

3
3
0
1

NEW 2X4 BALLOON-FRAME WALL TO
BACK ORIGINAL FRONT WALL

Drawings, specifications and other documents prepared by

the architect are the instruments of the architect's service

and shall remain the property of the architect, whether or

not the project for which  they are intended is constructed

or not.  The architect's drawings, specifications and other

documents  will not be used on any other projects for

additions to this project and/or for completion of this

project by others, except by agreement in writing and with

appropriate compensation to the architect.

© 2014  fairfax & sammons architects pc

ADDITION
226 SOUTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA

29 APR. 2016



EXISTING

ELEVATIONS

 

A-1023/16"=1'-0"

JLP

4
EAST ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0"

3
NORTH ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0"

2
SOUTH ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0"

1
WEST ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0"

+2'-9"FINISHED FLOOR

EXST BLDG

+16'-8 1/4"T.O. PEAK

 FRONT (EXST) BLDG

-2'-1 3/4"F.F.

1ST FLOOR

+19'-5 1/2"T.O.PEAK

 

-2'-7 3/4" 

 GRADE AT REAR OF LOT

+5'-7 7/8"T.O.P.

1ST FLOOR

+6'-8 7/8"F.F.

2ND FLOOR

+14-9 3/8"T.O. PLATE

2ND FLOOR

+0'-0"EXST. GRADE

FRONT OF LOT

+19' 5 1/2"T.O.PEAK

 REAR BLDG

STUCCO

STUCCO

PTD. WOOD LATTICE

REPAIR & REPLACE EXST. WOOD
SIDING AS NEEDED

PTD. WOOD HANDRAIL

CONCRETE LANDING
AND STAIRS

GREEN ASPHALT
SHINGLE ROOF

GREEN ASPHALT SHINGLE
ROOF

BROSCO STATIONARY
DIVIDED LIGHT
WINDOW UNIT, TYP.

BROSCO DOUBLE-HUNG
DIVIDED LIGHT WINDOW

UNIT, TYP.

STUCCO

POOL WALL

APPROX. LINE OF GRADE: TO BE
LEVEL WITH PROPERTY TO SOUTH

(-2'-0"; RE: SURVEY)

RETAINING WALL
(RE: STRUCTURAL)

PTD. 6-PANEL EXTERIOR
DOOR, JELD-WEN, TYP.

4R @ 7-3/8"
3T @ 10"

GREEN ASPHALT
SHINGLE ROOF

12

5 1/2

12

BROSCO STATIONARY
DIVIDED LIGHT
WINDOW UNIT, TYP.

NEW ATTIC VENT

EXISTING ATTIC VENT
(REPAIR: MATCH EXST.)

PTD. WOOD TRELLIS OVER POOL

PTD. 6-PANEL EXTERIOR
DOOR, JELD-WEN
GLADIATOR, TYP.

PTD. 6-PANEL EXTERIOR
DOOR, JELD-WEN, TYP.

PTD. 6-PANEL EXTERIOR
DOOR, JELD-WEN, TYP.

+11'-10 1/4"T.O. PLATE

EXST BLDG

BROSCO DOUBLE-HUNG 6
6

DIVIDED LIGHT WINDOW UNIT

OPERABLE STORM SHUTTERS, TYP.

ATTIC VENT

PTD. WOOD CORNERBOARDS
TO MATCH EXT.

ADDITION

EXISTINGADDITION

8"x8" CONCRETE
BLOCK COLUMNS

CENTERED ON
POOL WALL

(STUCCO FINISH)

PTD. WOOD LATTICE

REPAIR & REPLACE EXST. WOOD
SIDING AS NEEDED

+15'-2 1/8"T.O.P.

LOGGIA

+16'-8 1/4" T.O.P.

EXST BLDG

+5'-9" T.O. RAILING

NEW PORCH

+2'-9" F.F.

EXST BLDG
+2'-5" T.O. STOOP

NEW PORCH

+0'-0" EXST GRADE

FRONT OF LOT

BROSCO DOUBLE-HUNG 6
6

DIVIDED LIGHT WINDOW UNIT

STUCCO

5 1/2

12

5 1/2

12

5 1/2

12

5 1/2

12

5 1/2

Drawings, specifications and other documents prepared by

the architect are the instruments of the architect's service

and shall remain the property of the architect, whether or

not the project for which  they are intended is constructed

or not.  The architect's drawings, specifications and other

documents  will not be used on any other projects for

additions to this project and/or for completion of this

project by others, except by agreement in writing and with

appropriate compensation to the architect.

© 2014  fairfax & sammons architects pc

ADDITION
226 SOUTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA

29 APR. 2016



SECTIONS

 

A-3013/16"=1'-0"

JLP

2
NORTH-SOUTH SECTION
3/16"= 1'-0"

1
EAST-WEST SECTION
3/16"= 1'-0"

TRELLIS

TOP OF
POOL WALL

FLOOR OF LOGGIA

CRAWLSPACE

CONC. BLOCK
COLUMNS

LINE OF FOOTER

THICKENED SLAB
FOUNDATION

+2'-9"F.F.

1ST FLOOR

+5'-9"
T.O. RAILING

+2'-5"
T.O. STOOP

+16'-8 1/4"T.O.PEAK

EXST. BLDG

1
'-
6
"

-2'-1 3/4"      F.F.

           1ST FLOOR

+19' 5 1/2" T.O. PEAK

     2ND FLOOR

+5'-7 7/8" T.O. PLATE

              1ST FLOOR

+6'-8 7/8"              F.F.

                 2ND FLOOR

CONCRETE BLOCK
COLUMNS (STUCCO FINISH)

POOL WALL

+15'-2 1/8"T.O. PEAK

LOGGIA

0'-0"
EXST. GRADE 

+2'-9"       F.F.

                 LOGGIA

NEIGHBORING LOT TO
SOUTH  (RE: SURVEY)

+19'-5 1/2"T.O. PEAK

REAR BLDG

+12'-2 3/4"T.O. PLATE

LOGGIA SOUTH WALL

+15'-4"T.O. PEAK

LOGGIA

+4'-5 1/4" 

TOP OF COPING

+0'-5 1/4" 

FLOOR OF POOL

-2'-0" 

GRADE TO MATCH

+11'-9 3/4" T.O. PLATE

LOGGIA NORTH WALL

-2'-0"  

GRADE TO MATCH

NEIGHBORING LOT TO
SOUTH  (RE: SURVEY)

+14'-9 3/8" T.O.P.

          2ND FLOOR

+5'-7 7/8" T.O. PLATE

            1ST FLOOR

+6'-8 7/8"            F.F.

               2ND FLOOR

+19' 5 1/2" T.O. PEAK

2ND FLOOR

NEIGHBORING LOT TO
NORTH (RE: SURVEY)

-0'-5 1/2" 

GRADE TO MATCH

3
NORTH-SOUTH SECTION
3/16"= 1'-0"

(RE: SURVEY)

BALLOON FRAME
FRONT WALL

W/FIRE BLOCKING
TO MEET CODE

ATTIC VENT

COLLAR TIE

Drawings, specifications and other documents prepared by

the architect are the instruments of the architect's service

and shall remain the property of the architect, whether or

not the project for which  they are intended is constructed

or not.  The architect's drawings, specifications and other

documents  will not be used on any other projects for

additions to this project and/or for completion of this

project by others, except by agreement in writing and with

appropriate compensation to the architect.

© 2014  fairfax & sammons architects pc

ADDITION
226 SOUTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA

29 APR. 2016



Crafting Products that Fit
Northeast Lifestyles Since 1890

Low "E" Insulating Glass

Authentic Divided Light

Modular Replacement Sash



Turn Your Dreams into Reality with
BROSCO Window Units.

Windows that Fit Northeast Lifestyles.
The Northeast’s unique architectural styles and harsh climate demand windows that are 

quality built, energy effi cient and fi t the charm and character of the traditional home.

From colonials and capes to a traditional saltbox home design, BROSCO Window Units

offer classic styling that will satisfy the most discriminating tastes.

Preferred by Architects and Builders.
Whether it’s new construction or a renovation project, BROSCO Window Units are preferred by 

architects and builders for maximum design fl exibility and proven performance.  From architecturally correct, 

putty glazed Authentic Divided Light windows that replicate historic building aesthetics to Low “E” 

Insulating Glass units with matching transoms, BROSCO has what you need.  And BROSCO Window Units 

feature primed composite exterior frames that can be fi nished to create endless color combinations.  Available as

traditional wood sash or new composite sash which increases durability while reducing future maintenance.

Building Our Futures Together
2



 

Create Dramatic Living Spaces with 
BROSCO Window Units.
BROSCO Window Units are designed to fi t the needs of any new construction 
or renovation project.  Choose our energy effi cient Low “E” Insulating Glass 
to reduce winter heat loss and summer heat gain. These units are available as 
standard 1/1 lights with optional interior wood grilles, contoured Grilles Between 
the Glass, or as Simulated Divided Lights featuring interior and exterior 7/8" 
wide bars with a spacer bar between the glass panes.  Low “E” Insulating Glass 
is available in our treated and primed exterior (clear pine interior) wood sash, and 
also in a durable low-maintenance totally primed composite sash.

When traditional design elements are more the concern than energy effi ciencies, 
BROSCO offers authentic single pane glass, putty-glazed windows.  Original 
New England design narrow muntin bars and hand puttied glass panes in a variety 
of confi gurations are the hallmarks of these traditionally styled SSB windows.  
When energy concerns factor into the specifi cation, the performance is enhanced 
with the addition of a Low-E panel to the sash.

Windows with a Written Warranty
We back every BROSCO Window with our exclusive BROSCO Window 
Written Warranty.  This limited warranty includes ten years coverage against 
manufacturing defects on all glass and one year protection on all other window 
component parts.  A complete copy of the BROSCO Window Warranty is 
available from your local retailer.

3



LOW “E” INSULATING GLASS

1/1 LIGHT

 Rough Opening 1'-10" 2'-0" 2'-2" 2'-3" 2'-6" 2'-9" 2'-10" 3'-0" 3'-2" 3'-6"
      ≠ Sash Opening 1'-7 5/8" 1'-9 5/8" 1'-11 5/8" 2'-0 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-6 5/8" 2'-7 5/8" 2'-9 5/8" 2'-11 5/8" 3'-3 5/8"
   ★Glass 
      Size

16" 18" 20" 21" 24" 27" 28" 30" 32" 36"

2'-9" 2'-5" 12" 16" x 12" 18" x 12" 20" x 12" 21" x 12" 24" x 12" 27" x 12" 28" x 12" 30" x 12" 32" x 12" 36" x 12"

3'-1" 2'-9" 14" 16" x 14" 18" x 14" 20" x 14" 21" x 14" 24" x 14" 27" x 14" 28" x 14" 30" x 14" 32" x 14" 36" x 14"

3'-5" 3'-1" 16" 16" x 16" 18" x 16" 20" x 16" 21" x 16" 24" x 16" 27" x 16" 28" x 16" 30" x 16" 32" x 16" 36" x 16"

3'-9" 3'-5" 18" 16" x 18" 18" x 18" 20" x 18" 21" x 18" 24" x 18" 27" x 18" 28" x 18" 30" x 18" 32" x 18" 36" x 18"

4'-1" 3'-9" 20" 16" x 20" 18" x 20" 20" x 20" 21" x 20" 24" x 20" 27" x 20" 28" x 20" 30" x 20" 32" x 20" 36" x 20"

4'-5" 4'-1" 22" 16" x 22" 18" x 22" 20" x 22" 21" x 22" 24" x 22" 27" x 22" 28" x 22" 30" x 22" 32" x 22" 36" x 22"

4'-9" 4'-5" 24" 16" x 24" 18" x 24" 20" x 24" 21" x 24" 24" x 24" 27" x 24" 28" x 24" 30" x 24" 32" x 24" 36" x 24"

5'-1" 4'-9" 26" 16" x 26" 18" x 26" 20" x 26" 21" x 26" 24" x 26" 27" x 26" 28" x 26" 30" x 26" 32" x 26" 36" x 26"

5'-3" 4'-11" 27" 16" x 27" 18" x 27" 20" x 27" 21" x 27" 24" x 27" 27" x 27" 28" x 27" 30" x 27" 32" x 27" 36" x 27"

5'-5" 5'-1" 28" 16" x 28" 18" x 28" 20" x 28" 21" x 28" 24" x 28" 27" x 28" 28" x 28" 30" x 28" 32" x 28" 36" x 28"

5'-9" 5'-5" 30" 16" x 30" 18" x 30" 20" x 30" 21" x 30" 24" x 30" 27" x 30" 28" x 30" 30" x 30" 32" x 30" 36" x 30"

6'-1" 5'-9" 32" 16" x 32" 18" x 32" 20" x 32" 21" x 32" 24" x 32" 27" x 32" 28" x 32" 30" x 32" 32" x 32" 36" x 32"

Double-Hung 
Window Units

• 1/1 LIGHT
• COTTAGE STYLE
• STATIONARY PICTURE WINDOWS
• 1 LIGHT TRANSOMS

Windows shown with optional interior 
wood grilles, grille between the glass or 
simulated divided light patterns.

Window Specifi cations
FRAME – Standard Jamb Depth of 4-9/16" 
features Laminated-Veneered-Lumber 
sides and clear pine head jamb. All exposed 
exterior frame parts are manufactured from 
highly durable, low-maintenance Composite 
Materials; including the Blind Stop, Sill and 
standard Brickmould Casing. The clear pine 
inside sill stop is dadoed to receive a stool cap 
or "picture-framed" casing. A weatherstripped 
head parting stop is color matched to the 
vinyl jamb liner* with integral Tilt 'n Clean, 
Block & Tackle balances.

SILL – Composite two piece Sill & Sill 
Connector system provides a continuous 
sill nose across Combined Windows as well 
as allowing for the addition of the optional 
Historic Sill Nosing.

SASH – All sash are 1-3/8" thick and 
feature a 3/4" Low-E Insulating Glass with 
Argon gas for increased performance.  Sash 
are weatherstripped at top, bottom and the 
interlocking check rails.  Treated Wood 
Sash with clear pine interiors and primed 
exteriors, as well as durable low maintenance 
Composite Sash are standard offerings.  
Design requirements are addressed with the 
offering of interior wood grilles, contoured 
Grilles Between the Glass or Simulated 
Divided Lights with internal spacer bars. 
Windows are secured by a stylish white or 
brass cam sash lock.

*Specify White or Beige

COTTAGE STYLE (Unevenly Divided)

 Rough Opening 2'-3" 2'-3" 2'-6" 2'-6" 2'-6" 2'-10"
        ≠ Sash Opening 2'-0 5/8" 2'-0 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-7 5/8"
                         ★Glass Size 21" 21" 24" 24" 24" 28"

Light Size ➤ 7" x 8" 7" x 8" 6" x 8" 8" x 10" 8" x 10" 7" x 9"

6/9 Light 9/6 Light 8/12 Light 6/9 Light 9/6 Light 8/12 Light

4'-1" 3'-9" 16"/24" — — 24" x 16"/24" — — —

4'-6" 4'-2" 18"/27", 27"/18" 21" x 18"/27" 21" x 27"/18" — — — 28" x 18"/27"

4'-11" 4'-7" 20"/30", 30"/20" — — — 24" x 20"/30" 24" x 30"/20" —

STATIONARY PICTURE WINDOWS

 Rough Opening 3'-6" 3'-10 3/8" 4'-6 3/8" 5'-2 3/8" 5'-10 3/8"
       ≠ Sash Opening 3'-3 5/8" 3'-8" 4'-4 " 5'-0" 5'-8"

 ★Glass Size 36" 40 3/8" 48 3/8" 56 3/8" 64 3/8"

16 Light 16 Light 20 Light 24 Light 32 Light

3'-5" 3'-1" 32 3/4" 3'-35/8" x 3'-1" 3'-8" x 3'-1" 4'-4" x 3'-1" 5'-0" x 3'-1" 5'-8" x 3'-1"

4'-1" 3'-9" 40 3/4" 3'-35/8" x 3'-9" 3'-8" x 3'-9" 4'-4" x 3'-9" 5'-0" x 3'-9" 5'-8" x 3'-9"

4'-5" 4'-1" 44 3/4" 3'-35/8" x 4'-1" 3'-8" x 4'-1" 4'-4" x 4'-1" 5'-0" x 4'-1" 5'-8" x 4'-1"

4'-9" 4'-5" 48 3/4" 3'-35/8" x 4'-5" 3'-8" x 4'-5" 4'-4" x 4'-5" 5'-0" x 4'-5" 5'-8" x 4'-5"

5'-1" 4'-9" 52 3/4" 3'-35/8" x 4'-9" 3'-8" x 4'-9" 4'-4" x 4'-9" 5'-0" x 4'-9" 5'-8" x 4'-9"

★  Glass sizes are approximate.

≠  Actual sash size = sash opening width minus 1 9/16", height 3/16".

Windows shown with optional Wood Grille, GBG or SDL patterns.

Contact your BROSCO dealer for custom sizes.

4



COMBINED WINDOWS

★  Glass sizes are approximate.

†  Combined Transom/Double-Hung rough opening height formula:   Transom glass height plus Double-Hung glass height plus 131/4"

Windows shown with optional Wood Grille, GBG or SDL patterns.

1 LIGHT RECTANGULAR TRANSOMS
 Transom Rough Opening 2'-2" 2'-6" 2'-9" 2'-10" 3'-0"

 ★Glass Size 20" 24" 27" 28" 30"

Varies † 20" x 20" 24" x 20" 27" x 20" 28" x 20" 30" x 20"

Mullions ~ Triples ~ Quads ~ Quints

Contact your BROSCO dealer for custom sizes.

5

Whether joining like size units or assembling a Picture Window with Flankers, BROSCO assembles units in 
multiple confi gurations based on your design requirements. Units can be joined in a jamb to jamb assembly, or 
spaced to allow for a stud pocket.  In either case, the composite sill nosing is the unifying frame member that ties 
the unit together giving the fi nished appearance of one single large combined unit.

SINGLE FIXED 
UNITS
Any size lower sash can be installed 
in a stationary frame, with all of 
the features of a standard Picture 
Window, with sill and casing details 
to match, in essence, creating a 
"mini-picture window" to fi ll your 
design needs.

For Rough Openings & Unit 
Dimensions, refer to page 11.

Single 
Opening

Mullion

 Narrow w/Single Stud Pocket

Triple

 Narrow w/Single Stud Pocket

Rough O
pen

ing

Unit D
im

en
sio

n

Bric
km

ould C
as

ing

Flat
 C

as
ing (3

3 /4")

Cap
e C

od C
as

ing

glass + 6"
glass + 47/8"
glass + 75/8"
glass + 11"
glass + 123/4"

2 x glass + 107/8" 2 x glass + 127/8"
2 x glass + 93/4" 2 x glass + 113/4"
2 x glass + 121/2" 2 x glass + 141/2"
2 x glass + 157/8" 2 x glass + 177/8"
2 x glass + 175/8" 2 x glass + 195/8"

gl
as

s 
+ 

9"
gl

as
s 

+ 
87 /8

"
gl

as
s 

+ 
95 /8

"
gl

as
s 

+ 
11

3 /8
"

gl
as

s 
+ 

12
1 /8

"

3 x glass + 153/4" 3 x glass + 193/4"
3 x glass + 145/8" 3 x glass + 185/8"
3 x glass + 173/8" 3 x glass + 213/8"
3 x glass + 203/4" 3 x glass + 243/4"
3 x glass + 221/2" 3 x glass + 261/2"

WIDTH

H
E

IG
H

T

WIDTH

H
E

IG
H

T

WIDTH

H
E

IG
H

T

To Calculate Rough Opening
To arrive at HEIGHT of opening add 9" to overall glass height.
To arrive at WIDTH of opening, fi gure as follows (overall glass plus):

Single 6"
Mullion - Narrow 2 x glass + 10-7/8"
Mullion - w/Single Stud Pocket 2 x glass + 12-7/8"
Triple - Narrow 3 x glass + 15-3/4"
Triple - w/Single Stud Pocket 3 x glass + 19-3/4"



AUTHENTIC DIVIDED LIGHT

Double-Hung 
Window Units

• 2/1 LIGHT
• 2/2 LIGHT HORIZONTAL
• 2/2 LIGHT VERTICAL
• 3/3 LIGHT
• 4/4 LIGHT
• 6/1 LIGHT
• 6/6 LIGHT
• 8/8 LIGHT
• 9/9 LIGHT
• 12/12 LIGHT
• COTTAGE STYLE

Window Specifi cations
FRAME – Standard Jamb Depth of 4-9/16" 
features Laminated-Veneered-Lumber sides 
and clear pine head jamb.  All exposed 
exterior frame parts are manufactured from 
highly durable, low-maintenance Composite 
Materials; including the Blind Stop, Sill 
and standard Brickmould Casing.  The clear 
pine inside sill stop is dadoed to receive 
a stool cap or "picture-framed" casing.  A 
weatherstripped head parting stop is color 
matched to the vinyl jamb liner* with integral 
Tilt 'n Clean, Block & Tackle balances.

SILL – Composite two piece Sill & Sill 
Connector system provides a continuous 
sill nose across Combined Windows as well 
as allowing for the addition of the optional 
Historic Sill Nosing.

SASH – All sash are 1-3/8" thick glazed with 
single pane glass, hand puttied into a primed 
exterior, clear pine interior treated wood sash.  
All divided light sash feature a traditional 
narrow muntin bar measuring 5/8" wide.  
Enhanced thermal performance is achieved 
with the addition of a Low-E Energy panel 
available for all layouts except 1/1.

*Specify White or Beige

 Rough Opening 2'-0" 2'-3" 2'-6" 2'-9" 3'-0" 3'-6"
        ≠ Sash Opening 1'-9 5/8" 2'-0 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-6 5/8" 2'-9 5/8" 3'-3 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 6" 7" 8" 9" 10" 12"

3'-1" 2'-9" 7" — — 8" x 7" 9" x 7" — —

3'-5" 3'-1" 8" 6" x 8" — 8" x 8" 9" x 8" 10" x 8" —

3'-9" 3'-5" 9" — 7" x 9" 8" x 9" 9" x 9" 10" x 9" —

4'-1" 3'-9" 10" — — 8" x 10" 9" x 10" 10" x 10" —

4'-5" 4'-1" 11" — — 8" x 11" 9" x 11" 10" x 11" —

4'-9" 4'-5" 12" — — 8" x 12" 9" x 12" 10" x 12" —

5'-1" 4'-9" 13" — — 8" x 13" 9" x 13" 10" x 13" —

5'-5" 5'-1" 14" — — — 9" x 14" 10" x 14" —

5'-9" 5'-5" 15" — — — 9" x 15" 10" x 15" 12" x 15"

6'-1" 5'-9" 16" — — — — 10" x 16" —

6/6 LIGHT

2/2 LIGHT VERTICAL

 Rough Opening 2'-3" 2'-6" 2'-9" 2'-10" 3'-0" 3'-2"
        ≠ Sash Opening 2'-0 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-6 5/8" 2'-7 5/8" 2'-9 5/8" 2'-11 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 101/2" 12" 131/2" 14" 15" 16"

3'-9" 3'-5" 18" 101/2" x 18" — — — — —

4'-1" 3'-9" 20" — 12" x 20" 131/2" x 20" — — —

4'-5" 4'-1" 22" — — 131/2" x 22" — — —

4'-6" 4'-2" 221/2" 101/2" x 221/2" — — — — —

4'-9" 4'-5" 24" — 12" x 24" 131/2" x 24" 14" x 24" 15" x 24" —

4'-11" 4'-7" 25" — 12" x 25" — — — —

5'-1" 4'-9" 26" — — 131/2" x 26" 14" x 26" 15" x 26" —

5'-5" 5'-1" 28" — — 131/2" x 28" 14" x 28" 15" x 28" —

5'-9" 5'-5" 30" — — 131/2" x 30" 14" x 30" 15" x 30" 16" x 30"

6'-1" 5'-9" 32" — — — — 15" x 32" 16" x 32"

3/3 LIGHT

 Rough Opening 2'-9"
       ≠ Sash Opening 2'-6 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 9"

2'-9" 2'-5" 12" 9" x 12"

Windows shown with optional Wood Grille.

 Rough Opening 1'-10" 2'-6" 2'-9"
        ≠ Sash Opening 1'-7 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-6 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 16" 24" 27"

3'-5" 3'-1" 16" 16" x 16" 24" x 16" —

4'-1" 3'-9" 20" — 24" x 20" —

4'-9" 4'-5" 24" — 24" x 24" 27" x 24"

1/1 LIGHT

SINGLE THICK GLASS ONLY

Contact your BROSCO dealer for custom sizes.

6

★  Glass sizes are approximate.

≠  Actual sash size = sash opening width minus 1 9/16", height 3/16".

Traditional Putty Glazed Single Pane Glass



2/1 LIGHT
 Rough Opening 2'-6" 2'-9" 2'-10" 3'-0"
        ≠ Sash Opening 2'-3 5/8" 2'-6 5/8" 2'-7 5/8" 2'-9 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 24" 27" 28" 30"

4'-9" 4'-5" 24" 24" x 24" 27" x 24" — —

5'-1" 4'-9" 26" — 27" x 26" — —

5'-5" 5'-1" 28" — 27" x 28" 28" x 28" 30" x 28"

5'-9" 5'-5" 30" — — — 30" x 30"

2/2 LIGHT HORIZONTAL

 Rough Opening 2'-6" 2'-9"
        ≠ Sash Opening 2'-3 5/8" 2'-6 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 24" 27"

3'-5" 3'-1" 8" 24" x 8" 27" x 8"

4'-1" 3'-9" 10" 24" x 10" 27" x 10"

8/8 LIGHT

 Rough Opening 2'-6" 2'-10" 3'-2" 3'-6"
        ≠ Sash Opening 2'-3 5/8" 2'-7 5/8" 2'-11 5/8" 3'-3 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 6" 7" 8" 9"

3'-5" 3'-1" 8" 6" x 8" — 8" x 8" —

3'-9" 3'-5" 9" — 7" x 9" — —

4'-1" 3'-9" 10" — — 8" x 10" —

4'-5" 4'-1" 11" — — 8" x 11" 9" x 11"

4'-9" 4'-5" 12" — — 8" x 12" 9" x 12"

4/4 LIGHT

 Rough Opening 1'-10"
       ≠ Sash Opening 1'-7 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 8"

3'-5" 3'-1" 8" 8" x 8"

4'-1" 3'-9" 10" 8" x 10"

4'-5" 4'-1" 11" 8" x 11"

4'-9" 4'-5" 12" 8" x 12"

6/1 LIGHT

 Rough Opening 2'-9"
        ≠ Sash Opening 2'-6 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 27"

4'-1" 3'-9" 20" 27" x 20"

4'-5" 4'-1" 22" 27" x 22"

4'-9" 4'-5" 24" 27" x 24"

5'-1" 4'-9" 26" 27" x 26"

5'-5" 5'-1 28" 27" x 28"

9/9 LIGHT

 Rough Opening 2'-3"
        ≠ Sash Opening 2'-0 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 7"

5'-3" 4'-11" 9" 7" x 9"

12/12 LIGHT

 Rough Opening 2'-6" 2'-10" 3'-2"
        ≠ Sash Opening 2'-3 5/8" 2'-7 5/8" 2'-11 5/8"

 ★Glass Size 6" 7" 8"

4'-9" 4'-5" 8" 6" x 8" — —

5'-3" 4'-11" 9" — 7" x 9" —

5'-9" 5'-5" 10" — 8" x 10"

 Rough Opening 2'-3" 2'-3" 2'-6" 2'-6" 2'-6" 2'-10" 2'-10"
          ≠ Sash Opening 2'-0 5/8" 2'-0 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-3 5/8" 2'-7 5/8" 2'-7 5/8"
               ★Glass Size 7" 7" 8" 8" 6" 7" 7"

6/9 Light 9/6 Light 6/9 Light 9/6 Light 8/12 Light 8/12 Light 12/8 Light

4'-1" 3'-9" 8" — — — — 6" x 8" — —

4'-6" 4'-2" 9" 7" x 9" 7" x 9" — — — 7" x 9" 7" x 9"

4'-11" 4'-7" 10" — — 8" x 10" 8" x 10" — — —

COTTAGE STYLE (Unevenly Divided)

Low "E" Energy Panel 
Tilt 'n Clean Unit –
BROSCO's Low "E" 
Energy Panel is available 
on most single thick glass 
(SSB) units to provide 
better energy effi ciency. 

Low "E"
Energy
Panel

Contact your BROSCO dealer for custom sizes.

7

★  Glass sizes are approximate.

≠  Actual sash size = sash opening width minus 1 9/16", height 3/16".



AUTHENTIC DIVIDED LIGHT

Double-Hung 
Window Units

• STATIONARY PICTURE
 WINDOWS
• 3 LIGHT TRANSOM
• 4 LIGHT TRANSOM
• 6 LIGHT TRANSOM

Window Specifi cations
FRAME – Standard Jamb Depth of 4-9/16" 
features Laminated-Veneered-Lumber sides 
and clear pine head jamb.  All exposed 
exterior frame parts are manufactured from 
highly durable, low-maintenance Composite 
Materials; including the Blind Stop, Sill 
and standard Brickmould Casing.  The clear 
pine inside sill stop is dadoed to receive 
a stool cap or "picture-framed" casing.  A 
weatherstripped head parting stop is color 
matched to the vinyl jamb liner* with integral 
Tilt 'n Clean, Block & Tackle balances.

SILL – Composite two piece Sill & Sill 
Connector system provides a continuous 
sill nose across Combined Windows as well 
as allowing for the addition of the optional 
Historic Sill Nosing.

SASH – All sash are 1-3/8" thick glazed with 
single pane glass, hand puttied into a primed 
exterior, clear pine interior treated wood sash.  
All divided light sash feature a traditional 
narrow muntin bar measuring 5/8" wide.  
Enhanced thermal performance is achieved 
with the addition of a Low-E Energy panel 
available for all layouts except 1/1.

*Specify White or Beige

†  Combined Transom/Double-Hung rough opening height formula:  
     Overall transom glass height plus overall Double-Hung glass height plus 131/4".

 Rough Opening 3'-6" 3'-10 3/8" 4'-6 3/8" 5'-2 3/8" 5'-10 3/8"
       Sash Opening 3'-3 5/8" 3'-8" 4'-4 " 5'-0" 5'-8"
               ★Glass Size 36" 40 3/8" 48 3/8" 56 3/8" 63 3/8"

Light Size 9" 10" 9 5/8" 9 3/8" 8"

16 Light 16 Light 20 Light 24 Light 32 Light

3'-5" 3'-1" 32 3/4" 8" — 3'-8" x 3'-1" 4'-4" x 3'-1" — —

4'-1" 3'-9" 40 3/4" 10" — 3'-8" x 3'-9" 4'-4" x 3'-9" 5'-0" x 3'-9" 5'-8" x 3'-9"

4'-5" 4'-1" 44 3/4" 11" 3'-35/8" x 4'-1" 3'-8" x 4'-1" 4'-4" x 4'-1" 5'-0" x 4'-1" 5'-8" x 4'-1"

4'-9" 4'-5" 48 3/4" 12" 3'-35/8" x 4'-5" 3'-8" x 4'-5" 4'-4" x 4'-5" 5'-0" x 4'-5" 5'-8" x 4'-5"

6'-1" 4'-9" 52 3/4" 13" — 3'-8" x 4'-9" 4'-4" x 4'-9" 5'-0" x 4'-9" 5'-8" x 4'-9"

STATIONARY PICTURE WINDOWS

Low "E" Panel not available on Picture Units.

TRANSOM
Rough Opening 2'-0" 2'-3" 2'-6" 2'-9" 3'-0"

   ★Glass Size 6" 7" 8" 9" 10"

Varies † 8" 6" x 8" — — — —

9" — 7" x 9" — — —

10" — — 8" x 10" 9" x 10" 10" x 10"

3 LIGHT TRANSOM

TRANSOM
Rough Opening 2'-6" 2'-10" 3'-2" 3'-6"

   ★Glass Size 6" 7" 8" 9"

Varies † 8" 6" x 8" — — —

9" — 7" x 9" — —

10" — — 8" x 10" —

12" — — — 9" x 12"

4 LIGHT TRANSOM

TRANSOM
Rough Opening 2'-3" 2'-6" 2'-9" 3'-0"

   ★Glass Size 7" 8" 9" 10"

Varies † 9" 7" x 9" 8" x 9" 9" x 9" 10" x 9"

6 LIGHT TRANSOM

Glass sizes noted under each illustration indicates Double-Hung size to be used with corresponding Transom.

Stationary Windows can be used as a "stand alone" unit.    For Rough Openings & Unit Dimensions, refer to page 11.

8

Contact your BROSCO dealer for custom sizes.

★  Glass sizes are approximate.

≠  Actual sash size = sash opening width minus 1 9/16", height 3/16".

Traditional Putty Glazed Single Pane Glass

Low "E" Energy Panel 
Tilt 'n Clean Unit –
BROSCO's Low "E" 
Energy Panel is available 
on most single thick glass 
(SSB) units to provide 
better energy effi ciency. 

Low "E"
Energy
Panel



Contact your BROSCO dealer for custom sizes.

LOW “E” INSULATING GLASS

Double-Hung Window
Modular Sash
• 1/1 LIGHT
• PICTURE WINDOWS

BROSCO "Modular Sash" with Low-E 
Insulating Glass and Argon Gas are 
ideal for replacing old, worn, ineffi cient 
Modular Sized single pane glass sash.  
Durable, mortise and tenon construction is 
the standard for these preservative treated, 
primed exterior, 1-3/8" thick wood sash.  
These sash have a square edge plough 
and are pre-fi t to pair with our Tilt 'n 
Clean, Block and Tackle Balances for 
replacement applications.

Picture Sash are also available in 
"Modular" sizes, featuring the same high 
quality 3/4" thick, Argon Filled Insulating 
Glass with Low-E coating as the 
BROSCO Modular Double-Hung sash.

Modular Sized Replacement Sash

1/1 LIGHT

  Sash Opening 1'-8" 2'-0" 2'-4" 2'-6" 2'-8" 3'-0" 3'-4"
★Glass Size 16" 20" 24" 26" 28" 32" 36"

2'-10" 14" — 2'-0" x 2'-10" 2'-4" x 2'-10" — 2'-8" x 2'-10" — —

3'-2" 16" — 2'-0" x 3'-2" 2'-4" x 3'-2" 2'-6" x 3'-2" 2'-8" x 3'-2" 3'-0" x 3'-2" —

3'-10" 20" 1'-8" x 3'-10" 2'-0" x 3'-10" 2'-4" x 3'-10" 2'-6" x 3'-10" 2'-8" x 3'-10" 3'-0" x 3'-10" —

4'-2" 22" 1'-8" x 4'-2" 2'-0" x 4'-2" 2'-4" x 4'-2" 2'-6" x 4'-2" 2'-8" x 4'-2" 3'-0" x 4'-2" 3'-4" x 4'-2"

4'-6" 24" 1'-8" x 4'-6" 2'-0" x 4'-6" 2'-4" x 4'-6" 2'-6" x 4'-6" 2'-8" x 4'-6" 3'-0" x 4'-6" 3'-4" x 4'-6"

4'-10" 26" — — 2'-4" x 4'-10" 2'-6" x 4'-10" 2'-8" x 4'-10" — —

5'-2" 28" — — — — 2'-8" x 5'-2" 3'-0" x 5'-2" —

9

★  Glass sizes are approximate.

  Sash Opening 3'-4" 4'-0" 4'-4 " 5'-0" 5'-8"
Glass Size 36 3/8" 44 3/8" 48 3/8" 56 3/8" 64 3/8"

3'-10" 41 3/4"   3'-4" x 3'-10" —   4'-4" x 3'-10" — —

4'-2" 45 3/4" 3'-4" x 4'-2" 4'-0" x 4'-2" 4'-4" x 4'-2" 5'-0" x 4'-2" 5'-8" x 4'-2"

4'-6" 49 3/4" 3'-4" x 4'-6" 4'-0" x 4'-6" 4'-4" x 4'-6" 5'-0" x 4'-6" 5'-8" x 4'-6"

PICTURE WINDOWS

BROSCO windows available with safety 
glazing options as needed.



BROSCO's Replacement Sash Kits are ideal for double 

hung windows with worn out sash that do not operate 

smoothly, will not seal tight, have been painted shut, 

or are simply old and worn out.  As long as the frame 

is solid and in good condition, the sash can be replaced 

without disturbing the frame or the original trim.  Our 

Replacement Sash Kit includes a set of Low-E Insulated 

Glass sash with tilt hardware applied, Block and Tackle 

balances and a weatherstripped head parting stop.  All the 

windows shown in this brochure 

are available in a variety of 

glazing options designed to 

meet your replacement needs.

O
PT

IO
N

S
DOUBLE-HUNG REPLACEMENT SASH KITS

EXTERIOR WINDOW CASINGS

Composite
Brickmould Casing

(Standard)

Primed
Flat Casing
11/16" x 51/4"

Clear Cedar Sill 
and Flat Casing

11/16" x 33/4"

Composite 
Flat Casing
11/16" x 33/4" 

Composite 
Cape Cod Flat Casing

11/16" x 41/2" 

LONG SILL HORNS

On NO CASING orders, 33/4" horns 
will be used unless otherwise specifi ed.

Up to 12" Sill Horns.

10

NFRC Rating
Low-E Argon Insulating Glass Sash U-Value SHGC♦

   – Wood 1/1 Layout 0.29 0.30
   – Wood with "SDL" Bars and Spacer 0.29 0.27
   – Composite 1/1 Layout 0.29 0.29
   – Composite with "SDL" Bars and Spacer 0.29 0.26
   – Composite with "GBG" 0.29 0.26
  Authentic Divided Light Sash U-Value SHGC♦

   – Wood SSB Glass – –
   – Wood SSB Glass w/Low-E Energy Panel 0.42 0.48

♦ Solar Heat Gain Coeffi cient.

* PG Ratings can vary by size/type window.

Performance Grade Rating:

Water & Air Infi ltration, Structural (DP)

up to 

 PG 55*



Set-up Stationary Windows to be used as a "stand alone" unit.  Use 

any bottom sash or Cellar Sash to create a Stationary Window that 

will let in natural light and complement any Double-Hung window.

Our Grilles Between the Glass 

option features white, contoured 

aluminum grilles located 

between the panes of Low-E 

Insulating glass.  The contoured 

grille bar creates the look of 

traditional detailing without 

sacrifi cing energy effi ciency and 

offers ease of cleaning.

Low-E stands for low emissivity.  It 

is a coating applied to the glass to 

reduce ultraviolet transmission and 

the transmission of radiated heat.  

Low-E Energy Panel can be used with 

Authentic Divided Light Windows to 

achieve maximum energy effi ciency.

Energy effi cient 
Storm Windows 
with a Limited 
Lifetime Warranty 
help to cut energy 
costs up to 60%.

Primed or Clear Pine 11/8" 
Cellar Sash available in 
various light layouts.

Removable, exterior mounted 
white aluminum full screen with 
PVC reinforced corners and 
charcoal colored fi berglass mesh.

The Simulated Divided Light option 

is an authentically designed bar 

system applied to the interior and the 

exterior of the glass which creates 

the look of a traditional true divided 

light window while maintaining the 

energy performance of our Low-E 

Insulating glass.  An internal spacer between the glass 

panels further simulates the look of true divided lights.

SINGLE STATIONARY UNITS

GRILLES BETWEEN THE GLASS

LOW-E ENERGY PANEL

LARSON STORM WINDOWS

CELLAR SASH

COMPOSITE SILL NOSING
CONNECTORS

INSECT SCREEN

WOOD GRILLES

SIMULATED DIVIDED LIGHT

Standard sill nosing connector 
is 11/4" thick.

Optional "Historic" sill nosing 
connector is 13/4" thick.

Shown with Flat Casing Shown with Brickmould Casing

Also available in cedar.

EXTENSION JAMBS
69/16" wall (applied or KD).

Rough Openings & Unit Dimensions

Stationary Window Unit
Double-Hung Sash Cellar Sash

Width Height Width Height

Rough Opening = Glass plus 6" 65/16" 6" 63/16"

Unit Dimension = Glass plus 47/8" 53/16" 47/8" 55/8"

Brickmould Casing = Glass plus 75/8" 75/16" 75/8" 77/16"

Flat Casing 33/4" = Glass plus 11" 87/8" 11" 93/16"

Flat Casing 51/4" = Glass plus 14" 103/8" 14" 1011/16"

Flat Casing 41/2" = Glass plus 123/4" 97/16" 123/4" 915/16"

11



Our Commitment
Since 1890, the BROSCO name has represented 

our commitment to quality, value and service.  

We believe in providing low-maintenance, 

environmentally friendly, energy effi cient 

millwork products; engineered for our rugged 

Northeast weather and our regional architectural 

preferences.  We are proud to extend this 

tradition with every product we distribute.

Building Our Futures Together
www.brosco.com

94410202      12/12

Available at:



  Quality Engineered Roofing

The Authentic Look of Cedar & Slate 
with Lifetime Performance

  1-866-423-3302   enviroshake.com



Enviroshake® Inc. Quality Engineered 
Roofing and Siding Technology 

Enviroshake® Inc. premium products are designed to offer the
authentic look of cedar shakes, cedar shingles, and natural 
slate, while offering the enhanced durability, longevity, and 

performance that discerning property owner’s desire.

Enviroshake® Inc.’s cedar-look products include Enviroshake®, designed 
to emulate 9” cedar shakes, and EnviroshingleTM, designed to emu-
late 5” perfection cedar shingles. All Enviroshake® and EnviroshingleTM 
dies were made from the 3D images of real cedar, to ensure the wood 
grains, size and width are true to nature. The cellulosic fibers (natural 
wood fibers) used in the composition allow Enviroshake Inc. products to 
achieve the authentic textured look of cedar roofs. 

Enviroshake® is pleased to offer various colour options to emulate a 
natural cedar roof in various stages of its life. Enviroshake® and 
EnviroshingleTM are available in Aged Cedar, Classic Silvered Silver, 
or Multi-Tone. All Enviroshake® Inc. Products will weather, and as with 
cedar, there may be variations in shading and thickness of the shakes/
shingles giving them a natural look on the roof. 

Dare to Compare. 
Can you identify which is real cedar 

and which is Enviroshake®?

Enviroshake® is on the left and right side, the 
center-piece is natural cedar. 

“Absolutely beautiful…and gets better looking 
each day.”

“This product is absolutely beautiful, is weathering 
exactly as described, and gets better looking each 
day. People driving by have stopped and asked 
me the name of the material….” – Kathy Heller

  
Enviroshake® Inc. products were designed and tested to be one of the most durable roofing products in the 
market. They have been tested to -40 and +40 degrees Celsius as required by the National Building Code of 
Canada Authorization CCMC 13501-R. The material does not absorb moisture in excess of 3% and therefore is 
not susceptible to freeze/thaw problems associated with cedar. They are also resistant to moss, mold, mildew, 
and insects. All Enviroshake® Inc. products have a Class A System fire rating (See Install Guide). Cedar roofs may 
be damaged by walking on them, which may be required to repair the damage from falling branches or conduct 
maintenance  on the chimney or other features external to the roof covering. Enviroshake® Inc. products tolerate 
being walked on with no damage. 

All Enviroshake® Inc. products are fully backed with a transferable lifetime warranty. Enviroshake® Inc. products 
have been installed on over 5000 residential, commercial, historical, resort, and religious properties for over 16 
years with 100% customer satisfaction. 

Unsurpassed Durability with a Lifetime Warranty. 

Silvered Cedar Multi-ToneAged Cedar

  The most Authentic Cedar Look.



  

  The Benefits of Enviroshake® vs. Cedar

The Authentic Look of Cedar at 1/3 the Lifetime Cost.

Cedar
  May require replacement due to rotting, warping,   
 cracking, leaking, or diminished aesthetics
  Expensive to replace
  Life expectancy of only 15-20 yrs, but begins to   
 lose its aesthetic appeal after 5-10 years
  High maintenance: requires pre-treatments 
 preservatives, and other topical maintenance
  Poor fire rating
  Subject to mold, mildew and insects
  Depreciates in value from the date of installation
  Modern cedar shake are less durable than they used  
 to be as newer growth cedar is used instead of 
 denser old growth trees. New cedar roofs may only   
 last 15-20 years depending on conditions compared  
 to the  40-50 year likespan of cedar roofs in the past 

Enviroshake®

  Maintenance and worry free
  Withstands winds up to 180 MPH 290 km/h)
  Lifetime warranty that is transferable within the   
 first 50 years
  Truly Replicates the look cedar 
  Will not rot, blister, peel, or crack
  Mold, mildew, and insect resistant
  Fire resistant- Class A system (see Install Guide)
  Hail Resistant and wind resistant- Level 4 impact 
 certification (UL 2218)
  Less than 2% moisture absorption
  Requires no pretreatments, or preservatives
  You can walk on it
  Installs with less waste than cedar
  Made from 95% recycled materials
  90% of people who learn about Enviroshake®   
 choose Enviroshake® to replace their existing cedar   
 roofing. Enviroshake®  profiles



  Enviroslate®

Enviroslate® is designed to authentically replicate the look of natural 
slate. Enviroslate® is the perfect solution for those who want the look 
of slate without the cost.  Enviroslate®’s unique composition allows it 
to offer unsurpassed durability, longevity, and lifetime performance. It 
is mold, mildew, and insect resistant, fire, hail, and wind resistant, and 
comes with a fully transferable lifetime warranty. 

1/3 the weight of natural slate! Enviroslate® offers significant lifetime 
savings compared to natural slate roofing. In fact, an Enviroslate® roof 
costs ½ of what natural slate costs to install! Unlike natural slate, 
Enviroslate® is lightweight so there is no need to reinforce your roof 
deck. Additionally, Enviroslate® is nailed to the roof eliminating the 
use of slate hooks and risk of falling pieces.

Profiles: Enviroslate® is designed to be installed at a 9” reveal. Each 
Enviroslate® tile measures 12” wide x 20” tall, with various edge and 
top textures to emulate natural slate. All ridge caps are custom made 
for each project.

Dare to Compare. 
Can you identify which is real slate

and which is Enviroslate®? 

Enviroslate® is on the right and natural slate is 
on the left (above). Enviroslate® is on the left 

and natural slate is on the right (below). 

It’s turning heads.  
“Enviroslate® looks so authentic it’s scary. 
It looks just like the slate I just took off. It’s 
turning heads and people are stopping by 
and asking questions.”  - Certified Installer 
Charles Spelts of Bradford-Cameron Inc.

Nothing comes close to the authentic 
look of Enviroslate®.
“I have seen other synthetic slate products 
installed in the Calgary marketplace and 
nothing comes close to the authentic look 
of Enviroslate®. Goodmen Roofing is 
looking forward to the new opportunity 
from Enviroshake® Inc.” - Nathan Gill 

Benefits of Enviroslate® vs. Natural Slate 
  Maintenance Free, no annual repairs
  Enviroslate® is made from sustainable materials (95% recycled)
  Robust and durable: not damaged by walking on it, falling 
 debris, or hail
  Significantly lower install cost, and lifetime cost
  50 year lifespan with a lifetime warranty that is fully transferable
  Not damaged by freeze thaw
  Will not warp, crack, or chip
  3X less weight than slate, so not reinforcement to the roof deck
  Can be installed on re-roof projects
  Easy to install
  Resistant to mold, mildew, algae and insects



    Enviroslate® Colour Options
Enviroshake® Inc. is pleased to offer various color options to emulate a natural slate roof. All Enviroslate® 
products will weather, and as with natural roofing materials, there will be slight variations in shading and 
thickness of the tiles, giving the product a natural look on the roof. 

To see samples of our multi-tone blends visit www.enviroshake.com 

Onyx Black Enviroslate®

Charcoal Grey Enviroslate®

Stone Grey Enviroslate®

Sage Green Light  
Enviroslate®

Sage Green Dark 
Enviroslate®

Plum Purple Light
Enviroslate®

Plum Purple Dark
Enviroslate®

The above photo is a 3D image rendering, and actual enviroslate colours may differ from this image. Contact Enviroshake Inc. for samples of our colour options.



  Accolades.
“Our roof looks perfect!”
“We live across the street from a prestigious architect and 
builder in our area, known for his interest in historic 
preservation and the finest attention to detail.  Every 
home he designs and builds has a cedar shake roof, with 
multiple pitches.  His homes are highly coveted, and look 
like they’ve always been there. When we were having our 
Enviroshake® roof installed, he walked across the street 
to talk with us, and look at the product.  He liked what he 
saw, and said he wanted to watch our roof as it aged. A 
few months later….Sold!  He called our installer, and an 
Enviroshake® roof is now on one of his latest homes.  This 
from a purist with the very highest standards.  We knew 
we made the right choice. Our roof looks perfect!.  We’ve 
had a very wet summer, and some of our neighbors have 
moss growing on their cedar roofs.”  -Carol Kranz

“…We live in a seaside development with heavy moisture 
and strong winds that really affects life of wood roofs…Since 
having our Enviroshake® roof installed, it has weathered 
nicely with a soft grey look and no evidence of any mold/
mildew on product after 4 years of installation. It has also 
survived many Northeaster windstorms and summer gales 
with no shingles becoming loose and absolutely watertight 
– Peter Minior

“Guess, if we can fool an appraiser, that would be 
considered a true testament that the Enviroshake® 

definitely does have the look of the cedar shakes”
“We love our roof and are so very pleased that we made 
the decision to purchase the Enviroshake® roof.   It has 
enhanced the look of our country home and has given us 
exactly the look we wanted.  We have had many 
compliments from family and friends on our roof.   Because 
of the superior quality of the Enviroshake® shingle, it is so 
satisfying to know that we will not have to be replacing 
our roof for many years to come unlike the many roofs of 
asphalt shingles we have had in the past.  We couldn’t be 
happier. Just recently we had an appraiser come to our 
home for an appraisal and this person could not believe our 
roof was not the cedar shake shingles.  They finally said they 
would accept our word after we offered to show them our 
purchase agreement.  Guess, if we can fool an appraiser, 
that would be considered a true testament that the 
Enviroshake® definitely does have the look of the cedar 
shakes.  You have managed to design a fantastic product.  
Congratulations to you. Thank you Enviroshake®!”  -Bill & 
Betsy Buchanan

“I am from Calgary and we get really terrible hailstorms. 
Last year we replaced our roof with Enviroshake® and a 
few weeks later there was a massive hailstorm that caused 
almost every other house to have hail damage on their roof 
and required insurance claims. Our Enviroshake® withstood 
that and looks great!” Judi Lee

  

Enviroshake® Inc. products truly look like real cedar

“Wright Family Custom Homes was founded on four core 
values: quality, craftsmanship, integrity and 
excellence. When I discovered Enviroshake® Inc. I know 
their products were a great fit with our values as they 
embody the same beliefs. Enviroshake® Inc. products truly 
look like real 
cedar, are maintenance free, durable, and offer significant 
lifetime savings for homeowners. I look forward to con-
tinuing to use Enviroshake® on my custom homes. ” -Tim 
Wright, Wright Family Custom Homes, Asheville NC



  Testing. 

Roof Classification Test UBC 15.2 - Class A system (refer to installation guide) or Class C as per ASTM E 
108

Wind Uplift Test - Roof passed as per ASTM D 3161-99a, and Miami Dade at 180 MPH (290 km/h)

Wind Driven Rain Test - Modified Dade County PA 100-95 – meets performance requirements for Dy-
namic Pressure Water Infiltration Resistance to 106 MPH (170 km/h)

Weatherometer Test - Meets test requirements in accordance with ASTM G155 and ASTM D 638 - 
when viewed by 5x magnification there was no delaminating, cracking, erosion, or chalking that would 
affect the performance of the shake.

Impact Test UL2218 Level 4 - Passed

CCMC Registration #13105-R
CCMC (Canadian Construction Materials Centre) Technical Guide available on request
CCMC Evaluation Report (Re-evaluated November 2014) available on request.

Miami Dade Code Approvals
Florida Building Code Approvals

LEED & NGBS
The NAHB has assessed Enviroshake® as contributing 16.5 direct NGBS points.
Enviroshake® has been assessed by the USGBC as contributing between 1 and 2 points to LEED for 
homes, <4 for LEED 2009 NC, and <5 for LEED Canada NC, out of 9 available points.

Enviroshake® Inc. is considered a pioneer in the composite roofing industry, having been around since 1998. 
Enviroshake® Inc.  prides itself on engaging in best practices, and we are always striving to minimize our 
environmental footstep. Any scrap materials generated during the manufacturing process are recycled back 
into the system. In fact, the final product itself is recyclable. Enviroshake® Inc. also directly diverts any waste 
materials that are not biodegradable. Enviroshake® Inc. is located in Chatham Ontario, a 1 hour drive East of 
Detroit/Windsor. Enviroshake® Inc. is proud to be ISO 9001-2008 certified company committed to quality in 
manufacturing. 

  About the Manufacturer.



Quality Engineered Roofing 
PO Box 1462 Chatham Ontario Canada N7M 5W8

Toll Free 1-866-423-3302   Ph. 1-519-380-9265

www.enviroshake.com



Page 1

Sec. 23.5-5. - Tax exemption for historic property. 

a) Scope of tax exemptions. A method is hereby created for the city commission to allow tax exemptions 
for the restoration, renovation or rehabilitation of historic properties, as defined in these LDRs. The 
exemption shall apply to a maximum of one hundred (100) percent of the assessed value of all 
improvements to a historic property which result from and are directly attributable to restoration, 
renovation or rehabilitation made on or after the effective date of this section. The exemption applies 
only to taxes levied by the city. The exemption does not apply to taxes levied for the payment of bonds 
or to taxes levied authorized by a vote of the electors pursuant to Section 9(b) or 12, Article VII of the
Florida Constitution. The exemption does not apply to taxes on personal property. 

b) Duration of tax exemptions. Any exemption granted under this section to a particular property shall 
remain in effect for a maximum of ten (10) years, as specified in the ordinance approving the 
exemption. The exemption shall continue regardless of any change in the authority of the city to grant 
exemptions or any changes in ownership of the property. In order to retain an exemption, however, 
the historic character of the property and improvements which qualified the property for an exemption 
must be maintained over the period for which the exemption was granted. 

c) Eligible properties and improvements. The property is qualified for an exemption under this section if: 

1. At the time the exemption is granted, the property is:

(A) Individually listed in the National Register; or

(B) A contributing property within a historic district listed in the National Register; or 

(C) Is designated as a city landmark or is a contributing property within a designated historic 
district under the terms of this article; and 

(D) The HRPB has certified to the city commission that the property for which an exemption is 
sought satisfies the provisions of this section. 

2. In order for an improvement to a historic property to qualify the property for an exemption, the 
improvement must be: 

(A) Consistent with the United States Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation; and 

(B) Determined by the HRPB to meet the criteria established in rules adopted by the Florida 
Department of State. 

d) Applications.

1. Any person, firm or corporation that declares ad valorem tax exemption for the improvement of a 
historic property must, in the year the exemption is desired to take effect, file with the department 
for community sustainability, a written application on a form approved by the Florida Department 
of State. 

2. The application shall consist of two (2) parts. Part 1, the preconstruction application, shall be 
submitted by the property owner or his agent before improvements are initiated, and Part 2, the 
request for review of completed work, shall be submitted by the property owner or his agent upon 
completion of the improvements. 

3. Application deadline shall be established by the city then ensures that a resolution approving an 
application for historic preservation tax exemption shall be transmitted to and received by the 
Palm Beach County property appraiser no later than March 1 of each year. 

4. All applicable fees shall be paid at the time the application is submitted. The application must 
include the following information: 

A. The name of the property owner and the location of the historic property;

B. A description of the improvements to real property for which an exemption is requested and 
the date of commencement of construction of such improvements; 



Page 2

C. Proof, to the satisfaction of the HRPB, that the property that is to be rehabilitated or 
renovated is either listed on the National Register or is a designated landmark or a 
contributing property within a designated historic district; 

D. Proof, to the satisfaction of the HRPB, that the improvements to the property will be 
consistent with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation and will be made 
in accordance with the guidelines developed by the Florida Department of State; and 

E. Such other information identified in applicable Florida Department of State regulations.

5. The economic hardship portion of this chapter may not be applied to a property requesting tax 
abatement. 

e) Required covenant. To qualify for an exemption, the property owner must enter into a covenant or 
agreement with the city for the term for which the tax exemption is granted. The form of the covenant 
or agreement must be approved by the Florida Department of State and must require that the character 
of the property and the qualifying improvements to the property be maintained during the period for 
which the exemption is granted. The covenant or agreement shall be binding on the current property 
owner, transferees and their heirs, successors and assigns. Violation of the covenant or agreement 
results in the property owner being subject to payment of the differences between the total amount of 
taxes which would have been due in March of each of the previous years in which the covenant or 
agreement was in effect had the property not received the exemption and the total amount of taxes 
actually paid in those years, plus interest on the difference calculated as provided in F.S. § 212.12(3). 

f) Approval procedure.

1. Review by HRPB.

(A) Preconstruction applications. The HRPB, or its successor, shall review completed 
preconstruction applications and all required supporting materials to determine whether the 
property for which a proposed exemption is requested satisfies F.S. § 196.1997(11)(a); 
whether the proposed improvements are consistent with the Secretary of the Interior's 
Standards for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings (Revised 
1990), U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, which are hereby incorporated 
by reference into this section, and the criteria specified in Chapter 1A-38, F.A.C.; and for 
applications submitted under the provisions of F.S. § 196.1998, whether the improvements 
meet the criteria in Rule 1A-38.004(3) and (4), F.A.C. Upon completion of the review of a 
pre-construction application, the HRPB shall notify the applicant of the results of the review 
and shall make recommendations for correction of any planned work deemed to be 
inconsistent with the standards cited in Rule 1A-38.005, F.A.C. Each review of a 
preconstruction application shall be completed within thirty (30) days of receipt of a 
completed application and all required supporting materials. 

(B) Review of completed work. Upon receipt of a request for review of completed work, and all 
required supporting materials, the department for community sustainability shall conduct a 
field inspection to determine whether or not the completed improvements are in compliance 
with the work described in the appropriate preconstruction application, subsequent approved 
amendments thereto, if any, and the Secretary of the Interior's Standards or Rehabilitation 
and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings. The staff recommendation shall be 
presented to the HRPB for review and consideration. Each review of a request for review of 
completed work shall be completed within thirty (30) days of receipt of the completed request 
and all required supporting materials. 

(C) Recommendation regarding tax exemption. Upon completion of the review of a request for 
review of completed work, the HRPB shall recommend that the city commission grant or 
deny the exemption. Such review shall be conducted in accordance with the terms of this 
article and regulations governing historic preservation tax abatement which may be adopted 
by the Florida Department of State. The HRPB's recommendation and the reasons therefore, 
shall be provided to the applicant and to the city commission before consideration of the 
application by the city commission. 



Page 3

2. Approval by city commission. A majority vote of the quorum of the city commission shall be 
required to approve an application for tax exemption. Such exemption shall take effect on the 
January 1 following substantial completion of the improvements. The city commission shall 
include the following in its resolution or ordinance approving the tax exemption: 

(A) The name of the owner and the address and property control number of the historic property 
for which the exemption is granted. 

(B) The period of time for which the exemption will remain in effect and the expiration date of 
the exemption. 

(C) A finding that the historic property meets the requirements of this section and section 23.5-
4. 

3. Recording in public record. The covenant evidencing the tax abatement shall be recorded by the 
city at the owner's expense in the public records of Palm Beach County, Florida. 



196.1997 Ad valorem tax exemptions for historic properties.—

(1) The board of county commissioners of any county or the governing authority of any municipality may 

adopt an ordinance to allow ad valorem tax exemptions under s. 3, Art. VII of the State Constitution to 

historic properties if the owners are engaging in the restoration, rehabilitation, or renovation of such 

properties in accordance with guidelines established in this section.

(2) The board of county commissioners or the governing authority of the municipality by ordinance may 

authorize the exemption from ad valorem taxation of up to 100 percent of the assessed value of all 

improvements to historic properties which result from the restoration, renovation, or rehabilitation of such 

properties. The exemption applies only to improvements to real property. In order for the property to 

qualify for the exemption, any such improvements must be made on or after the day the ordinance 

authorizing ad valorem tax exemption for historic properties is adopted.

(3) The ordinance shall designate the type and location of historic property for which exemptions may be 

granted, which may include any property meeting the provisions of subsection (11), which property may be 

further required to be located within a particular geographic area or areas of the county or municipality.

(4) The ordinance must specify that such exemptions shall apply only to taxes levied by the unit of 

government granting the exemption. The exemptions do not apply, however, to taxes levied for the payment 

of bonds or to taxes authorized by a vote of the electors pursuant to s. 9(b) or s. 12, Art. VII of the State 

Constitution.

(5) The ordinance must specify that any exemption granted remains in effect for up to 10 years with 

respect to any particular property, regardless of any change in the authority of the county or municipality to 

grant such exemptions or any change in ownership of the property. In order to retain the exemption, 

however, the historic character of the property, and improvements which qualified the property for an 

exemption, must be maintained over the period for which the exemption is granted.

(6) The ordinance shall designate either a local historic preservation office or the Division of Historical 

Resources of the Department of State to review applications for exemptions. The local historic preservation 

office or the division, whichever is applicable, must recommend that the board of county commissioners or 

the governing authority of the municipality grant or deny the exemption. Such reviews must be conducted in 

accordance with rules adopted by the Department of State. The recommendation, and the reasons therefor, 

must be provided to the applicant and to the governing entity before consideration of the application at an 

official meeting of the governing entity. For the purposes of this section, local historic preservation offices 

must be approved and certified by the Department of State.

(7) To qualify for an exemption, the property owner must enter into a covenant or agreement with the 

governing body for the term for which the exemption is granted. The form of the covenant or agreement 

must be established by the Department of State and must require that the character of the property, and 

the qualifying improvements to the property, be maintained during the period that the exemption is 

granted. The covenant or agreement shall be binding on the current property owner, transferees, and their 



heirs, successors, or assigns. Violation of the covenant or agreement results in the property owner being 

subject to the payment of the differences between the total amount of taxes which would have been due in 

March in each of the previous years in which the covenant or agreement was in effect had the property not 

received the exemption and the total amount of taxes actually paid in those years, plus interest on the 

difference calculated as provided in s. 212.12(3).

(8) Any person, firm, or corporation that desires an ad valorem tax exemption for the improvement of a 

historic property must, in the year the exemption is desired to take effect, file with the board of county 

commissioners or the governing authority of the municipality a written application on a form prescribed by 

the Department of State. The application must include the following information:

(a) The name of the property owner and the location of the historic property.

(b) A description of the improvements to real property for which an exemption is requested and the date of 

commencement of construction of such improvements.

(c) Proof, to the satisfaction of the designated local historic preservation office or the Division of Historical 

Resources, whichever is applicable, that the property that is to be rehabilitated or renovated is a historic 

property under this section.

(d) Proof, to the satisfaction of the designated local historic preservation office or the Division of Historical 

Resources, whichever is applicable, that the improvements to the property will be consistent with the 

United States Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation and will be made in accordance with 

guidelines developed by the Department of State.

(e) Other information deemed necessary by the Department of State.

(9) The board of county commissioners or the governing authority of the municipality shall deliver a copy of 

each application for a historic preservation ad valorem tax exemption to the property appraiser of the 

county. Upon certification of the assessment roll, or recertification, if applicable, pursuant to s. 193.122, for 

each fiscal year during which the ordinance is in effect, the property appraiser shall report the following 

information to the local governing body:

(a) The total taxable value of all property within the county or municipality for the current fiscal year.

(b) The total exempted value of all property in the county or municipality which has been approved to 

receive historic preservation ad valorem tax exemption for the current fiscal year.

(10) A majority vote of the board of county commissioners of the county or of the governing authority of 

the municipality shall be required to approve a written application for exemption. Such exemption shall take 

effect on the January 1 following substantial completion of the improvement. The board of county 

commissioners or the governing authority of a municipality shall include the following in the resolution or 

ordinance approving the written application for exemption:

(a) The name of the owner and the address of the historic property for which the exemption is granted.

(b) The period of time for which the exemption will remain in effect and the expiration date of the 

exemption.



(c) A finding that the historic property meets the requirements of this section.

(11) Property is qualified for an exemption under this section if:

(a) At the time the exemption is granted, the property:

1. Is individually listed in the National Register of Historic Places pursuant to the National Historic 

Preservation Act of 1966, as amended; or

2. Is a contributing property to a national-register-listed district; or

3. Is designated as a historic property, or as a contributing property to a historic district, under the terms 

of a local preservation ordinance; and

(b) The local historic preservation office or the Division of Historical Resources, whichever is applicable, has 

certified to the local governing authority that the property for which an exemption is requested satisfies 

paragraph (a).

(12) In order for an improvement to a historic property to qualify the property for an exemption, the 

improvement must:

(a) Be consistent with the United States Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation.

(b) Be determined by the Division of Historical Resources or the local historic preservation office, whichever 

is applicable, to meet criteria established in rules adopted by the Department of State.

(13) The Department of State shall adopt rules as provided in chapter 120 for the implementation of this 

section. These rules must specify the criteria for determining whether a property is eligible for exemption; 

guidelines to determine improvements to historic properties which qualify the property for an exemption; 

criteria for the review of applications for exemptions; procedures for the cancellation of exemptions for 

violations to the agreement required by subsection (7); the manner in which local historic preservation 

offices may be certified as qualified to review applications; and other requirements necessary to implement 

this section.

History.—s. 1, ch. 92-159.



196.1998 Additional ad valorem tax exemptions for historic properties open to the public.—

(1) If an improvement qualifies a historic property for an exemption under s. 196.1997, and the 

property is used for nonprofit or governmental purposes and is regularly and frequently open for the 

public’s visitation, use, and benefit, the board of county commissioners or the governing authority of 

the municipality by ordinance may authorize the exemption from ad valorem taxation of up to 100 

percent of the assessed value of the property, as improved, any provision of s. 196.1997(2) to the 

contrary notwithstanding, if all other provisions of that section are complied with; provided, however, 

that the assessed value of the improvement must be equal to at least 50 percent of the total assessed 

value of the property as improved. The exemption applies only to real property to which improvements 

are made by or for the use of the existing owner. In order for the property to qualify for the exemption 

provided in this section, any such improvements must be made on or after the day the ordinance 

granting the exemption is adopted.

(2) In addition to meeting the criteria established in rules adopted by the Department of State 

under s. 196.1997, a historic property is qualified for an exemption under this section if the Division of 

Historical Resources, or the local historic preservation office, whichever is applicable, determines that 

the property meets the criteria established in rules adopted by the Department of State under this 

section.

(3) In addition to the authority granted to the Department of State to adopt rules under s. 

196.1997, the Department of State shall adopt rules as provided in chapter 120 for the implementation 

of this section, which shall include criteria for determining whether a property is qualified for the 

exemption authorized by this section, and other rules necessary to implement this section.

History.—s. 2, ch. 92-159



CHAPTER 1A-38 TAX EXEMPTIONS FOR HISTORIC PROPERTIES 

1A-38.001  Purpose. (Repealed) 

1A-38.002  Definitions. 

1A-38.003  Appplication for Exemption. 

1A-38.004  Evaluation of Property. 

1A-38.005  Evaluation of Improvements. 

1A-38.006  Covenant. 

1A-38.007  Certification of Local Historic Preservation Office. 

1A-38.002 Definitions. 

The following words and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the following meanings, except where the context clearly 

indicates a different meaning: 

(1) "Contributing property" means a building, site, structure, or object which adds to the historical architectural qualities, 

historic associations, or archaeological values for which a district is significant because 

(a) It was present during the period of significance of the district, and possesses historic integrity reflecting its character at that 

time, 

(b) Is capable of yielding important information about the period, or 

(c) It independently meets the National Register of Historic Places criteria for evaluation set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.4, 

incorporated by reference. 

(2) "Division" means the Division of Historical Resources of the Department of State. 

(3) "Historic property" means a building, site, structure, or object which is: 

(a) Individually listed in the National Register of Historic Places; 

(b) A contributing property in a National Register listed historic district; 

(c) Designated as a historic property or landmark under the provisions of a local historic preservation ordinance; or 

(d) A contributing property in a historic district designated under the provisions of a local historic preservation ordinance. 

(4) "Improvements" means changes in the condition of real property brought about by the expenditure of labor or money for the 

restoration, renovation or rehabilitation of such property. Improvements shall include additions and accessory structures (i.e., a 

garage, cabana, guest cottage, storage/utility structure) so long as the new construction is compatible with the historic character of 

the building and site in terms of size, scale, massing, design and materials, and preserves the historic relationship between a building 

or buildings, landscape features and open space. 

(5) "Local government" means the board of county commissioners or the governing authority of the municipality that has 

adopted an ordinance providing for property tax exemption for improvements to historic properties pursuant to Section 196.1997 or 

196.1998, F.S. 

(6) "Local historic preservation office" means a local government agency certified by the Division as qualified to review 

applications for property tax exemptions pursuant to Sections 196.1997 or 196.1998, F.S. 

(7) "National Register of Historic Places" means the list of historic properties significant in American history, architecture, 

archeology, engineering and culture, maintained by the Secretary of the Interior, as established by the National Historic Preservation 

Act of 1966 (Public Law 89-665; 80 STAT. 915; 16 U.S.C. 470), as amended. 

(8) "Noncontributing property" means a building, site, structure, or object which does not add to the historic architectural 

qualities, historic associations, or archaeological values for which a district is significant because 

(a) It was not present during the period of significance of the district, 

(b) Due to alterations, disturbances, additions, or other changes, it no longer possesses historic integrity reflecting its character 

at that time or is incapable of yielding important information about the period, or 

(c) It does not independently meet the National Register of Historic Places criteria for evaluation. 

(9) "Renovation" or "rehabilitation". For historic properties or portions thereof which are of historical or architectural 

significance, "renovation" or "rehabilitation" means the act or process of returning a property to a state of utility through repair or 

alteration which makes possible an efficient contemporary use while preserving those portions or features of the property which are 

significant to its historical, architectural, cultural and archaeological values. For historic properties or portions thereof which are of 



archaeological significance or are severely deteriorated, "renovation" or "rehabilitation" means the act or process of applying 

measures designed to sustain and protect the existing form and integrity of a property, or reestablish the stability of an unsafe or 

deteriorated property while maintaining the essential form of the property as it presently exists. 

(10) "Restoration" means the act or process of accurately recovering the form and details of a property and its setting as it 

appeared at a particular period of time by means of the removal of later work or by the replacement of missing earlier work. 

(11) "Useable space" means that portion of the space within a building which is available for assignment or rental to an 

occupant, including every type of space available for use of the occupant. 

Specific Authority 196.1997, 196.1998 FS. Law Implemented 196.1997, 196.1998 FS. History–New 1-31-94, Amended 9-3-00. 

 

1A-38.003 Application for Exemption. 

(1) Except as provided in Rule 1A-38.003(2), F.A.C., application for the property tax exemption shall be made on the three-part 

Historic Preservation Property Tax Exemption Application, DOS Form No. HR3E101292, revised 9-3-00 and incorporated by 

reference. This form may be obtained by writing the Division at: Bureau of Historic Preservation, 500 South Bronough Street, 

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250, or from the local historic preservation office in the jurisdiction of the local government. Part 1-

Evaluation of Property Eligibility and Part 2-Description of Improvements may be submitted before or during construction, or upon 

completion of the improvements; however, property owners are strongly encouraged to submit these parts of the application to 

ensure property eligibility and secure preliminary project approval before construction is initiated. Part 3-Request for Review of 

Completed Work shall be submitted upon completion of the improvements. For improvements completed before application is 

made, Part 3-Request for Review of Completed Work must accompany the Part 2 submission. 

(2) In lieu of DOS Form No. HR3E101292, any local government with a local historic preservation office certified pursuant to 

Rule 1A-38.007, FAC., may develop an alternative application form for use by property owners within its jurisdiction; however, 

such alternative application form shall: 

(a) At a minimum, require the property owner to provide the information indicated in DOS Form No. HR3E101292, 

(b) Be in the two-part format of DOS Form No. HR3E101292, and 

(c) Be approved by the Division. 

(3) The completed Part 1-Evaluation of Property Eligibility, Part 2-Description of Improvements and Part 3-Request for Review 

of Completed Work shall be submitted by the property owner to the local historic preservation office or the Division, whichever is 

designated by the local ordinance as the representative of the local government for the purpose of reviewing applications for the 

property tax exemption. 

(4) Upon receipt of the completed Part 1-Evaluation of Property Eligibility and Part 2-Description of Improvements, and all 

required supporting materials, the local historic preservation office or the Division shall conduct a review to determine. 

(a) Whether the property for which an exemption has been requested satisfies Section 196.1997(11)(a), F.S., 

(b) Whether the proposed, in progress, or completed improvements are consistent with The Secretary of Interior's Standards for 

Rehabilitation and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings (Revised 1990), U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park 

Service, incorporated by reference, and the criteria in Chapter 1A-38, F.A.C., and 

(c) For applications submitted under the provisions of Section 196.1998, F.S., whether the improvements meet the criteria in 

Rule 1A-38.004(3) and (4). Part 2-Description of Improvements will not be reviewed prior to review of Part 1-Evaluation of 

Property Eligibility and certification that the subject property is a historic property as defined in Rule 1A-38.002(3) and, for 

applications submitted under the provisions of Section 196.1998, F.S., that the property meets the criteria in Rules 1A-38.004(4) and 

(5). Copies of the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings may 

be obtained by writing the Division at the address indicated in Rule 1A-38.003(1), F.A.C. or from the Superintendent of Documents, 

U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington D.C. 20402. 

(5) Upon completion of the review of Part 1-Evaluation of Property Eligibility and Part 2-Description of Improvements, the 

local historic preservation office or Division shall notify the applicant and the local government in writing of the results of the 

review and shall make recommendations for correction of any planned or completed work deemed to be inconsistent with the 

standards cited in Rule 1A-38.005, F.A.C. 

(6) Each review of Part 1-Evaluation of Property Eligibility and Part 2-Description of Improvements conducted by the Division 

shall be completed within 30 days following receipt of the completed application and all required supporting materials. Each review 



of Part 1-Evaluation of Property Eligibility and Part 2-Description of Improvements conducted by a local historic preservation office 

shall be completed consistent with the routine schedules and procedures of the local design review body as set forth by the local 

government. 

(7) Upon receipt of Part 3-Request for Review of Completed Work and all required supporting materials, the local historic 

preservation office or the Division shall conduct a review to determine whether or not the completed improvements are in 

compliance with the work described in an approved Part 2-Description of Improvements, subsequent approved amendments, if any, 

and the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings. If Part 2-

Description of Improvements and Part 3-Request for Review of Completed Work are submitted after completion of the 

improvements, both shall be reviewed concurrently for compliance with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation 

and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings. The local historic preservation office or the Division, as applicable, reserves 

the right to inspect the completed work to verify such compliance. 

(8) On completion of the review of a Request for Review of Completed Work, the local historic preservation office or the 

Division shall recommend that the local government grant or deny the exemption. The recommendation, and the reasons therefor, 

shall be provided in writing to the applicant and to the local government. The recommendation shall advise the applicant of his right 

to a fair hearing pursuant to Section 120.57, F.S., and procedures set forth by the local government. 

(9) Each review of a Request for Review of Completed Work conducted by the Division shall be completed within 30 days 

following receipt of the completed request and all required supporting materials. Each review of a Request for Review of Completed 

Work conducted by a local historic preservation office shall be completed consistent with the routine schedules and procedures of 

the local design review body as set forth by the local government. 

Specific Authority 196.1997(6) FS. Law Implemented 196.1997, 196.1998 FS. History–New 1-31-94, Amended 9-3-00. 

 

1A-38.004 Evaluation of Property. 

(1) Part 1-Evaluation of Property Eligibility submitted to the Division for properties which have been individually designated as 

historic properties or landmarks under the provisions of a local historic preservation ordinance shall include documentation 

substantiating such designation and describing the historic, archaeological or architectural features which provided the basis for 

designation. Acceptable documentation shall include a copy of the designation report for the property and official correspondence 

notifying the property owner of designation. 

(2) For properties located in a historic district listed in the National Register of Historic Places, the local historic preservation 

office or the Division shall apply the definitions of contributing and noncontributing properties as set forth in Rules 1A-38.002(1) 

and 1A-38.002(6), F.A.C., respectively, to determine whether the property is a contributing property. 

(3) For properties located in a historic district designated by local ordinance, the local historic preservation office or the 

Division shall apply the criteria set forth in the local ordinance to determine whether the property is a contributing property. If the 

local ordinance does not include criteria or a process sufficient to determine whether the property is a contributing property, the local 

historic preservation office or the Division shall apply the definitions of contributing and noncontributing properties as set forth in 

Rules 1A-38.004(1) and 1A-38.002(6), F.A.C., respectively, to determine whether the property is a contributing property. 

(4) For purposes of the exemption under Section 196.1998, F.S., a property is being used for government or nonprofit purposes 

if the occupant or user of at least 65 percent of the useable space of a historic building or of the upland component of an 

archaeological site is an agency of the federal, state or local government, or a nonprofit corporation whose articles of incorporation 

have been filed by the Department of State in accordance with Section 617.0125, F.S. 

(5) For purposes of the exemption under Section 196.1998, F.S., a property is considered regularly and frequently open to the 

public if public access to the property is provided not less than 52 days a year on an equitably spaced basis, and at other times by 

appointment. Nothing in this rule shall prohibit the owner from charging a reasonable nondiscriminatory admission fee. 

Specific Authority 196.1997(13), 196.1998(3) FS. Law Implemented 196.1997, 196.1998 FS. History–New 1-31-94, Amended 9-3-00. 

 

1A-38.005 Evaluation of Improvements. 

The local historic preservation office or the Division shall apply the recommended approaches to rehabilitation as set forth in the 

Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings in evaluating the 



eligibility of improvements to the historic property. For improvements intended to protect or stabilize severely deteriorated historic 

properties or archaeological sites, the local historic preservation office or the Division shall apply the following additional standards: 

(1) Before applying protective measures which are generally of a temporary nature and imply future historic preservation work, 

an analysis of the actual or anticipated threats to the property shall be made. 

(2) Protective measures shall safeguard the physical condition or environment of a property or archaeological site from further 

deterioration or damage caused by weather or other natural, animal or human intrusions. 

(3) If any historic material or architectural features are removed, they shall be properly recorded and, if possible, stored for 

future study or reuse. 

(4) Stabilization shall reestablish the structural stability of a property through the reinforcement of loadbearing members or by 

arresting material deterioration leading to structural failure. Stabilization shall also reestablish weather resistant conditions for a 

property. 

(5) Stabilization shall be accomplished in such a manner that it detracts as little as possible from the property's appearance. 

When reinforcement is required to reestablish structural stability, such work shall be concealed wherever possible so as not to 

intrude upon or detract from the aesthetic and historical quality of the property, except where concealment would result in the 

alteration or destruction of historically significant material or spaces. 

Specific Authority 196.1997(13), 196.1998(3) FS. Law Implemented 196.1997, 196.1998 FS. History–New 1-31-94. 

 

1A-38.006 Covenant. 

(1) Except as provided in Rule 1A-38.006(2), FAC., a property owner qualifying for an exemption pursuant to Sections 

196.1997 and 196.1998, F.S., and the local government granting the exemption shall execute the Historic Preservation Property Tax 

Exemption Covenant, DOS Form No. HR3E111292, effective 1-31-94 and incorporated by reference. DOS Form No. HR3E111292 

may be obtained by writing the Division at the address in Rule 1A-38.003(1), FAC. or from the local historic preservation office in 

the jurisdiction of the local government. On or before the effective date of the exemption, as established by the applicable local 

government, the owner of the property shall have the Covenant recorded with the deed for the property in the official records of the 

county in which the property is situated. 

(2) In lieu of DOS Form No. HR3E111292, any local government may develop an alternative form of covenant for use within 

its jurisdiction; however, such alternative form of covenant shall: 

(a) at a minimum, bind the parties to conditions and requirements equivalent to those set forth in DOS Form No. HR3E111292, 

and 

(b) be approved by the Division. 

(3) The following conditions shall provide justification for removal of a property from eligibility for the property tax exemption 

provided under Section 196.1997, F.S.: 

(a) The owner is in violation of the provisions of the Historic Preservation Tax Exemption Covenant; or 

(b) The property has been damaged by accidental or natural causes to the extent that the historic integrity of the features, 

materials, appearance, workmanship and environment, or archaeological integrity which made the property eligible for listing in the 

National Register or designation under the provisions of the local preservation ordinance have been lost or so damaged that 

restoration is not feasible. 

(4) For the exemption provided under Section 196.1998, F.S., the following conditions, as well as those indicated in Rule 1A-

38.006(3), FAC., shall justify removal of a property from eligibility for the exemption: 

(a) The property is sold or otherwise transferred from the owner who made application and was granted the exemption; or 

(b) The property no longer meets the requirements set forth in Rules 1A-38.004(4) and 1A-38.004(5), FAC. 

Specific Authority 196.1997(7) FS. Law Implemented 196.1997, 196.1998 FS. History–New 1-31-94. 

 



1A-38.007 Certification of Local Historic Preservation Office. 

(1) Criteria for certification shall be as set forth in sections A and B of the Florida Certified Local Government Guidelines 

(Revised November 1993) promulgated by the Division and incorporated by reference. These guidelines may be obtained by writing 

the Division at the address in Rule 1A-38.003(1), FAC. 

(2) Existing Certified Local Governments shall automatically be designated local historic preservation offices for the purposes 

set forth in Sections 168.1997 and 168.1998, F.S. 

(3) Other local governments requesting certification of a local historic preservation office shall apply on the Application for 

Certification, Florida Certified Local Governments Program, which is Appendix C to the Florida Certified Local Government 

Guidelines. 

(4) Within 45 days following receipt of a complete Application for Certification and all required supporting material, the 

Division shall render a written determination regarding the application, either approving or denying certification for the purposes set 

forth in Sections 196.1997 and 196.1998, F.S. For denials, the Division shall provide the applicant with an explanation, clearly 

indicating the reasons for denial. 

(5) Certification pursuant to this rule shall remain in effect so long as the local government maintains a program which meets 

the minimum requirements set forth in sections A and B of the Florida Certified Local Government Guidelines. 

Specific Authority 196.1997(6) FS. Law Implemented 196.1997, 196.1998 FS. History–New 1-31-94. 

 

 



City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  May 4, 2016

AGENDA DATE: May 11, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  812 South Lakeside Drive

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for new 
construction of an addition to the existing structure at 812 South Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  
The subject property was constructed in 1942 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local 
Historic District.

Due to inconsistencies in the zoning data provided, Staff is requesting a continuance of this case to the June 8, 
2016, regular HRPB meeting.

OWNER/APPLICANT: Arthur Marino

 812 South Lakeside Drive

 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The two-story single-family structure at 812 South Lakeside Drive was designed by Edgar S. Wortman in 1942.
The property has public frontage on South Lakeside Drive to the west and the Intracoastal Waterway to the east.  
The building was constructed in an Art Deco/Art Moderne architectural style, and still retains most of its 
character defining features.  These character defining features include the metal casement windows, glass block 
windows, blue depression glass window, projecting triangular window, flat roof with decorative parapet and 
eyebrow banding, and low-lying horizontal masonry construction with a smooth stucco finish.

The original architectural plans for the building are available in the City’s property files. Based on the information 
in the property file, few exterior alterations have occurred over time.  The property file does indicate that the 
original design for the structure was only one-story, however it appears that the structure was changed to two 
stories either just before or during construction.  Overall, the building retains a high degree of historic integrity of 
location, setting, materials, and design, and is an excellent example of the Art Moderne style of architecture.

REQUEST: 

The Applicant is requesting to construct a 5,483 square foot addition to the existing 1,428 square foot existing 
structure, per the plans and documentation provided.  The new addition will be set back approximately 30 feet 
from the existing structure, and will be connected by a covered, cantilevered, open breezeway with a permanent 
foundation.



HRPB No. 15-00100022
812 South Lakeside Drive

COA Application – Addition
Page 2

2

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning
Due to the fact that the proposal does not meeting the Zoning Code, Staff proposes that the case be continued to 
a later meeting in order to give the Applicant time to revise the proposal.

The following table includes some of the basic specifications for the proposed construction:

Dimension Required by Code Proposed

Lot size 7,500 sq. ft for single-family 13,150 sq. ft existing (50’ x 263’)

Front setback 20’-0” 50’ to bldg front (no change)

Side setback 10% of lot width, 

minimum 3’-0”

North = 6’-0” to proposed addition; 

South = 6’-0” to proposed addition

Rear setback 15’ or 10% of lot depth for 
primary structures, whichever
is less

15’ to bldg rear

Floor Area Ratio .45 = 5,917 sq. ft 0.52 = 6,911 sq. ft

Building Lot Coverage 30% = 3,945 sq. ft 33% = 4,357 sq. ft

Impermeable surface 50% max. = 6,575 sq. ft 43% = 5,770 sq. ft

Parking Spaces 2 spaces 2+ spaces

Public Comment
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project. 

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends that the Board continue the case to the June 8, 2016, HRPB Regular Meeting in order to give 
the Applicant time to revise the proposal to comply with the Zoning Code.

POTENTIAL MOTION:  
I MOVE TO CONTINUE HRPB #15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for new 
construction of an addition for the single-family structure located at 812 S Lakeside, to the June 8, 2016, HRPB 
regular meeting, as recommended by Staff.



HRPB No. 15-00100022
812 South Lakeside Drive

COA Application – Addition
Page 3

3

LOCATION MAP

















1 

 

Rational	  Analyses:	  “Certificate	  of	  Appropriateness”	  
	  
Past	  ‘C	  O	  A”	  Project	  Consideration:	  

	  

A	  demonstration	  comparison	  of	  a	  complex	  historical	  project	  approved	  by	  the	  

Historical	  Board	  and	  the	  City	  was	  presented	  by	  Marino,	  at	  the	  second	  historical	  

meeting.	   	  

	  

Marino	  displayed	  picture	  slides	  and	  provided	  comment	  related	  to	  Tuscan	  Villas	  

project,	  located	  at	  1001	  North	  Federal	  Highway,	  Lake	  Worth.	  The	  Tuscan	  project	  

consisted	  of:	  a).	  waivers	  and	  variance;	  b).	  lifting	  the	  existing	  Art	  Moderne	  Contributing	  

Residence	  from	  its	  foundation	  and	  moving	  it	  from	  its	  existing	  location	  to	  the	  extreme	  

S.E.	  corner	  of	  the	  property;	  c).	  constructing	  twelve	  (12)	  3-‐story	  Southern	  

Mediterranean	  Revival	  style	  condominiums	  surrounding	  it;	  d).	  the	  historical	  project	  

was	  found	  acceptable	  by	  the	  Board	  and	  City;	  e).	  Certificate	  of	  Acceptance,	  building	  

permits	  and	  CO	  were	  granted	  and	  issued	  to	  the	  project;	  f).	  the	  Mediterranean	  villas	  are	  

in	  close	  proximity	  with	  and	  in	  all	  primary	  views	  of	  Contributing	  Residence	  and	  their	  

mass	  and	  scale	  eclipse	  said	  Contributing	  Residence;	  g).	  Contributing	  Residence	  has	  

been	  moved	  to	  Federal	  Highway	  direct	  front	  exposure;	  h).	  A	  collage	  of	  exposed	  

electrical	  panels,	  electric	  transformer,	  telephone	  and	  sprinkler	  boxes	  further	  

compromises	  primary	  view	  of	  Contributing	  Residence;	  i}.	  pursuant	  to	  Secretary	  of	  

Interior	  Standard;	  Southern	  Mediterranean	  Revival	  style	  is	  not	  compatible	  or	  in	  

harmonious	  character	  of	  Contributing	  Residence,	  which	  is	  Art	  Moderne.	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	  

(The	  City	  has	  all	  slides	  of	  the	  Marino	  presentation).	  

	  

Recent	  “Certificate	  of	  Acceptance”	  Project:	   	  

	  

Lake	   Worth’s	   Gulfstream	   Hotel	   appears	   set	   for	   renovation	  

 

Hotel	   will	   have	   two	   87-‐unit	   hotel	   buildings,	   a	   restaurant,	   rooftop	   sky	   bar	   and	  

parking	   garage	  

January	  29,	  2016	  12:45PM	   	  

By	  Dan	  Weil 

 

 

 



2 

Excerpt	  as	  follows:	  

	  

“Lake	   Worth’s	   Gulfstream	   Hotel,	   built	   in	   1925	   and	   added	   to	   the	   National	  
Register	   of	   Historic	   Places	   in	   1983,	   looks	   set	   to	   be	   revived	   after	   being	  
shuttered	   for	   more	   than	   10	   years.	   Last	   month,	   the	   Lake	   Worth	   City	  
Commission	   approved	   a	   zoning	   change	   that	   will	   allow	   Delray	   Beach-‐based	  
developer	   Hudson	   Holdings	   to	   go	   ahead	   with	   its	   $70	   million	   plan	   to	  
renovate	   the	   property	   at	   Lake	   Avenue	   and	   South	   Lakeside	   Drive,	   a	   block	  
from	   the	   Intracoastal	   Waterway.	   The	   commission	   approved	   a	   rezoning	   of	  
the	   seven-‐parcel	   site	   to	   entirely	   downtown	   mixed-‐use	   from	   the	   previous	  
combination	   of	   downtown	   mixed-‐use	   and	   multi-‐family	   residential.	   Lake 
Worth has been criticized for being inconsistent in its development, 
because of staunch political opposition to building plans.	   Even	   the	   city	  
commission’s	   approval	   of	   rezoning	   for	   the	   Gulfstream	   project	   came	   only	   in	  
a	   3-‐to-‐2	   vote.	   The	   opponents,	   commissioners	   Christopher	   McVoy	   and	   Ryan	  
Maier,	   were	   unavailable	   to	   speak	   with	   TRD,	   but	   they	   have	   publicly	  
expressed	   concern	   about	   the	   height	   of	   the	   project,	   specifically	   the	   65-‐foot	  
maximum	   for	   the	   annex	   building	   Hudson	   Holdings	   plans	   to	   restore	   the	  
crumbling,	   six-‐story	   hotel,	   shrinking	   its	   room	   count	   to	   87	   from	   106,	   and	  
intends	   to	   wipe	   away	   two	   nearby	   buildings	   so	   it	   can	   erect	   a	   five-‐story,	   87-‐
room	   annex	   to	   the	   hotel	   instead.	   See	   more	   at:	  
http://therealdeal.com/miami/2016/01/29/lake-‐worths-‐gulfstream-‐hotel-‐finally-‐
appears-‐set-‐forenovation/#sthash.9REXh0fN.dpuf 
 	  



1 

[Exhibit	   “A”]	  
	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   Marino	   Residence	  

	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   Site	   Plan	   Approval,	   Certificate	   of	   Appropriateness	   for	   Addition,	  

	   	   	   	   	   	   Demolition,	   Property	   Tax	   Exemption,	   Building	   Permits	  

	  

Arthur	   Marino	   Jr.	   (“Marino”),	   seeks	   approval	   for	   Site	   Plan,	   Certificate	   of	  

Acceptance,	   Demolition,	   Tax	   Exemption	   and	   Building	   Permits	   in	   regard	   to	   the	  

property	   located	   at	   812	   South	   Lakeside	   Drive,	   Lake	   Worth,	   Florida	   33460.	   	   	  

Said	   property	   is	   located	   within	   the	   South	   Palm	   Park	   Historic	   District,	   the	  

property	   is	   designated	   residential.	  

	  

Property	  Architecture	  and	  History:	   	  

	  

812	  South	  Lakeside	  Drive	  Residence	  design	  was	  strongly	  influenced	  by	  design	  

elements	  of	  “Art	  Moderne”	  /	  “Streamline	  Moderne”/	  “Art	  Deco”.	   	  

The	  sleek	  Art	  Moderne	  style	  originated	  in	  the	  Bauhaus	  movement,	  which	  

began	  in	  Germany.	  Bauhaus	  architects	  wanted	  to	  use	  the	  principles	  of	  classical	  

architecture	  in	  their	  purest	  form,	  designing	  simple,	  useful	  structures	  without	  

ornamentation	  or	  excess.	  Building	  shapes	  were	  based	  on	  curves,	  triangles,	  and	  cones.	  

Bauhaus	  ideas	  spread	  worldwide	  and	  led	  to	  the	  International	  Style	  in	  the	  United	  States.	  

Classic	  Streamline	  Moderne/	  Art	  Moderne	  is	  a	  late	  type	  of	  the	  Art	  Deco	  

architecture	  and	  design	  that	  emerged	  in	  the	  1930s.	  During	  the	  1930s	  and	  1940s,	  the	  

Art	  Moderne	  style	  was	  one	  of	  the	  most	  popular	  styles	  found	  throughout	  Florida.	  Art	  

Moderne	  buildings	  usually	  are	  1-‐3	  stories	  in	  height,	  asymmetrical	  and	  essentially	  cubic.	  

Generally,	  Art	  Moderne	  and/or	  Streamline	  Moderne,	  is	  considered	  to	  come	  after	  the	  

introduction	  of	  Art	  Deco,	  although	  they	  share	  many	  of	  the	  same	  characteristics.	   	  

Classic	  Art	  Moderne	  reflects	  the	  early	  twentieth	  century	  excitement	  over	  

technological	  advancements,	  high-‐speed	  transportation,	  and	  innovative	  new	  

construction	  techniques.	  The	  architecture	  is	  usually	  streamlined	  like	  many	  of	  the	  

industrial	  designs	  of	  the	  1930s.	  Walls	  are	  typically	  white	  stucco	  with	  a	  flat	  finish,	  

decorative	  detail	  is	  minimized,	  relying	  instead	  on	  strong	  horizontal	  elements	  like	  metal	  

banding,	  coping	  at	  the	  roofline	  and	  clean	  metal	  balustrades	  to	  impart	  fresh,	  

contemporary	  character.	   	  

	  

	  



2 

Aluminum	  awning,	  jalousie,	  fixed	  windows,	  and	  frequently	  using	  glass	  block,	  

alternately,	  windows	  at	  corners	  met	  with	  minimal	  framing	  to	  create	  an	  illusion	  of	  a	  

window-‐wrapped	  corner.	  New	  window	  styles	  emphasized	  horizontal	  lines	  by	  stacking	  

rectangular	  lights	  in	  a	  metal	  sashits	  architectural	  style	  emphasized	  curving	  forms,	  long	  

horizontal	  lines,	  portholes,	  pipe	  railing,	  wave	  motifs,	  brow-‐like	  projections	  and	  other	  

nautical	  references	  are	  sometimes	  used.	   	  

Materials	  such	  as	  glass	  block,	  mirrored	  or	  stainless	  steel	  panels,	  aluminum	  

doors	  and	  window	  trim	  often	  are	  used.	  Grooves,	  bands	  (sometimes	  called	  “racing	  

stripes”),	  and	  balustrades	  contribute	  to	  the	  horizontality	  of	  the	  buildings.	   	  

812	  S.	  Lakeside	  Contributing	  Residence	  Architectural	  Design:	  

Renowned	  architect,	  AIA	  president	  and	  Lake	  Worth	  resident,	  Mr.	  Edgar	  S.	  

Wortman	  designed	  contributing	  Residence.	  Contributing	  Historical	  Residence	  design	  

incorporates	  a	  balance,	  harmony	  and	  a	  design	  mix	  of	  architecture	  elements	  of	   	   	   	   	  

Art	  Moderne/Streamline	  Moderne/Art	  Deco	  design.	  

Wortman	  designed	  the	  Contributing	  Residence	  incorporating	  an	  uncommon	  

approach	  in	  both	  design	  and	  materials	  used,	  by	  using	  a	  harmonious	  and	  rhythmic	  

blend	  of	  Deco/Moderne	  architecture.	   	  

Asymmetrical	  elements	  were	  used	  throughout	  the	  design,	  independent	  of,	  yet	  

contributing	  to,	  the	  final	  harmonious	  balance.	   	  

Wortman	  arranged	  both	  positive	  elements	  and	  negative	  space	  in	  such	  a	  way	  

that	  no	  one	  area	  of	  the	  design	  overpowers	  other	  areas.	  Every	  element	  works	  together	  

and	  fits	  together	  in	  a	  seamless	  whole.	  The	  individual	  parts	  of	  the	  residence	  contribute	  

to	  their	  sum	  but	  don’t	  try	  to	  become	  the	  sum.	  

The	  residence	  includes	  design	  elements	  of	  Art	  Deco	  such	  as	  stepped	  straight	  

rooflines	  with	  cantilever	  eyebrows,	  round	  blue	  color	  glass	  window,	  operable	  blue	  color	  

casement	  windows,	  glass	  block	  windows,	  wood	  glass	  bay	  window,	  wood	  French	  type,	  

glass	  entry	  door,	  wood	  blue	  glass	  door	  lites,	  curved	  entry	  concrete	  wall	  and	  grooved	  

stucco	  bands.	   	  

Unlike	  Classic	  “Art	  Moderne”,	  that	  usually	  incorporates	  metal	  framed	  windows	  

arranged	  in	  a	  horizontal	  band,	  such	  as	  awning	  or	  jalousie	  and	  corner	  wrap	  around	  

windows,	  the	  (812)	  residence	  has	  vertical	  operable	  casement	  windows;	  usually	  

buildings	  built	  in	  the	  1930's	  "Art	  Deco"	  style	  were	  originally	  fitted	  with	  what	  are	  

typically	  called	  "factory	  sash	  "casement	  windows,	  “as	  is”	  incorporated	  in	  (812).	   	  

	  

	  



3 

Wood	  was	  strategically	  integrated	  into	  the	  residence	  by	  Wortman	  in	  a	  sloped	  

glass	  Bay	  window,	  as	  well	  as	  wood	  [blue	  glass	  color]	  round	  porthole	  window	  and	  wood	  

glass	  French	  entry	  door	  and	  fixed	  wood	  side-‐lite	  [blue	  glass	  color]	  windows	  at	  entry	  of	  

residence.	  

No	  decorative	  aluminum	  elements	  or	  metal	  banding	  were	  incorporated	  into	  

residence;	  no	  railings,	  balusters	  and	  no	  metal	  trim.	  

	   In	  Classic	  Art	  Moderne	  often	  two	  straight	  walls	  converge	  into	  a	  rounded	  corner;	  

Wortman	  designed	  the	  residence	  incorporating	  all	  square,	  straight	  walls	  and	  corners.	   	  

Roof,	  Wall	  and	  Finish:	  

The	   existing	   Contributing	   Residence	   construction	   of	   the	   exterior	   and	  

interior	   walls	   are	   poured	   concrete	   block,	   smooth	   stucco,	   grooved	   stucco	  

banding	   and	   white	   paint.	   	  

The	   roof	   is	   flat,	   (no	   slope),	   poured	   reinforced	   concrete	   with	   built	   up	  

hot	   mopped	   asphalt	   roofing	   atop,	   stepped	   2’-‐0’’	   eyebrows	   overhang	   from	   roof.	  

	  

Windows:	  

The	   windows	   consist	   of	   a	   combination	   of	   operable	   casement	   type,	   fixed	  

wood	   rectangular	   sloped	   bay	   window,	   round	   fixed	   wood	   frame	   window	   and	  

monolithic	   glass.	   There	   is	   an	   entry	   door,	   which	   is	   French	   type,	   solid	   core	   wood	  

and	   monolithic	   glass,	   fixed	   side	   lites	   and	   one	   solid	   core	   wood	   and	   glass	   wood	  

door	   at	   south	   alternate	   egress	   of	   home.	   	  

	  

Carport:	  

The	   residence	   includes	   an	   attached	   non-‐contributing	   carport	   that	   was	  

added	   many	   years	   after	   Contributing	   Residence	   was	   built.	   The	   carport	   is	  

termite	   ridden,	   dilapidated	   and	   structurally	   not	   sound,	   which	   must	   and	   is	  

planned	   to	   be	   demolished.	  

	  

Deco	   Walls:	  

	   The	   Contributing	   Residence	   has	   a	   curved	   concrete	   and	   stucco	   Deco	   wall	  

located	   at	   entry.	  

	  

Builder:	  

The	  local	  renown-‐building	  contractor,	  Mr.	  Samuel	  Ackerman	  built	  the	  two-‐

story	  existing	  Contributing	  Residence	  in	  the	  year	  1942.	   	  

	  



4 

Published:	  

The	   residence	   has	   been	   included	   in	   a	   published	   book	   by	   Sharon	   Koskoff	  

named	   “Images	   of	   America,	   Art	   Deco	   of	   the	   Palm	   Beaches”;	   Contributing	  

Residence	   812	   S.	   Lakeside	   Drive	   is	   displayed	   and	   described	   on	   page	   number	   45.	   	  

In	   this	   publication	   Koskoff	   names	   the	   design	   as	   Art	   Deco	   /	   Nautical	   Moderne.	  

	  

Marino	   Project	   Design	   Team:	  

Ms.	   Sharon	   Koskoff,	   founding	   president	   of	   the	   Art	   Deco	   Society	   of	   the	   Palm	  

Beaches,	   author,	   artist,	   historical	   architectural	   expert	   and	   designer.	   A	   full-‐time	  

designer,	   mural	   artist,	   keynote	   speaker	   and	   preservationist.	   	  

	  

Mr.	   Ron	   Uphoff	   is	   a	   respected	   and	   talented	   architect;	   his	   work	   can	   be	   seen	   in	  

residential	   homes,	   commercial	   buildings	   and	   churches.	   His	   excellent	  work	   ethics	   are	  

likewise	   appreciated	   by	   his	   long	   list	   of	   past	   and	   present	   clientele	   because	   he	   often	  

delivers	  a	  quality	  product	  well	  before	  the	  scheduled	  deadline.	  

Mr.	  John	  Griffin,	  respected	  structural	  engineer,	  developer	  and	  inventor,	  who	  possesses	  

expertise	   in	   planning,	   designing,	   obtaining	   approvals,	   permitting,	   inspections,	   and	  

certification	   of	   construction	   projects.	   Mr.	   Griffin	   is	   the	   inventor	   of	   the	   “All	   Wall	  

System™	  ”;	   a	   unique	   Miami-‐Dade	   approved	   wall	   system	   designed	   and	   certified	   for	  

hurricane	  resistant	  and	  security	  /	  eco-‐Homes.	   	  

Project	   COA	   History:	  

Marino	  has	  met	  to	  date	  with	  the	  City	  on	  three	  separate	  occasions	  in	  2015	  and	  

with	  the	  Historical	  Board	  on	  separate	  two	  occasions	  in	  2015,	  relative	  to	  obtaining	  a	  

COA	  and	  Building	  approval.	  Marino	  has	  executed	  all	  paperwork	  and	  has	  paid	  all	  fees	  

relative	  to	  Certificate	  of	  Appropriateness,	  demolition	  of	  non-‐contributing	  carport,	  and	  

required	  ancillary	  services	  required	  for	  site	  approval.	  

	  

Project	   Summary	   Proposal:	  

In	  accordance	  with	  of	  the	  Secretary	  of	  the	  Interior’s	  Standards,	  City’s	  

Regulation	  and	  Qualitative	  Standards,	  the	  project	  is	  designed	  to	  promote	  preservation	  

of	  Contributing	  Residence	  and	  natural	  surrounding	  conditions,	  harmonious,	  visually	  

compatible	  and	  efficient	  organization,	  privacy,	  screening	  and	  buffering	  while	  also	  



5 

providing	  increasing	  value	  and	  other	  enhancement	  of	  the	  residential	  neighborhood	  of	  

South	  Palm	  Park.	   	  

To	  develop	  the	  proposed	  project	  Marino	  has	  previously	  submitted	  to	  the	  City	  

and	  now	  again	  respectfully	  requests	  all	  consideration	  and	  approvals	  as	  required	  

fulfilling	  the	  previous	  requests	  and	  the	  following:	  

	  

• Site	  Plan	  Approval	  to	  allow	  a	  4,500	  +	  square	  foot	  non-‐contributing	  

addition	  to	  the	  historic	  Contributing	  Residence.	  

	  

• New	  non-‐contributing	  addition	  to	  be	  built	  in	  an	  energy	  efficient	  

manner	  and	  will	  follow	  the	  Florida	  Green	  building	  Standard	  Guidelines.	  

[see	  Exhibit	  “C”]	  

	  

• Certificate	  of	  Appropriateness	  for	  construction	  of	  new	  non-‐contributing	  

addition,	  inclusive	  but	  not	  limited	  to;	  privacy	  walls,	  walks,	  drives,	  

loggia,	  breezeway,	  fences,	  pads	  and	  other	  ancillary	  building	  

requirements	  as	  required	  in	  scope,	  construction	  and	  approvals;	   	  

	  

• Certificate	  of	  Appropriateness	  for	  Demolition	  for	  existing	  non-‐

contributing,	  termite	  ridden	  and	  dilapidated	  carport;	  

	  

• Approval	  for	  Historic	  Preservation	  Property	  Tax	  Exemption	  in	  

accordance	  with	  relevant	  Florida	  Law	  and	  Statutes,	  applicable	  Statutes	  

and	  Sections,	  inclusive	  of	  Florida	  Statute	  Section	  196.1997	  (11)	  (a);

	   	   	  

Section	  23.5-‐5.	   Tax	  Exemption	  for	  Historic	  Property: 
a)	  Scope	  of	  tax	  exemptions.	  A	  method	  is	  hereby	  created	  for	  the	  City	  

Commission	  to	  allow	  tax	  exemptions	  for	  the	  restoration,	  renovation	  or	  rehabilitation	  

of	  historic	  properties,	  as	  defined	  in	  these	  LDRs.	  The	  exemption	  shall	  apply	  to	  a	  

maximum	  of	  one	  hundred	  percent	  (100%)	  of	  the	  assessed	  value	  of	  all	  improvements	  to	  

a	  historic	  property,	  which	  result	  from	  and	  are	  directly	  attributable	  to	  restoration,	  

renovation	  or	  rehabilitation	  made	  on	  or	  after	  the	  effective	  date	  of	  this	  section.	  The	  

exemption	  applies	  only	  to	  taxes	  levied	  by	  the	  City.	   	  

	  

Waivers	  /	  Variance:	  

No	  Historical	  Waiver	  or	  Variance	  is	  intended	  at	  this	  time	  to	  be	  sought	  for	  the	  

proposed	  new	  project.	  



6 

	  

Site	  Plan	  Approval/	  Certificate	  of	  Acceptance:	  

	   Petitioner,	  Marino	  requests	  Site	  Plan	  Approval	  and	  Certificate	  of	  Approval	  

relative	  to	  all	  information	  herein	  recited	  and	  submitted	  in	  the	  past.	   	  

	  

Rehabilitation:	   	  

The	   Contributing	   Residence	   will	   not	   be	   rehabilitated	   and	   left	   “as	   is”	  

except	   for	   painting	   of	   the	   exterior	   of	   the	   residence.	   Residence	   will	   remain	   the	  

existing	   color	   with	   accent	   of	   the	   eyebrows.	   The	   proposed	   new	   non-‐contributing	  

addition	   is	   designed	   and	   will	   be	   constructed	   in	   accordance	   with	   the	   Secretary’s	  

Standard	   inclusive	   of	   Sections	   9	   and	   10.	  

	  

Placement	   of	   New	   Addition:	   [see	   site	   plan]	  

Pursuant	   to	   the	   Secretary	   of	   Interior’s	   Standards,	   Standard	   1,	   the	  

property’s	   footprint	   can	   accommodate	   the	   New	   Addition	   location	   harmoniously	  

at	   the	   East,	   (rear)	   of	   the	   property	   relative	   to	   the	   Contributing	   residence.	  

	  

Due	   to	   the	   property’s	   depth,	   the	   new	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   has	   the	  

ability	   to	   be	   set	   back	   on	   the	   property	   over	   fifty	   feet,	   (50’+)	   from	   Contributing	  

Residence.	   The	   new	   addition	   and	   site	   characteristics	   will	   not	   hinder	   or	   ill	   affect	  

the	   primary	   and/or	   secondary	   views	   of	   the	   Contributing	   residence.	   	  

	   	  

	   	   	   	   	   	   	   The	   Contributing	   residence	   is	   isolated	   from	   the	   new	   non-‐contributing	  

addition	   and	   furthermore,	   the	   setting	   and	   context	   of	   the	   property	   is	   protected.	  

	  

	   	   	   	   	   	   	   Non-‐contributing	   addition	   will	   be	   bridged	   and	   otherwise	   connected	   to	  

the	   Contributing	   Residence	   pursuant	   to	   Standard	   and	   Code,	   by	   a	   breezeway.	  

	  

The	  proposed	  project	  is	  visually	  compatible,	  harmonious	  and	  efficiently	  

organized	  in	  relation	  to	  topography,	  the	  size	  and	  type	  of	  the	  property,	  the	  character	  of	  

adjoining	  property’s	  and	  the	  type	  and	  size	  of	  surrounding	  properties	  and	  buildings.	   	  

	  

As	  described	  above,	  the	  project	  entails	  adding	  a	  new	  non-‐contributing	  addition	  

to	  the	  rear	  (east)	  of	  the	  historic	  Contributing	  Residence.	  Florida	  native	  landscape	  and	  a	  

balance	  of	  other	  complimentary	  landscape	  are	  proposed	  in	  the	  front	  of	  Contributing	  

Residence	  as	  well	  as	  non-‐contributing	  addition	  courtyard	  and	  other	  strategic	  property	  

locations.	  The	  project	  is	  designed	  to	  preserve	  the	  existing	  landscape,	  when	  possible,	  in	  



7 

its	  natural	  state.	  The	  project	  in	  all	  aspects	  is	  designed	  to	  provide	  for	  the	  preservation	  

of	  the	  natural	  conditions	  while	  providing	  consideration	  to	  improvement	  of	  energy	  

efficiency,	  noise	  remediation,	  landscape,	  drainage,	  water	  and	  air	  quality	  on	  the	  

property	  and	  inclusive	  of	  the	  surrounding	  of	  the	  properties.	  

	  

The	  non-‐contributing	  addition	  is	  designed	  to	  provide	  concrete	  walls	  and/or	  

fences	  as	  required	  and	  practical	  to	  protect	  the	  privacy	  of	  the	  property	  and	  neighboring	  

residents.	  Parking	  for	  the	  Contributing	  Residence	  and	  non-‐contributing	  addition	  is	  

provided	  on	  the	  property	  in	  an	  enclosed	  garage	  and	  drive.	  The	  Contributing	  Residence	  

and	  non-‐contributing	  addition	  project	  is	  designed	  to	  provide	  visual	  compatibility	  and	  

acoustical	  privacy	  for	  all	  neighboring	  residents	  and	  passersby.	   	  

	  

The	  project	  is	  designed	  to	  meet	  or	  exceed	  all	  of	  the	  City’s	  setback	  and	  

buffering	  requirements	  with	  respect	  to	  the	  property’s	  residential	  use	  and	  is	  

furthermore	  intended	  to	  provide	  sufficient	  distances	  to	  ensure	  reasonable	  visual	  and	  

acoustical	  privacy	  between	  neighboring	  properties.	  Approvals	  as	  requested	  are	  in	  

harmony	  with	  the	  existing	  code	  and	  other	  parties	  and	  properties	  to	  which	  have	  sought	  

and	  secured	  approvals	  sanctioned	  and	  approved	  by	  the	  City	  and	  the	  City	  Historical	  

Committee	  in	  the	  immediate	  area.	  Additionally,	  the	  project	  as	  proposed	  will	  result	  in	  

substantially	  greater	  real	  estate	  value	  benefit	  for	  the	  neighboring	  properties	  and	  it’s	  

owners.	  

	  

Architectural	   Style	   of	   New	   Addition:	   [see	   plans	   and	   3d	   models	   in	   package]	  

The	   New	   Addition	   respects	   the	   architectural	   expression	   of	   (812)	  

Contributing	   Residence	   character,	   is	   stylistic	   similar	   and	   in	   harmony	   with,	   but	   is	  

designed	   to	   be	   visually	   distinguishable	   from	   the	   Contributing	   residence	   pursuant	  

to	   the	   Secretary’s	   Standards,	   inclusive	   of	   Section	   67.7c.	   	  

	  

The	   New	   Addition	   does	   incorporate	   its	   design	   cues	   from	   the	  

Contributing	   residence	   but	   does	   not	   copy	   or	   unify	   them.	   	  

	  

Building	   materials	   are	   in	   the	   same	   color	   range,	   the	   window	   and	   doors	  

have	   been	   sized	   and	   aligned	   pursuant	   to	   the	   same	   rhythm	   to	   provide	   a	  

harmony	   relative	   to	   the	   Contributing	   residence.	   Roofline,	   bands	   and	   brow	   visual	  

perceptions	   are	   also	   consistent	   with,	   but	   do	   copy	   Contributing	   residence.	  

	  

	  



8 

West	   Elevation,	   (Lakeside	   Drive	   view):	   (see	   Exhibit	   “D”	   in	   package)	  

Non-‐contributing	   addition	   will	   be	   located	   over	   fifty	   feet	   (50’+)	   east	   and	  

to	   the	   rear	   of	   Contributing	   Residence,	   disallowing	   primary	   view	   of	   non-‐

contributing	   addition	   due	   to	   obstruction	   of	   Contributing	   Residence	   relative	   to	  

“line	   of	   sight”	   in	   most	   vantage	   points.	   	  

In	   accordance	   with	   the	   Technical	   Preservation	   Standards,	   Standard	   1;	  

the	   new	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   is	   located	   on	   the	   property	   where	   its	   visibility	  

from	   primary	   views	   of	   the	   Historic	   Contributing	   Residence	   is	   at	   worst	  

minimized	   and	   at	   best	   totally	   obscured,	   dependent	   upon	   location.	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	  

A	   passerby	   traveling	   by	   car	   or	   by	   foot	   from	   South	   to	   North	   on	  

Lakeside	   Drive	   would	   have	   an	   unobstructed	   and	   full	   view	   of	   historic	  

Contributing	   Residence,	   (form/envelope)	   and	   would	   not	   have	   primary	   view	   of	  

non-‐contributing	   addition.	   Traveling	   North	   on	   Lakeside	   Drive	   from	   the	   South	   of	  

812	   S.	   Lakeside	   Drive,	   a	   passersby	   view	   of	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   would	   be	  

fully	   obstructed	   by	   the	   mass	   and	   scale	   of	   the	   residence	   located	   at	   818	   S.	  

Lakeside	   Drive,	   which	   is	   located	   (+/-‐10’-‐0’’)	   South	   of	   Contributing	   Residence.	  

	  

A	   passerby	   at	   center	   of	   (812)	   would	   have	   full	   view	   of	   Contributing	   but	  

obstructed	   view	   of	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   until	   passerby	   was	   at	   North	   end	  

of	   the	   property,	   passerby	   then	   would	   have	   ability	   of	   full	   view	   of	   Contributing	  

Residence	   and	   a	   partial	   secondary	   view	   of	   non-‐contributing	   addition.	   	  

	  

A	   passerby	   traveling	   by	   car	   or	   walking	   from	   North	   to	   South,	   would	  

reverse	   of	   (South	   to	   North);	   unobstructed	   and	   full	   continuous	   view	   of	  

Contributing	   Residence	   and	   a	   partial,	   secondary	   view	   of	   the	   non-‐contributing	  

addition	   at	   North	   property	   drive	   and	   obscured	   view	   from	   then	   traveling	   South.	   	  

	  

East	   Elevation:	  

East	   elevation	   of	   the	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   can	   be	   viewed	   from	  

property	   backyard	   and	   Intracoastal	   water	   way.	   	  

	  

East	   elevation	   incorporates	   a	   balance	   of	   French	   doors,	   fixed	   glass,	   and	  

operable	   casement	   windows.	   East	   optical	   view	   incorporates	   architectural	  

material	   and	   character	   of	   West	   elevation.	  

	  

	  

	  



9 

	  

South	   Elevation:	  

South	   elevation	   of	   the	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   can	   be	   viewed	   from	  

818	   South	   Lakeside	   Drive,	   back	   yards	   to	   the	   South	   and	   intra-‐coastal	   waterway.	  

	  

South	   elevation	   incorporates	   a	   balance	   of	   fixed	   glass	   and	   operable	  

casement	   windows.	   South	   elevation	   architectural	   material	   and	   is	   harmonious	  

and	   in	   character.	  

	  

North	   Elevation:	  

North	   elevation	   of	   the	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   can	   be	   viewed	   from	  

810	   S.	   Lakeside	   Drive	   and	   back	   yards	   to	   the	   North	   and	   intra-‐coastal	   water	   way.	  

	  

North	   elevation	   incorporates	   a	   balance	   of	   fixed	   glass	   and	   operable	  

casement	   windows,	   architectural	   materials	   and	   is	   harmonious	   and	   in	   character.	  

	  

Landscape	   [812]: 

	   Native	  plants	  play	  a	  very	  important	  role	  in	  our	  ecosystems.	  Ecologists,	  wildlife	  

biologists	  and	  entomologist	  have	  shown	  that	  native	  plant	  species	  are	  more	  favorable	  

for	  supporting	  pollinators	  and	  local	  wildlife,	  including	  insects	  such	  as	  bees,	  butterflies,	  

amphibians,	  reptiles	  and	  mammals.	  We	  have	  many	  beautiful	  options	  for	  the	  Marino	  

project	  and	  we	  choose	  the	  eco	  friendly	  path	  relative	  to	  planting	  native	  ground	  covers,	  

perennials,	  shrubs,	  bedding	  plants	  and	  trees.  
 	  
	   The	  Marino	  Project	  Landscape	  will	  include	  Florida	  native	  drought	  resistant	  and	  

low	  maintenance	  landscape.	  Landscape	  will	  be	  integrated	  and	  balanced	  for	  natural	  

adaptability	  in	  the	  front	  of	  Contributing	  Residence,	  Courtyard	  and	  rear	  of	  non-‐

contributing	  residence	  and	  surrounding	  property,	  Landscape	  to	  include:	   	  

	  

Perennials;	  [Whirling	  butterflies,	  Tampa	  verbena,	  Blue	  porterweed,	  Pennyroyal],	  

Annuals	  &	  Bedding	  plants;	  [Indian	  blanke,	  Sunflower,	  Butter	  daisy,	  Moss	  rose],	   	  

Shrubs	  &	  Hedges;	  [Scarlet	  milkweed,	  Cosmos,	  Dwarf	  crown-‐of-‐thorns,	  Chinese	  juniper],	   	   	   	   	   	  

Flowering	  &	  Shade	  Trees;	  [Satinleaf,	  Fern	  tree,	  Fried	  egg	  tree,	  Jacaranda],	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	  

Palms,	  Cycads;	  [	  Washingtonia,	  Silver	  palm,	  Pygmy	  date	  palm,	  Sierra	  Madre	  palm	  Cyad],	   	  

Ornamental	  Grasses;	  [	  Pink	  muhly	  grass,	  hairgrass,	  Blue	  muhly	  grass,	  Palm	  grass],	  

Groundcovers;	  [Bromeliad,	  White	  begonia,	  Lemongrass,	  Guzmania].	   	   	   	  

	  



10 

Speculative	   View	   Consideration:	  

Relative	   to	   West	   elevation	   and	   with	   no	   consideration	   to	   obstruction	   of	  

“line	   of	   sight”	   in	   regard	   to	   (addition	   setback	   location	   on	   property)	   and/or	  

(Contributing	   Residence	   line	   of	   sight	   obstruction)	   and/or	   (818	   or	   810	   South	  

Lakeside	   Drive	   line	   of	   sight	   obstruction)	   and	   in	   consideration	   of	   solely	   the	  

individual	   architectural	   stylistic	   harmony	   of	   west	   elevation	   of	   Contributing	  

Residence	   and	   non-‐contributing	   addition:	  

	  

Speculative	   Elevation	   View	   Summary	   as	   follows:	  

• West	   elevation	   of	   Contributing	   Residence	   exhibits	   straight	   and	   well-‐

defined	   horizontal	   lines	   as	   in	   similar	   character	   of	   the	   non-‐contributing	  

addition	   with	   intended	   lesser	   expression	   and	   emphasis.	   	  

• Contributing	   Residence	   and	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   incorporate	   flat	   roof	  

construction	   and	   similar	   flashing	   and	   design.	  

• Contributing	   Residence	   exhibits	   smooth	   stucco	   and	   paint	   exterior	   and	  

similarly	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   incorporates	   a	   (smooth	   stucco	   /	   light	  

stucco	   mixture)	   and	   paint	   exterior.	  

• Contributing	   Residence	   expresses	   stepped	   cantilever	   eyebrows	   and	  

incorporates	   (2’-‐0’’)	   overhang,	   as	   a	   stylistic	   similarly,	   non-‐contributing	  

addition	   exhibits	   cantilever	   eyebrows	   that	   are	   not	   stepped	   and	  

incorporate	   a	   (1’-‐0’’)	   overhang,	   less	   defined	   and	   are	   harmonious	   with	  

Contributing	   Residence.	  

• Color	   of	   Contributing	   Residence	   and	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   will	   be	  

similar;	   Contributing	   Residence	   is	   at	   present	   white	   and	   will	   exhibit	  

periwinkle	   blue	   eyebrows.	   	   	   	  

Non-‐contributing	   addition	   color	   will	   be	   periwinkle	   blue	   and	   white	  

eyebrows	   as	   to	   abide	   by	   the	   Standard	   to	   be	   “visually	   distinguishable”.	  

• Operable	   windows	   in	   Contributing	   Residence	   are	   casement	   (non	   hurricane	  

approved).	   Operable	   windows	   in	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   will	   be	  

casement	   (hurricane	   approved).	  

• Fixed	   windows	   in	   Contributing	   Residence	   are	   rectangular,	   rectangular	  

sloped	   bay	   and	   round,	   (non	   hurricane	   approved).	   	  

Fixed	   windows	   in	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   are	   rectangular	   and	   round,	  

(hurricane	   approved).	  

• Windows	   in	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   are	   stylistic	   similar	   and	  

complimentary	   to	   Contributing	   Residence	   window	   and	   mullion	   design	   but	  

do	   not	   copy	   the	   mullion	   design	   elements.	   	  



11 

	  

	  

• Contributing	   Residence	   entry	   door	   is	   French	   style	   glazed,	   (non	   hurricane	  

approved).	   Non-‐contributing	   addition	   entry	   door	   is	   double	   door	   French	  

style	   glazed,	   (hurricane	   approved).	   	  

• Curved	   wall	   at	   Contributing	   Residence	   entry	   is	   stylistic	   similar	   and	  

represented	   at	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   by	   double	   entry	   curved	   wall.	  

• Garage	   doors	   both	   at	   Contributing	   Residence	   and	   non-‐contributing	  

addition	   are	   non	   ornate	   (solid	   flush	   panel),	   Moderne.	  

• Breezeway	   connecting	   Contributing	   Residence	   and	   non-‐contributing	  

addition	   is	   in	   harmony	   and	   visually	   compatible	   with	   both	   buildings.	  

	  

Rational	   Analyses	   (812):	   (Contributing	   /	   Non-‐Contributing	   buildings)	  

• Both	   Contributing	   and	   non-‐contributing	   residences	   incorporate	   similar	  

concrete	   construction	   and	   stucco	   exterior	   walls.	  

• Both	   Contributing	   and	   non-‐contributing	   residences	   have	   flat	   roofs.	  

• Both	   Contributing	   and	   non-‐contributing	   residences	   incorporate	   raised	  

stucco	   banding,	   clean	   straight	   lines	   and	   cantilever	   eyebrows.	  

• Both	   Contributing	   and	   non-‐contributing	   residences	   incorporate	   operable	  

casement	   windows.	  

• Both	   Contributing	   and	   non-‐contributing	   residences	   incorporate	   fixed	  

rectangle	   glass	   windows.	  

• Both	   Contributing	   and	   non-‐contributing	   residences	   incorporate	   round	  

fixed	   glass	   windows.	  

• Both	   Contributing	   and	   non-‐contributing	   residences	   incorporate	   French	  

glass	   doors	   at	   entry.	  

• Both	   Contributing	   and	   non-‐contributing	   residences	   incorporate	   curved	  

walls	   at	   entry.	  

• Primary	   and	   secondary	   views	   of	   non-‐contributing	   addition	   are	   in	  

harmony	   and	   balance	   with	   Contributing	   Residence.	  

	  

	  

	  

	  

	  

	  

	  



12 

	  

Resources:	  

	  

• The	  Secretary	  of	  the	  Interior’s	  Standards	  for	  Rehabilitation	  and	  Guidelines	  for	  

Rehabilitating	  Historic	  Buildings. 	  

• Guiding	  Additions	  to	  Historic	  Properties:	  A	  Study	  of	  Design	  Guidelines	  for	  

Additions	  in	  Sixty-‐Five	  American	  Cities,	  University	  of	  Pennsylvania	  

• National	  Park	  Service,	  Secretary	  of	  the	  Interior's	  Standards	  for	  Rehabilitation	  

(36	  CFR	  Part	  67,	  as	  amended	  through	  2000).	  

• City	  of	  Lake	  Worth	  Historical	  Preservation	  Ordinance,	  Section	  23.5-‐4	  

• City	  Of	  Lake	  Worth	  Department	  for	  Community	  Sustainability	  Planning,	  Zoning	  

and	  Historic	  Preservation	  Division,	  Minutes,	  Memorandums,	  Correspondence	  

• Guidelines	  for	  Rehabilitating	  Historic	  Buildings	  

• Historic	  Preservation	  Tax	  Incentives	  Program;	  New	  Additions	  to	  Historic	  

Buildings	  

• Sustainability	  for	  Rehabilitation	  of	  Historic	  Buildings	  

• Interpreting	  the	  Standards	  Bulletins	  and	  Preservation	  Brief	  14:	  New	  Exterior	  

Additions	  to	  Historic	  Buildings:	  Preservation	  Concerns	  

• Delray	  Beach	  Historic	  Preservation	  Design	  Guidelines	   	  

• SECTION	  IV.	  Prevalent	  Styles	  of	  Architecture,	  City	  of	  Delray	  

• Pennsylvania	  Historical	  and	  Museum	  Commission	  

• Repairs,	  Remodeling,	  Additions,	  and	  Retrofitting	  –	  FEMA	  

• “The	  Real	  Deal”,	  01/29/16,	  Article	  

• Images	  of	  America,	  Art	  Deco	  of	  the	  Palm	  Beaches,	  Sharon	  Koskoff	  

• Site	  and	  Elevations	  plans,	  812	  South	  Lakeside	  Drive	  

• Antique	  Home;	  Moderne	  and	  Art	  Deco	  Architecture	  of	  the	  20th	  Century	  

• Recent	  past	  revealed,	  architectural	  style	  guide	  

_______________________________________________________________________	  



EXHIBIT 
,,8

PaEe 1

Eltltiglnat
D upcate

,'Jlw.tt B

Site Name(s) (eddoee ll nonel

SurveY Phaee ll

Stta#6 P89649

Tsurvey#
-7-" D arua E:t" f] oc"tt

HIS RE FORM
ILE

Vcr|l'oF 3'0 {tt38

Conrut Br[dr To Hh&dmt E[uqnro furnn lor dldled hstu@il

Lakeslde Drive

i:tri rr Fneuof'."rnoh'trD'l:

fuidrees (lnclule 812 South Lqlegqg

Cross Streets (neorerUbatruecn)

cirynown f,titliT!? 
"tcounry wotth

Subdlvlslon name
OwnorshiP (Pleace ctreck one):

D cltY il cumY

il .tde f] lcdcrel

=n

11
El torelgn El unkrcwn

Neme of Publtc Tncl (e.9., Petk) 

-R0ute to (€cpedaey tt 
'p 

if€at addr6'B)

USGS 7.5'MaP Name & Date-

TownehlP 44S Range 43 msw ESt
m 17 Eaeting 594520 Northlns 2942840

lr€gulaHame:

Landgnant
er.at & other map (rnap'r n*na, locntlon)

slvle{
SS
F

Number of Storiee2

Exterlor Fabrlc(s)' stucco

(rtytidlc detrlh) wood door

Porcfres: flop€fi-#domd *n.fca Locefion(e)

Porch rooft}/Pe(s)-
Exterior Omament

scored

[;5d;i;' E,*",i"P:*.?,*'n"," undd,€lo9ad
:;lxffilil: (NENon6, s=go4re, M=Mo.( AEAlunerilyefl): cqnnprchr A reeHcf{hl 

-rnrilh'donslb.r.-^l^r.l^l
: :l;:::l:;"':' :;:'; -d{hiil'rrrc: dltr l.ee canun{ds 3hr'tro{ ddotbtont ol Intrlor' bndrcepln+ rb)

fooded fleHt sttre Sitg Flle)..con (coded fleldt st Flle).



HISTORIGAL STRUCTURE FORM Slte # 8PEi9649

1942 (yeoO Appftndmatdy_lr€g.)- fartertfnn , =, oar] t-st6f tren --0e40- 

- 

Bulldcr (hd nem' fFu) Akerman' sam94-
Origlrnl addre*r

c;onstucdon dsb: Enc{Y

Arcttibci (hrtnsmtiktt):
ilove: E Y* EJ no fl unlno'vn

y'Jbretiorrs: El }o. [J no D mhovn

Additions: El Yer F no f] unknom

l.lAfr,6€' 

-

Nafur€'

DEb

Dsb c1910
D# qnknown

Cmrutt Buids b H

Origlnel Usa' (glve ffie renqss) rgaid€ilth.l

lrrbrmedista Usaar (give dgte ranogs)

,conrult Gulde to Historicsl stsuet;r€ Fome tor prefrened descrffine (coded fiddt qt the $ite Flle)'

[] fumat sraha6ologlcel suntey

[] infurmat archaetrgical insP€q{ion

[]Pultio l-ands SurveY (PEP)

[] try recoraslProPortY deeda

ltrtar records ontY

[] inbrior inePsc{ion

Il otrer nrethods (ePectfY)

fl pact suwcYa eaarch at FMSF

@ pad sftee ccarc'tr €t FMSF

E FL Arcfti\66 (GnaY Building)

El FL Photo Archlves (oray BuFdlng)

I ocotrpanUonrnor inloryi€trv

El local lhrerY m€eereh

E norl.bozl llbnry reeaaro-tt

ffi build'nS permits

E demolition permhs

I oommarcial Petmits
D occupaton Pcrmlb

El Sanborn maps

EI subcfivieion mapc

fl platmap*

El local nenvepaPerfbs

! neighbor intervievv

DirEctorlee

Pobntqllv Elisible tor local raghr? [f yee: narn€ leolotcr rt rtgrht EJ ns E Inrufficlenl lnlo Nune of local rc0lsier if etlg[blEl

..,ndMdua egi{rtar? n ys.

'ootential d$ict? El Yer

E} no t lnruffclcnt lnfo

E no fl lruufttclsnl lnfo

,qreda) of Histdiost signifcancc (se. tJatbnsl RccBror Eui3dn 15 p.8 6r c$gori€f; €.s.'lrrhtrbotorc,' tthnlo h€rit4s,' 'bonunfly Plrnniag 8 da/eloPh'ol,' etc')

+ De\reloom€nt Arcls'toc{urb

E:glanation of Evaluetion
'nds buldinE was

ines; dtach long€t rtrtarnent, if nceded, on eaprrato eheei)

bv Semuel Akcrman, a bnr

Blbliographio Referenoee (uee contlntratlon theBt" otlw FMSF Menusctlpl # tf rdwE lt)

Polt's Cltv Dlnro'toriea 194&52i Building Pe

Name (last name firtyAddresdPhone/Fax/EmaiUAffiliatio ''o' Eo< 51G3'

PUSERVE.COM

Remember. Use a Supplement for Site Forme ot other continuation sheet for dascrlptlons that do not Frt in the spaces above'

QUIRED: tl) uscs 7.5' MAP WITH STRU6TURE PINP9INTED lN RED

(2) LARGE SCALE STREET ORPLAT MAP
PHOTO OF MAIN F W, AT LEAST 3X5

Itrougraphe (required) B&W prin(s) at hasl qre main hoqdE,

Loostion ofnega(ves & nagatiw numb€re



-a-'

F4c s }IISTORICAL STRUCTURE FORM ev*affiBh4P_

8f i'"' q

t/ lor
r6 Il r

t1l tr ^12 \

,4e uIs
i l.t 14.

Ie l5 l

T,rY,l tqso,8

\ SOUEH

t
qi" gr6a,1

\7 lo ..
rf ll r

r5 z tl? s

+l 13.
rJ 11 I

x/ l5r
I /rr"' lf,, q ,i lrr"- 8 A

NORTH



HISTORICAL STRUCTURE FORM stc*ef!?b4j

6*'

HN

/€
*a
ct

\t

Lake Worth, Fla. 1945 PR 1983
SCALE l;24 000

t.5 -_0
MIIES

r l!_--!99---!Lm

I ERS lm ?m
UTil ORTDAHD I93O AT^GNETIC NORIH

I'€CL$tANOil AT CEI{TER OF STIEET



Front Uiew

Bear Uiew

Stleet View

Designed by United Syslero Softmre C0mpily (800) 969-8727



Priuate Boat llock

Intracoastal Viaw

Back Yard

Designed by llnited Syslems Sottwe Company (800) 969-8727



€ m (t
,

-{ m =



822, 818, 812, 810, 806 south Lakeside Drive



z:
, o - .+ =

i o (, t+ :s o € l- o '\ o 2. o- o I - -a o



,

v, o q F
+

-F J € o lh r+ s o € tf- tu rA ID tn O
- 

,i

oi (J
 

:4
'

:J
.

( rD



d the 812 (Lot 5) side lvith

nsle drive fromthe street leads to a ins .i..1". A 'fish pond' is on axis'

810 & 812

s to the floor Plarr including:

Front entrance from south side to east side of'Porch'

Modified/created Kitcben, Bath and Bedroom

Still one s

'i':r:):::i':1 
ili;: I

ohn

ir siqnins plus three others' Apparently S'H.Ackerman

rest) for

. It is still a s

810 & 812

itding permit is issued for. 810 (Lot 5) to Medholdt & Ackerman for a ucw 2

residence. (Plan is labeled 810 but is it actually 81

worlh property record incorrectly shows 814-816 Lot 5 (actually 812, l-ot 5) as

rlv sinele familv residence. A single line sketch is on the pI9P94y-.1t9!rd'

for 810 and 812 South !4\"si4t D4I9

of drawings for 810 to add a 2nd Floor. These drawings probably we:re done

50'

the ion ofthe 2 houses. 812 does not on the

to Marvin Devos: From the city for the division of Lots 5 & 6 for proprerty

by Ackelman. Lot 6 (810) receives waiver for a 45' fi'ont yald setback in lieu

irement

to Sam Ackerman - re: Lots 5 & 6 waived 50' setback, 10' north to 5'; 1400

1943 by Robert Small,, minimum t'equirement to build plans approved on Dec. 4.

of the Zonins Board of

Histo

810



1 

[EXHIBIT	   “C”]	  
	  
Florida	   Green	   Building	   Coalition	   (FGBC)	  
                   	  
Marino	  Residence,	  [new	  addition:	  812	  South	  Lakeside	  Drive]	  

	  

Project	  Narrative:	  

	  

The	  Marino	  non-‐contributing	  two-‐story	  addition	  project	  will	  be	  constructed	  with	  

Florida	  Green	  Building	  guidelines	  in	  mind,	  utilizing	  sustainable	  energy	  efficient	  

construction,	  conservation	  treatment	  methodology.	   	  

	  

General	  Building	  Energy	  Efficiency	  Measures	  Guidelines:	  

	  

	   1.	   	   High	  Efficiency	  (Energy	  Star	  certified),	  LED	  Lighting,	  [Cleanlife	  or	  equal]:	  

Average	  lighting	  power	  density	  for	  the	  addition	  designed	  to	  comply	  or	  exceed	  

the	  FGBC	  Standard	  Guidelines.	   	  

	   2.	   Insulation,	  (Prodex	  or	  equal):	  The	  U-‐	  value	  for	  mass	  walls	  designed	  

pursuant	  to	  green	  industry	  building	  standard	  for	  energy	  efficiency.	   	  

	   3.	   High	  Efficiency	  Structural	  Glazing:	  Locally	  produced,	  [SAF-‐GLAS,	  LLC]	  

	   Dade	  #	  13-‐1105.10],	  [U-‐value	  for	  the	  fenestration	  from	  0.42	  to	  0.52].	  

	   4.	   Wall	  Construction:	  Concrete	  and	  Insulation:	  [U-‐factor	  =	  0.064]	  

	   5.	   Hurricane	  resistant	  French	  Entry	  and	  Great	  Room	  Doors:	  [U-‐factor	  =	  0.580]	  

	   6.	   Hurricane	  resistant	  Casement	  Windows:	  Locally	  produced,	   	   	  

	   (PGT,	  CGI	  or	  equal)	  Insulated	  Glass	  hurricane	  low-‐E;	   	  

	   	   [U-‐value	  =	  0.42	  to	  0.52	  SHGC	  =	  0.40	  to	  0.44]	  

	   7.	   Fixed	  Windows:	  Locally	  produced,	  (	  Survivalite	  or	  equal)	   	  

	   	   [U-‐value	  =	  0.42	  to	  0.52	  SHGC	  =	  0.40	  to	  0.44]	  

	   8.	   Windows	  strategically	  placed	  for	  natural	  day	  lighting.	  

	   9.	   Roof:	  R-‐21	  built-‐up	  roof,	  [U-‐factor	  =	  0.043]	  

	   	   	   	   10.	   	   	   	   HVAC:	   Energy	   Star	   (16+)	   SEER,	   [Trane,	   Carrier	   or	   equal]	  
	   	   	   	   11.	  	   	   	   Tankless	   Water	   heater:	   Energy	   Star,	   [Rinnai,	   A.O.	   Smith	   or	   equal]	  

	   	   	   	   12.	   	   	   Infrastructure	  installation	  for	  future,	  (30)	  thin	  film	  solar	  panels	  generating	   	   	  

enough	  electricity	  to	  serve	  (+/-‐	  60%)	  of	  the	  needs	  of	  the	  home	  plus	  return	  power	  to	  

the	  grid.	  

	  

	  



2 

13.	   	   	   Air	  venting	  system,	  [Fantech	  or	  equal],	  designed	  to	  keep	  the	  indoor	  air	  

healthy.	  

	   14.	   Smart	  irrigation	  system,	  [Rachio	  or	  equal]	  that	  senses	  environmental	  

conditions	  and	  adjusts	  the	  amount	  of	  water	  output.	  

	   	   	   	   15.	   Florida	  native	  drought	  resistant	  landscape.	  

	   	   	   	   16.	   Zero	  Volatile	  Organic	  Paint,	  [Sherwin	  Williams	  or	  equal].	  

	   	   	   	   17.	   Low	  VOC	  sealants	  and	  adhesives,	  [Swiftbond	  or	  equal].	  

	   	   	   	   18.	   Minimum	  use	  of	  carpets.	  

	   	   	   	   19.	   	   	   Pervious	  drive,	  patio	  and	  walks.	  

	   	   	   	   20.	   	   	   Water	  conserving	  Energy	  Star	  appliances,	  [Kohler,	  Whirlpool	  or	  equal].	  

	  

• The	   Project	   will	   strive	   to	   comply	   with	   pertinent	   sections	   of	   the	   City	   of	  

Lake	   Worth	   Sustainable	   Bonus	   Incentive	   Program	   Section	   23.2-‐33.	  

	  

Sec. 23.2-33. - City of Lake Worth Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program. 
Intent.	  The	  City	  of	  Lake	  Worth	  Sustainable	  Bonus	  Incentive	  Program	  is	  intended	  

to	  implement	  Objective	  1.3.10	  of	  the	  city	  comprehensive	  plan	  future	  land	  use	  

element	  and	  provisions	  therein	  regarding	  a	  community	  benefits	  program.	  This	  

incentive	  program	  offers	  the	  opportunity	  to	  attain	  an	  option	  for	  increased	  height,	  

as	  provided	  in	  the	  comprehensive	  plan	  future	  land	  use	  element,	  or	  an	  option	  for	  

increased	  intensity	  (measured	  by	  floor	  area	  ratio/FAR),	  or	  both,	  within	  certain	  

zoning	  districts	  in	  exchange	  for	  the	  incorporation	  of	  sustainable	  design	  features,	  

community	  based	  improvements	  and	  overall	  design	  excellence	  as	  part	  of	  a	  

development	  proposal.	  

Purpose.	  The	  purpose	  of	  the	  Sustainable	  Bonus	  Incentive	  Program	  is	  to	  

encourage	  the	  incorporation	  of	  sustainable	  design	  and	  development	  principles	  

within	  new	  development	  and	  redevelopment	  projects	  to	  foster	  a	  more	  

sustainable,	  economically	  vibrant,	  diverse	  community	  with	  an	  emphasis	  on	  high	  

quality	  design	  and	  appreciation	  of	  the	  city's	  unique	  cultural,	  architectural,	  

historical	  and	  natural	  resources.	  

Application	  and	  review	  process.	  

Application.	  All	  development	  proposals	  seeking	  the	  increased	  height	  above	  

two	  (2)	  stories,	  or	  additional	  FAR,	  as	  each	  may	  be	  allowed	  in	  a	  zoning	  

district,	  shall	  submit	  a	  sustainable	  bonus	  incentive	  application	  as	  provided	  

by	  the	  department	  for	  community	  sustainability.	  The	  application	  shall	  

accompany	  the	  standard	  City	  of	  Lake	  Worth	  Development	  Application	  for	  

the	  development	  proposal.	  The	  sustainable	  bonus	  incentive	  application	  



3 

shall	  including	  all	  of	  the	  following:	  

A	  project	  fact	  sheet	  with	  building	  specifications	  including	  the	  bonus	  

height	  or	  bonus	  intensity	  proposed.	  The	  number	  of	  square	  feet	  on	  

each	  story	  of	  all	  proposed	  buildings	  that	  are	  above	  the	  first	  two	  (2)	  

stories	  and	  the	  number	  of	  square	  feet	  that	  are	  sought	  for	  the	  bonus	  

floor	  area	  ratio	  shall	  be	  specifically	  delineated.	  

A	  summary	  of	  each	  of	  the	  proposed	  on-‐site	  and	  off-‐site	  features	  or	  

improvements,	  and	  the	  market	  value	  of	  each,	  which	  are	  proposed	  to	  

qualify	  for	  the	  incentive	  program.	  See	  subsection	  d)	  for	  qualifying	  

features	  and	  improvements.	  

If	  a	  project	  is	  to	  utilize	  the	  LEED	  certification	  or	  Florida	  Green	  Building	  

feature,	  a	  security	  or	  performance	  bond	  acceptable	  to	  the	  city	  must	  

be	  posted	  at	  the	  time	  of	  the	  permit	  which	  is	  equal	  to	  the	  value	  of	  the	  

feature(s),	  and	  shall	  serve	  as	  a	  means	  to	  ensure	  that	  the	  certification	  

is	  granted.	  Following	  official	  certification	  of	  the	  project,	  the	  city	  shall	  

release	  the	  security	  or	  performance	  bond.	  If	  the	  project	  fails	  to	  be	  

certified	  within	  a	  reasonable	  time	  after	  the	  construction	  of	  the	  

building,	  the	  city	  shall	  utilize	  the	  security	  or	  bond	  to	  collect	  an	  in-‐lieu	  

fee	  as	  provided	  in	  subsection	  d)	  below.	  

Any	  other	  additional	  information	  to	  ensure	  the	  timely	  and	  efficient	  

evaluation	  of	  the	  project	  by	  city	  staff	  to	  ensure	  that	  the	  requirements	  

of	  the	  incentive	  program	  are	  being	  met.	  

2.	  Review/decision.	  The	  development	  review	  official	  shall	  review	  the	  

application	  along	  with	  the	  zoning	  approvals	  otherwise	  required	  of	  the	  

development	  proposal	  under	  these	  LDRs.	  Development	  applications	  that	  

require	  further	  review	  or	  approval	  by	  a	  decisionmaking	  board	  shall	  also	  

include	  the	  development	  review	  official's	  recommendation	  regarding	  the	  

award	  of	  bonus	  height	  or	  intensity	  (the	  "incentive	  award")	  under	  the	  program.	  

Any	  decision	  on	  the	  incentive	  award	  shall	  be	  made	  by	  the	  planning	  and	  zoning	  

board	  or	  the	  historic	  resources	  planning	  board,	  as	  applicable.	  A	  decision	  on	  an	  

incentive	  award	  may	  be	  appealed	  under	  the	  procedures	  applicable	  to	  the	  

development	  application	  with	  which	  it	  is	  associated.	  No	  waiver	  or	  variance	  

may	  be	  granted	  regarding	  the	  incentive	  award.	  The	  award	  of	  bonus	  height	  or	  

intensity	  under	  this	  program	  shall	  be	  based	  on	  the	  following	  criteria:	  

Is	  the	  award	  calculated	  correctly,	  consistent	  with	  the	  square	  footage	  

and	  height	  requested	  and	  the	  value	  of	  the	  features	  and	  



4 

improvements	  included	  in	  the	  development	  proposal;	  

Do	  the	  proposed	  on-‐site	  features	  or	  improvements	  adequately	  

provide	  sustainable	  project	  enhancements,	  beyond	  those	  otherwise	  

required	  by	  these	  LDRs	  for	  the	  development	  proposal,	  that	  are	  

attainable	  and	  reasonable	  in	  the	  context	  of	  the	  proposed	  project;	  and	  

Do	  the	  proposed	  off-‐site	  improvements	  meet	  the	  priorities	  of	  the	  city	  

for	  community	  sustainability;	  and	  

Do	  the	  proposed	  features,	  improvements	  or	  fees-‐in	  lieu	  meet	  the	  

intent	  of	  the	  Sustainable	  Bonus	  Incentive	  Program?	  

Qualifying	  sustainability	  features	  or	  improvements.	  The	  following	  features	  or	  

improvements	  may	  qualify	  for	  the	  incentive	  award	  of	  either	  bonus	  height	  or	  

intensity,	  or	  both.	  In	  order	  to	  qualify	  for	  each	  incentive	  award	  under	  subsections	  

1.(d)	  through	  1.(h),	  the	  total	  value	  of	  the	  qualifying	  features	  or	  improvements	  

must	  equal	  at	  least	  the	  amount	  of	  the	  fee-‐in-‐lieu	  established	  by	  the	  city	  

commission	  pursuant	  to	  subsection	  e)	  below.	  

1.	  On-‐site	  features	  or	  improvements.	  

LEED	  certification	  shall	  entitle	  the	  applicant	  to	  one	  hundred	  (100)	  

percent	  of	  the	  incentive	  award	  regardless	  of	  the	  number	  of	  additional	  

stories	  or	  additional	  square	  feet	  above	  the	  initial	  two	  (2)	  stories.	  

Florida	  Green	  Building	  certification	  shall	  entitle	  the	  applicant	  to	  fifty	  

(50)	  percent	  of	  the	  incentive	  award	  regardless	  of	  the	  number	  of	  

additional	  stories	  or	  additional	  square	  feet	  above	  the	  initial	  two	  (2)	  

stories.	  

Incorporation	  of	  a	  historic	  building	  or	  structure	  designated	  on	  the	  

National	  Register	  of	  Historic	  Places	  or	  listed	  within	  the	  Lake	  Worth	  

Register	  of	  Historic	  Places	  shall	  entitle	  the	  applicant	  to	  fifty	  (50)	  

percent	  of	  the	  incentive	  award	  regardless	  of	  the	  number	  of	  additional	  

stories	  or	  additional	  square	  feet	  above	  the	  initial	  two	  (2)	  stories.	  

Higher	  quality	  or	  additional	  open	  space	  beyond	  the	  requirements	  of	  

the	  code.	  

Higher	  quality	  or	  additional	  landscaping	  beyond	  the	  requirements	  of	  

the	  code.	  

Public	  amenity	  such	  as	  a	  law	  enforcement	  substation,	  cultural	  gallery,	  

public	  plaza,	  community	  meeting	  space,	  library,	  or	  garden.	  

Public	  parking	  garage.	  



5 

Other	  project	  components	  open	  to	  the	  public,	  or	  offering	  a	  direct	  

community	  benefit	  meeting	  the	  intent	  of	  the	  comprehensive	  plan,	  

which	  are	  similar	  to	  those	  listed	  as	  part	  of	  the	  USGBC's	  LEED	  for	  

neighborhood	  development	  program,	  or	  which	  include	  elements	  of	  

sustainable	  design	  such	  as:	  

i.	  Low	  impact	  development	  and	  green	  infrastructure.	  

ii.	  Natural	  resource	  conservation/sensitive	  lands	  protection.	  

iii.	  Water	  conservation	  measures.	  

iv.	  Solid	  waste	  and	  recycling.	  

v.	  Floodplain	  management.	  

vi.	  Coastal	  hazards.	  

vii.	  Character	  and	  aesthetic	  excellence.	  

viii.	  Urban	  form	  and	  density.	  

ix.	  Historic	  preservation.	  

x.Transit	  oriented	  development.	  

xi.	  Complete	  streets.	  

xii.	  Bicycle	  mobility	  systems.	  

xiii.	  Pedestrian	  mobility	  systems.	  

xiv.	  Public	  transit.	  

xv.	  Public	  parking.	  

xvi.	  Affordable	  housing.	  

xvii.	  Community	  health	  and	  safety.	  

xviii.	  Housing	  diversity	  and	  accessibility.	  

xix.	  Food	  production	  and	  security.	  

xx.	  Renewable	  energy.	  

xxi.	  Energy	  efficiency	  and	  conservation.	  

xxii.	  Noise	  reduction.	  

xxiii.	  Lighting	  mitigation	  (night	  sky).	  

xxiv.	  Vista	  or	  viewshed	  preservation	  and	  protection.	  

	  

	  

	  

	  

	  



6 

• Project	   guidelines	   consideration	   pursuant	   to	   the	   Florida	   Green	   Standard,	  

Version	   10.	  

	  

	  
Florida	  Green	  Home	  Standard	   	  

	  

	   Version	  10	   	  

	   Instructions	   	  

	   Effective	  October	  1,	  2013	   	  

	   Revised	  3-‐11-‐16	   	  

	   	   	  

	   	  

FOR	  NEW	  HOMES	   	  

Each	  home	  must	  comply	  with	  the	  three	  prerequisites	  in	  order	  to	  be	  eligible	  for	  certification.	   	   	  

Select	  items	  to	  obtain	  the	  minimum	  number	  of	  points	  listed	  for	  each	  category	  (category	  minimums).	   	   	  

(The	  sum	  of	  the	  minimums	  totals	  80	  points.)	   	   Accumulate	  at	  least	  an	  additional	  20	  points	  of	  your	  choice	  to	  obtain	   	  

the	  required	  100	  TOTAL*	  to	  qualify	  for	  the	  program.	  

•  If	  any	  category	  minimums	  cannot	  be	  achieved,	  point	  deficiencies	  may	  be	  added	  to	  the	  total	  minimum	  required	  

•  score	  of	  100,	  creating	  an	  "adjusted	  project	  minimum	  required	  points"	  (the	  points	  YOUR	  project	  must	  achieve	   	  

•  for	  certification).	  (Example:	  Applicant	  elects	  to	  achieve	  only	  10	  points	  from	  a	  category	  with	  a	  minimum	  of	  15.	   	  

•  Project	  may	  still	  qualify	  if:	  total	  points	  equal	  or	  exceed	  100	  +	  [15-‐10]	  =	  105.)	   	   	  

IMPORTANT	  GUIDELINES:	   	  

1.	   	   The	  FGBC	  Home	  Standard	  Version	  in	  effect	  when	  the	  home	  is	  permitted	  is	  the	  checklist	  that	  must	  be	  used	  to	  certify	  the	  home.	   	   However,	  you	  may	  opt	  to	  use	  a	  newer	  

version	  if	  available	  and	  applicable.	   	   Any	  application	  submitted	  using	  a	  previous	  version	  of	  the	  standard	  must	  provide	  a	  copy	  of	  the	  building	  permit.	  

2.	   	   Checklists	  and	  supporting	  documentation	  must	  be	  submitted	  by	  an	  Active	  FGBC	  Certifying	  Agent	  (CA).	   	  

3.	   	   	   If	  this	  Excel	  file	  is	  altered	  in	  any	  way,	  the	  application	  will	  not	  be	  accepted.	   	   Altered	  files	  will	  be	  returned	  unprocessed	  

	   to	  the	  submitter.	  

4.	   	   Duing	  the	  review	  process,	  the	  project	  evaluator	  may	  request	  additional	  information	  and/or	  copies	  of	  "suggested	   	  

submittals"	  indicated	  in	  the	  Reference	  Guide	  to	  verify	  that	  the	  project	  has	  achieved	  the	  credit	  point.	   	   	  

FGBC	  CERTIFICATION	  LEVELS	   	  

The	  FGBC	  Green	  Home	  Certification	  program	  uses	  a	  tiered	  rating	  system.	   	   Certification	  is	  awarded	  at	  different	  levels	  

	   according	  to	  points	  achieved	  over	  the	  minimum	  point	  threshold.	  

Bronze	   	  0-‐30	  points	  over	  the	  project’s	  required	  minimum	   	  

Silver	   	  31-‐60	  points	  over	  the	  project’s	  required	  minimum	   	  

Gold	   	   	  61-‐90	  points	  over	  the	  project’s	  required	  minimum	   	  

Platinum	   	  91	  +	  points	  over	  the	  project’s	  required	  minimum	   	  



7 

Florida	  Green	  Home	  Designation	  Standard	  

	  

	  

1.	  GENERAL	  PROVISIONS	  Purpose	  

The	  provisions	  of	  this	  document	  are	  intended	  to	  establish	  a	  voluntary,	  statewide	  

standard	  for	  Green	  Home	  Certification.	  This	  enhances	  the	  goal	  of	  achieving	  uniform	  

and	  meaningful	  green	  building	  designations	  for	  residential	  buildings	  in	  Florida.	  

Scope	  

These	  standards	  apply	  to	  

Single-‐family	  and	  multi-‐family	  residential	  units	  less	  than	  four	  (4)	  stories	  New	  

construction	  and	  existing	  buildings	  Homes	  considered	  a	  dwelling	  unit	  by	  the	  Florida	  

Building	  Code	  Structures	  that	  comply	  with	  local	  zoning	  ordinances	  

2.	  OPERATING	  PRINCIPLES	  

a.	   Qualification	  shall	  be	  achieved	  by	  attaining	  at	  least	  100	  Credit	  Points,	  gained	  

through	  incorporating	  green	  construction	  techniques	  and	  products	  into	  the	  home	  so	  

that	  it	  benefits	  the	  environment	  and	  supports	  a	  more	  sustainable	  Florida.	  

b.	   A	  list	  of	  qualifying	  improvement	  features	  and	  their	  respective	  Credit	  Points	  

(referred	  to	  as	  the	  "Checklist")	  shall	  be	  maintained	  by	  the	  Florida	  Green	  Building	  

Coalition	  such	  that	  the	  Credit	  Point	  list	  may	  be	  modified,	  to	  include	  advancements	  in	  

technologies,	  through	  a	  regular	  technical	  and	  public	  review	  and	  acceptance	  process	  

that	  is	  defined	  by	  this	  Standard.	  

c.	   The	  Checklist	  shall	  be	  organized	  into	  categories,	  such	  as	  energy,	  water,	  site,	  

health,	  materials,	  disaster	  mitigation,	  etc.	  Each	  category	  has	  both	  a	  minimum	  Credit	  

Point	  requirement	  and	  a	  maximum	  number	  of	  allowable	  Credit	  Points	  to	  increase	  

diversity.	  

d.	   All	  new	  homes	  with	  a	  permit	  date	  more	  than	  36	  months	  from	  submittal	  date,	  

must	  use	  the	  current	  version	  of	  the	  Standard	  in	  effect	  at	  the	  time	  the	  final	  application	  

is	  submitted.	  

e.	   Any	  home	  that	  has	  not	  been	  occupied	  for	  any	  reason	  shall	  comply	  with	  the	  “NEW”	  

home	  certification	  requirements.	  

f.	   Any	  home	  that	  has	  been	  occupied	  for	  any	  reason	  shall	  comply	  with	  the	  

“EXISTING”	  home	  certification	  requirements.	  

g.	   All	  model	  homes	  shall	  comply	  with	  the	  “NEW”	  home	  certification	  requirements.	  

h.A	  Final	  Application	  submitted	  using	  a	  previous	  version	  of	  the	  Standard	  is	  subject	  to	  

the	  fee	  

structure	  stated	  in	  the	  current	  version	  of	  the	  Standard	  in	  effect	  at	  the	  time	  the	  Final	  

Application	  is	  submitted.	   	   	  



8 

	  

	  

	  

Certification	  of	  NEW	  homes	  

1.	   Each	  home	  must	  comply	  with	  the	  prerequisites	  in	  order	  to	  be	  eligible	  for	  

certification.	   	  

2.	   Each	  home	  must	  select	  items	  from	  the	  Checklist	  to	  obtain	  the	  minimum	  number	  

of	  points	  listed	  for	  each	  category	  (category	  minimum),	  the	  sum	  of	  which	  is	  80	  points.	   	  

3.	   Each	  home	  must	  accumulate	  at	  least	  an	  additional	  20	  points	  to	  obtain	  the	  

required	  100	  points	  to	  qualify	  for	  certification.	   	  

4.	   If	  any	  category	  minimums	  cannot	  be	  achieved,	  point	  deficiencies	  may	  be	  added	  

to	  the	  total	  minimum	  required	  score	  of	  100,	  creating	  an	  "adjusted	  minimum	  required	  

points."	   	   	  

5.	   	   All	  documentation	  must	  be	  submitted	  within	  120	  days	  of	  the	  Certificate	  of	  

Occupancy	  for	  new	  home	  construction	  or	  the	  home	  will	  be	  required	  to	  submit	  under	  

the	  Standard	  version	  in	  effect	  at	  the	  date	  of	  submittal.	  

6.	   Single	  Family	  Home	  submittals	  shall	  be	  submitted	  electronically	  (preferred)	  or	  

mailed	  to	  the	  Florida	  Green	  Building	  Coalition.	  The	  submittal	  shall	  include	  at	  a	  

minimum	  the	  completed	  checklist	  in	  the	  official	  electronic	  format,	  application,	  and	  

required	  documentation.	  Additional	  information	  regarding	  submittals	  may	  be	  found	  in	  

the	  Checklist.	  

	  



806                       810                                    812                                   818                              822



Nicole
Typewritten Text
[EXHIBIT "D"]

Nicole
Typewritten Text
COLORS IN PICTURE, FOR DEFINTION CLARITY ONLY; TRUE COLOR AS RECITED IN EXHIBIT “A” ATTACHED

























































812 SO(TTH LAKESIDE DRIVE

0_!

+o.
tz.,\o9.
zJafJ!
oL;

f

:
I

I

I

i:ii

.15
EH-

cSCALE: l/4" .I'O"



(D o t- [l A o

I].
 J

O
I{

N
 G

R
IF

F
IN

 I
I, 

P
E

F
L 

ltc
, 

%
11

53
S

 g
U

' 
6l

 A
V

E
N

T
jE

oa
Y

lE
.F

L 
97

91
4'

A
R

T
 M

A
R

IN
O



I

ri t I

H
. 

JO
|{

N
 G

R
tF

tN
 il

, 
P

E
F

L 
Lt

C
, 

30
b1

1
93

34
 9

U
 6

r 
A

V
E

N
U

E
D

A
Y

IB
F

L 
33

21
1



n 6 I i o o
rE Il F

I
- d

n m il m T
q

I q

E
-E

V
A

T
IO

N
S

 P
LA

N

II.
 J

O
I{

N
 6

R
III

N
 

il,
 P

E
F

L 
LI

C
, 

%
41

93
9 

gI
I' 

6I
 A

V
E

N
U

E
O

A
Y

IE
,F

L 
3"

21
4

I f
ii$



d*
aP

s€
**

iE
iF

dI
B

*i
liR

=
A

E
$E

F
E

s.
i 

{]
$ 
;

e 
3E

99 It = o ; F ! ?

oo oo S
d 

o

g=
 

r
'''d

 
a

- 
_t

 
: 

_-
- 

-l

I 
$ 
: 

=
.,o

^.
=

i
il 

E
 U

 
er

rE
 p

LA
N

 
oe

 p
er

ve



t;
27. ASPHALT ROADWAY

UKESIDE DRIVE

I -40'R/w--\,.so.oo' p. so.o2' M. -ru B

200.oo' P. &
o',{1<

.;2.-

n

N
o,
,.Noq
!

N
N
q
! *3+

N{
tr
oq
o

N*s
oq
s

ar%

::: :::::: =

%

rt - -o'l'
\ '' 5o.oo' p.

i'e to."ir' u. &?



2122015 www.pbcgov.com/papa/Asps/PropertyDetail/StructuralDetail.aspx?entity_id=38431427010240050&Owner Name=MARINO+ARTHUR+JR

n

MARINO ARTHUR JR

Parcel Control Number:

Location Address:

38-43-4 4-27-0 I -024-00 50

812 S LAKESIDE DR

or Buil ing I
Buil ing I

Exterior Wall 1 CB STUCCO

Year Built 1940

Air con No HTG/Ac

Heat Type NONE

Heat Fuel NONE

Bed Rooms

Full Baths I
Half Baths I

Exterior Wall 2 N/A

Roof Structure FLAT

Roof Cover BUILT-UP T/G

lnterior Wall I PLASTER

Interior Wall 2 N/A

Floor Type I TERRAZZO MONO.

Floor Type 2 N/A

Stories 2

t.
2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

r0.
I l.
12.

t3.
14.

t5.
t6.

:No. Code Description Sq. Footage

r I. BASBASEAREA 940

I 3. FST FINISHED STORAGE 80

, FUS FINISHFNa. 408

: Total Square Footage : 1728

Toll! t.r_:" Under Air : 
-'l3-48

Extra Feature

Description
.PATIO

: BOAT DOCK

Units
207

686

Units Acres
r0

Year Built
1940
r 985

Unit may represent the perimeter, square footage, linear footage, total number or other measurement of the
.feature depending on the feature described.

Land Details

Land Line # Description
. I. INTRACOASTAL

Toning









City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  May 4, 2016

AGENDA DATE: May 11, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  402 North Lakeside Drive

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for exterior 
alterations including roof, window, and door replacement for the single-family structure located at 402 North
Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-428-0 010.  The subject property was constructed in 1958 and is a non-
contributing resource within the Old Lucerne Local Historic District.

OWNER/APPLICANT: Robert W. and Daphne Eaton

 402 N Lakeside Drive

 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The single family structure at 402 North Lakeside Drive was designed in 1958 by architect Hilliard T. Smith Jr. for 
owner Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert A. Labine. The property has public frontage on North Lakeside Drive to the west and 
the Lake Worth Municipal Golf Course to the east.  The building was constructed in a Mid-Century Modern
architectural style, and still retains all of its character defining features.  These character defining features include 
the decorative aluminum porch grill and screen, decorative coquina stone, a hipped-gable flat white concrete tile 
roof, the original silver aluminum awning windows, and concrete masonry construction with a smooth stucco 
finish.

The original architectural plans for the building are available in the City’s property files. Based on the information 
in the property file, minimal exterior alterations have occurred over time, including a roof replacement with white 
concrete tile and a swimming pool installation.  Overall, the building retains a high degree of historic integrity of 
location, setting, materials, and design.

REQUEST: 

The Applicant is proposing exterior modification to the building as follows:

1) Replace the existing white concrete tile roof with a new GAF Dimensional Asphalt shingle roof.

2) Replace the existing original silver awning windows with white aluminum single-hung windows.

3) Replace (2) existing silver aluminum sliding glass doors with impact white aluminum sliding glass doors.

4) Replace the front door with a new Mid-Century style door.



HRPB No. 16-00100092
402 North Lakeside Drive

COA Application – Window and Roof Replacement
Page 2

2

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a change 
that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the request is in conflict with 
these objectives:

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate restrict 
development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible.

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning
The proposed alterations are not in conflict with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code.  

Historic Preservation

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding replacement 
of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation:

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided.

Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved.

Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence.

It is the analysis of Staff that the project as proposed is not compatible with the review criteria set forth in the City’s 
Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation Ordinance, Section 23.5-4.  

Roof

According to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards, distinctive materials that characterize a property shall be 
preserved.  The roof material is an important character defining feature of a historic property.  According to the 



HRPB No. 16-00100092
402 North Lakeside Drive

COA Application – Window and Roof Replacement
Page 3

3

City’s property file, the original roof in 1958 was a flat white concrete tile.  In 1990, this material was removed, and 
a replacement white concrete roof was installed.  The building currently has had the white concrete roof removed 
to repair and replace the underlayment to stop active leaks.  The Applicant has requested to re-roof using an 
asphalt shingle product, given the property’s location on the golf course and the tile damage caused by stray golf 
balls.  The Applicant’s justification states that currently the golf balls will break the concrete tile and that an asphalt 
shingle roof would not have this issue.

It is the anaylsis of Staff that the proposed change to a dimensional asphalt shingle is not appropriate for the 
architectural style of the building, and would constitute an adverse effect on the integrity of the design and 
materials of the resource. The proposed asphalt shingle roof differs greatly in exterior appearance from a flat white 
raised concrete tile roof.  The dimensional shingle lacks the same thickness and depth, and horizontal banding 
appearance of the concrete tile. The concrete tile roof, often referred to as a “Bermuda tile roof”, was especially 
used in southern climates as it reflects the heat from the intense southern sun helping to keep the structures cool.  
These roofs also tend to have a life expectancy of 50 years or more, making them more sustainable than other roof 
materials.  Furthermore, the asphalt shingle roof material would not be consistent with the guidelines set forth in 
the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, as adopted by the City of Lake Worth as part of the 
review criteria for Certificates of Appropriateness.

The durability of the white concrete tile roof in comparsion to dimensional asphalt shingles when hit by a golf ball 
was addressed by the City of Lake Worth’s building inspector Rick Jones, who provided a letter with his expert 
testimony. Staff would like to draw special attention to this testimony that states:

“An asphalt shingle is basically an asphalt coated fiberglass mat, covered by ceramic coated granules.  When struck 
by a hailstone (or golf ball), depending on the size and speed of the strike, the shingle is ‘bruised.’  This can loosen 
the granules and sometimes even cut the fiberglass mat. Often the extent of the damage is not immediately 
evident. As the granules fall out, the asphaltic matrix is weakened allowing water intrusion and associated 
damage.”

The National Park Service Preservation Brief #4 “Roofing for Historic Buildings” has been included as Attachment 
#7.  This Brief discusses the issues and options for the repair and replacement of historic roofs.  Under the 
“Alternative Materials” section of the Brief, Staff would like to draw special attention to this paragraph:

“In a rehabilitation project, there may be valid reasons for replacing the roof with a material other than the original. 
The historic roofing may no longer be available, or the cost of obtaining specially fabricated materials may be 
prohibitive. But the decision to use an alternative material should be weighed carefully against the primary concern 
to keep the historic character of the building. If the roof is flat and is not visible from any elevation of the building, 
and if there are advantages to substituting a modern built-up composition roof for what might have been a flat 
metal roof, then it may make better economic and construction sense to use a modern roofing method. But if the 
roof is readily visible, the alternative material should match as closely as possible the scale, texture, and coloration 
of the historic roofing material.”

The roof is readily visible, and is a very distinct, expansive feature on the structure.  The only feasible, available 
product that will replicate the scale, texture, and coloration of the historic roofing material is flat white concrete 
tile.  Additionally, advances in the underlayment material and foam used for setting the concrete tile will provide 
more flexibility when a golf ball hits the roof.  The new foam should be more elastic and flexible than the previous 
material, and will help reduce the number of tiles that break.  Another option could be to consider coating the roof 
with a slurry mixture, in order to provide an extra layer of protection against breakage.



HRPB No. 16-00100092
402 North Lakeside Drive

COA Application – Window and Roof Replacement
Page 4

4

Windows

According to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards, distinctive materials that characterize a property shall be 
preserved.  The original silver aluminum awning windows are an important character defining feature on this 
structure.  The Applicant is requesting to replace these windows with white single-hung windows.  The type, finish, 
and configuration of the proposed windows is not consistent with the original windows for this structure.  

According to the Standards and the Code, the windows should be repaired if at all possible, and if repair is not 
possible, replacement windows should match the design, color, texture, and materials of the existing windows.  
Staff has recommended impact silver aluminum casement windows with exterior raised applied triangular muntins 
to replicate the appearance of the original windows.  Unfortunately, several of the existing window openings are 
too large for a single casement window. Staff and the Applicant have researched alternative window replacement 
options with impact glass, including casement, hopper, and awning windows, and have not located a compatible
replacement match for the larger openings.  It would be possible to use casement, awning, or hopper windows in 
many of the openings, however the large 3-pane and 4-pane windows on the front of the structure are too large 
for these types of windows.  

The Applicant has requested white aluminum single-hung windows as the most feasible option for most openings, 
and will utilize hopper style windows in several of the smaller bathroom windows.  The single-hung windows could 
have exterior raised applied triangular muntins added in order to closely replicate the pattern of the existing 
windows.  Additionally, clear anodized, or silver mill finish windows would most closely replicate the existing color 
and appearance of the silver windows.  Due to the lack of a compatible replacement material, staff will defer the 
decision to the board on the most appropriate course of action. 

Public Comment
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project. 

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends that the Board deny the request for roof replacement with an alternate material, given that the 
project as proposed by the Applicant does not meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, 
does not meet the criteria set forth in the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), and will 
have an adverse effect on the integrity and character of the property.  Staff recommends that a new flat white 
concrete tile roof be installed on the structure.

If the Board chooses to approve an alternate roof material for the building, Staff recommends the following 
conditions:

1) The roof shall be a dimensional asphalt shingle, in a white color, in order to most closely replicate the 
original flat white concrete tile roof.

Staff recommends that the Board discuss the request for window replacement with an alternate material.  The 
proposal, as submitted by the Applicant does not meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, 
does not meet the criteria set forth in the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), and will 
have an adverse effect on the integrity and character of the property.



HRPB No. 16-00100092 
402 North Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Window and Roof Replacement 
Page 5 

 

5 

If the Board chooses to approve new replacement windows for the building, Staff recommends the following 
conditions: 
 

1) Replacement windows shall be single-hung type windows, match the original window opening sizes, and 
have a divided light pattern that replicates the original aluminum awning windows.  Where 3-light awning 
windows exist, they shall be replaced with 2/2 (4 light) windows. 

2) The divided light pattern shall be created by using exterior raised applied triangular muntins to replicate 
the pane configuration of the awning windows.  No flat or internal muntins shall be allowed.  The proper 
divided light pattern shall be reviewed by Staff at permitting. 

3) The aluminum window replacements shall have a clear anodized or silver mill finish in order to most closely 
replicate the original aluminum windows. 

4) The Applicant shall utilize light gray screens rather than dark vinyl screens in order to minimize the impact 
of the panes of glass sitting in different visual planes. 

5) No reflective or mirrored glass shall be used. 
6) All work shall be subject to staff review during permitting and inspection during construction. 

 
POTENTIAL MOTIONS:   
 
Roof Replacement: 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for roof replacement 
with an alternate material for the subject building located at 402 North Lakeside Drive because the Applicant has 
not established by a preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that the application is not in compliance 
with the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards 
for the Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for roof 
replacement with an alternate material for the subject building located at 402 N Lakeside Drive, with the conditions 
as recommended by Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the 
City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4. 
 
Window and Door Replacement: 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window and door 
replacement for the subject building located at 402 North Lakeside Drive because the Applicant has established by 
a preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that the application is not in compliance with the City of 
Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the 
Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window and 
door replacement for the subject building located at 402 N Lakeside Drive, with the conditions as recommended by 
Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth 
Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4. 
 
 
 
 

 



HRPB No. 16-00100092
402 North Lakeside Drive

COA Application – Window and Roof Replacement
Page 6

6

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Decision Criteria 
2. Photographs

a. Sign Posted
b. Application Photographs

3. Proposed Roof Information
4. Window Study
5. Building Inspector Letter
6. Original Architectural Drawings

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: May 4, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for exterior alterations including roof, window, and door replacement for the 
single-family structure located at 402 North Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-428-0 
010.  The subject property was constructed in 1958 and is a non-contributing resource 
within the Old Lucerne Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: May 11, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?  

Response: It is the analysis of Staff that the work proposed would have an adverse effect on the 
historic appearance of the building, and is not compatible with the design or style.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding Old Lucerne Local Historic District, however it will have an indirect visual effect on 
the district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The project as proposed would have an adverse effect on the integrity of material and 
design of the building. The proposed roof replacement is not compatible with the architectural style 
and design of the structure.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property? 
Response: The denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from proposing other 
alterations to the home, or re-roofing with an alternate recommended material. 

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time? 
Response: Yes.



F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: It is the analysis of Staff that the proposed roof material would alter the Mid-Century 
Modern Masonry Vernacular character of the structure by removing its character defining feature of 
a white concrete tile roof.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: The roof is a distinctive feature of the structure, and the type of roof material used on the 
structure should be retained.

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 
Response: The Application proposes to replace the existing white concrete tile roof with a 
dimensional asphalt shingle roof, which does not replicate the composition, design, color, or texture 
of the existing roof.  Additionally, the Application proposed to replace the existing silver aluminum 
awning windows with white single-hung windows, which do not replicate the original windows in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities.

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this request.  



(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the analysis of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The proposal does 
not represent the least possible adverse effect.

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: It is the analysis of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The proposal does 
not represent the least possible adverse effect.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and
Response: The application meets this criteria.

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Staff will defer to the applicant.





























































City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  May 4, 2016

AGENDA DATE: May 11, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  208 South Lakeside Drive

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100078: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for exterior 
alterations for all 12 units in the the multi-family structure located at 208 South Lakeside Drive; PCN#’s:
38-43-44-27-18-000-5130, 38-43-44-27-18-000-4030, 38-43-44-27-18-000-4020, 38-43-44-27-18-000-4010,
38-43-44-27-18-000-3030, 38-43-44-27-18-000-3020, 38-43-44-27-18-000-3010, 38-43-44-27-18-000-2030, 
38-43-44-27-18-000-2020, 38-43-44-27-18-000-2010, 38-43-44-27-18-000-1030, 38-43-44-27-18-000-1020, 
38-43-44-27-18-000-1010, and 38-43-44-27-01-059-0010. The subject property was constructed in 1971 and is a 
non-contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local Historic District.

OWNER/APPLICANT: Park Towers, Inc. (HOA)

 208 South Lakeside Drive

 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The 12 unit multi-family condominium structure at 208 South Lakeside Drive was designed in 1971 by architect 
Donald J. Della Valle and engineer Karl H. Haller for owner Richard J. Clausen. The property has public frontage 
on South Lakeside Drive to the west and Bryant Park to the east.  The building was constructed in a Mid-Century 
Modern architectural style, and still retains most of its character defining features.  These character defining 
features include the decorative masonry unit screen wall, vertical decorative banding, deep cantilevered carport, 
and concrete masonry construction with a stucco finish.  Although the structure is non-contributing and is not yet 
50 years of age, it is an excellent example of Mid-Century Modern condominium design with many unique and 
distinctive features.  Although constructed in 1971, the structure has many design features that were utilized 
heavily in the 1950’s and 1960’s.

The original architectural plans for the building are available in the City’s property files. Based on the information 
in the property file, few exterior alterations have occurred over time.  Some original silver aluminum awning 
windows have been replaced with white aluminum impact single-hung windows, and some original silver sliding 
glass doors have been replaced with white aluminum impact sliding glass doors.  Additionally, many units have 
removed their original clamshell shutters and other have installed roll-down or accordion style shutters.  Overall, 
the building retains a high degree of historic integrity of location, setting, materials, and design.



HRPB No. 16-00100078
208 South Lakeside Drive

COA Application – Exterior Alterations
Page 2

2

REQUEST: 

The Homeowners Assocation (HOA), on behalf of all condominium owners, has submitted plans for exterior 
alterations as follows:

1) Replace all of the remaining original 2-light and 3-light aluminum awning windows with PGT impact white 
aluminum 1/1 single hung windows.  The windows are proposed to be replaced in the existing openings, 
however the divided light configuration and appearance of the windows is proposed to change.  

2) Replace all remaining silver aluminum sliding glass doors with white aluminum impact sliding glass doors.  
The doors are proposed to be replaced in their existing openings, and will replicate the same 
configuration.

3) Remove all remaining original clamshell shutters, and all remaining non-original roll down and accordion 
style shutters.

4) Replace all original flush panel doors with decorative trim that enter each unit with new 2-panel impact 
steel doors.

5) Replace the existing plexiglass sidelights and transoms and the main entry doors with new tempered 
glass. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a change 
that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the request is in conflict 
with these objectives:

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible.

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning
The proposed alterations are not in conflict with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code.  

Historic Preservation

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria.  The Applicant has also provided a response to these criteria, detailed in Attachment 3.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding 
replacement of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation:



HRPB No. 16-00100078
208 South Lakeside Drive

COA Application – Exterior Alterations
Page 3

3

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided.

Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved.

Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence.

It is the analysis of Staff that portions of the project as proposed are not compatible with the review criteria set 
forth in the City’s Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation Ordinance, Section 23.5-4.  

The type, finish, and configuration of the proposed windows is not consistent with the original windows for this 
structure and the requirements of Standard #6.  Based on the qualifications in Standard #6, if replacement 
windows are considered, they should be silver aluminum casement style windows with exterior raised applied 
triangular muntins to replicate the design, color, and configuration of the original aluminum awning windows.  
Similarly, if replacement products are considered for the sliding glass doors and single-light windows, they should 
have a silver aluminum finish and replicate the design, color, and configuration of the original doors and windows.

Over time, window replacement has occurred in (5) of the (12) individual units.  A complete list, as well as a copy 
of a previously approved administrative COA letter, has been provided in the Applicant’s justification statement, 
included as Attachment 3.  The window and sliding glass door replacements that have already occurred are in 
accordance with the current request from the Applicant.  The HOA association is requesting that all openings be 
replaced in the same manner, in order to provide a consistent exterior appearance for the entire structure. 

The proposed replacement material for the existing flush panel doors with decorative applied trim is also not 
consistent with the Standards.  Although the proposed doors do reference the 2-panel appearance of the doors, 
the detailing and specific design is not consistent with Mid-Century Modern design.  The original flush doors with 
applied trim are a character defining feature of the Mid-Century style, and part of the original design of the 
structure as indicated in the original architectural drawings.  If replaced, the new doors should be impact flush 
doors with trim applied to replicate the size, shape, profile, and pattern of the existing doors.

The proposed replacement of the plexiglass is in compliance with the Standards, as plexiglass is a replacement 
product and the original material would have been glass.

Public Comment
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project. 

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends that the Board discuss the application submitted, given that the proposal does not meet the 
requirements of the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Historic Preservation or the City of Lake Worth Land 



HRPB No. 16-00100078 
208 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Exterior Alterations 
Page 4 

 

4 

Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), but the proposal is in accordance with previously approved replacement 
windows and doors.   
 
If the Board chooses to approve exterior alterations for the building, Staff recommends the following conditions: 
 

1) All windows and doors shall be replaced in their existing openings, and shall replicate the size and 
configuration of the existing windows and doors. 

2) All 2-light and 3-light awning style windows shall be replaced with silver aluminum impact casement style 
windows, with exterior raised applied triangular muntins to replicate the divided light pattern of the 
awning style windows. 

3) All existing single-light operable windows shall be replaced with silver impact operable or fixed single-light 
windows. 

4) All window and door replacements shall have a clear anodized or silver mill finish in order to most closely 
replicate the original materials. 

5) All clamshell, roll-down, and accordion style shutters may be removed from the structure. 
6) The original flush panel doors with decorative trim shall be replaced with new flush panel doors with 

decorative trim to replicate the existing doors. 
7) The existing non-original plexiglass sidelights and transoms may be replaced with tempered glass. 
8) All work shall be subject to Staff review at permitting and inspection during construction. 

 
If the Board chooses to approve the windows and doors as requested by the Applicant, Staff recommends the 
following conditions: 

 
1) Replacement windows may be 1/1 white aluminum single-hung windows where indicated on the 

drawings. 
2) Replacement windows may be single light operable or fixed windows where indicated on the drawings. 
3) Replacement sliding glass doors may be white aluminum impact sliding glass doors where indicated on 

the drawings. 
 
POTENTIAL MOTION:   
 
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100078: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for exterior 
alterations for the subject building located at 208 South Lakeside Drive, with conditions as recommended by 
Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100078: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for exterior 
alterations for the subject building located at 208 South Lakeside Drive because the Applicant has not established 
by a preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake Worth Land 
Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic 
Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Decision Criteria  
2. Application Photographs 
3. Justification Statement 
4. Proposed Window Information 
5. Original Architectural Drawings 

 



HRPB No. 16-00100078
208 South Lakeside Drive

COA Application – Exterior Alterations
Page 5

5

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: May 4, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 16-00100078: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for exterior alterations for all 12 units in the the multi-family structure located at 
208 South Lakeside Drive; PCN#’s: 38-43-44-27-18-000-5130, 38-43-44-27-18-000-4030, 
38-43-44-27-18-000-4020, 38-43-44-27-18-000-4010, 38-43-44-27-18-000-3030, 
38-43-44-27-18-000-3020, 38-43-44-27-18-000-3010, 38-43-44-27-18-000-2030, 
38-43-44-27-18-000-2020, 38-43-44-27-18-000-2010, 38-43-44-27-18-000-1030, 
38-43-44-27-18-000-1020, 38-43-44-27-18-000-1010, and 38-43-44-27-01-059-0010.  The 
subject property was constructed in 1971 and is a non-contributing resource within the 
South Palm Park Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: May 11, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the following 
criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work is to be 
done?  

Response: It is the analysis of Staff that the work proposed would have an adverse effect on the historic 
appearance of the building, and is not compatible with the design or style of the Mid-Century Modern 
structure.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other property 
in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within the 
surrounding South Palm Park Local Historic District, however it will have an indirect visual effect on the 
district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, design, 
arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that is not compatible with the architectural design and detailing
of the building by removing the historic aluminum awning windows and replacing them with white aluminum 
single-hung windows.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable beneficial use 
of his property? 
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially proposing 
other alterations to the structure, nor would it make the building uninhabitable.

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable time? 



Response: Yes.

F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from time to 
time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal change 
to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic materials 
or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: The Applicant is proposing to remove original windows and doors that are character defining 
features of this property.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that create a 
false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural elements from 
other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their own 
right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: The original windows are an example of craftsmanship that characterizes not only this structure, 
but also the time period and architectural style in general.

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In the 
event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in composition, 
design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 
Response: The proposed window replacement does not match the existing in style, composition, design, or 
color.  Specifically replacing 3-light silver awning windows with 1/1 white single-hung windows changes the 
design, composition, and color of the original windows.  The proposed replacement for the flush panel 
decorative doors also does not comply with this Standard, as the new door does not replicate the 
composition, texture, and visual quality of the Mid-Century door.

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs or 
because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be available for 
relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, shall not 
be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest means 
possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials that 
characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old and shall be compatible 
with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and 
its environment.  
Response: The proposed alterations remove historic windows that characterize the property.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner that, if 
removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its environment would 
be unimpaired.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse effect 
on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely affected 
by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The requested exterior 
alterations do not represent the least possible adverse effect on the property.  There are alternate options, 
including replacement with impact casement windows in a clear anodized finish, with exterior raised applied 
muntins to replicate the existing divided light pattern.

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall also 
consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires minimal 
alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its originally 
intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its environment 
being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive architectural features shall 
be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: The windows can be considered a distinctive architectural feature and should not be removed 
unless the level of deterioration is such that the windows cannot be repaired.  In that case, the replacement 
windows should replicate the original windows as closely as possible.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall permit 
the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an increase in cost 
of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to demonstrate to the 
HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and
Response: The applicant meets this criterion.
(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in excess of 
thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Staff must defer to the applicant.

















Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 1 
208 South Lakeside Drive: Park Towers, Inc. 
Replacement of Windows and Doors 

 

Legal Description: North ½ of Lot 5, south ½ of Lot 7 and all of Lot 6, Block 101, Plat No. 2, 
Lucerne Townsite as recorded in Plat Book 2, Page 36 in the records of Palm Beach County, 
Florida. 
 
Request/Description of Work: 
 
This application is for a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window and door replacement 
for a five story, multi-family structure. The building was built in 1973. It appears as a 
non-contributing resource in the South Palm Park Local Historic District designation report. 
According to the COA Approval Matrix currently available on the city’s website, window and 
door replacement is to be reviewed by staff and not go to the Historic Resource Preservation 
Board (HRPB).  
 
During the pre-application meeting outlining the renovation work about to be undertaken by 
the condominium association, it was determined that the application should be subject to 
board review. Staff determined that, even though built in 1973, the building might eventually be 
listed as a contributing structure if the district is re-surveyed in the future. It should be pointed 
out that 1973 is outside of the current period of significance of the district and that the building 
will be 50 years old in 2023. While not a hard and fast rule, 50 years of age is a guideline as to 
what would be a contributing structure and what would not be. As of today, the building is 
listed as a non-contributing resource. 
 
Generally, the request would involve the replacement of existing awning windows with single 
hung white aluminum impact units. These would have the same look as the awning windows, 
maintaining the one horizontal muntin in the middle of the window unit. Likewise, the existing 
aluminum sliding doors would be replaced with white aluminum impact units of the same 
configuration. Small existing utility room and bathroom windows would be replaced by white 
aluminum impact units. Entry doors to each unit would also be replaced with a similar style 
impact door. Lastly, the sidelights and transoms of two storefront door openings that are 
currently aged and “foggy” plexiglass would be replaced with tempered glass units. 
 
Please refer to the attached building elevation diagrams and pictures of existing conditions that 
are included with this application. 
 
Justification Statement 
 
This application would seek to follow the pattern of previous permitted window and sliding 
door replacements that have occurred in the past. This “blanket” approval would allow the 
condominium association to replace existing windows with impact windows for all units that 
have not done so already. As part of the project, rolldown shutter boxes and clamshell shutters 
would be removed from the building as they would no longer be needed. This would “clean 

 

 



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 2 
208 South Lakeside Drive: Park Towers, Inc. 
Replacement of Windows and Doors 

 

up” the look of the building and return it to more of its intended design. The building would 
then be repaired, prepped and painted immediately following the installation of the new 
windows, sliding doors, entry doors and plexiglass door sidelights. 
 
List of Previous approvals:  
 
 

Date Description 

6/9/02 Unit #303 Aluminum Rolldown Shutters 

5/15/08 Unit #103 Window Replacement 

5/15/08 Unit #303 Aluminum Rolldown Shutters 

5/21/08 Unit #403 Window/Door Replacement 

5/21/08 Unit #103 Window/Door Replacement 

8/28/08 Unit #201 Window/Door Replacement 

12/3/10 Entire Building Fire Alarm 

4/12/12 Unit #302 Aluminum Rolldown Shutters 

4/16/12 Unit #101 Aluminum Rolldown Shutters 

3/1/13 Unit #203 Window/Door Replacement 

8/23/13 Unit #401 Window/Door Replacement 

10/9/13 Unit #401 COA (see Kelly Christianson Memo) 

 
 
Criteria for Granting Certificates of Appropriateness (Section 23.5-4(k)1) 
 
In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness, the City shall, at a 
minimum, consider the following general guidelines: 
 
A. What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such 
work is to be done? 
 
Response: The structure is listed as a non-contributing building in the South Palm Park 
Local Historic District. The project would result in the removal of rolldown shutter boxes 
that are found above the window and sliding door openings of the building, providing for an 

 

 



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 3 
208 South Lakeside Drive: Park Towers, Inc. 
Replacement of Windows and Doors 

improved appearance. The replacement impact window units would be identical in 
appearance to those previously permitted and approved. 

B. What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or
other property in the historic district?

Response: There are no other structures on the property. The building would have a 
cleaner, more consistent and uniform exterior appearance. This would benefit other 
properties within the historic district. 

C. To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural
style, design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be
affected?

Response: In some cases, existing windows with an anodized finish would be removed and 
awning-style windows would be replaced with previously permitted and approved single 
hung white aluminum impact units. 

D. Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable
beneficial use of his property?

Response: It would create a continued hardship for individual unit owners to be responsible 
for their own window and door replacement. It would also create uncertainty as to what 
impact window or door would be approved going forward. It may leave some units without 
hurricane protection. It also may prevent savings possible from lower wind insurance 
premiums. 

E. Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a
reasonable time?

Response: Yes. The work is ready to begin upon board approval of the COA. 

F. Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United
States Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be
revised from time to time?

The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows: 

(1) A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires
minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 4 
208 South Lakeside Drive: Park Towers, Inc. 
Replacement of Windows and Doors 

 

Response: There is no change in the building’s historic purpose or use that would result in a 
change to the defining characteristics of the building, site and environment. 
 
(2) This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of 
historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be 
avoided. 
 
Response: The building is considered a non-contributing resource. What character it has 
would be retained, with only a minimal change to some existing windows. Other windows 
have already been permitted and installed with the same style and material as the 
replacement windows and doors requested here. 
 
(3) Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes 
that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or 
architectural elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
 
Response: There are no conjectural features or architectural elements from other buildings 
being added. The building itself is not changing. 
 
(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in 
their own right shall be retained and preserved. 
 
Response: Windows and doors have changed over time. They have been permitted and 
approved in a similar style as proposed. Added exterior shutters will be removed that 
detract from the historic integrity of the building. 
 
(5) Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved. 
 
Response: There are a small number of anodized aluminum window units left on the 
building. Many have already been replaced by white aluminum impact units that have 
already been approved and permitted. Granting the COA would rid the building of rolldown 
shutter boxes and provide a uniform appearance. 
 
(6) Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever 
possible. In the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material 
being replaced in composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. Repair or 
replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural 
designs or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures 
happen to be available for relocation. 

 

 



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 5 
208 South Lakeside Drive: Park Towers, Inc. 
Replacement of Windows and Doors 

 

 
Response: There are a small number of anodized aluminum window units left on the 
building. Many have already been replaced by white aluminum impact units that have 
already been approved and permitted. Granting the COA would rid the building of rolldown 
shutter boxes and provide a uniform appearance. 
 
(7) Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic 
materials, shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be 
undertaken using the gentlest means least likely. 
 
Response: Not applicable. 
 
(8) Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. 
If such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
 
Response: Not applicable. 
 
(9) New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the 
old and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect 
the historic integrity of the property and its environment. 
 
Response: There is no new construction associated with this request. Exterior alterations 
are limited to door and window replacement. 
 
(10) New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such 
manner that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building 
and its environment would be unimpaired. 
 
Response: Not applicable. 
 
G. What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure 
which served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least 
possible adverse effect on those elements or features? 
 
Response: This structure is a non-contributing resource within a local historic district. The 
changes proposed are consistent with changes to the building approved previously. 
 
H. Such other supplemental guidelines for restoration and rehabilitation of historic properties 
which the HRPB may from time to time adopt. 
 

 

 



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 6 
208 South Lakeside Drive: Park Towers, Inc. 
Replacement of Windows and Doors 

 

Response: Not applicable. 

 

 



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 7 
208 South Lakeside Drive: Park Towers, Inc. 
Replacement of Windows and Doors 

 

Total Number of Openings: 
 
East 
12 - Sliding Glass Doors 96 x80 
4 -   Single Hung 44 x 50 
 
West 
4 - Single Hung 44 x 38 
4 - Single Hung 37 x 26 
4 - Casements 24 x 19 
12 - Entry Doors 
 
North 
6 - Single Hung 44 x 38 
6 - Casements 24 x 19 
 
South 
2 - Single Hung 44 x 38 
2 - Casements 24 x 19 
 
2 - Storefront Glass sidelights/transom  
 

 

 

















Park Towers, 208 South Lakeside Drive, looking east.

Northwest quarter of Park Towers. Windows shown here with rolldown shutters to be removed. Decorative
concrete block screen shown here to remain.



Southwest quarter, top, Park Towers, showing south, western detail of decorative concrete block screen (to
remain). Rolldown shutter boxes to be removed over windows at right.

View of Park Towers, 208 South Lakeside Drive, from the west looking east and slightly north.



Park Towers, 208 South Lakeside, carport detail, western facade with decorative concrete block (to remain). Note
open stairwell with railings (to remain).

S
outhw

est corner of P
ark T

ow
ers. W

indow
s on floors 1, 2, and 4 already

replaced w
ith w

hite alum
inum

 im
pact w

indow
s. F

loor 3 unit to be
 replaced w

ith
sim

ilar product.



Typical unit door at Park Towers - all behind decorative concrete block facade, to be replaced as indicated.

Southwest corner storefront, plexilgass sidelights to be replaced with clear tempered glass.



S
outhw

est corner storefront, plexilgass sidelights to be replaced w
ith clear

tem
pered glass.

View looking up at south building facade. Second floor typical of window used as permitted white aluminum
replacement, including fixed smaller windows toward center.



View of southern building facade, first floor, windows shown are approved and permitted white aluminum
replacement units. Clamshell shutters to be removed.

Smaller, aluminum, fixed windows in center showing approved white aluminum replacement windows.



Eastern buildilng facade, lower southeast corner unit showing approved white aluminum replacement single hung
window with similar sliding glass door.

Second floor southeast corner unit showing approved replacement white aluminum impact windows. Note that
rolldown shutter boxes in upper right to be removed.



Eastern facade, third floor awning window to be replaced with previously approve white aluminum single hung
impact window. Rolldown shutter boxes to be removed.

Eastern building facade. Wall windows seen here to be replaced with single hung white aluminum impact
windows. Only two awning windows left here as seen in this photo, 1st and 3rd floor.



Eastern building facade looking west from Bryant Park. Only three, three pane awning windows left. All rollldown
shutter boxes to be removed.

Northern eastern corner of building. One third floor, three pane annodized in view at right.



Northern facade of building showing floors 2 and 3. All windows here, except the 4th floor, to be replaced with
white aluminum single hung windows. Smaller windows same, but fixed. Shutter boxes to be removed.

Northern facade of building, showing anodized awning windows to be replaced with previously approved white
aluminum single hung windows. Smaller windows to be fixed.



S
m

aller w
indow

s to be fixed w
hite alum

inum
 im

pact w
indow

s.

North facade showing floors 2, 3 and 4. Rolldown shutter boxes to be removed. 4th floor has approved white
aluminum single hung replacement windows already.



Example of few remaining anodized awning windows. To be replaced with white aluminum single hung impact
windows.

Example of single hung replacement window, with rolldown shutter box to be removed.



Northern stronfront door where plexiglass sidelights will be replaced with clear tempered glass.

R
olldow

n w
indow

 shutter boxes to be rem
oved.























































































City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  May 4, 2016

AGENDA DATE: May 11, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  817 South Palmway

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100079: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for roof 
replacement to the subject property located at 817 South Palmway, PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-022-0120. The subject 
building was constructed in 1940 and the property is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local 
Historic District.

OWNER: Jim and Ann Maxwell
 817 S Palmway
 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The property at 817 South Palmway has a one-story single-family structure built in 1940 in a Frame Vernacular 
style. The property has public frontage on South Palmway to the east.  The original architectural plans for the 
main house are available in the City’s property files.  The building retains the overall layout and configuration 
consistent with the frame vernacular architectural style, however, the building has undergone numerous 
alterations over time. In the property file there are permits for the installation of aluminum siding, extension to 
the garage, a rear addition, roof replacement from metal shingles to asphalt shingles, and the re-configuration of 
(1) window and (1) door on the garage.  Overall, the building retains a moderate level of historic integrity of 
location, setting, materials, craftsmanship, and design.

REQUEST: 

The Applicant is proposing to replace the existing asphalt shingle roof with a Southeastern Metals 5v Crimp 
aluminum roof panel system.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a change 
that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)



HRPB PR No. 16-00100079
817 South Palmway

COA Application – Roof Replacement
Page 2

2

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible.

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

ANALYSIS:  

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and applied the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding 
replacement of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation:

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided.

Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved.

Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence.

According to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards, disctinctive materials that characterize a property shall be 
preserved.  The roof material is an important character defining feature of a historic property.  According to the 
architect’s specification book provided in the City’s property file, and included as Attachment 4, the original roof 
material installed in 1940 was “interlocking galvanized metal shingles, with a 15 lb. felt underlayment.  The 
original metal shingles were replaced in 1974 with asphalt shingles. In April, the applicant requested to replace 
the existing the asphalt shingle roof with a 5v crimp metal roof. 

It is the opinion of Staff that the proposed change to an aluminum 5v crimp roof is not appropriate for the 
structure, and negatively effects a character defining feature of the property.  The original metal shingles and 
replacement asphalt shingles have a horizontal rhythm and scale that is substantially different from the crisp 
vertical lines and shadows of the 5v crimp roof.    Additionally, the Frame Vernacular style of architecture in the 
early 1940’s primarily used metal shingles, and did not use standing seam metal.  The metal shingles represent a 
distinctive material and level of craftsmanship that is very indicative of the local Frame Vernacular style.



HRPB PR No. 16-00100079
817 South Palmway

COA Application – Roof Replacement
Page 3

3

The National Park Service Preservation Brief #4 “Roofing for Historic Buildings” has been included as Attachment 
#7.  This Brief discusses the issues and options for the repair and replacement of historic roofs.  Under the 
“Alternative Materials” section of the Brief, Staff would like to draw special attention to this paragraph:

“In a rehabilitation project, there may be valid reasons for replacing the roof with a material other than the 
original. The historic roofing may no longer be available, or the cost of obtaining specially fabricated materials 
may be prohibitive. But the decision to use an alternative material should be weighed carefully against the 
primary concern to keep the historic character of the building. If the roof is flat and is not visible from any 
elevation of the building, and if there are advantages to substituting a modern built-up composition roof for what 
might have been a flat metal roof, then it may make better economic and construction sense to use a modern 
roofing method. But if the roof is readily visible, the alternative material should match as closely as possible the 
scale, texture, and coloration of the historic roofing material.”

Additionally, Staff has contacted the Florida Division of Historical Resources with regards to the request for roof 
replacement with standing seam metal.  The response from the State’s Senior Architect, Kenneth Cureton, is 
included as Attachment 6.  In particular, Staff would like to draw attention to the follow excerpt, 

“We would strongly advise against sheet metal products, since the strong vertical lines and shadows of such 
products would adversely impact the historic status of the building, as it would completely change the character 
of the roof and have no historical basis.”

Replacement metal shingles are still available, and are therefore technically feasible.  Additionally, this is the 
primary sloped roof for the structure and is readily visible.  The metal shingles are the only product that will 
properly replicate the “scale, texture, and coloration of the historic roofing material” as required by National Park 
Service’s Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic Properties.  If it is determined that the metal shingles are 
not financially feasible, the recommendation from the Florida Division of Historical Resources is that a light gray 
architectural dimensional shingle should be used.  Staff will defer to the Board regarding the economic 
feasibility of the products.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends that the Board deny the application as submitted, given that the metal roof installation as 
proposed by the Applicant does not meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, does not 
meet the criteria set forth in the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), and will have an 
adverse effect on the integrity and character of the property.

If the Board chooses to approve a replacement roof for the structure, Staff recommends the following conditions:

1) The replacement roof material shall be silver metal shingles or dimensional asphalt shingles in light grey, 
to replicate the original metal shingles or replacement asphalt shingles as closely as possible.

POTENTIAL MOTION:  
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100079: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for roof 
replacement for the subject building located at 817 South Palmway as recommended by Staff, based upon the 
preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Land Development 
Regulations Section 23.5-4.

I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100079: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for roof 
replacement for the subject building located at 817 South Palmway because the Applicant has not established 



HRPB PR No. 16-00100079 
817 South Palmway 

COA Application – Roof Replacement 
Page 4 

 

4 

a preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake Worth Land 
Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic 
Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Administrative Decision Criteria 
2. Application Photographs 
3. Justification Statement 
4. Original Architectural Drawings 
5. Roof Brochure 
6. Division of Historical Resources Letter 
7. National Park Service Brief 

 
LOCATION MAP 

 

 
 



MEMORANDUM

DATE: May 4, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 16-00100079: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for roof replacement to the subject property located at 817 S Palmway, PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-
022-0120. The subject building was constructed in 1940 and the property is a contributing resource 
within the South Palm Park Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: May 11, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the following 
criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work is 
to be done?  

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the proposed work on the property located at 817 S Palmway
will have an adverse visual effect on the building. 

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding South Palm Park Local Historic District. However, the project would have an adverse 
visual effect on the building itself and an indirect adverse effect on the district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The project as proposed would have an adverse effect on the integrity of material and design 
of the building. The proposed roof replacement is not compatible with the architectural style and design 
of the structure.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable beneficial 
use of his property? 
Response: The denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from proposing other 
alterations to the home, or re-roofing with an alternate recommended material. 

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time? 
Response: Yes.

F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:



2

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the proposed metal roof material would alter the Frame
Vernacular character of the structure by altering the strong horizontal lines of the existing asphalt 
shingle roof.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that create 
a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural elements 
from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: Not applicable to this project. 

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: The roof is a distinctive feature of the structure, and the type of roof material used on the 
structure should be retained.  The metal shingle is an example of the craftsmanship of the 1940’s and 
was widely used in Frame Vernacular design.  This is an important design feature, and should be 
preserved or replaced in kind.

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials 
that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old and shall be 
compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of 
the property and its environment.  



3

Response: The application is not proposing a new addition.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner that, 
if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its environment 
would be unimpaired.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The proposal does 
not represent the least possible adverse effect.

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as the original style of the building 
would be affected by the alterations proposed.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original door and window openings of the structure; 
and
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in excess 
of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



















1

Aimee Sunny

From: Cureton, Kenneth H. <Kenneth.Cureton@dos.myflorida.com>
Sent: Friday, February 05, 2016 4:17 PM
To: Aimee Sunny
Subject: RE: Lake Worth - Roof Questions

Aimee 

 

To follow up on our conversation this morning, the State Historic Preservation Office follows the National Park Service / 

Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for the Rehabilitation of Historic Buildings 

explicitly when reviewing projects under our purview, along with the supplemental guidance NPS provides.  Such 

additional NPS guidance can be found in their preservation topics index here: 

http://www.nps.gov/tps/how-to-preserve/by-topic.htm 

 

 

These standards are incorporated by reference in Section 1203 and Appendix B of the Florida Building Code – Existing 

Building, 5th Edition as code mandated requirements for work on buildings that meet the definition of a Historic Building 

in Section 1202 therein. Therefore, the argument can be made that if the Standards are not followed, the work is not in 

compliance with the building code. 

 

In all four cases you have presented, the first consideration would be replacement of the historic materials based on 

pictorial evidence, which you have provided. The NPS Guidelines allows that when an in-kind replacement of a historic 

roof “…is not technically or economically feasible, then a compatible substitute material may be considered.” The key 

here is compatibility. If in-kind replacement is not feasible, our opinion of a compatible roof for these particular projects 

is the actual roof material would be subordinate to the color and pattern that the historic roof provided. The low slope 

of the roof pitch in all four examples would allow for replacement with an architectural grade shingle, provided it was in 

the light grey color range the metal shingles originally presented. We feel that a white shingle would not be an 

appropriate color. 

 

We would strongly advise against sheet metal products, since the strong vertical lines and shadows of such products 

would adversely impact the historic status of the building, as it would completely change the character of the roof and 

have no historical basis. 

 

We would also strongly advise that if a lack of selection of metal shingles with Florida Product Approval is the reason for 

higher costs, your authority having jurisdiction should contact the Florida Building Commission to investigate local 

product approval options. 

 

Hope this opinion helps clarify how we would view such issues on a State level. 

 

Thanks for your inquiry and best of luck with your projects. 

 

 

Kenneth H. Cureton, R.A., NCARBKenneth H. Cureton, R.A., NCARBKenneth H. Cureton, R.A., NCARBKenneth H. Cureton, R.A., NCARB 
Senior Architect, Bureau of Historic Preservation | Division of Historical Resources  |  Florida Department of 
State  |  500 South Bronough Street  |  Tallahassee, Florida 32399  |  850.245.6343 |  1.800.847.7278  |  Fax: 

850.245.6439 |  Kenneth.Cureton@DOS.MyFlorida.com  |  dos.myflorida.com/historical 



2

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

From: Aimee Sunny [mailto:asunny@LakeWorth.org]  

Sent: Friday, February 05, 2016 12:03 PM 

To: Cureton, Kenneth H. 

Cc: Hilburn, Richard L. 

Subject: Lake Worth - Roof Questions 

 

Mr. Cureton, 

 

Thank you very much for your time and consideration this morning regarding the projects I mentioned in Lake Worth.  I 

very much appreciate your analysis and discussion on the various roof types we discussed, as they relate to historic 

properties. 

 

As I mentioned, I have attached a few photos of several cases that will be heard before the HRPB next Wednesday, 

February 10th,  and I welcome your input: 

 

520 N Palmway – Contributing, c.1940, Frame Vernacular, with original flat metal shingles.  The request is for 

Southeastern Metals, SEM-Lok Snap Standing Seam 16” wide Aluminum panels. 

 

612 N Palmway – Contributing, c.1940, Frame Vernacular, with original flat metal shingles.  The request is for Gulf Coast 

Supply, Gulf-Lok 16” Wide Roof Panels, 26 gauge steel. 

 

726 N M St – Non-contributing, c. 1940, Frame Vernacular, with original flat metal shingle that have been coated several 

times.  The request is for CertainTeed Landmark dimensional asphalt shingles. 

 

731 N M St – Surveyed as Contributing, but has lost many features over time. 1946, Masonry Vernacular.  The original 

construction drawings called for rolled slate roofing, the roof was changed to flat white concrete tile in 1955, and later 

changed to 3-tab asphalt shingles in the 1990’s.  The request is now to change to Gulf Coast Supply, Gulf-Lok 16” Wide 

Aluminum Roof Panels, in a white color. 

 

I look forward to receiving your suggestions, and to working with you in the future. 

 

Best wishes, 

 

Aimee N. SunnyAimee N. SunnyAimee N. SunnyAimee N. Sunny 
Preservation Planning Coordinator 
City of Lake Worth 
1900 Second Avenue North 



3

Lake Worth, Florida 33461 
561-586-1690 
asunny@lakeworth.org 
 

 
 

 

 

 

The Department of State is committed to excellence. 
Please take our Customer Satisfaction Survey. 

 

 



4 PRESERV ATION 
BRIEFS 

Roofing for Historic Buildings 

Sarah M. Sweetser 

u.s. Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
Cultural Resources 

Heritage Preservation Services 

Significance of the Roof 

A weather-tight roof is basic in the preservation of a struc
ture, regardless of its age, size, or design. In the system that 
allows a building to work as a shelter, the roof sheds the rain, 
shades from the sun, and buffers the weather. 

During some periods in the history of architecture, the roof 
imparts much of the architectural character. It defines the 
style and contributes to the building's aesthetics . The hipped 
roofs of Georgian architecture, the tllrrets of Queen Anne, the 
Mansard roofs, and the graceful slopes of the Shingle Style 
and Bungalow designs are examples of the use of roofing as a 
major design feature. 

But no matter how decorative the patterning or how com
pelling the form, the roof is a highly vulnerable element of a 
shelter that will inevitable fail. A poor roof will permit the 
accelerated deterioration of historic building materials
masonry, wood, plaster, paint-and will cause general dis
integration of the basic structure. Furthermore, there is an 
urgency involved in repairing a leaky roof since such repair 
costs will quickly become prohibitive. Although such action is 
desirable as soon as a failure is discovered, temporary patch
ing methods should be carefully chosen to prevent inadvertent 
damage to sound or historic roofing materials and related 
features . Before any repair work is performed, the historic 
value of the materials used on the roof should be understood . 
Then a complete internal and external inspection of the roof 
should be planned to determine all the causes of failure and to 
identify the alternatives for repair or replacement of the 
roofing. 

Historic Roofing Materials in America 

Clay Tile: European settlers used clay tile for roofing as early 
as the mid-17th century; many pantiles (S-curved tiles), as well 
as flat roofing tiles, were used in Jamestown, Virginia. In 
some cities such as New York and Boston, clay was popularly 
used as a precaution against such fire as those that engulfed 
London in 1666 and scorched Boston in 1679. 

Tiles roofs found in the mid-18th century Moravian settle
ments in Pennsylvania closely resembled those found in Ger
many. Typically, the tiles were 14- 15" long, 6- 7" wide with a 
curved butt. A lug on the back allowed the tiles to hang on the 
lathing without nails or pegs. The tile surface was usually 
scored with finger marks to promote drainage, In the South
west, the tile roofs of the Spanish missionaries (mission tiles) 
were first manufactured (ca. 1780) at the Mission San An
tonio de Padua in California. These semicircular tiles were 

Repairs on this pantile roof were made with new tiles held in place 
with metal hangers. (Main Building, Ellis Island, New York) 

made by molding clay over sections of logs, and they were 
generally 22" long and tapered in width. 

HABS 

The plain or flat rectangular tiles most commonly used from 
the 17th through the beginning of the 19th century measured 
about 10" by 6" by W ', and had two holes at one end for a 
nail or peg fastener. Sometimes mortar was applied between 
the courses to secure the tiles in a heavy wind. 

In the mid-19th century, tile roofs were often replaced by 
sheet-metal roofs, which were lighter and easier to install and 
maintain. However, by the turn of the century, the Romanes
que Revival and Mission style buildings created a new demand 
and popularity for this picturesque roofing material. 

Slate: Another practice settlers brought to the New World was 
slate roofing. Evidence of roofing slates have been found also 
among the ruins of mid-17th-century Jamestown. But because 
of the cost and the time required to obtain the material, which 
was mostly imported from Wales, the use of slate was initially 
limited. Even in Philadelphia (the second largest city in the 
English-speaking world at the time of the Revolution) slates 
were so rare that' 'The Slate Roof House" distinctly referred 
to William Penn's home built late in the 16oos. Sources of 
native slate were known to exist along the eastern seaboard 
from Maine to Virginia, but difficulties in inland transporta
tion limited its availability to the cities, and contributed to its 
expense. Welsh slate continued to be imported until the 
development of canals and railroads in the mid-19th century 
made American slate more accessible and economical. 

Slate was popular for its durability, fireproof qualities, and 



The Victorians loved to used different colored slates to create 
decorative patterns on their roofs, an effect which cannot be easily 
duplicated by substitute materials. Before any repair work on a roof 
such as this, the slate sizes, colors, and position of the patterning 
should be carefully recorded to assure proper replacement. (Ebenezer 
Maxwell Mansion, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. photo courtesy of 
William D. Hershey) 

aesthetic potential. Because slate was available in different 
colors (red, green, purple, and blue-gray), it was an effective 
material for decorative patterns on many 19th-century roofs 
(Gothic and Mansard styles). Slate continued to be used well 
into the 20th century, notably on many Tudor revival style 
buildings of the 1920s. 

Shingles: Wood shingles were popular throughout the country 
in all periods of building history. The size and shape of the 
shingles as well as the detailing of the shingle roof differed ac
cording to regional craft practices. People within particular 
regions developed preferences for the local species of wood 
that most suited their purposes. In New England and the Del
aware Valley, white pine was frequently used: in the South, 
cypress and oak; in the far west, red cedar or redwood. Some
times a protective coating was applied to increase the durabil
ity of the shingle such as a mixture of brick dust and fish oil, 
or a paint made of red iron oxide and linseed oil. 

Commonly in urban areas, wooden roofs were replaced 
with more fire resistant materials, but in rural areas this was 
not a major concern. On many Victorian country houses, the 
practice of wood shingling survived the technological ad
vances of metal roofing in the 19th century, and near the turn 
of the century enjoyed a full revival in its namesake, the 
Shingle Style. Colonial revival and the Bungalow styles in the 
20th century assured wood shingles a place as one of the most 
fashionable, domestic roofing materials. 

Metal: Metal roofing in America is principally a 19th
century phenomenon. Before then the only metals commonly 
2 

Replacement of particular historic details is important to the indi
vidual historic character of a roof, such as the treatment at the eaves 
of this rounded butt wood shingle roof Also note that the surface of 
the roof was carefully sloped to drain water away from the side of the 
dormer. In the restoration, this function was augmented with the ad
dition of carefully concealed modern metalflashing. (Mount Vernon. 
VirJ?inial 

Galvanized sheet-metal shingles imitating the appearance of pantiles 
remained popular from the second half of the 19th century into the 
20th century. (Episcopal Church, now the Jerome Historical Society 
Building, Jerome. Arizona, 1927) 

used were lead and copper. For example, a lead roof covered 
"Rosewell," one of the grandest mansions in 18th-century 
Virginia. But more often, lead was used for protective 
flashing. Lead, as well as copper, covered roof surfaces where 
wood, tile, or slate shingles were inappropriate because of the 
roofs pitch or shape. 

Copper with standing seams covered some of the more 
notable early American roofs including that of Christ Church 
(1727-1744) in Philadelphia. Flat-seamed copper was used on 
many domes and cupolas. The copper sheets were imported 
from England until the end of the 18th century when facilities 
for rolling sheet metal were developed in America. 

Sheet iron was first known to have been manufactured here 
by the Revolutionary War financier, Robert Morris, who had 
a rolling mill near Trenton, New Jersey. At his mill Mor·ris 
produced the roof of his own Philadelphia mansion, which he 
started in 1794. The architect Benjamin H. Latrobe used sheet 
iron to replace the roof on Princeton's "Nassau Hall," which 
had been gutted by fire in 1802. 

The method for corrugating iron was originally patented in 
England in 1829. Corrugating stiffened the sheets, and 
allowed greater span over a lighter framework, as well as 
reduced installation time and labor. In 1834 the American 
architect William Strickland proposed corrugated iron to 
cover his design for the market place in Philadelphia. 

Galvanizing with zinc to protect the base metal from rust 
was developed in France in 1837. By the 1850s the material 
was used on post offices and customhouses, as well as on train 
sheds and factories. In 1857 one of the first metal roofs in the 



Repeated repair with asphalt, which cracks as it hardens, has created a 
blistered surface on this sheet-metal roof and built-in gutter, which 
will retain water. Repairs could be made by carefully heating and 
scraping the surface clean, repairing the holes in the metal with aflexi
ble mastic compound or a metal patch, and coating the surface with a 
fibre paint. (Roane County Courthouse, Kingston, Tennessee, photo 
courtesy of Building Conservation Technology, Inc.) 

South was installed on the U.S. Mint in New Orleans. The 
Mint was thereby "fireproofed" with a 20-gauge galvanized, 
corrugated iron roof on iron trusses. 

Tin-plate iron, commonly called "tin roofing," was used 
extensively in Canada in the 18th century, but it was not as 
common in the United States until later. Thomas Jefferson 
was an early advocate of tin roofing, and he installed a 
standing-seam tin roof on "Monticello" (ca. 1770-1802) . The 
Arch Street Meetinghouse (1804) in Philadelphia had tin 
shingles laid in a herringbone pattern on a "piazza" roof. 

However, once rolling mills were established in this country, 
the low cost, light weight, and low maintenance of tin plate 
made it the most common roofing material. Embossed tin 
shingles, whose surfaces created interesting patterns, were 
popular throughout the country in the late 19th century. Tin 
roofs were kept well-painted, usually red; or, as the architect 
A. J. Davis suggested, in a color to imitate the green patina of 
copper. 

Terne plate differed from tin plate in that the iron was 
dipped in an alloy of lead and tin, giving it a duller finish . 
Historic, as well as modern, documentation often confuses 
the two, so much that it is difficult to determine how often 
actual "terne" was used. 

Zinc came into use in the 1820s, at the same time tin plate 
was becoming popular. Although a less expensive substitute 
for lead, its advantages were controversial, and it was never 
widely used in this country. 

A Chicago firm's catalog dated 1896 illustrates a method of unrolling, 
turning the edges, andfinishing the standing seam on a metal roof 

Tin shingles, commonly embossed to imitate wood or tile, or with a 
decorative design, were popular as an inexpensive, textured roofing 
material. These shingles 8% inch by 12'/2 inch on the exposed surface) 
were designed with interlocking edges, but they have been repaired by 
surface nailing, which may cause future leakage. (Ballard House, 
Yorktown, Virgina, photo by Gordie Whittington, National Park 
Service) 

Other Materials: Asphalt shingles and roll roofing were used 
in the 1890s. Many roofs of asbestos, aluminum, stainless 
steel, galvinized steel, and lead-coated copper may soon have 
historic values as well. Awareness- of these and other tradi
tions of roofing materials and their detailing will contribute to 
more sensitive preservation treatments. 

Locating the Problem 

Failures of Surface Materials 

When trouble occurs, it is important to contact a profes
sional, either an architect, a reputable roofing contractor, or a 
craftsman familiar with the inherent characteristics of the 
particular historic roofing system involved. These profes
sionals may be able to advise on immediate patching pro
cedures and help plan more permanent repairs. A thorough 
examination of the roof should start with an appraisal of the 
existing condition and quality of the roofing material itself. 
Particular attention should be given to any southern slope 
because year-round exposure to direct sun may cause it to 
break down first. 

Wood: Some historic roofing materials have limited life 
expectancies because of normal organic decay and "wear." 
For example, the flat surfaces of wood shingles erode from 
exposure to rain and ultraviolet rays. Some species are more 
hardy than others, and heartwood, for example, is stronger 
and more durable than sapwood. 

Ideally, shingles are split with the grain perpendicular to 
3 



the surface. This is because if shingles are sawn across the 
grain, moisture may enter the grain and cause the wood to 
deteriorate. Prolonged moisture on or in the wood allows 
moss or fungi to grow, which will further hold the moisture 
and cause rot. 

Metal: Of the inorganic roofing materials used on historic 
buildings, the most common are perhaps the sheet metals: 
lead, copper, zinc, tin plate, terne plate, and galvanized iron. 
In varying degrees each of these sheet metals are likely to 
deteriorate from chemical action by pitting or streaking. This 
can be caused by airborn pollutants; acid rainwater; acids from 
lichen or moss; alkalis found in lime mortars or portland 
cement, which might be on adjoining features and washes 
down on the roof surface; or tannic acids from adjacent wood 
sheathings or shingles made of red cedar or oak. 

Corrosion from "galvanic action" occurs when dissimilar 
metals, such as copper and iron, are used in direct contact. 
Corrosion may also occur even though the metals are physi
cally separated; one of the metals will react chemically 
against the other in the presence of an electrolyte such as rain
water. In roofing, this situation might occur when either a 
copper roof is decorated with iron cresting, or when steel nails 
are used in copper sheets. In some instances the corrosion can 
be prevented by inserting a plastic insulator between the 
dissimilar materials. Ideally, the fasteners should be a metal 
sympathetic to those involved. 

Iron rusts unless it is well-painted or plated. Historically 
this problem was avoided by use of tin plating or galvinizing. 
But this method is durable only as long as the coating remains 
intact. Once the plating is worn or damaged, the exposed iron 
will rust. Therefore, any iron-based roofing material needs to 
be undercoated, and its surface needs to be kept well-painted 
to prevent corrosion. 

One cause of sheet metal deterioration is fatigue . Depending 
upon the size and the gauge of the metal sheets, wear and 
metal failure can occur at the joints or at any protrusions in 
the sheathing as a result from the metal's alternating move
ment to thermal changes. Lead will tear because of" creep, " 
or the gravitational stress that causes the material to move 
down the roof slope. 

Slate: Perhaps the most durable roofing materials are slate 
and tile. Seemingly indestructable, both vary in quality. Some 
slates are hard and tough without being brittle. Soft slates are 
more subject to erosion and to attack by airborne and rain-

This detail shows slate delamination caused by a combination of 
weathering and pol/ution. In addition, the slates have eroded around 
the repair nails, incorrectly placed in the exposed surface of the slates. 
(Lower Pontalba Building, New Orleans, photo courtesy of Building 
Conservation Technology, Inc.) 

4 

water chemicals, which cause the slates to wear at nail holes, 
to delaminate, or to break. In winter, slate is very susceptible 
to breakage by ice, or ice dams. 

Tile: Tiles will weather well, but tend to crack or break if hit, 
as by tree branches, or if they are walked on improperly. Like 
slates, tiles cannot support much weight. Low quality tiles 
that have been insufficiently fired during manufacture, will 
craze and spall under the effects of freeze and thaw cycles on 
their porous surfaces. 

Failures of Support Systems 

Once the condition of the roofing material has been deter
mined, the related features and support systems should be 
examined on the exterior and on the interior of the roof. 
The gutters and downspouts need periodic cleaning and 
maintenance since a variety of debris fill them, causing water 
to back up and seep under roofing units. Water will eventually 
cause fasteners, sheathing, and roofing structure to deteri
orate. During winter, the daily freeze-thaw cycles can cause 
ice floes to develop under the roof surface. The pressure from 
these ice floes will dislodge the roofing material, especially 
slates, shingles, or tiles. Moreover, the buildup of ice dams 
above the gutters can trap enough moisture to rot the 
sheathing or the structural members. 

Many large public buildings have built-in gutters set within 
the perimeter of the roof. The downspouts for these gutters 
may run within the walls of the building, or drainage may be 
through the roof surface or through a parapet to exterior 
downspouts. These systems can be effective if properly main
tained; however, if the roof slope is inadequate for good 
runoff, or if the traps are allowed to clog, rainwater will form 
pools on the roof surface. Interior downspouts can collect 
debris and thus back up, perhaps leaking water into the sur
rounding walls. Exterior downspouts may fill with water, 
which in cold weather may freeze and crack the pipes. Con
duits from the built-in gutter to the exterior downspout may 
also leak water into the surrounding roof structure or walls. 

Failure of the flashing system is usually a major cause of 
roof deterioration. Flashing should be carefully inspected for 
failure caused by either poor workmanship, thermal stress, or 
metal deterioration (both of flashing material itself and of the 
fasteners) . With many roofing materials, the replacement of 
flashing on an existing roof is a major operation, which may 
require taking up large sections of the roof surface. 
Therefore, the installation of top quality flashing material on 

Temporary stabilization or " mothballing" with materials such as 
plywood and building paper can protect the roof of a project until it 
can be properly repaired or replaced. (Narbonne House, Salem, 
Massachusetts) 



These two views of the same house demonstrate how the use of a substitute material can drastically affect the overall character of a structure. The 
textural interest of the original tile roof was lost with the use of asphalt shingles. Recent preservation efforts are replacing the tile roof (Frank 
House, Kearney, Nebraska, photo courtesy of the Nebraska State Historical Society, Lincoln, Nebraska) 

a new or replaced roof should be a primary consideration. 
Remember, some roofing andflashing materials are not 
compatible. 

Roof fasteners and clips should also be made of a material 
compatible with all other materials used, or coated to prevent 
rust. For example, the tannic acid in oak will corrode iron 
nails. Some roofs such as slate and sheet metals may fail if 
nailed too rigidly. 

If the roof structure appears sound and nothing indicates 
recent movement, the area to be examined most closely is the 
roof substrate- the sheathing or the battens. The danger spots 
would be near the roof plates, under any exterior patches, at 
the intersections of the roof planes, or at vertical surfaces 
such as dormers. Water penetration, indicating a breach in the 
roofing surface or flashing, should be readily apparent, usual
ly as a damp spot or stain. Probing with a small pen knife may 
reveal any rot which may indicate previously undetected 
damage to the roofing membrane. Insect infestation evident 
by small exit holes and frass (a sawdust-like debris) should 
also be noted. Condensation on the underside of the roofing is 
undesirable and indicates improper ventilation. Moisture will 
have an adverse effect on any roofing material; a good roof 
stays dry inside and out. 

Repair or Replace 

Understanding potential weaknesses of roofing material also 
requires knowledge of repair difficulties. Individual slates can 
be replaced normally without major disruption to the rest of 
the roof, but replacing flashing on a slate roof can require 
substantial removal of surrounding slates. If it is the substrate 
or a support material that has deteriorated, many surface 
materials such as slate or tile can be reused if handled care
fully during the repair. Such problems should be evaluated at 
the outset of any project to determine if the roof can be effec
tively patched, or if it should be completely replaced. 

Will the repairs be effective? Maintenance costs tend to 
multiply once trouble starts. As the cost of labor escalates, 
repeated repairs could soon equal the cost of a new roof. 

The more durable the surface is initially, the easier it will be 
to maintain. Some roofing materials such as slate are expen
sive to install, but if top quality slate and flashing are used, it 
will last 40-60 years with minimal maintenance. Although the 
installation cost of the roof will be high, low maintenance 
needs will make the lifetime cost of the roof less expensive. 

Historical Research 

In a restoration project, research of documents and physical 
investigation of the building usually will establish the roofs 
history. Documentary research should include any original 
plans or building specifications, early insurance surveys, 
newspaper descriptions, or the personal papers and files of 
people who owned or were involved in the history of the 
building. Old photographs of the building might provide 
evidence of missing details. 

Along with a thorough understanding of any written history 
of the building, a physical investigation of the roofing and its 
structure may reveal information about the roofs construc
tion history. Starting with an overall impression of the struc
ture, are there any changes in the roof slope, its configura
tion, or roofing materials? Perhaps there are obvious patches 
or changes in patterning of exterior brickwork where a gable 
roof was changed to a gambrel, or where a whole upper story 
was added. Perhaps there are obvious stylistic changes in the 
roof line, dormers, or ornamentation. These observations 
could help one understand any important alteration, and 
could help establish the direction of further investigation. 

Because most roofs are physically out of the range of 
careful scrutiny, the" principle of least effort" has probably 
limited the extent and quality of previous patching or replac
ing, and usually considerable evidence of an earlier roof sur
face remains. Sometimes the older roof will be found as an 
underlayment of the current exposed roof. Original roofing 
may still be intact in awkward places under later features on a 
roof. Often if there is any unfinished attic space, remnants of 
roofing may have been dropped and left when the roof was 
being built or repaired. If the configuration of the roof has 
been changed, some of the original material might still be in 
place under the existing roof. Sometimes whole sections of the 
roof and roof framing will have been left intact under the 
higher roof. The profile and/ or flashing of the earlier roof 
may be apparent on the interior of the walls at the level of the 
alteration. If the sheathing or lathing appears to have survived 
changes in the roofing surface, they may contain evidence of 
the roofing systems. These may appear either as dirt marks, 
which provide "shadows" of a roofing material, or as nails 
broken or driven down into the wood, rather than pulled out 
during previous alterations or repairs. Wooden headers in the 
roof framing may indicate that earlier chimneys or skylights 
have been removed. Any metal ornamentation that might 
have existed may be indicated by anchors or unusual markings 
along the ridge or at other edges of the roof. This primary 

5 



evidence is essential for a full understanding of the 
roofs history. 

Caution should be taken in dating early" fabric" on the 
evidence of a single item, as recycling of materials is not a 
mid-20th-century innovation. Carpenters have been reusing 
materials, sheathing, and framing members in the interest of 
economy for centuries. Therefore, any analysis of the mate
rials found, such as nails or sawmarks on the wood, requires 
an accurate knowledge of the history of local building prac
tices before any final conclusion can be accurately reached. It 
is helpful to establish a sequence of construction history for 
the roof and roofing materials; any historic fabric or pertinent 
evidence in the roof should be photographed, measured, and 
recorded for future reference. 

During the repair work, useful evidence might unexpectedly 
appear. It is essential that records be kept of any type of work 
on a historic building, before, during, and after the project. 
Photographs are generally the easiest and fastest method, and 
should include overall views and details at the gutters, flash
ing, dormers, chimneys, valleys, ridges, and eaves. All 
photographs should be immediately labeled to insure accurate 
identification at a later date. Any patterning or design on the 
roofing deserves particular attention. For example, slate roofs 
are often decorative and have subtle changes in size, color, 
and texture, such as a gradually decreasing coursing length 
from the eave to the peak. If not carefully noted before a 
project begins, there may be problems in replacing the sur
face. The standard reference for this phase of the work is 
Recording Historic Buildings, compiled by Harley J. McKee 
for the Historic American Buildings Survey, National Park 
Service, Washington, D.C., 1970. 

Replacing the Historic Roofing Material 

Professional advice will be needed to assess the various 
aspects of replacing a historic roof. With some exceptions, 
most historic roofing materials are available today. If not, an 
architect or preservation group who has previously worked 
with the same type material may be able to recommend sup
pliers. Special roofing materials, such as tile or embossed 
metal shingles, can be produced by manufacturers of related 
products that are commonly used elsewhere, either on the ex
terior or interior of a structure. With some creative thinking 
and research, the historic materials usually can be found. 

Because of the roof's visibility, the slate detailing around the dormers 
is important to the character of this structure. Note how the slates 
swirlfrom a horizontal pattern on the main roof to a diamond pattern 
on the dormer roofs and side walls. (18th and Que Streets, NW, 
Washington, D.C.) 
6 

Craft Practices: Determining the craft practices used in the in
stallation of a historic roof is another major concern in roof 
restoration. Early builders took great pride in their work, and 
experience has shown that the" rustic" or irregular designs 
commercially labled "Early American" are a 20th-century in
vention. For example, historically, wood shingles underwent 
several distinct operations in their manufacture including 
splitting by hand, and smoothing the surface with a draw 
knife. In modern nomenclature, the same item would be a 
"tapersplit" shingle which has been dressed. Unfortunately, 
the rustic appearance of today's commercially available 
•• handsplit" and re-sawn shingle bears no resemblance to the 
hand-made roofing materials used on early American 
buildings. 

Good design and quality materials for the roof surface, fastenings, 
andf/ashing minimize roofing failures. This is essential on roofs such 
as on the National Cathedral where a thorough maintenance inspec
tion and minor repairs cannot be done easily without special scaf
folding. However, the success of the roof on any structure depends on 
frequent cleaning and repair of the gutter system. (Washington, D. c., 
photo courtesy of John Burns, A.I.A.) 

Early craftsmen worked with a great deal of common sense; 
they understood their materials. For example they knew that 
wood shingles should be relatively narrow; shingles much 
wider than about 6" would split when walked on, or they may 
curl or crack from varying temperature and moisture. It is im
portant to understand these aspects of craftsmanship, re
membering that people wanted their roofs to be weather-tight 
and to last a long time. The recent use of •• mother-goose" 
shingles on historic structures is a gross underestimation of 
the early craftsman's skills. 

Supervision: Finding a modern craftsman to reproduce his
toric details may take some effort. It may even involve 
some special instruction to raise his understanding of cer
tain historic craft practices. At the same time, it may be 
pointless (and expensive) to follow historic craft practices 
in any construction that will not be visible on the finished 
product. But if the roofing details are readily visible, their 
appearance should be based on architectural evidence or 
on historic prototypes. For instance, the spacing of the 
seams on a standing-seam metal roof will affect the 
building's overall scale and should therefore match the 
original dimensions of the seams. 



Many older roofing practices are no longer performed 
because of modern improvements. Research and review of 
specific detailing in the roof with the contractor before begin
ning the project is highly recommended. For example, one 
early craft practice was to finish the ridge of a wood shingle 
roof with a roof "comb"-that is, the top course of one slope 
of the roof was extended uniformly beyond the peak to shield 
the ridge, and to provide some weather protection for the raw 
horizontal edges of the shingles on the other slope. If the 
" comb" is known to have been the correct detail, it should be 
used. Though this method leaves the top course vulnerable to 
the weather, a disguised strip of flashing will strengthen this 
weak point. 

Detail drawings or a sample mock-up will help ensure that 
the contractor or craftsman understands the scope and special 
requirements of the project. It should never be assumed that 
the modern carpenter, slater, sheet metal worker, or roofer 
will know all the historic details. Supervision is as important 
as any other stage of the process . 

Special problems inherent in the design of an elaborate historic roof 
can be controlled through the use of good materials and regular 
maintenance. The shape and detailing are essential elements of the 
building's historic character, and should not be modified, despite the 
use of alternative surface materials. (Gam well House, Bellingham, 
Washington) 

Alternative Materials 

The use of the historic roofing material on a structure may be 
restricted by building codes or by the availability of the 
materials, in which case an appropriate alternative will have 
to be found. 

Some municipal building codes allow variances for roofing 
materials in historic districts. In other instances, individual 
variances may be obtained. Most modern heating and cooking 
is fueled by gas, electricity, or oil-none of which emit the hot 
embers that historically have been the cause of roof fires . 
Where wood burning fireplaces or stoves are used, spark ar
restor screens at the top of the chimneys help to prevent flam
ing material from escaping, thus reducing the number of fires 
that start at the roof. In most states, insurance rates have been 
equalized to reflect revised considerations for the risks in
volved with various roofing materials. 

In a rehabilitation project, there may be valid reasons for 
replacing the roof with a material other than the original. The 
historic roofing may no longer be available, or the cost of ob
taining specially fabricated materials may be prohibitive. But 

the decision to use an alternative material should be weighed 
carefully against the primary concern to keep the historic 
character of the building. If the roof is flat and is not visible 
from any elevation of the building, and if there are advan
tages to substituting a modern built-up composition roof for 
what might have been a flat metal roof, then it may make bet
ter economic and construction sense to use a modern roofing 
method. But if the roof is readily visible, the alternative 
material should match as closely as possible the scale, texture, 
and coloration of the historic roofing material. 

Asphalt shingles or ceramic tiles are common substitute ma
terials intended to duplicate the appearance of wood shingles, 
slates, or tiles. Fire-retardant, treated wood shingles are cur
rently available. The treated wood tends, however, to be brit
tle, and may require extra care (and expense) to install. In 
some instances, shingles laid with an interlay of fire-retardent 
building paper may be an acceptable alternative. 

Lead-coated copper, terne-coated steel, and aluminum/ 
zinc-coated steel can successfully replace tin, terne plate, zinc, 
or lead. Copper-coated steel is a less expensive (and less 
durable) substitute for sheet copper. 

The search for alt~rnative roofing materials is not new. As 
early as the 18th century, fear of fire cause many wood shingle 
or board roofs to be replaced by sheet metal or clay tile. Some 
historic roofs were failures from the start, based on over
ambitious and naive use of materials as they were first devel
oped. Research on a structure may reveal that an inadequately 
designed or a highly combustible roof was replaced early in its 
history, and therefore restoration of a later roof material 
would have a valid precedent. In some cities, the substitution 
of sheet metal on early row houses occurred as soon as the 
rolled material became available. 

Cost and ease of maintenance may dictate the substitution 
of a material wholly different in appearance from the 
original. The practical problems (wind, weather, and roof 
pitch) should be weighed against the historical consideration 
of scale, texture, and color. Sometimes the effect of the alter
native material will be minimal. But on roofs with a high 
degree of visibility and patterning or texture, the substitution 
may seriously alter the architectural character of the building. 

Temporary Stabilization 
It may be necessary to carry out an immediate and temporary 
stabilization to prevent further deterioration until research 
can determine how the roof should be restored or rehabili
tated, or until funding can be provided to do a proper job. A 
simple covering of exterior plywood or roll roofing might pro
vide adequate protection, but any temporary covering should 
be applied with caution. One should be careful not to 
overload the roof structure, or to damage or destroy historic 
evidence or fabric that might be incorporated into a new roof 
at a later date. In this sense, repairs with caulking or 
bituminous patching compounds should be recognized as po
tentially harmful, since they are difficult to remove, and at 
their best , are very temporary. 

Precautions 

The architect or contractor should warn the owner of any 
precautions to be taken against the specific hazards in install
ing the roofing material. Soldering of sheet metals, for in
stance, can be a fire hazard, either from the open flame or 
from overheating and undected smoldering of the wooden 
substrate materials. 

Thought should be given to the design and placement of any 
modern roof appurtenances such as plumbing stacks, air 
vents, or TV antennas. Consideration should begin with the 
placement of modern plumbing on the interior of the build
ing, otherwise a series of vent stacks may pierce the roof mem
brane at various spots creating maintenance problems as well 
as aesthetic ones. Air handling units placed in the attic space 
will require vents which, in turn, require sensitive design. In
corporating these in unused chimneys has been very successful 

7 



in the past. 
Whenever gutters and downspouts are needed that were not 

on the building historically, the addj.tions should be made as 
unobtrusively as possible, perhaps by painting them out with 
a color compatible with the nearby wall or trim. 

Maintenance 

Although a new roof can be an object of beauty, it will not be 
protective for long without proper maintenance. At least 
twice a year, the roof should be inspected against a checklist. 
All changes should be recorded and reported. Guidelines 
should be established for any foot traffic that may be required 
for the maintenance of the roof. Many roofing materials 
should not be walked on at all. For some-slate, asbestos, and 
clay tile-a self-supporting ladder might be hung over the 
ridge of the roof, or planks might be spanned across the roof 
surface. Such items should be specifically designed and kept 
in a storage space accessible to the roof. If exterior work ever 
requires hanging scaffolding, use caution to insure that the 
anchors do not penetrate, break, or wear the roofing surface, 
gutters, or flashing . 

Any roofing system should be recognized as a membrane 
that is designed to be self-sustaining, but that can be easily 
damaged by intrusions such as pedestrian traffic or fallen tree 
branches. Certain items should be checked at specific times. 
For example, gutters tend to accumulate leaves and debris 
during the spring and fall and after heavy rain. Hidden gutter 
screening both at downspouts and over the full length of the 
gutter could help keep them clean. The surface material would 
require checking after a storm as well. Periodic checking of 
the underside of the roof from the attic after a storm or winter 
freezing may give early warning of any leaks. Generally, 
damage from water or ice is less likely on a roof that has good 
flashing on the outside and is well ventilated and insulated on 
the inside. Specific instructions for the maintenance of the 
different roof materials should be available from the architect 
or contractor. 

Summary 
The essential ingredients for replacing and maintaIning a 
historic roof are: 

• Understanding the historic character of the building and 
being sympathetic to it. 

• Careful examination and recording of the existing roof 
and any evidence of earlier roofs. 

• Consideration of the historic craftsmanship and detail
ing and implementing them in the renewal wherever 
visible. 

• Supervision of the roofers or maintenance personnel to 
assure preservation of historic fabric and proper under
standing of the scope and detailing of the project. 

• Consideration of alternative materials where the origi
nal cannot be used . 

• Cyclical maintenance program to assure that the staff 
understands how to take care of the roof and of the par
ticular trouble spots to safeguard. 

With these points in mind, it will be possible to preserve the 
architectural character and maintain the physical integrity of 
the roofing on a historic building. 

This Preservation Brief was written by Sarah M. Sweetser , Architec
tural Historian, Technical Preservation Services Division. Much of 
the technical information was based upon an unpublished report pre
pared under cont.ract for this office by John G. and Diana S. Waite. 
Some of the historical information was from Charles E. Peterson , 
FAIA, "American Notes," Journal of the Society of Architectural 
Historians. 
The illustrations for this brief not specifically credited are from the 
files of the Technical Preservation Services Division. 

This publication was prepared pursuant to Executive Order 11593, "Protection 
and Enhancement of the Cultural Environment," which directs the Secretary 
of the Interior to "develop and make available to Federal agencies and State 
and local governments information concerning professional methods and tech-

8 

Decorative features such as cupolas require extra maintenance. The 
flashing is carefully detailed to promote run-off, and the wooden ribb
ing must be kept well-painted. This roof surface, which was originally 
tin plate, has been replaced with lead-coated copper for maintenance 
purposes. (Lyndhurst, Tarrytown, New York, photo courtesy of the 
National Trust for Historic Preservation) 

niques lor preserving, improving, restoring and maintaining historic proper
ties." The Brief has been developed under the technical editorship of Lee H . 
Nelson, AlA, Chief, Preservation Assistance Division, National Park Service. 
U.S . Department of the Interior, Washington. D .C. 20240. Comments on the 
usefulness of this information are welcome and can be sent to Mr . Nelson at 
the above address. This publication is not copyrighted and can be reproduced 
without penalty. Normal procedures for credit to the author and the National 
Park Service are appreciated . February 1978. 

Additional readings on the subject of roofing are listed below. 

Boaz, Joseph N., ed . Architectural Graphic Standards. New York: 
John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1970. (Modern roofing types and detail
ing) 

Briggs, Martin S. A Short History of the Building Crafts. London: 
Oxford University Press, 1925 . (Descriptions of historic roofing 
materials) 

Bulletin of the Association for Preservation Technology. Vol. 2 (nos. 
1-2) 1970. (Entirely on roofing) 

Holstrom, Ingmar; and Sandstrom, Christina. Maintenance of Old 
Buildings: Preservation from the Technical and Antiquarian Stand
point. Stockholm: National Swedish Building Research, 1972. 
(Contains a section on roof maintenance problems) 

Insall , Donald. The Care of Old Buildings Today. London: The 
Architectural Press, 1972. (Excellent guide to some problems and 
solutions for historic roofs) 

Labine, R.A. Clem. "Repairing Slate Roofs. " The Old House Jour
nal3 (no. 12, Dec. 1975): 6- 7. 

Lefer, Henry. " A Birds-eye View." Progressive Architecture. (Mar. 
1977), pp. 88-92. (Article on contemporary sheet metal) 

National Slate Association. Slate Roofs. Reprint of 1926 edition, now 
available from the Vermont Structural Slate Co., Inc., Fairhaven, 
VT 05743 . (An excellent reference for the many designs and details 
of slate roofs) 

Peterson, Charles E. " Iron in Early American Roofs. " The Smith
sonian Journal of History 3 (no. 3). Edited by Peter C. Welsh. 
Washington, D.C. : Smithsonian Institution, 1968, pp. 41-76 . 

Waite, Diana S. Nineteenth Century Tin Roofing and its Use at Hyde 
Hall. Albany: New York State Historic Trust, 1971. 

- -. "Roofing for Early America." Building Early America. Edited 
by Charles E. Peterson. Radnor, Penn.: Chilton Book Co. , 1976. 











City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  May 4, 2016

AGENDA DATE: May 11, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  922 North O Street

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100049: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for roof 
replacement to the subject property located at 922 North O Street, PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-290-0060. The subject 
building was constructed in 1952 and the property is a non-contributing resource within the Northeast Lucerne 
Local Historic District.

OWNER: Pamela Melvin
 922 North O Street
 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The property at 922 North O Street has a one-story single-family structure built in 1952 in a Masonry Vernacular
style. The property has public frontage on North O Street to the west.  Character defining features of the building 
include original aluminum awning windows, decorative brick and iron work, and concrete masonry construction 
with a smooth stucco finish.

The original architectural plans for the main house are available in the City’s property files. Based on the original 
plans, the building has undergone some changes over time, including roof replacement with a 3-tab asphalt 
shingle roof, window replacement in four openings, closed in carport, and an addition on the rear of the 
property. Overall, the building retains a moderate degree of historic integrity of location, setting, materials, and 
design.

REQUEST: 

The Applicant is proposing to replace the existing 3-tab asphalt shingle roof with a new 5v Crimp metal roof.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a change 
that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)



HRPB PR No. 16-00100049
922 North O Street

COA Application – Roof Replacement
Page 2

2

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible.

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

ANALYSIS:  

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and applied the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding 
replacement of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation:

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided.

Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved.

Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match the old in design, color, 
texture, and other visual qualities and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features shall be 
substantiated by documentary, physical, or pictorial evidence.

According to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards, distinctive materials that characterize a property shall be 
preserved.  The roof material is an important character defining feature of a historic property.  According to the 
City’s property file, the original roof in 1952 was a flat white concrete tile.  In 1980, this material was removed, 
and an asphalt shingle roof was installed.  The building currently has a 3-tab asphalt shingle roof that was 
installed in 1990. In March, a COA for a GAF Dimensional Asphalt Shingle Roof was approved at Staff level, 
however, in April, the owner submitted a revision to change the roofing material from dimensional asphalt 
shingle to 5v crimp. 

It is the analysis of Staff that the project as proposed is not compatible with the review criteria set forth in the 
City’s Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation Ordinance, Section 23.5-4. The proposed change to a 
5V crimp roof is not appropriate for the structure, and negatively effects a character defining feature of the 
property.  The masonry vernacular style of architecture primarily used flat white concrete tile as a roofing 
material, and occasionally used an asbestos shingle or rolled roofing.  The original roof for this property was a flat 
white concrete tile and although the structure has had different roof materials since its construction, the
structure has never had a metal roof.  



HRPB PR No. 16-00100049 
922 North O Street 

COA Application – Roof Replacement 
Page 3 

 

3 

The National Park Service Preservation Brief #4 “Roofing for Historic Buildings” has been included as Attachment 
#6.  This Brief discusses the issues and options for the repair and replacement of historic roofs.  Under the 
“Alternative Materials” section of the Brief, Staff would like to draw special attention to this paragraph: 

 

“In a rehabilitation project, there may be valid reasons for replacing the roof with a material other than the 
original. The historic roofing may no longer be available, or the cost of obtaining specially fabricated materials 
may be prohibitive. But the decision to use an alternative material should be weighed carefully against the 
primary concern to keep the historic character of the building. If the roof is flat and is not visible from any 
elevation of the building, and if there are advantages to substituting a modern built-up composition roof for what 
might have been a flat metal roof, then it may make better economic and construction sense to use a modern 
roofing method. But if the roof is readily visible, the alternative material should match as closely as possible the 
scale, texture, and coloration of the historic roofing material.” 

 
Additionally, Staff has contacted the Florida Division of Historical Resources with regards to the request for roof 
replacement with standing seam metal.  The response from the State’s Senior Architect, Kenneth Cureton, is 
included as Attachment 5.  In particular, Staff would like to draw attention to the follow excerpt,  
 
“We would strongly advise against sheet metal products, since the strong vertical lines and shadows of such 
products would adversely impact the historic status of the building, as it would completely change the character 
of the roof and have no historical basis.” 
 
Therefore, based on this analysis, the proposed metal roof installation does not comply with the Secretary of the 
Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation or the City’s Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation 
Ordinance, §23.5-4(k). 

 

Staff recommended two different replacement options to the Applicant, including flat white concrete tile and 
dimensional asphalt shingle.  Staff does not recommend a 3-tab asphalt shingle roof, as the quality and life 
expectance is inferior to the dimensional asphalt shingle. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends that the Board deny the application as submitted, given that the metal roof installation as 
proposed by the Applicant does not meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, does not 
meet the criteria set forth in the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), and will have an 
adverse effect on the integrity and character of the property. 
 
If the Board chooses to approve a replacement roof for the structure, Staff recommends the following conditions: 
 

1) The replacement roof material may be a white 3-tab asphalt shingle, a white dimensional asphalt shingle, 
or a flat white concrete roof tile.  Staff recommends the flat white concrete tile as the most appropriate 
option for the historic masonry vernacular structure. 

 
POTENTIAL MOTIONS:  
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100049: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for roof 
replacement for the subject building located at 922 N O Street because the Applicant has not established by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake Worth Land 
Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic 
Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 



HRPB PR No. 16-00100049
922 North O Street

COA Application – Roof Replacement
Page 4

4

I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100049: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for roof 
replacement for the subject building located at 922 N O Street as recommended by Staff, based upon the 
preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Land Development 
Regulations Section 23.5-4.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Administrative Decision Criteria
2. Application Photographs
3. Justification Statement
4. Proposed Roof NOA
5. Previously Approved COA
6. Division of Historical Resources Letter
7. National Park Service Preservation Brief #4 – Roofing for Historic Buildings

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: May 4, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 16-00100049: Consideration of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for roof replacement to the subject property located at 922 
N O St, PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-290-0060.  The subject building was constructed in 
1952 and the property is a non-contributing resource within the Northeast Lucerne 
Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: May 11, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?  

Response: It is the analyst of Staff that the work proposed would have an adverse effect on the 
historic appearance of the building, and is not compatible with the design or style.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District, however it will have an indirect visual effect 
on the district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The project as proposed would have an adverse effect on the integrity of material and 
design of the building. The proposed roof replacement is not compatible with the architectural style 
and design of the structure.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property? 
Response: The denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from proposing other 
alterations to the home, or re-roofing with an alternate recommended material. 

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time? 
Response: Yes.



F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: It is the analyst of Staff that the proposed roof material would alter the Masonry 
Vernacular character of the structure by altering the strong horizontal lines of the existing shingle 
roof.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: The roof is a distinctive feature of the structure, and the type of roof material used on the 
structure should be retained.

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 
Response: Not applicable to this project

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this request.  If the Applicant chooses to repair rather than replace the 
windows, Staff would recommend the gentlest means possible to remove the deteriorating paint.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the analyst of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The proposal does 
not represent the least possible adverse effect.

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: It is the analyst of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The proposal does 
not represent the least possible adverse effect.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Not applicable to this project. 



















Pamela Melvin 
922 N. ‘O’ St. 
Lake Worth 
 

 

 

 

 

The change that I would like to implement is for the following reasons: 

 I am seeking to add architectural character that is not at this time present and, in turn, this will 

create a historic element.  The metal will add a unique architectural dimension and create a 

more interesting curb appeal so as to add aesthetic value to my home. 

 The metal roof is the most environmentally-beneficial roof for many reasons and here are some 

of them: it is made from 95% recycled content, has a minimal carbon footprint, unlike traditional 

shingles it has a special Kynar 500® or Hylar 5000 hI-R coating that reflects radiant heat, and it 

cuts energy costs by up to 20%, plus reduces attic temperatures by up to 34%. 

 

 

 

Thank You,  

Pamela Melvin 



























1

Aimee Sunny

From: Cureton, Kenneth H. <Kenneth.Cureton@dos.myflorida.com>
Sent: Friday, February 05, 2016 4:17 PM
To: Aimee Sunny
Subject: RE: Lake Worth - Roof Questions

Aimee 

 

To follow up on our conversation this morning, the State Historic Preservation Office follows the National Park Service / 

Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for the Rehabilitation of Historic Buildings 

explicitly when reviewing projects under our purview, along with the supplemental guidance NPS provides.  Such 

additional NPS guidance can be found in their preservation topics index here: 

http://www.nps.gov/tps/how-to-preserve/by-topic.htm 

 

 

These standards are incorporated by reference in Section 1203 and Appendix B of the Florida Building Code – Existing 

Building, 5th Edition as code mandated requirements for work on buildings that meet the definition of a Historic Building 

in Section 1202 therein. Therefore, the argument can be made that if the Standards are not followed, the work is not in 

compliance with the building code. 

 

In all four cases you have presented, the first consideration would be replacement of the historic materials based on 

pictorial evidence, which you have provided. The NPS Guidelines allows that when an in-kind replacement of a historic 

roof “…is not technically or economically feasible, then a compatible substitute material may be considered.” The key 

here is compatibility. If in-kind replacement is not feasible, our opinion of a compatible roof for these particular projects 

is the actual roof material would be subordinate to the color and pattern that the historic roof provided. The low slope 

of the roof pitch in all four examples would allow for replacement with an architectural grade shingle, provided it was in 

the light grey color range the metal shingles originally presented. We feel that a white shingle would not be an 

appropriate color. 

 

We would strongly advise against sheet metal products, since the strong vertical lines and shadows of such products 

would adversely impact the historic status of the building, as it would completely change the character of the roof and 

have no historical basis. 

 

We would also strongly advise that if a lack of selection of metal shingles with Florida Product Approval is the reason for 

higher costs, your authority having jurisdiction should contact the Florida Building Commission to investigate local 

product approval options. 

 

Hope this opinion helps clarify how we would view such issues on a State level. 

 

Thanks for your inquiry and best of luck with your projects. 

 

 

Kenneth H. Cureton, R.A., NCARBKenneth H. Cureton, R.A., NCARBKenneth H. Cureton, R.A., NCARBKenneth H. Cureton, R.A., NCARB 
Senior Architect, Bureau of Historic Preservation | Division of Historical Resources  |  Florida Department of 
State  |  500 South Bronough Street  |  Tallahassee, Florida 32399  |  850.245.6343 |  1.800.847.7278  |  Fax: 

850.245.6439 |  Kenneth.Cureton@DOS.MyFlorida.com  |  dos.myflorida.com/historical 



2

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

From: Aimee Sunny [mailto:asunny@LakeWorth.org]  

Sent: Friday, February 05, 2016 12:03 PM 

To: Cureton, Kenneth H. 

Cc: Hilburn, Richard L. 

Subject: Lake Worth - Roof Questions 

 

Mr. Cureton, 

 

Thank you very much for your time and consideration this morning regarding the projects I mentioned in Lake Worth.  I 

very much appreciate your analysis and discussion on the various roof types we discussed, as they relate to historic 

properties. 

 

As I mentioned, I have attached a few photos of several cases that will be heard before the HRPB next Wednesday, 

February 10th,  and I welcome your input: 

 

520 N Palmway – Contributing, c.1940, Frame Vernacular, with original flat metal shingles.  The request is for 

Southeastern Metals, SEM-Lok Snap Standing Seam 16” wide Aluminum panels. 

 

612 N Palmway – Contributing, c.1940, Frame Vernacular, with original flat metal shingles.  The request is for Gulf Coast 

Supply, Gulf-Lok 16” Wide Roof Panels, 26 gauge steel. 

 

726 N M St – Non-contributing, c. 1940, Frame Vernacular, with original flat metal shingle that have been coated several 

times.  The request is for CertainTeed Landmark dimensional asphalt shingles. 

 

731 N M St – Surveyed as Contributing, but has lost many features over time. 1946, Masonry Vernacular.  The original 

construction drawings called for rolled slate roofing, the roof was changed to flat white concrete tile in 1955, and later 

changed to 3-tab asphalt shingles in the 1990’s.  The request is now to change to Gulf Coast Supply, Gulf-Lok 16” Wide 

Aluminum Roof Panels, in a white color. 

 

I look forward to receiving your suggestions, and to working with you in the future. 

 

Best wishes, 

 

Aimee N. SunnyAimee N. SunnyAimee N. SunnyAimee N. Sunny 
Preservation Planning Coordinator 
City of Lake Worth 
1900 Second Avenue North 



3

Lake Worth, Florida 33461 
561-586-1690 
asunny@lakeworth.org 
 

 
 

 

 

 

The Department of State is committed to excellence. 
Please take our Customer Satisfaction Survey. 

 

 



4 PRESERV ATION 
BRIEFS 

Roofing for Historic Buildings 

Sarah M. Sweetser 

u.s. Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
Cultural Resources 

Heritage Preservation Services 

Significance of the Roof 

A weather-tight roof is basic in the preservation of a struc
ture, regardless of its age, size, or design. In the system that 
allows a building to work as a shelter, the roof sheds the rain, 
shades from the sun, and buffers the weather. 

During some periods in the history of architecture, the roof 
imparts much of the architectural character. It defines the 
style and contributes to the building's aesthetics . The hipped 
roofs of Georgian architecture, the tllrrets of Queen Anne, the 
Mansard roofs, and the graceful slopes of the Shingle Style 
and Bungalow designs are examples of the use of roofing as a 
major design feature. 

But no matter how decorative the patterning or how com
pelling the form, the roof is a highly vulnerable element of a 
shelter that will inevitable fail. A poor roof will permit the 
accelerated deterioration of historic building materials
masonry, wood, plaster, paint-and will cause general dis
integration of the basic structure. Furthermore, there is an 
urgency involved in repairing a leaky roof since such repair 
costs will quickly become prohibitive. Although such action is 
desirable as soon as a failure is discovered, temporary patch
ing methods should be carefully chosen to prevent inadvertent 
damage to sound or historic roofing materials and related 
features . Before any repair work is performed, the historic 
value of the materials used on the roof should be understood . 
Then a complete internal and external inspection of the roof 
should be planned to determine all the causes of failure and to 
identify the alternatives for repair or replacement of the 
roofing. 

Historic Roofing Materials in America 

Clay Tile: European settlers used clay tile for roofing as early 
as the mid-17th century; many pantiles (S-curved tiles), as well 
as flat roofing tiles, were used in Jamestown, Virginia. In 
some cities such as New York and Boston, clay was popularly 
used as a precaution against such fire as those that engulfed 
London in 1666 and scorched Boston in 1679. 

Tiles roofs found in the mid-18th century Moravian settle
ments in Pennsylvania closely resembled those found in Ger
many. Typically, the tiles were 14- 15" long, 6- 7" wide with a 
curved butt. A lug on the back allowed the tiles to hang on the 
lathing without nails or pegs. The tile surface was usually 
scored with finger marks to promote drainage, In the South
west, the tile roofs of the Spanish missionaries (mission tiles) 
were first manufactured (ca. 1780) at the Mission San An
tonio de Padua in California. These semicircular tiles were 

Repairs on this pantile roof were made with new tiles held in place 
with metal hangers. (Main Building, Ellis Island, New York) 

made by molding clay over sections of logs, and they were 
generally 22" long and tapered in width. 

HABS 

The plain or flat rectangular tiles most commonly used from 
the 17th through the beginning of the 19th century measured 
about 10" by 6" by W ', and had two holes at one end for a 
nail or peg fastener. Sometimes mortar was applied between 
the courses to secure the tiles in a heavy wind. 

In the mid-19th century, tile roofs were often replaced by 
sheet-metal roofs, which were lighter and easier to install and 
maintain. However, by the turn of the century, the Romanes
que Revival and Mission style buildings created a new demand 
and popularity for this picturesque roofing material. 

Slate: Another practice settlers brought to the New World was 
slate roofing. Evidence of roofing slates have been found also 
among the ruins of mid-17th-century Jamestown. But because 
of the cost and the time required to obtain the material, which 
was mostly imported from Wales, the use of slate was initially 
limited. Even in Philadelphia (the second largest city in the 
English-speaking world at the time of the Revolution) slates 
were so rare that' 'The Slate Roof House" distinctly referred 
to William Penn's home built late in the 16oos. Sources of 
native slate were known to exist along the eastern seaboard 
from Maine to Virginia, but difficulties in inland transporta
tion limited its availability to the cities, and contributed to its 
expense. Welsh slate continued to be imported until the 
development of canals and railroads in the mid-19th century 
made American slate more accessible and economical. 

Slate was popular for its durability, fireproof qualities, and 



The Victorians loved to used different colored slates to create 
decorative patterns on their roofs, an effect which cannot be easily 
duplicated by substitute materials. Before any repair work on a roof 
such as this, the slate sizes, colors, and position of the patterning 
should be carefully recorded to assure proper replacement. (Ebenezer 
Maxwell Mansion, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. photo courtesy of 
William D. Hershey) 

aesthetic potential. Because slate was available in different 
colors (red, green, purple, and blue-gray), it was an effective 
material for decorative patterns on many 19th-century roofs 
(Gothic and Mansard styles). Slate continued to be used well 
into the 20th century, notably on many Tudor revival style 
buildings of the 1920s. 

Shingles: Wood shingles were popular throughout the country 
in all periods of building history. The size and shape of the 
shingles as well as the detailing of the shingle roof differed ac
cording to regional craft practices. People within particular 
regions developed preferences for the local species of wood 
that most suited their purposes. In New England and the Del
aware Valley, white pine was frequently used: in the South, 
cypress and oak; in the far west, red cedar or redwood. Some
times a protective coating was applied to increase the durabil
ity of the shingle such as a mixture of brick dust and fish oil, 
or a paint made of red iron oxide and linseed oil. 

Commonly in urban areas, wooden roofs were replaced 
with more fire resistant materials, but in rural areas this was 
not a major concern. On many Victorian country houses, the 
practice of wood shingling survived the technological ad
vances of metal roofing in the 19th century, and near the turn 
of the century enjoyed a full revival in its namesake, the 
Shingle Style. Colonial revival and the Bungalow styles in the 
20th century assured wood shingles a place as one of the most 
fashionable, domestic roofing materials. 

Metal: Metal roofing in America is principally a 19th
century phenomenon. Before then the only metals commonly 
2 

Replacement of particular historic details is important to the indi
vidual historic character of a roof, such as the treatment at the eaves 
of this rounded butt wood shingle roof Also note that the surface of 
the roof was carefully sloped to drain water away from the side of the 
dormer. In the restoration, this function was augmented with the ad
dition of carefully concealed modern metalflashing. (Mount Vernon. 
VirJ?inial 

Galvanized sheet-metal shingles imitating the appearance of pantiles 
remained popular from the second half of the 19th century into the 
20th century. (Episcopal Church, now the Jerome Historical Society 
Building, Jerome. Arizona, 1927) 

used were lead and copper. For example, a lead roof covered 
"Rosewell," one of the grandest mansions in 18th-century 
Virginia. But more often, lead was used for protective 
flashing. Lead, as well as copper, covered roof surfaces where 
wood, tile, or slate shingles were inappropriate because of the 
roofs pitch or shape. 

Copper with standing seams covered some of the more 
notable early American roofs including that of Christ Church 
(1727-1744) in Philadelphia. Flat-seamed copper was used on 
many domes and cupolas. The copper sheets were imported 
from England until the end of the 18th century when facilities 
for rolling sheet metal were developed in America. 

Sheet iron was first known to have been manufactured here 
by the Revolutionary War financier, Robert Morris, who had 
a rolling mill near Trenton, New Jersey. At his mill Mor·ris 
produced the roof of his own Philadelphia mansion, which he 
started in 1794. The architect Benjamin H. Latrobe used sheet 
iron to replace the roof on Princeton's "Nassau Hall," which 
had been gutted by fire in 1802. 

The method for corrugating iron was originally patented in 
England in 1829. Corrugating stiffened the sheets, and 
allowed greater span over a lighter framework, as well as 
reduced installation time and labor. In 1834 the American 
architect William Strickland proposed corrugated iron to 
cover his design for the market place in Philadelphia. 

Galvanizing with zinc to protect the base metal from rust 
was developed in France in 1837. By the 1850s the material 
was used on post offices and customhouses, as well as on train 
sheds and factories. In 1857 one of the first metal roofs in the 



Repeated repair with asphalt, which cracks as it hardens, has created a 
blistered surface on this sheet-metal roof and built-in gutter, which 
will retain water. Repairs could be made by carefully heating and 
scraping the surface clean, repairing the holes in the metal with aflexi
ble mastic compound or a metal patch, and coating the surface with a 
fibre paint. (Roane County Courthouse, Kingston, Tennessee, photo 
courtesy of Building Conservation Technology, Inc.) 

South was installed on the U.S. Mint in New Orleans. The 
Mint was thereby "fireproofed" with a 20-gauge galvanized, 
corrugated iron roof on iron trusses. 

Tin-plate iron, commonly called "tin roofing," was used 
extensively in Canada in the 18th century, but it was not as 
common in the United States until later. Thomas Jefferson 
was an early advocate of tin roofing, and he installed a 
standing-seam tin roof on "Monticello" (ca. 1770-1802) . The 
Arch Street Meetinghouse (1804) in Philadelphia had tin 
shingles laid in a herringbone pattern on a "piazza" roof. 

However, once rolling mills were established in this country, 
the low cost, light weight, and low maintenance of tin plate 
made it the most common roofing material. Embossed tin 
shingles, whose surfaces created interesting patterns, were 
popular throughout the country in the late 19th century. Tin 
roofs were kept well-painted, usually red; or, as the architect 
A. J. Davis suggested, in a color to imitate the green patina of 
copper. 

Terne plate differed from tin plate in that the iron was 
dipped in an alloy of lead and tin, giving it a duller finish . 
Historic, as well as modern, documentation often confuses 
the two, so much that it is difficult to determine how often 
actual "terne" was used. 

Zinc came into use in the 1820s, at the same time tin plate 
was becoming popular. Although a less expensive substitute 
for lead, its advantages were controversial, and it was never 
widely used in this country. 

A Chicago firm's catalog dated 1896 illustrates a method of unrolling, 
turning the edges, andfinishing the standing seam on a metal roof 

Tin shingles, commonly embossed to imitate wood or tile, or with a 
decorative design, were popular as an inexpensive, textured roofing 
material. These shingles 8% inch by 12'/2 inch on the exposed surface) 
were designed with interlocking edges, but they have been repaired by 
surface nailing, which may cause future leakage. (Ballard House, 
Yorktown, Virgina, photo by Gordie Whittington, National Park 
Service) 

Other Materials: Asphalt shingles and roll roofing were used 
in the 1890s. Many roofs of asbestos, aluminum, stainless 
steel, galvinized steel, and lead-coated copper may soon have 
historic values as well. Awareness- of these and other tradi
tions of roofing materials and their detailing will contribute to 
more sensitive preservation treatments. 

Locating the Problem 

Failures of Surface Materials 

When trouble occurs, it is important to contact a profes
sional, either an architect, a reputable roofing contractor, or a 
craftsman familiar with the inherent characteristics of the 
particular historic roofing system involved. These profes
sionals may be able to advise on immediate patching pro
cedures and help plan more permanent repairs. A thorough 
examination of the roof should start with an appraisal of the 
existing condition and quality of the roofing material itself. 
Particular attention should be given to any southern slope 
because year-round exposure to direct sun may cause it to 
break down first. 

Wood: Some historic roofing materials have limited life 
expectancies because of normal organic decay and "wear." 
For example, the flat surfaces of wood shingles erode from 
exposure to rain and ultraviolet rays. Some species are more 
hardy than others, and heartwood, for example, is stronger 
and more durable than sapwood. 

Ideally, shingles are split with the grain perpendicular to 
3 



the surface. This is because if shingles are sawn across the 
grain, moisture may enter the grain and cause the wood to 
deteriorate. Prolonged moisture on or in the wood allows 
moss or fungi to grow, which will further hold the moisture 
and cause rot. 

Metal: Of the inorganic roofing materials used on historic 
buildings, the most common are perhaps the sheet metals: 
lead, copper, zinc, tin plate, terne plate, and galvanized iron. 
In varying degrees each of these sheet metals are likely to 
deteriorate from chemical action by pitting or streaking. This 
can be caused by airborn pollutants; acid rainwater; acids from 
lichen or moss; alkalis found in lime mortars or portland 
cement, which might be on adjoining features and washes 
down on the roof surface; or tannic acids from adjacent wood 
sheathings or shingles made of red cedar or oak. 

Corrosion from "galvanic action" occurs when dissimilar 
metals, such as copper and iron, are used in direct contact. 
Corrosion may also occur even though the metals are physi
cally separated; one of the metals will react chemically 
against the other in the presence of an electrolyte such as rain
water. In roofing, this situation might occur when either a 
copper roof is decorated with iron cresting, or when steel nails 
are used in copper sheets. In some instances the corrosion can 
be prevented by inserting a plastic insulator between the 
dissimilar materials. Ideally, the fasteners should be a metal 
sympathetic to those involved. 

Iron rusts unless it is well-painted or plated. Historically 
this problem was avoided by use of tin plating or galvinizing. 
But this method is durable only as long as the coating remains 
intact. Once the plating is worn or damaged, the exposed iron 
will rust. Therefore, any iron-based roofing material needs to 
be undercoated, and its surface needs to be kept well-painted 
to prevent corrosion. 

One cause of sheet metal deterioration is fatigue . Depending 
upon the size and the gauge of the metal sheets, wear and 
metal failure can occur at the joints or at any protrusions in 
the sheathing as a result from the metal's alternating move
ment to thermal changes. Lead will tear because of" creep, " 
or the gravitational stress that causes the material to move 
down the roof slope. 

Slate: Perhaps the most durable roofing materials are slate 
and tile. Seemingly indestructable, both vary in quality. Some 
slates are hard and tough without being brittle. Soft slates are 
more subject to erosion and to attack by airborne and rain-

This detail shows slate delamination caused by a combination of 
weathering and pol/ution. In addition, the slates have eroded around 
the repair nails, incorrectly placed in the exposed surface of the slates. 
(Lower Pontalba Building, New Orleans, photo courtesy of Building 
Conservation Technology, Inc.) 

4 

water chemicals, which cause the slates to wear at nail holes, 
to delaminate, or to break. In winter, slate is very susceptible 
to breakage by ice, or ice dams. 

Tile: Tiles will weather well, but tend to crack or break if hit, 
as by tree branches, or if they are walked on improperly. Like 
slates, tiles cannot support much weight. Low quality tiles 
that have been insufficiently fired during manufacture, will 
craze and spall under the effects of freeze and thaw cycles on 
their porous surfaces. 

Failures of Support Systems 

Once the condition of the roofing material has been deter
mined, the related features and support systems should be 
examined on the exterior and on the interior of the roof. 
The gutters and downspouts need periodic cleaning and 
maintenance since a variety of debris fill them, causing water 
to back up and seep under roofing units. Water will eventually 
cause fasteners, sheathing, and roofing structure to deteri
orate. During winter, the daily freeze-thaw cycles can cause 
ice floes to develop under the roof surface. The pressure from 
these ice floes will dislodge the roofing material, especially 
slates, shingles, or tiles. Moreover, the buildup of ice dams 
above the gutters can trap enough moisture to rot the 
sheathing or the structural members. 

Many large public buildings have built-in gutters set within 
the perimeter of the roof. The downspouts for these gutters 
may run within the walls of the building, or drainage may be 
through the roof surface or through a parapet to exterior 
downspouts. These systems can be effective if properly main
tained; however, if the roof slope is inadequate for good 
runoff, or if the traps are allowed to clog, rainwater will form 
pools on the roof surface. Interior downspouts can collect 
debris and thus back up, perhaps leaking water into the sur
rounding walls. Exterior downspouts may fill with water, 
which in cold weather may freeze and crack the pipes. Con
duits from the built-in gutter to the exterior downspout may 
also leak water into the surrounding roof structure or walls. 

Failure of the flashing system is usually a major cause of 
roof deterioration. Flashing should be carefully inspected for 
failure caused by either poor workmanship, thermal stress, or 
metal deterioration (both of flashing material itself and of the 
fasteners) . With many roofing materials, the replacement of 
flashing on an existing roof is a major operation, which may 
require taking up large sections of the roof surface. 
Therefore, the installation of top quality flashing material on 

Temporary stabilization or " mothballing" with materials such as 
plywood and building paper can protect the roof of a project until it 
can be properly repaired or replaced. (Narbonne House, Salem, 
Massachusetts) 



These two views of the same house demonstrate how the use of a substitute material can drastically affect the overall character of a structure. The 
textural interest of the original tile roof was lost with the use of asphalt shingles. Recent preservation efforts are replacing the tile roof (Frank 
House, Kearney, Nebraska, photo courtesy of the Nebraska State Historical Society, Lincoln, Nebraska) 

a new or replaced roof should be a primary consideration. 
Remember, some roofing andflashing materials are not 
compatible. 

Roof fasteners and clips should also be made of a material 
compatible with all other materials used, or coated to prevent 
rust. For example, the tannic acid in oak will corrode iron 
nails. Some roofs such as slate and sheet metals may fail if 
nailed too rigidly. 

If the roof structure appears sound and nothing indicates 
recent movement, the area to be examined most closely is the 
roof substrate- the sheathing or the battens. The danger spots 
would be near the roof plates, under any exterior patches, at 
the intersections of the roof planes, or at vertical surfaces 
such as dormers. Water penetration, indicating a breach in the 
roofing surface or flashing, should be readily apparent, usual
ly as a damp spot or stain. Probing with a small pen knife may 
reveal any rot which may indicate previously undetected 
damage to the roofing membrane. Insect infestation evident 
by small exit holes and frass (a sawdust-like debris) should 
also be noted. Condensation on the underside of the roofing is 
undesirable and indicates improper ventilation. Moisture will 
have an adverse effect on any roofing material; a good roof 
stays dry inside and out. 

Repair or Replace 

Understanding potential weaknesses of roofing material also 
requires knowledge of repair difficulties. Individual slates can 
be replaced normally without major disruption to the rest of 
the roof, but replacing flashing on a slate roof can require 
substantial removal of surrounding slates. If it is the substrate 
or a support material that has deteriorated, many surface 
materials such as slate or tile can be reused if handled care
fully during the repair. Such problems should be evaluated at 
the outset of any project to determine if the roof can be effec
tively patched, or if it should be completely replaced. 

Will the repairs be effective? Maintenance costs tend to 
multiply once trouble starts. As the cost of labor escalates, 
repeated repairs could soon equal the cost of a new roof. 

The more durable the surface is initially, the easier it will be 
to maintain. Some roofing materials such as slate are expen
sive to install, but if top quality slate and flashing are used, it 
will last 40-60 years with minimal maintenance. Although the 
installation cost of the roof will be high, low maintenance 
needs will make the lifetime cost of the roof less expensive. 

Historical Research 

In a restoration project, research of documents and physical 
investigation of the building usually will establish the roofs 
history. Documentary research should include any original 
plans or building specifications, early insurance surveys, 
newspaper descriptions, or the personal papers and files of 
people who owned or were involved in the history of the 
building. Old photographs of the building might provide 
evidence of missing details. 

Along with a thorough understanding of any written history 
of the building, a physical investigation of the roofing and its 
structure may reveal information about the roofs construc
tion history. Starting with an overall impression of the struc
ture, are there any changes in the roof slope, its configura
tion, or roofing materials? Perhaps there are obvious patches 
or changes in patterning of exterior brickwork where a gable 
roof was changed to a gambrel, or where a whole upper story 
was added. Perhaps there are obvious stylistic changes in the 
roof line, dormers, or ornamentation. These observations 
could help one understand any important alteration, and 
could help establish the direction of further investigation. 

Because most roofs are physically out of the range of 
careful scrutiny, the" principle of least effort" has probably 
limited the extent and quality of previous patching or replac
ing, and usually considerable evidence of an earlier roof sur
face remains. Sometimes the older roof will be found as an 
underlayment of the current exposed roof. Original roofing 
may still be intact in awkward places under later features on a 
roof. Often if there is any unfinished attic space, remnants of 
roofing may have been dropped and left when the roof was 
being built or repaired. If the configuration of the roof has 
been changed, some of the original material might still be in 
place under the existing roof. Sometimes whole sections of the 
roof and roof framing will have been left intact under the 
higher roof. The profile and/ or flashing of the earlier roof 
may be apparent on the interior of the walls at the level of the 
alteration. If the sheathing or lathing appears to have survived 
changes in the roofing surface, they may contain evidence of 
the roofing systems. These may appear either as dirt marks, 
which provide "shadows" of a roofing material, or as nails 
broken or driven down into the wood, rather than pulled out 
during previous alterations or repairs. Wooden headers in the 
roof framing may indicate that earlier chimneys or skylights 
have been removed. Any metal ornamentation that might 
have existed may be indicated by anchors or unusual markings 
along the ridge or at other edges of the roof. This primary 

5 



evidence is essential for a full understanding of the 
roofs history. 

Caution should be taken in dating early" fabric" on the 
evidence of a single item, as recycling of materials is not a 
mid-20th-century innovation. Carpenters have been reusing 
materials, sheathing, and framing members in the interest of 
economy for centuries. Therefore, any analysis of the mate
rials found, such as nails or sawmarks on the wood, requires 
an accurate knowledge of the history of local building prac
tices before any final conclusion can be accurately reached. It 
is helpful to establish a sequence of construction history for 
the roof and roofing materials; any historic fabric or pertinent 
evidence in the roof should be photographed, measured, and 
recorded for future reference. 

During the repair work, useful evidence might unexpectedly 
appear. It is essential that records be kept of any type of work 
on a historic building, before, during, and after the project. 
Photographs are generally the easiest and fastest method, and 
should include overall views and details at the gutters, flash
ing, dormers, chimneys, valleys, ridges, and eaves. All 
photographs should be immediately labeled to insure accurate 
identification at a later date. Any patterning or design on the 
roofing deserves particular attention. For example, slate roofs 
are often decorative and have subtle changes in size, color, 
and texture, such as a gradually decreasing coursing length 
from the eave to the peak. If not carefully noted before a 
project begins, there may be problems in replacing the sur
face. The standard reference for this phase of the work is 
Recording Historic Buildings, compiled by Harley J. McKee 
for the Historic American Buildings Survey, National Park 
Service, Washington, D.C., 1970. 

Replacing the Historic Roofing Material 

Professional advice will be needed to assess the various 
aspects of replacing a historic roof. With some exceptions, 
most historic roofing materials are available today. If not, an 
architect or preservation group who has previously worked 
with the same type material may be able to recommend sup
pliers. Special roofing materials, such as tile or embossed 
metal shingles, can be produced by manufacturers of related 
products that are commonly used elsewhere, either on the ex
terior or interior of a structure. With some creative thinking 
and research, the historic materials usually can be found. 

Because of the roof's visibility, the slate detailing around the dormers 
is important to the character of this structure. Note how the slates 
swirlfrom a horizontal pattern on the main roof to a diamond pattern 
on the dormer roofs and side walls. (18th and Que Streets, NW, 
Washington, D.C.) 
6 

Craft Practices: Determining the craft practices used in the in
stallation of a historic roof is another major concern in roof 
restoration. Early builders took great pride in their work, and 
experience has shown that the" rustic" or irregular designs 
commercially labled "Early American" are a 20th-century in
vention. For example, historically, wood shingles underwent 
several distinct operations in their manufacture including 
splitting by hand, and smoothing the surface with a draw 
knife. In modern nomenclature, the same item would be a 
"tapersplit" shingle which has been dressed. Unfortunately, 
the rustic appearance of today's commercially available 
•• handsplit" and re-sawn shingle bears no resemblance to the 
hand-made roofing materials used on early American 
buildings. 

Good design and quality materials for the roof surface, fastenings, 
andf/ashing minimize roofing failures. This is essential on roofs such 
as on the National Cathedral where a thorough maintenance inspec
tion and minor repairs cannot be done easily without special scaf
folding. However, the success of the roof on any structure depends on 
frequent cleaning and repair of the gutter system. (Washington, D. c., 
photo courtesy of John Burns, A.I.A.) 

Early craftsmen worked with a great deal of common sense; 
they understood their materials. For example they knew that 
wood shingles should be relatively narrow; shingles much 
wider than about 6" would split when walked on, or they may 
curl or crack from varying temperature and moisture. It is im
portant to understand these aspects of craftsmanship, re
membering that people wanted their roofs to be weather-tight 
and to last a long time. The recent use of •• mother-goose" 
shingles on historic structures is a gross underestimation of 
the early craftsman's skills. 

Supervision: Finding a modern craftsman to reproduce his
toric details may take some effort. It may even involve 
some special instruction to raise his understanding of cer
tain historic craft practices. At the same time, it may be 
pointless (and expensive) to follow historic craft practices 
in any construction that will not be visible on the finished 
product. But if the roofing details are readily visible, their 
appearance should be based on architectural evidence or 
on historic prototypes. For instance, the spacing of the 
seams on a standing-seam metal roof will affect the 
building's overall scale and should therefore match the 
original dimensions of the seams. 



Many older roofing practices are no longer performed 
because of modern improvements. Research and review of 
specific detailing in the roof with the contractor before begin
ning the project is highly recommended. For example, one 
early craft practice was to finish the ridge of a wood shingle 
roof with a roof "comb"-that is, the top course of one slope 
of the roof was extended uniformly beyond the peak to shield 
the ridge, and to provide some weather protection for the raw 
horizontal edges of the shingles on the other slope. If the 
" comb" is known to have been the correct detail, it should be 
used. Though this method leaves the top course vulnerable to 
the weather, a disguised strip of flashing will strengthen this 
weak point. 

Detail drawings or a sample mock-up will help ensure that 
the contractor or craftsman understands the scope and special 
requirements of the project. It should never be assumed that 
the modern carpenter, slater, sheet metal worker, or roofer 
will know all the historic details. Supervision is as important 
as any other stage of the process . 

Special problems inherent in the design of an elaborate historic roof 
can be controlled through the use of good materials and regular 
maintenance. The shape and detailing are essential elements of the 
building's historic character, and should not be modified, despite the 
use of alternative surface materials. (Gam well House, Bellingham, 
Washington) 

Alternative Materials 

The use of the historic roofing material on a structure may be 
restricted by building codes or by the availability of the 
materials, in which case an appropriate alternative will have 
to be found. 

Some municipal building codes allow variances for roofing 
materials in historic districts. In other instances, individual 
variances may be obtained. Most modern heating and cooking 
is fueled by gas, electricity, or oil-none of which emit the hot 
embers that historically have been the cause of roof fires . 
Where wood burning fireplaces or stoves are used, spark ar
restor screens at the top of the chimneys help to prevent flam
ing material from escaping, thus reducing the number of fires 
that start at the roof. In most states, insurance rates have been 
equalized to reflect revised considerations for the risks in
volved with various roofing materials. 

In a rehabilitation project, there may be valid reasons for 
replacing the roof with a material other than the original. The 
historic roofing may no longer be available, or the cost of ob
taining specially fabricated materials may be prohibitive. But 

the decision to use an alternative material should be weighed 
carefully against the primary concern to keep the historic 
character of the building. If the roof is flat and is not visible 
from any elevation of the building, and if there are advan
tages to substituting a modern built-up composition roof for 
what might have been a flat metal roof, then it may make bet
ter economic and construction sense to use a modern roofing 
method. But if the roof is readily visible, the alternative 
material should match as closely as possible the scale, texture, 
and coloration of the historic roofing material. 

Asphalt shingles or ceramic tiles are common substitute ma
terials intended to duplicate the appearance of wood shingles, 
slates, or tiles. Fire-retardant, treated wood shingles are cur
rently available. The treated wood tends, however, to be brit
tle, and may require extra care (and expense) to install. In 
some instances, shingles laid with an interlay of fire-retardent 
building paper may be an acceptable alternative. 

Lead-coated copper, terne-coated steel, and aluminum/ 
zinc-coated steel can successfully replace tin, terne plate, zinc, 
or lead. Copper-coated steel is a less expensive (and less 
durable) substitute for sheet copper. 

The search for alt~rnative roofing materials is not new. As 
early as the 18th century, fear of fire cause many wood shingle 
or board roofs to be replaced by sheet metal or clay tile. Some 
historic roofs were failures from the start, based on over
ambitious and naive use of materials as they were first devel
oped. Research on a structure may reveal that an inadequately 
designed or a highly combustible roof was replaced early in its 
history, and therefore restoration of a later roof material 
would have a valid precedent. In some cities, the substitution 
of sheet metal on early row houses occurred as soon as the 
rolled material became available. 

Cost and ease of maintenance may dictate the substitution 
of a material wholly different in appearance from the 
original. The practical problems (wind, weather, and roof 
pitch) should be weighed against the historical consideration 
of scale, texture, and color. Sometimes the effect of the alter
native material will be minimal. But on roofs with a high 
degree of visibility and patterning or texture, the substitution 
may seriously alter the architectural character of the building. 

Temporary Stabilization 
It may be necessary to carry out an immediate and temporary 
stabilization to prevent further deterioration until research 
can determine how the roof should be restored or rehabili
tated, or until funding can be provided to do a proper job. A 
simple covering of exterior plywood or roll roofing might pro
vide adequate protection, but any temporary covering should 
be applied with caution. One should be careful not to 
overload the roof structure, or to damage or destroy historic 
evidence or fabric that might be incorporated into a new roof 
at a later date. In this sense, repairs with caulking or 
bituminous patching compounds should be recognized as po
tentially harmful, since they are difficult to remove, and at 
their best , are very temporary. 

Precautions 

The architect or contractor should warn the owner of any 
precautions to be taken against the specific hazards in install
ing the roofing material. Soldering of sheet metals, for in
stance, can be a fire hazard, either from the open flame or 
from overheating and undected smoldering of the wooden 
substrate materials. 

Thought should be given to the design and placement of any 
modern roof appurtenances such as plumbing stacks, air 
vents, or TV antennas. Consideration should begin with the 
placement of modern plumbing on the interior of the build
ing, otherwise a series of vent stacks may pierce the roof mem
brane at various spots creating maintenance problems as well 
as aesthetic ones. Air handling units placed in the attic space 
will require vents which, in turn, require sensitive design. In
corporating these in unused chimneys has been very successful 

7 



in the past. 
Whenever gutters and downspouts are needed that were not 

on the building historically, the addj.tions should be made as 
unobtrusively as possible, perhaps by painting them out with 
a color compatible with the nearby wall or trim. 

Maintenance 

Although a new roof can be an object of beauty, it will not be 
protective for long without proper maintenance. At least 
twice a year, the roof should be inspected against a checklist. 
All changes should be recorded and reported. Guidelines 
should be established for any foot traffic that may be required 
for the maintenance of the roof. Many roofing materials 
should not be walked on at all. For some-slate, asbestos, and 
clay tile-a self-supporting ladder might be hung over the 
ridge of the roof, or planks might be spanned across the roof 
surface. Such items should be specifically designed and kept 
in a storage space accessible to the roof. If exterior work ever 
requires hanging scaffolding, use caution to insure that the 
anchors do not penetrate, break, or wear the roofing surface, 
gutters, or flashing . 

Any roofing system should be recognized as a membrane 
that is designed to be self-sustaining, but that can be easily 
damaged by intrusions such as pedestrian traffic or fallen tree 
branches. Certain items should be checked at specific times. 
For example, gutters tend to accumulate leaves and debris 
during the spring and fall and after heavy rain. Hidden gutter 
screening both at downspouts and over the full length of the 
gutter could help keep them clean. The surface material would 
require checking after a storm as well. Periodic checking of 
the underside of the roof from the attic after a storm or winter 
freezing may give early warning of any leaks. Generally, 
damage from water or ice is less likely on a roof that has good 
flashing on the outside and is well ventilated and insulated on 
the inside. Specific instructions for the maintenance of the 
different roof materials should be available from the architect 
or contractor. 

Summary 
The essential ingredients for replacing and maintaIning a 
historic roof are: 

• Understanding the historic character of the building and 
being sympathetic to it. 

• Careful examination and recording of the existing roof 
and any evidence of earlier roofs. 

• Consideration of the historic craftsmanship and detail
ing and implementing them in the renewal wherever 
visible. 

• Supervision of the roofers or maintenance personnel to 
assure preservation of historic fabric and proper under
standing of the scope and detailing of the project. 

• Consideration of alternative materials where the origi
nal cannot be used . 

• Cyclical maintenance program to assure that the staff 
understands how to take care of the roof and of the par
ticular trouble spots to safeguard. 

With these points in mind, it will be possible to preserve the 
architectural character and maintain the physical integrity of 
the roofing on a historic building. 

This Preservation Brief was written by Sarah M. Sweetser , Architec
tural Historian, Technical Preservation Services Division. Much of 
the technical information was based upon an unpublished report pre
pared under cont.ract for this office by John G. and Diana S. Waite. 
Some of the historical information was from Charles E. Peterson , 
FAIA, "American Notes," Journal of the Society of Architectural 
Historians. 
The illustrations for this brief not specifically credited are from the 
files of the Technical Preservation Services Division. 

This publication was prepared pursuant to Executive Order 11593, "Protection 
and Enhancement of the Cultural Environment," which directs the Secretary 
of the Interior to "develop and make available to Federal agencies and State 
and local governments information concerning professional methods and tech-

8 

Decorative features such as cupolas require extra maintenance. The 
flashing is carefully detailed to promote run-off, and the wooden ribb
ing must be kept well-painted. This roof surface, which was originally 
tin plate, has been replaced with lead-coated copper for maintenance 
purposes. (Lyndhurst, Tarrytown, New York, photo courtesy of the 
National Trust for Historic Preservation) 

niques lor preserving, improving, restoring and maintaining historic proper
ties." The Brief has been developed under the technical editorship of Lee H . 
Nelson, AlA, Chief, Preservation Assistance Division, National Park Service. 
U.S . Department of the Interior, Washington. D .C. 20240. Comments on the 
usefulness of this information are welcome and can be sent to Mr . Nelson at 
the above address. This publication is not copyrighted and can be reproduced 
without penalty. Normal procedures for credit to the author and the National 
Park Service are appreciated . February 1978. 

Additional readings on the subject of roofing are listed below. 

Boaz, Joseph N., ed . Architectural Graphic Standards. New York: 
John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1970. (Modern roofing types and detail
ing) 

Briggs, Martin S. A Short History of the Building Crafts. London: 
Oxford University Press, 1925 . (Descriptions of historic roofing 
materials) 

Bulletin of the Association for Preservation Technology. Vol. 2 (nos. 
1-2) 1970. (Entirely on roofing) 

Holstrom, Ingmar; and Sandstrom, Christina. Maintenance of Old 
Buildings: Preservation from the Technical and Antiquarian Stand
point. Stockholm: National Swedish Building Research, 1972. 
(Contains a section on roof maintenance problems) 

Insall , Donald. The Care of Old Buildings Today. London: The 
Architectural Press, 1972. (Excellent guide to some problems and 
solutions for historic roofs) 

Labine, R.A. Clem. "Repairing Slate Roofs. " The Old House Jour
nal3 (no. 12, Dec. 1975): 6- 7. 

Lefer, Henry. " A Birds-eye View." Progressive Architecture. (Mar. 
1977), pp. 88-92. (Article on contemporary sheet metal) 

National Slate Association. Slate Roofs. Reprint of 1926 edition, now 
available from the Vermont Structural Slate Co., Inc., Fairhaven, 
VT 05743 . (An excellent reference for the many designs and details 
of slate roofs) 

Peterson, Charles E. " Iron in Early American Roofs. " The Smith
sonian Journal of History 3 (no. 3). Edited by Peter C. Welsh. 
Washington, D.C. : Smithsonian Institution, 1968, pp. 41-76 . 

Waite, Diana S. Nineteenth Century Tin Roofing and its Use at Hyde 
Hall. Albany: New York State Historic Trust, 1971. 

- -. "Roofing for Early America." Building Early America. Edited 
by Charles E. Peterson. Radnor, Penn.: Chilton Book Co. , 1976. 











City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  May 4, 2016

AGENDA DATE: May 11, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  331 Cornell Drive

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100075: Consideration of a Retroactive Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for gate installation for the single-family structure located at 331 Cornell Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-15-06-005-1770.
The subject property was constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the College Park Local Historic 
District.

OWNER/APPLICANT: Leigh Shinohara

 331 Cornell Drive

 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The single-family structure at 331 Cornell Drive was constructed c. 1925 in a Mediterreanean Revival style. The 
property has public frontage on Cornell Drive to the north, and is located in close proximity to Dixie Highway.  
The building still retains most of its character defining features including wood double-hung windows, decorative 
front door surround, terra cotta barrel tile roof, and frame with textured stucco construction.  The building has 
undergone few changes over time including two small additions, hurricane shutter installation, roof replacement 
in kind, and front door replacement with a compatible door.  Although the original architectural plans for the 
building are not available in the City’s property files, the file does have information from early property survey 
cards and permit records. Overall, the building retains a high degree of historic integrity of location, setting, 
materials, and design.

REQUEST: 

In August 2015, a Code Compliance case was issued for the subject property for gate installation without an 
approved building permit or Certificate of Appropriateness.  The Applicant is now requesting a retroactive 
Certificate of Appropriateness in order to install a 48” tall white ornamental gate constructed of “King Starboard” 
marine grade polyethylene.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the opinion of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a change 
that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the request is in conflict 
with these objectives:



HRPB No. 16-00100075
331 Cornell Drive

COA Application – Gate Installation
Page 2

2

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible.

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning
The proposed gate is not in compliance with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code, Section 
23.4-4 Fences, Walls, and Gates.  Per the Code, “King Starboard,” polyethylene, polymer, plastic, PVC, resin, or any 
similar type of fencing material is not permitted.  The code does allow for many alternate types of historically 
compatible, authentic, material including wood, aluminum, wrought iron.

Historic Preservation

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding the 
rehabilitation of historic structures.  Although the Standards do not specifically address gate design, the Standars 
do address the overall setting and historic integrity of a property.  Specifically, Standards 2 and 9 apply in this 
situation:

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided.

Standard 9 - New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials 
that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old and shall be compatible 
with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its 
environment.

It is the analysis of Staff that the project as proposed is not compatible with the review criteria set forth in the 
City’s Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation Ordinance, Section 23.5-4.

The Standards require that alterations to the overall setting and environment surrounding a historic structure also 
be compatible with the architectural style and design of the structure.  The proposed polyethylene plastic gate is 
not compatible within the context of the 1920’s Mediterranean style structure.  Plastic is not an authentic 
material that was used for fences or gates during that time period.  Typical gate materials would have included 
wood or wrought iron.  The overall type of elaborate scrollwork design of the proposed gate is compatible with 
the decorative Mediterranean architectural style, however the specific detailing and thickness is not compatible.  
This specific gate has a large frame and thick decorative scrollwork that is not compatible with the look or 
appearance of historic wrought iron.  



HRPB No. 16-00100075 
331 Cornell Drive 

COA Application – Gate Installation 
Page 3 

 

3 

Public Comment 
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project.  
 
CONSEQUENT ACTION:   
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends that the Board deny the application as submitted, given that the retroactive gate application 
does not meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, does not meet the criteria set forth in 
the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), and will have an adverse effect on the integrity, 
setting, environment, and character of the property. 
 
Based on the issues outlined in the Applicant’s Justification Statement, Staff is in support of the Applicant 
installing a gate on the property that is compliance with the Land Development Regulations and the Secretary of 
the Interior’s Standards.  Staff would recommend that the Applicant explore alternate, approved materials, and a 
compatible design with the Mediterranean Revival structure.  A compatible, revised proposal could be reviewed 
administratively, and would not require HRPB approval. 
 
POTENTIAL MOTION:   
 
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100075: Consideration of a retroactive Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
gate installation for the subject property located at 331 Cornell Drive, based upon the preponderance of 
competent substantial evidence. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100075: Consideration of a retroactive Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for gate 
installation for the subject property located at 331 Cornell Drive because the Applicant has not established by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake Worth Land 
Development Regulations Section 23.5-4 and 23.4-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the 
Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Decision Criteria  
2. Application Photographs 
3. Justification Statement 
4. Gate Information 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HRPB No. 16-00100075
331 Cornell Drive

COA Application – Gate Installation
Page 4

4

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: May 4, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 16-00100075: Consideration of a Retroactive Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for gate installation for the single-family structure located at 331 
Cornell Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-15-06-005-1770. The subject property was constructed 
c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the College Park Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: May 11, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the following 
criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work is to be 
done?  

Response: It is the analysis of Staff that the proposed gate installation would have an adverse effect on the 
historic appearance of the building and site, and is not compatible with the design or style of the 
Mediterranean Revival structure.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other property 
in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within the 
surrounding College Park Local Historic District, however it will have an indirect visual effect on the district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, design, 
arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that is not compatible with the architectural design and detailing
of the structure and site by proposing a polyethylene gate that is not compatible with or authentic to the 
Mediterranean Revival structure.  The gate installation will negatively affect the historic integrity of the site 
and setting of the historic structure.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable beneficial use 
of his property? 
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially proposing 
other alterations to the structure, nor would it make the building uninhabitable.

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable time? 
Response: Yes.

F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from time to 
time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:



(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal change 
to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic materials 
or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: No historic materials are requested to be removed.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that create a 
false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural elements from 
other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their own 
right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: No historic materials are requested to be removed.

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In the 
event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in composition, 
design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 
Response: No historic materials are requested to be removed.

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs or 
because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be available for 
relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, shall not 
be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest means 
possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials that 
characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old and shall be compatible 
with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and 
its environment.  
Response: The proposed gate material and design would alter the integrity of the setting and site design 
that characterize the property.



(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner that, if 
removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its environment would 
be unimpaired.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse effect 
on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely affected 
by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The requested gate installation 
does not represent the least possible adverse effect on the property.  A wood or wrought iron gate could be 
installed that would complement the Mediterranean Revival structure and would be in compliance with the 
Land Development Regulations.  

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall also 
consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires minimal 
alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its originally 
intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its environment 
being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive architectural features shall 
be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall permit 
the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an increase in cost 
of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to demonstrate to the 
HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and
Response: Not applicable to this project.
(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in excess of 
thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.
























































	Agenda Outline
	Item 4A - Attachment # 1 - February 17 2016 Special HRPB
	Item 4B - Attachment # 1 - HRPB Minutes March 9 2016
	Item 4C - Attachment # 1 - HRPB Minutes for 4-13-2016 
	Item 5B - Attachment # 1 - Proof of Publication
	Item 5B - Attachment # 2 - Proof of Publication
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 1 - HRPB 16-00100082 226 S L St staff report
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100082 - 226 South L Street Decision Criteria
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 2 - Tax Exemption Application and Photos
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - Justification COA
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 3 - Justification Variance
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 6 - Attachment 4 - 226 South L Architectural Set
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 7 - Attachment 6 - Brosco-Window_Literature
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 8 - Attachment 6 - Enviroshake-Brochure-May-25-2015
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 9 - Attachment 7 - Sec._23.5_5.___Tax_exemption_for_historic_property.
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 10 - Attachment 8 - 196.1997 FS Ad valorem tax exemptions for historic properties
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 11 - Attachment 8 - 196.1998 FS Additional ad valorem tax exemptions
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 12 - Attachment 9 - Chapter 1A-38 Tax exemptions for historic properties
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 1 - HRPB 15-00100022 812 S Lakeside Dr staff report
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 2 - Application Photographs
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 3 - COA Rational Analyses
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - Exhibit A
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 3 - Exhibit B
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 6 - Attachment 3 - Exhibit C
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 7 - Attachment 3 - Exhibit D - Revised
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 8 - Attachment 4 - Proposed Plans
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 9 - Attachment 5 - Original Architectural Drawings
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 1 - HRPB 16-00100092 402 N Lakeside Dr staff report
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100092 -402 N Lakeside Drive Decision Criteria
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 2 - Photos
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - Roof NOA Docs
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 3 - Window Study Docs
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 6 - Attachment 4 - Building Inspector Letter
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 7 - Attachment 6 - Original Architectural Drawings
	Item 5.G.2 - Attachment # 1 - HRPB 16-00100078 208 S Lakeside Dr staff report
	Item 5.G.2 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100078 - 208 South Lakeside Dr Decision Criteria
	Item 5.G.2 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 2 - Submittal Packet 208 South Lakeside Drive
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 1 - HRPB 16-00100079 817 S Palmway staff report
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100079 817 S Palmway decision criteria
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 2 - Application Photographs
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - Justification Statement
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 5 - Metal Roofing Application Approval Docs
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 6 - Attachment 6 - Memo from State Historic Preservation Office Regarding Roof Replacement
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 7 - Attachment 7 - NPS Preservation Brief #4 - Roofing for Historic Buildings
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 8 - Attachment 7 - NPS Standards for Rehabilitation - Roofs
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 1 - HRPB16-00100049 922 N O St staff report
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100049 - 922 North O Street Decision Criteria
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 2 - Application Photographs - reduced
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - Justification Statement
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 4 - Proposed Roof NOA
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 6 - Attachment 5 - Previously Approved COA
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 7 - Attachment 6 - Memo from State Historic Preservation Office Regarding Roof Replacement
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 8 - Attachment 7 - NPS Preservation Brief #4 - Roofing for Historic Buildings
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 9 - Attachment 7 - NPS Standards for Rehabilitation - Roofs
	Item 5.G.5 - Attachment # 1 - HRPB 16-00100075 331 Cornell Dr staff report
	Item 5.G.5 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100075 - 331 Cornell Drive Decision Criteria
	Item 5.G.5 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 2 - Application Photos - reduced
	Item 5.G.5 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - Justification Statement
	Item 5.G.5 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 4 - Gate Information with Survey
	Item 5.G.6 - Attachment # 1 - 1019 N K St Photos



